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24 hours he was dead, executed by his captors.
He joined those sent early to their graves as an
outcome of his dictatorship — at least a million
people, and probably more.
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Preface

OBRUK taken by the Australians, a people who amount to nothing

in the history of the world'.> So, in January 1941 from his gilded
retreat at the Casa Italiana attached to Columbia University, Giuseppe
Prezzolini, an intellectual patron of the youthful Mussolini, wrote in
disgust at the Italian national and Fascist war effort. His words might
be read as a dampener on any Australian with the effrontery to seek to
understand modern Italian history, let aone craft an account of the
Duce, Benito Mussolini, leader of Italy from 1922 to 1945. Nonetheless,
since the 19605, it has been my lot to write Italian history and, in many
senses, my life work is summed up in this new biography.

As my name indicates, | am an Anglo-Saxon Australian, with few
natural connectionsto Italy. None the less, when, in my teens, | started
reading my parents library, | found among their books My
Autobiography 'by Benito Mussolini'.? Perhaps my father (from 1933 to
1938 aresearch chemist at the Cavendish laboratoriesin Cambridge and
possessed of vaguely leftist political leanings) had bought it in 1935,
prompted by the notoriety come to the Duce from Italy's invasion of
Ethiopia. My father died, messily, of heart trouble before | was old
enough to discuss such matters with him. But my mother later recalled
that they had holidayed at Venice in November 1935 (given the sanc-
tions campaign against Italy and the outraged Italian reaction to it, not
an ideal moment for such a trip). She added that the imponderable
locals had spat at my (fair-haired, blue-eyed, 'English-looking’) father
and abused him as an 'English dog' when the two went walking in the
calli, and left her political analysis at that. The holidays they took in
Nazi Germany in 1936 and 1937, she remembered more pleasurably;
then the beer and cakes were good and the tramping excellent.

We lived in an upper middle class suburb of Sydney, and Italian
immigrants, who, in my boyhood, were arriving in Australiain hundred s
of thousands, remained for many years well beyond my ken. Although
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| had been fascinated somehow by history since boyhood, there was
nothing which was as yet destining me to my career as a historian of
Italy. When, asan undergraduate, | went to Sydney University in 1961,
| did run into interwar Europe, since my most stimulating teacher was
Ernest Bramsted, sometime biographer of Goebbels, and one of the few
Jewishintellectual refugeesfrom Nazismtofind sanctuary in Australia.
Bramsted ensured that, when, in 1966, | myself in turn went to
Cambridge to do a PhD and work under Harry Hinsley, my research
would focus on twentieth-century international relations.

Like many other research students in that decade of 'old-fashioned
diplomatic history', | set down to study a small aspect of the coming
of the First World War. The 50-year rule was permitting the opening
of the archives on that subject, and PhD students were directed to the
new material, with the implication that each was colouring in a pebble
in the mosaic which would eventually show why there was war in
1914 (and other times). In most ways by accident, among Kinsey's
battery of students | received the task of appraising British policy
towards Italy. All scholarly decorum, | travelled to the Public Record
Office, then till in Chancery Lane, and began to read the diplomatic
traffic between London and Rome.

Just in case the 'documents’ were not the beginning and end of
historical knowledge, Hinsley, in his genia way, suggested that |
would benefit from some months in Rome, even though my topic was
meant to be 'British’, not 'European’, history. So, in September 1967,
my wife Michal and | reached Rome, with youthful confidence, inade-
quate Italian and an introduction to Mario Toscano, then Italy's most
senior diplomatic historian. He was too grand a figure to spend any
time on so humble a visitor, but he did encourage his assistente,
Giustino Filippone Thaulero, to watch over our lives. For four
delightful months, we discovered the Biblioteca di storia moderna e
contemporanea, other libraries and lots more besides, falling in love
with Rome, for us destined to be thereafter the eternal city. Of course,
| read mainly on Liberal Italy, but | was tempted on occasion to learn
more about Mussolini and Fascism. Now | enjoyed the (highly dubious
and ghosted) memoirs of his batman, Quintino Navarra's Memorie del
cameriere di Mussolini and other such racy works.

My life had reached a turning point. Although | wrote up my
Cambridge thesis on the approved topic of 'British foreign policy
towards Italy 1902-1915, | had decided to become an Italianist. When,
in 1969, | went back to Sydney as a young lecturer, | was determined
to write Italian history. | had found an excuse to visit Italy every year,
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often during the Australian long vacation, that is, over the European
winter, always an excellent time to be in Italy, since the Italians are
there, the archives are open and the tourists are limited in number.

In thus indulging in autobiography, | am saying that this biography
of Mussolini may have been only three years in the making since |
signed my contract in 1998. Yet it also reflects work done for agenera-
tion. This long-term side of my study means | have accumulated 30
years of debts to many historians, many archives and many libraries. |
cannot mention all of these. But one occasion should be recorded. It
was 22 December 1970. For the first time, | had ventured to the
Archivio Centrale dello Sato, redolently placed in its Fascist building
in the Fascist model suburb of EUR (I had earlier worked in the
archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, on the opposite side of
Rome, but similarly housed in a Fascist building, with the monu-
mental Fascist Foro dell'lmpero, now re-named the Foro italico, near
by). At the ACS, | was reading a dusty file of papers on Liberal Italy,
amid the babble of conversation and in the fug of cigarette smoke
which distinguish Italian archives from some others. Suddenly schol-
arly labour stopped. Everybody - students, professors, archivists,
document-fetchers - trooped towards a table set up with glasses of
spumante and dlices of panettone. A man, whom | later learned was the
director, Costanze Casucci, then gave a speech celebrating us dll,
emphasising the collective nature of intellectual endeavour and
wishing uswell for Christmas. In thistiny ceremony | found expressed
the humanity in the humanities, and | have never let go my hopeinit.

If the ACSis till my special place for a day's archival research, my
favourite library isthe Biblioteca Oriam at Ravenna, with its splendid
collection of what might be called Fascistiana, and with Dante
Bolognes and his friendly staff. There | did a very great deal of the
background reading for this biography. Hell, by contrast, is the
Biblioteca Nazionale at Rome; its expensive recent technological re-fit
has left it still a place where a secret mission statement must pledge
that everything will be done to ensure that, from one year to the next,
no books are read within its portals.

When acknowledging my debts, it is harder to single out colleagues
in the wonderful discipline of history. So many people, be they fellow
academics or students or just friends with historical interests, have
helped to preserve my passion as a historian. They have written books
which | would like to have written and have loved to read. They have
thought in ways which | aspire to match and from which | have tried
to learn. They have given me hospitality, physical, intellectual and
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spiritual. Some have even generously striven to polish my writing style
and honemy arguments. Any listisinvidious but, among thosel would
especiadly like to thank, are Roger Absalom, Loretta Baldassar, Tony
Barker, Ruth Ben-Ghiat, Judy Berman, Martin Blinkhorn, Judy Bolton,
Edmund Bosworth, Mary Bosworth, thelate Frank Broeze, Tony Cahill,
Paul Corner, Trish Crawford, Gianfranco Cresciani, Patrizia Dogliani,
Nick Doumanis, Sheila Fitzpatrick, Frances Flanagan, Oscar Gaspari,
Dick Geary, Anthony Gerbino, Grahame Harrison, the Harveys,
Marianne Hicks, Reto Hoffman, Ernie Jones, Judith Keene, David
Lowenthal, Philippa Maddern, Muriel Mahony, Fabio Malusa, Ben
Mercer, the Min€dllis, Jonathan Morris, Peter Monteath, Michael
Ondaatje, L uisaPasserini, RosPesman, Lorenzo Polizzotto, David Ritter,
GinoRizzo, KeithRobbins, GiovannaRosselli, Deryck Schreuder, Enrico
Serra, Glenda Sluga, Ed Smith, Jonathan Steinberg, Rob Stuart, Luciano
Tos, Wasim, Graham White and Shane White.

I am similarly indebted to various institutions - St. John's College
and Clare Hall, Cambridge, Ballici College, Oxford, the British School
in Rome, the Italian Academy at Columbia (where | sought not to be
too rude to Prezzolini's ghost) - which have welcomed me as a visitor.
While the ravaging of the humanities in Australia by the fans of
economic rationalism has proceeded, | have been given a cushy billet
through a national Research Council grant, which has exempted me
from teaching for two semesters during the research and composition
of this book. The writing, which mainly occurred over the Australian
summer of 2000-1, was a time of specia joy. Can there be anything
better than waking up every morning in the endless series of bril-
liantly sunny Perth days to head for the computer and find that an
ancient research technique provides the information and that the
mystery of literary creation somehow produces the words? | shall be
bereft until | find as challenging a new book to write as this one.

Some readers may be surprised at the gentleness of these senti-
ments, since | am in some places notorious for having joined academic
battles about the interpretation of Italian history with a will (from
distant Australia, an expertise in historiography has often been easier
of achievement than a knowledge of archival history). As Republican
Italy experienced its various travails of leftist hope in the 19605 and
igyos and of rightist return in the 19805 and 19905, this latter process
culminating in May 2001 with the accession of Silvio Berlusconi to the
Prime Ministership, it was impossible to do Italian history without
some sense of politics. Until the last few years, it was starkly evident
that history, and especialy the interpretation of Mussolini and his
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regime, its causes, course and consegquences, still mattered to a great
number of Italians. After all, in my age of innocence, when | published
alengthy but critical monograph on Italian foreign policy before 1914,
| found Rosario Romeo, Italy's premier conservative historian,
lambasting me in a newspaper review as an 'ltaly-hater', one who
might be better off assessing his own inheritance from 'Botany Bay'
than intruding into discussions about Italian liberalism.?

In our time of the 'end of history' (whatever the potential lingering
power of irrational fundamentalisms), when ideologies and their meta-
narratives sprung from the Enlightenment and its belief in human
perfectability through rational knowledge and socia action seem ship-
wrecked and the market rules all, and when the Italian left seeks to
find a 'third way' in an Olive Tree Alliance and with new political
groupings caled the Daisy or the Sunflower, | struggle against a
profound alienation. In these circumstances, it was all the more appro-
priate when, some time between my signature of the contract and my
writing of the manuscript, | was diagnosed with the same cardiac
problemswhich killed my father. Technology having raced ahead, I, as
a result, like so many men in their fifties, was physiologically by-
passed and now | live with a sense of my bodily good fortune,
compared with my father's bad luck. As one who clings to the political
ideas and ideals | learned in the igoos (and which go back to 1789), |
am left with the paradox of gratitude about scientific progress mixed
with disdain for, and fear of, the hegemonic ideology of the moment,
by-passed, but with opposed effect, both in my body and my soul.

| shall leave readers to decide whether any of these events and atti-
tudes can be traced, or are worth tracing, in my prose. | should admit
that | have tried to view Mussolini to some extent with 'the eye of
pity'.* Readers will, | trust, find that | regard him as a bully, a coward
and afailure, and that my writing of the biography has not converted
me into a worshipper of the Duce or of Fascism. None the less,
Mussolini, unlike what remains the received understanding of his
'friend' Adolf Hitler, was, | am convinced, aman not so different from
many another. In his crass vainglory, his appalling sexism and racism,
his innumerable sins of omission and commission, his sad Darwinism,
there but for the grace of humanity went numbers of Italians of his
generation, and there, with or without such grace, go many of us.

Two final thanks - the first to Christopher Wheeler, the most sensi-
tive and encouraging of editors. The second to Mike whose
contribution to the subtlety, range and happiness of my life isinfinite
and to whom this book is dedicated.
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Mussolini is the only person responsible for the major deeds of
the regime However, he is not the guarantor of all the individual
undertakings, al the initiatives and al the different ideas which
must grow up and flourish around Fascism

Critica Fascista, V11, 15 September 1929 (editorial)

Yet it seems hardly possible that Mussolini alone has been
responsible for the making of all major policies Rather, it appears
that he is essentiadly the personification of Dictatorship
Outwardly he is the inspired autocrat manipulating his puppets,
and receiving credit for everything In practice, however, rule is
exercised collectively by a few leading administrators, including
Mussolini, and their official and unofficial advisers Their one
basic and constant guiding principle is that their dominance be
preserved

C T Schmidt (lecturer in economics at Columbia University),
The Corporate state in action Italy under Fascism,
London (Left Book Club), 1939, p 78

Wasn't Churchill just a Mussolini made over by English society,
but not made over too much?

G Bottai, Vent'anni eungiorno (24 luglio 1943),
Milan, 1977, p 27

It is not possible to draw a portrait of Mussolini, without
drawing one, too, of the Italian people His qualities and his
defects are not his own Rather they are the qualities and the
defects of al Italians

C Malaparte, Muss |l grande imbecille, Milan, 1999, p 67
(The sometime radical Fascist, later communist and
eventually Maoist, writer Curzio Malaparte expressed
this view in the summer of 1943 )






| ntroduction

WHICH European politician of the first half of the twentieth
century could be relied on to read the philosophical and
literary works of his co-nationals and send their authors notes of crit-
icism and congratulation?* Who, at a time of profound crisis and
despite his evident ill health, kept on his desk a copy of the works of
Socrates and Plato, annotated in his own hand? Who declared
publicly that he loved trees and anxiously quizzed his bureaucracy
about storm damage to the environment? Who, in his table talk while
he was entrenched in power, was fascinated by the task of tracing his
intellectual antecedents?® Who at least said that he admired contem-
porary historians for their professionalism and their refusal to bow to
fashion® and urged that his party's line should be ‘indulgence towards
professors?® Who seemed almost always ready to grant an interview
and, having done so, was especially pleased by the prospect of talking
about contemporary political and philosophical ideas? Who left more
than 44 volumes of his collected works? Who claimed with an element
of truth that money never dirtied his hands?® Who could conduct a
conversation in three languages apart from his own?’ Who was warmly
solicitous of his daughter, when, after her marriage and in her first
pregnancy, she was living in foreign parts, and wrote regularly and
personally to her,® even if on occasion only to report family pleasure at
victories by the national football team?®

The somewhat surprising answer to all these questions is Benito
Mussolini, Duce of Italian Fascism and dictator of Italy from 1922 (or
1925) to 1945 (or 1943). Earlier English-language biographers and
many a contemporary concluded that, in essence, Mussolini was both
knave and fool. As the very proper English gentleman Anthony Eden
put it, with a degree of venom which a gentleman on occasion
disgorges: 'Mussolini is, | fear, the complete gangster and his pledged
word means nothing."® Promiscuity, boasting, strutting vanity, petty



Mussolini

cruelty, incompetence — these were the words most associated with
Mussolini, and they have painted him as more a figure of fun than of
the sort of dread reserved for his fellow dictators, Hitler and Stalin.
These latter were fearful totalitarian tyrants. Mussolini, though it was
he who first announced the intention of building a 'totalitarian state,
was but a 'Sawdust Caesar',** no more than a buffoon.*?

So, indeed, he was, readers of this new biography may well
conclude. Yet, as they commence the pages of this book, they should
be cautioned that the long tradition of a critical reading of the Duce's
career carries more than a little Anglo-Saxon racial prejudice towards
lesser breeds outside the law and especialy towards 'southerners,
'Mediterraneans, what certain Australians of my acquaintance till
cal 'Eyetalians. Assumptions about failure, superficiality and crimi-
nality have been a regular part of the English-language discourse on
Mussolini, amost as if to imply that such failings are unknown
outside Italy. The common assessment that Mussolini was 'no better
than third-rate™ could seem to suggest that in other, happier, more
northern and Anglo-Saxon lands, rulers have been, are, and always
will befirst-class men (and women).

In Italy, such expressions of effortless superiority have been greeted
with some unease. It is true that for a generation the Italian Left,
linked in one way or another to the Italian Communist Party (itself
enjoying continual growth in electoral support until the end of the
1970s), forged its identity on the 'myth of the Resistance. By this
reading of the history of the twentieth century, Italy, from 1922 to
1945, fell under vicious misrule. Mussolini's dictatorship, so the argu-
ment goes, punished the great majority of the Italian people during its
generation of power, and its aliance with the ultimate evil of Nazi
Germany was natural and inevitable. So, too, was the involvement in
apocalyptic war and genocide. Fascism and Nazism, Mussolini and
Hitler, were each to be best understood through the 'model of
fascism’, which brought to light the manifold similarities between the
two regimes and their 'charismatic’ leaders. It was amodel, which had,
and has, much to be sad for it. Yet, for the post-war Italian Left this
interpretation had its greatest use in contemporary politics. It could
help check the rapacity of the rich, the sexism of men, the alure of a
revived nationalism. It could privilege the working class, trade
unions, social humanism, those groups, institutions and ideas which
Fascism had opposed and repressed.

Naturally enough, there were plenty of Italians who disapproved of
Leftist assumptions about their world and who by no means agreed
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with the condemnation of all aspects of the Fascist past. From the mid-
19605, what have come to be called the 'Anti-Anti-Fascists' found their
champion in Renzo De Felice, the extraordinarily pertinacious biogra-
pher of Mussolini. Giorgio Pini and Duilio Susmel, two ex-Fascists,
had already in the 19505 written a four-volume study of the Duce
which is very sympathetic to him (and remains useful to scholars). But
in what eventually was a seven-book biography, which ran past 6000
pages, and was published between 1965 and 1997, the last volume
posthumously, De Felice provided a massively detailed account of
Mussolini's life. De Felice was the epitome of the historian as 'archive
rat', to use Stalin's hostile term. He read in depth the government
papers typically found in the Archivio Centrale dello Sato in Rome -
these archives are housed in a building planned for the Esposizione
Universale Romana (Rome Universal Exhibition), which was meant to
celebrate 20 years of Fascist rule in 1942, As it became apparent that
De Felice was not as unfriendly to the Duce as was the culture of the
Left, the Duce's hard-working biographer also acted as a magnet for
surviving Fascists who regularly gave him access to their papers and
diaries. When his own research was complete, De Felice frequently
organised the publication of such works. Both in his prose, however
meandering and confused, and in his editorial efforts, De Felice has
left a remarkable heritage, one which no subsequent biographer of
Mussolini can avoid.

As an interpreter of Mussolini, De Felice needs to be read with
greater caution. Especialy in the latter volumes, he frequently sought
to exculpate the Duce, and became savagely dismissive of what he
liked to cal the journalistic superficiality of the Anti-Fascist
vulgate'.‘4 His own conclusions, he remarked immodestly, were the
only possible ones, even when they included a highly contestable
emphasis on Mussolini's 'progressive’ politics and regret at his bad
luck in failing to convert Hitler to the truth that the epicentre of the
Second World War lay not on the Russian front but in the
Mediterranean. Just before De Fdlice's death, his version of the past
had become grist to the mill of a rising Italian new Right. He was
praised by the dlegedly 'post-fascist’ members of the National
Alliance, led by Gianfranco Fini, a man who went on claiming that
Mussolini was the greatest statesman of the twentieth century, and by
Silvio Berlusconi. Thisbillionaire out-matches Mussolini'sown efforts
to be ajournalist in politics by offering instead the frightening spectre
of a media magnate in politics. In contemporary Italy, Berlusconi
makes the news in many, too many, ways.

3



Mussolini

From my distant Australian refuge, | watch these events with the
same curmudgeonly discomfort with which | view most contemporary
politics. It would be churlish of me, however, not to acknowledge my
debt to De Felice's biography. My footnotes certainly betray regular
reference to his pages for detail and information. And yet, in this
study, my more influential models have been drawn from neither
Anglo-Saxon nor Italian biographies of Mussolini (nor from the new,
lengthy but 'De Felicean’, study by the French historian Pierre
Milza).™> My approach to Mussolini is conditioned by my reading of
more general European history.

When Christopher Wheeler kindly raised with me the possibility
that | might like to essay a new analysis of the Duce, | was doubtful. |
had never written a biography before. And | thought of myself, and
till do, as more a 'structuralist’ or ‘functionalist' historian, anxious to
explore the 'social roots of policy than an ‘intentionalist’ one,
convinced that Great Men are indeed great, the dynamos of their
times. My surviving interest in these issues shows that | was influ-
enced by the 1980s literature on Nazi Germany. At least in Australia,
all who teach twentieth-century European history are to some degree
the pensioners of Adolf Hitler; for 35 years, | have smuggled some
Italian history into courses which students have volunteered to do
because of the terror and the glamour of Nazi Germany. From my
immersion in the historiography on Germany | knew that there were
fascinating debates about whether or not Hitler was a ‘weak' dictator,
about what the limits might have been of his power, about the origi-
nality or banality of his ideas, and so about the extent to which Nazi
practice was an imposition from 'above’ or awelling up from 'below'.
Since | aso had to teach the history of the Soviet Union (being a
pensioner of Hitler does not rule out benefit gained from Stalin, too), |
was encouraged to consult the fine work of Sheila Fitzpatrick'® and
others on not dissimilar issues in the history of the USSR and notably
the functioning of its alegedly ‘totalitarian’ state amid the complexity
and ambiguity of the society of all the Russias.

| therefore began my research by emphasising that | would place
Mussolini into his society, commencing with a basic scepticism about
the 'Great Man' and the liberal (but adso Fascist) idea that every indi-
vidual is potentially free to follow his or her will. 'My' Mussolini, |
was sure (while trying to block out any foolish ambitions to become a
'Great Biographer'), would tell as much about the society of Italy (and
the Italics) as it would about the individual peccadilloes of a particular
human being.
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None the less, to prepare myself for my task, | automatically looked
at recent biographies of major twentieth-century politicians. Two
especially impressed me. The first was Paul Preston's detailed account
of General Franco, with its subtle analysis of how power was exercised
in Spain for the lengthy period of Franco's rule. Among the themes
which | noted for comparison with Mussolini was Preston's emphasis
on the Caudiilo's 'inscrutable pragmatism’, his 'evasion of commitment
and ... taste for the imprecise.” Franco, Preston told me, did not
forget to practise obfuscation, the better to confuse later historians
-'throughout his life, he regularly rewrote his own life story'. Quite a
few Francos thus turn up in his record of the past. (How many
Mussolinis might I, then, need to meet, | asked myself.) All the same,
at least according to Preston, areal historical actor did exist; Franco's
'powers were comparable to those of Hitler and greater than those of
Mussolini'."® Protected by his "ability to calibrate almost instantly the
weakness and/or price of a man', Franco, Preston argued, used his
power for four decades 'with consummate skill, striking decisively at
his outright enemies but maintaining the loyalty of those within the
Nationalist coalition with cunning and a perceptive insight into
human weakness worthy of a man who had learned his politics among
the tribes of Morocco'."' Here was a strong dictator, however blindly
cruel was his treatment of foes and however unrelentingly barren his
view of the world turned out to be. According to Preston, Franco's
most telling comments were expressed in 1954, when he informed the
Bourbon Pretender Don Juan: 'l never placed my complete confidence
in anyone' and thisjudicious caution had meant that, for him, 'Spain
... [wag easy to govern.” Preston, | reflected, had concluded that a
Great (Bad) Man indeed existed in Franco's Spain, one who cheerfully
and brutally exercised free will.

Chastened a little in my assumptions and predilections, | then
turned to lan Kershaw's magnificent new biography of Hitler — there
were pleasing afternoons when | could abandon the travail of
constructing my own prose about Mussolini and read the second
volume of Kershaw's study, which reached Australialatein 2000.* But
when | was planning my biography, it was the introduction to
Kershaw's first volume which | found most interesting. Kershaw told
me that in shouldering the burden of biography he had come from the
'wrong' direction.?? His own work was rooted in socia history (and |
knew, too, that he had written much on historiography). He was asso-
ciated with members ofthat functionalist or structuralist school which
had spent a generation in debate with intentionalists who thought
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that Hitler was the supreme historical actor of his era. They believed in
‘Hitler's war', 'Hitler's Holocaust' and 'Hitler's Revolution’; they even
contemplated Hitler as a 'psychopathic God.*® Kershaw and his
friends, by contrast, explored the relationship between the German
people and Nazi rule, and surveyed the extent to which Nazism won
the 'consensus' of the Germans.

Kershaw's intellectual background was one concern. Another was
the fact that Hitler seemed to have had no real private life (except that
surmised by the psycho-historians). Preston's Franco rejoiced in awife
and daughter, played golf, went fishing, and decayed bathetically
under the assault of Parkinson's disease. But Hitler's private world was
more difficult to enter, if it existed at al. In the Fuhrer's case, Kershaw
lamented, 'there was no retreat to a sphere outside the political, to a
deeper existence which conditioned his public reflexes.* In apparent
contradiction, Hitler, when acting as an executive, was notoriously
fickle, erratic in his attendance at the office, complaisant about his
‘artistic temperament’ and his devotion to a Bohemian lifestyle. He
may or may not have thought that Germany was easy to govern but,
frequently, he did not seem to bother to govern at all.

Power in Nazi Germany was centred on the Fuhrer. That could not
be denied, but Kershaw explained that this power 'derived only in
part from Hitler himself. In greater measure it wasasocia product — a
cregtion of socid expectations and motivation vested in Hitler by his
followers. 'A history of Hitler', Kershaw continued, 'had to be, there-
fore, ahistory of his power — how he came to get it, what its character
was, how he exercised it, why he was allowed to expand it to break all
institutional barriers, why resistance to that power was so feeble.”” In
coping with these questions, Kershaw concluded, Weberian ideas
about charisma offered the best conceptual tool, but, he warned, the
historical analyst must be as attuned to German society as to Hitler
himself.?® For Kershaw the key phrases in al the history of the Nazi
regime were those coined by Werner Willikens, a Prussian bureau-
cratic expert in agriculture who, unlike the Fuhrer, could reliably be
found at his desk. In February 1934 Willikens wrote: 'Everyone with
opportunity to observe it knows that the Fuhrer can only with great
difficulty order from above everything that he intends to carry out
sooner or later. On the contrary, until now everyone has best worked
in his place in the new Germany if, so to speak, he works towards the
Fuhrer'. "It is the duty of every single person to attempt, in the spirit
of the Fuhrer to work towards him', he added.?” Here, then, was what
Kershaw regarded as a new sort of power,®® under the influence of
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which Germans sought to express the Word even before it was spoken.
They did so inafog of confusion, miscomprehension, self-interest and
fanaticism. Nazi Germany was 'a highly modern state without any
central coordinating body and with a [charismatic] head of govern-
ment largely disengaged from the machinery of government'.*®)

From Kershaw's work came a host of questions applicable to
Mussolini. The Duce was plainly no exact replica of the Fihrer. Rather
like Franco, he did have a private life, a wife and five legitimate chil-
dren, lots of mistresses, a successful career before 1914 - not yet thirty
he was already the editor of the socialist national paper Avanti! —
illnesses of his own, notably as he aged and his hair grew white. In
office, for the most part he was a careful executive, regularly turning
up at his desk, conscientiously reading the papers put before him,
accepting the forms of office (most ironically a bi-weekly visit to the
royal palace to consult King Victor Emmanuel I11, the monarch who,
throughout the Fascist dictatorship, remained constitutional head of
state). There was plenty of evidence that Mussolini knew how to
manage and manipulate men (and women). His rule was seconded by a
loyalish and largely constant entourage, kept in line by a combination
of bullying and blandishments, accepting that they would be regu-
larly berated but also given the opportunity for corruption and for
that endemic internecine executive warfare which was the Italian
equivalent of the 'institutional Darwinism' historians have discerned
in Nazi Germany. It was, in other words, clear that Mussolini was
always anxious to govern and to be seen to govern.

Yet, once Mussolini became Prime Minister in 1922 and then
dictator in 1925, parallels with Hitler did come to the fore. Despite its
bureaucratic aspects, much of Mussolini's governance was charis-
matic. Indeed, he had been singled out as a bearer of charisma before
1914. Why s0? Did Mussolini natively exude leadership? Did he
inscribeit on himself? Or, did othersforge his character as a Ducei Did
the charisma change over time? If it was fretted at times of troubles in
1921 and 1924 and then faded into nothingness during the disasters of
the Second World War, how and why did these fluctuations happen?
Woas there another, more personal and ‘human’, Mussolini somewhere
separate from the charismatic Ducei How, moreover, did charismatic
governance work in Italy? Did it 'revolutionise' Italian society? (Quite
afew culturalist historians of Fascism were assuring me that the Italian
people had been made genuinely militant by Mussolini's rule, univer-
saly ready to march onwards as Fascist soldiers.) Were Italians to a
man and a woman true believers in their Duce, | mused? Certainly
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every book published under the regime assured me that the revolution
was real and that Italians had been drastically modernised through
their good fortune in acquiring Mussolini to rule them. Did they, too,
then work towards their Ducei Was Mussolini's Italy a replica of what
Kershaw has shown happening in Nazi Germany?

A number of matters nourished my scepticism towardsthis straight-
forward interpretation of a Fascist 'revolution’, led without restraint
by a charismatic Duce. My first training was in the history of Liberal
Italy and | knew enough about that society's rhetoric and practice,
especially among the rising generation linked to the Nationalist
Association (founded 1910), to be troubled when told of the originality
of both Fascist foreign and colonia policies and of the accompanying
looser discourse about the 'new Rome' and its mare nostrum. | found it
hard to believe that Mussolini, at least in the international dealings of
Fascism, had been especially 'original’.

Then there was the problem of Italy's special Second World War. In
regard to that conflict, | had not been won over by the revisionist
arguments of De Felice and some of his English-language admirers who
wanted to counter the established conclusion that the Fascist war was
adisaster. Rather, | retained the view that, under the 'test' of a second
conflict, Mussolini's regime did worse than its Liberal predecessor had
done. Liberal Italy was scarcely a place where state and society were
reconciled, and yet, from 1915 to 1918, a tough war was fought to
victory in a way that proved impossible after 1940, very much to
Mussolini's discomfort, given his repeated raising of the parallel. This
comparison was so telling that it made it hard to deny that Mussolini's
talk about a genuinely 'totalitarian’ state and its revolutionised people
was, at least after 1940, bombast.

The attitudes and behaviour of Mussolini and the majority of his
henchmen were striking in another regard. Even the briefest knowl-
edge of Mussolini himself, of his cynicism, of the crassness of his
Darwinist assumption that there was no such thing as society, of his
misanthropy, of his half-fearful desire to be left alone, of his eternal
scathing condemnation of al he saw around him, of his boasted
'savagery', demonstrated that he was no blindly true believer.
Whatever else he was Mussolini was no Hitler impelled by a credo to
act in one way and one way only. And what of his entourage? Was his
son-in-law and, for quite awhile, potential dauphin, Galeazze Ciano, a
Fascist fanatic, this man who trotted off to his golf course for his daily
dose of gossip and good times? Ciano seemed more the typical bour-
geois playboy (or, in better modern parlance, yuppy), whose
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adamantinely Fascist phrases were scarcely to be taken serioudy. So
what of the 'tough guys, Roberto Farinacci or Mussolini's enduring
wife, Rachele, were they 'real' Fascists? Again yes and no seemed the
only possible answer. Certainly, in some ways, the Duce was depen-
dent on them, with their sullen desire that the sociad order be
upturned. They (and Nicola Bombacci, the ex-communist and ex-anar-
chist who popped back into the Duce's life in 1943-45) half convinced
Mussolini that, despite his schism from the socidist party in 1914, he
had retained some contact with the 'real people’. The word 'half is
important here. Farinacci and Rachele balanced Ciano, the King and
the rest of the €lite, but their very uncouthness, their crassness, the
palpable nature of their commitment to verbal violence (and their own
version of corruption), ruled them out as presentable office-holdersin
the world of compromises and deals which Mussolini believed
inevitably constituted 'polities.

It was a significant inadequacy on their part. When Mussolini
admitted, as he sometimes did, that he might not always understand
economics, or be fully in touch with society, or altogether comprehend
culture, he always maintained that he was the master of ‘polities. To
achieve this subtle mastery, he had cast aside his own original earthi-
ness, and outgrown the time of his life when he was just another
Farinacci. Sometimes, of course, he acted directly and stubbornly of
his own accord (he certainly persisted with the conquest of Ethiopia,
for example, against most advice and, a decade earlier, he was equally
stubborn in his pursuit of a high valuation of the lira on the interna-
tional currency market). But, rather more frequently, he fudged and
waited and 'planned’ (always within an elastic time-frame) and
watched events, seeking short-term, ‘tactical', advantage.
‘Totalitarian' seemed, and seems, an inadequate word to describe the
nuances of such behaviour.

Similarly troubling was the De Felicean concept of a Fascism
possessed of two opposing souls, the radical 'Fascism movement' and
the conservative 'Fascism regime'. A Ciano may have been at heart just
another European young conservative, aFarinacci may have wanted to
burn down the palaces, but Mussolini's retention of a relationship
with both indicates that his version of Fascism was not so much split
between moderation and revolution as built from these two parts and
dependent on them in spite of their evident contradiction. Mussolini,
in his preference for tactics over strategy, in his partiality to be
confined to mere 'polities, had opted not to choose between this or
that 'ultimate’ definition of Fascism (or of his own persona). The



Mussolini

fundamental point about Mussolini and his regime is that it was, and
had to be, both conservative and radical. The threat of the German
aliance, present before 1939 but made overwhelming after October
1940, was precisely that it demanded a clear definition of Fascism, an
overal strategy, not a set of tactics, an answer, not a gamut of policies.
The Mussolinian model had contributed something to the Nazi rise to
power, but, in office and as aneighbour, Nazism was too powerful, too
demanding, at the same time too similar and too foreign. As an inde-
pendent entity, Fascism could not withstand its comparison.

Here, then, were major doubts about some accounts of 'Mussolini's
Italy'. But my final scepticism was drawn less from history than from
my knowledge of Republican Italy, sprung either from the visits | have
been lucky enough to make every year since 1967 or from my meeting
with Italian immigrants in Australia. Especialy from Australian
Italians | heard often enough a residual admiration for Mussolini (an
intriguing matter that, deserving of analysis), but | was also aware of
a shifting and ambiguous world not far below the surface of any
Australian Italy. Here Italies' were everywhere apparent, and not just
the official nation embodied in those somewhat luckless officials sent
by the Republic to represent it in the new world or by the loca leaders
of the 'Roman’ Catholic Church. Here, too, was the family in all its
power and contradiction.

These Italians of my acquaintance, who had survived the genera-
tion of dictatorship and war, were people who preserved difference; |
could even sentimentalise them as human beings less impressed by
cries for homogeneity, recurrent in 'One Australia, than were many of
my fellow citizens. Were not the peoples of the Italies also like that
under Fascism? Was not Mussolini, too, a man who incarnated his
region and hisfamily as much as he did his nation and ideology? | was
willing, of course, to acknowledge that some processes of modernisa-
tion and homogenisation were occurring in interwar Italy. After all,
they were happening everywhere else. But, | wondered, to what
extent did the Italians who experienced Fascism seek to manipulate it
to their own advantage, to conceive it in their own way? Were they
really a people who had tried to 'work towards their Duce, | enquired
again? De Felice and others had stated that there was a 'consensus' of
some kind in Italy, at least until the fiasco of the invasion of Greece in
October 1940. Did approval of Mussolini and his image mean that
Italians tried to do his will even before they knew what it was, as
Kershaw asserts happened with Hitler and Germany? Sometimes;
perhaps. And yet, it seemed to me, more often Mussolini, the 'power

io
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holder', worked towards the Italians. Even while he railed against the
feebleness of humankind (and by implication cursed his own weak-
ness and back-sliding), he tried to be popular and accommodating. He
was at one and the same time a charismatic Fascist dictator and atrim-
ming and cynical politician, peering into the obscurity of the future to
find an acceptable present, anxious not to be shown up as too much of
a failure, hopeful of getting through another day.

Nonethe less, of course he failed, in aimost every sense of the word.
The thought tout comprendre, tout pardonner is beguiling, but | remain
an Anti-Fascist biographer. 'My' Mussolini is not to be celebrated as a
Fascidt, a dictator, a war-lord or a man. This revived Caesar deserves
no historical Roman triumphs. He was cruel (but not the cruellest). He
did not really modernise Italy (maybe that is not altogether a bad
thing). His Fascism did not in any serious sense pave athird way to the
future between liberal capitalism and state socialism. He may have
adopted the word ‘'totalitarian’, but his Italy scarcely moved to a single
beat, or shook off ancient assumptions about the utility and ubiquity
of patrons and clients and family. His belated efforts at autarchy, or
economic nationalism, foundered for many reasons, but one was that
tourist, emigrant and Catholic Italy could never atogether renounce
cosmopolitanism. His empire in Africa was of the old-fashioned,
ramshackle, costly variety, familiar from the nineteenth century, and
very different from the racial imperium Hitler and his Nazis thought
they were destined to construct in the East on the ashes of the USSR
and European Jewry. Mussolini's own racism existed, but it was
inconsistent, erratic, ‘unscientific', never possessing the rigour which
might have made him agood recruit for the SS.

In sum, to a considerable degree Mussolini did not even dictate,
but, rather, was swept along by a destiny which began with ambition
and hope in the provinces and continued with his being the ‘first of
his class' on the periphery, which took him thence to a blinding but
brittle glory, and which ended in squalid and deserved death.
Malaparte may have exaggerated, and denied his own complicity and
that of his fellow intellectuals when he labelled Mussolini a 'great
imbecile', but he was right to declare that, in many senses, Mussolini
embodied Italian society after national (dis)unification in the
Risorgimento. As a man and a Fascist ‘thinker', Mussolini was
adamant that he possessed absolute free will. But, in this contention,
asin many other matters, he was wrong.

One caution — the first chapter of this book begins the story in
January 1944 and proceeds from there to its (seeming) conclusion, the

n
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Duce's death in April 1945, Readers who prefer their biographies to be
sequential should go directly to Chapter 2. They should do so,
however, with the knowledge that this biographer believes neither in
absolute free will nor in absolute determinism. One of the more
obvious faults of biography is the assumption, too easily made, that
the character being described was aways destined to finish where he
or shedid. Reality is, of course, different. And, in my early chapters, |
shall pause from time to time to wonder, in virtual history mode, about
a Duce as yet only partially made. Turning points where history may
or may not turn exist in all our lives, and they certainly did in the
flawed life of Benito Mussolini. He may have been dictator of Italy for
a generation, but he alone did not craft his career (nor win much
persona satisfaction from it).

12



ne Furies and Benito
Mussolini, 1944—1945

HERE are many books about the Fascist era with wonderful titles,
but the best is Quando il nonno fecefucilare papa (When Grandpa
had Daddy shot), an otherwisetrifling memoir by Fabrizio Ciano.' The
event he describes happened at 9.20 am. on the morning of u
January 1944. An execution had been arranged just outside the gates
of Verona, that city of northern Italy which for many centuries had
controlled access to the Brenner pass and so stood at the crossroads of
the German and Latin worlds. Five Fascist chiefs, found guilty of
betraying the Duce or Great Leader of Fascist Italy, Benito Mussolini,
were shot by afiring squad, composed of young Italians but stiffened
by three SS observers. Among the condemned, the most prominent
was Galeazze Ciano, Count of Cortellazzo,® son-in-law to the Duce. As
a camera whirred to record the deaths for a gratified public, Ciano
swivelled to face his executioners, more worthy in this last gesture
than he had been in most of his life's actions. Six months earlier, on
24—25 July 1943, with Allied forces rapidly pushing back demoralised
Fascist defencesin Sicily and beginning to target the Italian mainland
itself, Ciano and 18 other members of the Fascist Grand Council had
voted against Mussolini's continuing as commander of the Italian war
effort. It was for this 'treachery’ that Ciano, Emilio De Bono, Luciano
Gottardi, Giovanni Mannelli and Carlo Pareschi now paid the price.
Their blood, it was said, was required as a sacrament for the new
Repubblica Sociale Italiana (Italian Social Republic) which, since
September 1943, had been established to provide some sort of Fascist
governance for northern Italy. The matter, the Duce had admitted in a
moment of frankness, was 'political’, notjudicial .*
Ciano had married Edda, eldest daughter of the dictator, in alavish
ceremony, on 24 April 1930. He was the son of Costanze Ciano, then
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Fascist Minister of Communications, a naval officer, war hero, nation-
alist, boss of Livorno, and man about town, whose speculations
brought him and his family huge profits.® In the years after his
marriage, Galeazzo Ciano became the most gilded young man of the
Fascist regime, thought to be the Duce's anointed successor, neophyte
diplomat in China, then Minister for Popular Culture, then Minister of
Foreign Affairs and, belatedly, from February 1943, Ambassador to the
Holy See. Ciano was a yuppy of his time, as likely to be found at an
elegant beach resort or at the bar of Rome's Acquasanta golf course,
with its fairways running beside an agueduct which had once brought
water to thefirst Roman Empire, as at his work-desk. He had met Edda
at Acquasanta.’ Ciano was beloved by the contessine, the youthful
female aristocrats of the Eternal City, and rumour spread that he
bedded them with even greater frequency than that achieved by the
Duce during his flagrant record of sexual conquests.’

Ciano sometimes donned the Fascist blackshirt and the threatening
accoutrements of the fanatical Disperata squad (he had not actually
belonged to it and his party membership had been back-dated).® He
tried to orate with the best (though hampered by a piping voice).? On
such occasions he declared himself the servant of, and true believer in,
the 'Fascist revolution'. But Ciano adso was the Fascist who, on 4
November 1939, having participated in the pompous patriotic ceremo-
nial of Vittorio Veneto Day, the anniversary of Italy's victory in the
Firsst World War, repaired to the golf club. There he confided to
Giuseppe Bottai, Alessandro Pavolini and Ettore Muti, his fellow
Fascist chiefs, that he hoped profoundly that Britain and not Nazi
Germany would win the war. Britain, he explained brightly, deserved
victory because it stood for ‘the hegemony of golf, whisky and
comfort'.*°

However disapproving of Ciano's levity he may have been, Bottai
voted with him on 25 July; and by January 1944 was in hiding,
awaiting the chance to enrol in the French Foreign Legion." Muti was
dead, shot in August 1943 by officials of the royal government as he
tried to escape arrest.” Pavolini, by contrast, had backed Sdo, as the
RSI was widely called from the town beside Lago di Carda where some
of its ministries were located. According to a sympathetic historian,
the fundamental motive for his choice was his admiration for the
Duce.'! Certainly, by January 1944, Pavolini, from a class and cultural
background in Florence comparable with Ciano's, had turned 'super-
fascist™® and was loud in his demand that his erstwhile friend pay the
ultimate penalty. '

14
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One Mussolini, however, tried to oppose such vendettas. Ciano's
marriage with Edda may have been 'open’, and the couple may have
allowed themselves to be raddled by gambling, drink and even
cocaine,™" but, duringthecrisisof 1943—44, sheprovedfiercely loyal to
her man, the father of her two sons, the husband she till addressed
affectionately as Gallo (Cock)."” She stormed and threatened, berating
her father for hislack of family sense, his cruelty and hisweakness. To
the daughter for whom he had always felt affection greater than for his
other children, the Duce bowed his head, but did nothing to ater
Ciano's fate. Another visitor noticed a man who looked 'tired and
beaten down'; the Duce of Salo kept pressing his stomach against the
pain he felt there and would run his finger around his collar as if he
had trouble breathing.”®

Edda did not get far when she tried hysterics on Rachele Guidi, her
mother. Rachele had long despised Ciano, the over-privileged
signorino who was so effete that he played golf.”® Rachele, despite
spending 20 years as the consort of the ruler of Italy, had cherished
her image as a woman of the people. In that character, along with
homeliness, thrift and commonsense, went her fidelity to her
husband, who, she knew, had been betrayed in 1943. Amplifying her
determination to be loyal were envy and rancour towards polite
society, a brutal acceptance that death must have its day and a deter-
mination that traitors should meet their fate. The rea 'tough guy' of
the family, she let it be believed that she never cried.®® And the
Fascigts, those who, like Pavolini, had, for whatever motive, swung
behind the Salo Republic, agreed with Rachele. Goffredo Coppola, the
rector of the University of Bologna, expressed their attitude when he
wrote that the new regime must be cemented by blood and renounce
thefondnessfor compromiseindulged in by 'Rabbis, Free Masonsand
women'.#

No doubt the German dlies and protectors of Sao applauded his
sentiments. They had special reason to condemn Ciano since, fromthe
spring of 1939, the then Foreign Minister had become sceptical about
the Nazi world order and had only belatedly and reluctantly accepted
Italy's entry into the war. The Nazis were adamant that Ciano, and
those of his other associates who had fallen into the RSI's hands, be
executed. They must die as a punishment for what they had done, but
aso in retribution for the humiliating and disgraceful failure of the
Italian war effort so far. In other words, they must be liquidated
because the Fascist regime, the system for which thewordtotalitarian
had been invented, in which 'all would be for the state, nothing
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against the state, no one outside the state', had proved hollow and
false. Although nobody said so openly (and the matter is not much
remarked in current Italian historiography),? Ciano was being shot as
a proxy for Benito Mussolini, failed totalitarian, failed Fascist dictator,
failed leader of his nation, failed warrior for the Nazi-Fascist New
Order.

In 1944 those who blamed Mussolini for the disasters al around did
not talk about the sins and limitations of their dictator because the
propaganda of the Salo Republic was aready bent on constructing a
fresh Mussolini for the new and terrible times. Even today, some histo-
rians”® aver that, after September 1943 Mussolini courageously
offered himself as a shidd for Italians againgt the wrath of ther
German allies and the horror of the continuing war. The flesh and
blood Mussolini, who lived uneasily a the Villa Fdtrindli at
Gargnano, was afar less heroic figure. He wasiill, tired and depressed.
His family squabbled around him. His flabby and pretentious eldest
son Vittorio, whom even his father labelled an 'idiot’, was belatedly
exhibiting an interest in high politics.** Vittorio was assisted by his
cousin Vito.® A number of other more distant relations flocked to the
region - one historian has tabulated 200 of them.”® As an observer
commented sardonically, Mussolini felt deep affection for his family,
but preferred it when they did not invade his work space.*” For all his
disclaimers, however, Fascism in its death throes was demonstrating
through the various Mussolinis and Guidis that the family was one
institution which had not fallen victim to 'totalitarian' control.

Rachele, in her private soul, may have been wondering whether her
Benito was any more a real man, but she bustled about, impressing
visitors with her industry and domesticity. She told a bureaucrat that
the problem with her husband was that he believed everybody he
spoke to, whereas she believed nobody.”® Whenever she got the
chance, she also cursed her husband for his ongoing relationship with
Claretta Petacci,” that airheaded and unlosable last mistress, who,
after a brief experience of imprisonment in August-September 1943
had taken up residence nearby at the mansion named the Villa delle
Orsohne for the nuns who had once lived there. And then there was
Edda, who came for a last visit on 26 December 1943. She had
screamed that the war was lost, that they were al living in utter delu-
son, that they could not have Galeazze sacrificed in such
circumstances,® and then departed for Switzerland, never to see her
father again, never again to exchange a civil word with him, indeed
declaring herself proud to be the wife of ‘a traitor and a thief'.>? Only
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the youngest children, Romano and AnnaMaria, a childhood victim of
poliomyelitis and intellectually dow, were not a major irritation. The
second son, Bruno, was dead, victim of a wartime air accident.*®
Bruno's widow, Gina Ruberti, completed the family circle in the Villa
Feltrinelli and was favoured by the Duce, who perhapsrather admired
her (gfenly ridiculing any suggestions that the Axis could till win the
war.

In January 1944 Mussolini was trying to keep out of the sight of
amost everybody. Most of al he hid from himself while, with
profound cowardice, he knowingly let Ciano go to his death in his
place. On the night before the execution the Duce deliberately and
cravenly avoided the chance to exercise the mercy that his position
permitted. He did not act because he was aware that the Nazi Germans
and the fanatical Fascists were being for the moment satiated by the
blood of others and even by that of his daughter's husband. Probably,
too, he recognised that, once the sacrifice was made, they would
forgive or ignore his own evident inadequacies. No doubt such
motives made him the more anxious, after the event, to extract from a
friendly visitor the full details of how his son-in-law and his erstwhile
colleagues had died. Then, without damage to his own interest, he
could piously state that they had not deserved their fate.>® Still more
pathetically, Mussolini tried to blame others for his own refusal to
intervene, remarking mournfully that he had suffered a deepless
night on io January (he had spent New Y ear's Day in bed with afever
and stomach pain).>" Only the malevolence of others had stopped all
requests for a pardon from reaching his sympathetic ear." Ciano's
mother he regaled with a letter emphasising his own loneliness.®
When Edda intimated that she was unconvinced by his account of his
suffering, with monumental egoism he announced to any who would
hear that 'it is my singular destiny to be betrayed by everyone,
including my own daughter'.3® Evenin March 1945 he was till talking
about the ‘atrocioudy long ‘agony', which he had endured since
Ciano went to his death.”® In his self-obsession, Mussolini tried to
block out the reality of the disaster which, for some time, had
enveloped Fascism and Itay, and refused to see the Furies gathering
about him.

Telling an interlocutor what he wanted to hear, as was his wont,
Mussolini contended in the aftermath of the execution of his son-in-
law that 'now that we have begun to make heads roll, we must let
nothing stand in our way, but go on to the logical conclusion’.** And
Italy's history from January 1944 to April 1945 was indeed a bitter
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one, a time when the northern segment of the peninsula was visited
both by the passage of the front of the Second World War and by a
complex of civil disputes and massacres. By contrast, the 'liberated'
south, under the combination of the Allied Military Government and
the administration loyal to the Savoy monarchy, experienced the
gentler tyrannies of the nation's traditional class, gender and regional
differences and the humiliating gap between Italian poverty and the
strength of the Anglo-Saxon liberators.*?

In present day Italy it has become common, at least in some circles,
to preach the need to forgive and forget the sins of the Socia Republic.
At this time, we are assured, Italians,*® including some prominent
historians of the next generation,* chose to fight for Mussolini for
reasons which deserve understanding and respect. During a 'civil
war'® in which virtue was not monopolised by either side, many
Italians believed that honour and a commitment to the nation were
better expressed at Salo than with the invading liberal democrat Allies
(and their communist friends).

Pacifying the past is al very well. No doubt it does us all good to
confess our sins and to acknowledge our inevitable and manifold
transgressions. And yet, it also deserves noting that the RSl was the
puppet-ally of Nazi Germany, while that most horrific of modern
states continued to exterminate the Jews of Europe and promised,
were it somehow to conjure victory from what, by 1944, was loom-
ing defeat, to slaughter any ideological or racial enemies in its
power. When his forces proved victorious in the Spanish Civil War,
Franco, only half a fascist, massacred perhaps 100 ooo of his sub-
jects, left another 300 ooo as permanent exiles, alowed others to
starve and repressed liberty of any serious kind for a generation.*®
What might a Nazi victory in the compendium of second world
wars have been like? Would not Mussolini, too, have been driven to
a series of atrocious 'logica conclusons, whatever his ‘actual’
intentions might have been? When an ostensibly respectable intel-
lectual like Giovanni Gentile can be found writing in January 1944
of the urgent requirement that Italy rediscover its soul in the Duce
who had raised again the national flag, and adding a demand for the
'inexorable punishment' of Anti-Fascists,* his words cannot be sep-
arated from the context of a world engaged in visceral war. Neither
can those of his colleague, Ardengo Soffici, who, despite his own
notorious search for funds and status through two decades of
Fascism,”® now inveighed against the 'pustule’ of corruption which
had somehow grown on the body of Fascism and which must be
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excised fully and ruthlessly, removing 'the last drop of its corrupt
blood.*® It has to be assumed that Gentile, Soffici and the other
intellectuals who rallied to the RSI, were advocating, and knew that
they were advocating, a terrible end for their political opponents.
They may have believed that the outbreak of peace would as ever
entail presently unspoken compromises, but in cleaving to such tra-
ditional cynicism they had not plumbed the nature of the Nazi aly
to which they were now committed literally to the death.

No doubt, the number of fighting partisans was actually few until
the spring of 1945, and, especiadly by then, their own motives were
not always pure.’ No doubt, the Resistance, too, included killersin its
ranks. No doubt, the Anglo-American bombers were savage in their
raids on Italian cities and Allied forces erratic in their civic dealings
with liberated Italians. No doubt, good in the ultimate sense did not
win in 1945. And yet the victory of the other side, including the
victory of the restored Benito Mussolini, would have brought a dark
age to Europe, the world and Italy.

In 1944—45 Mussolini scarcely contemplated such a prospect and
the difficulties it might have entailed. After al, neither in 1940, nor
even in 1935 when Italy attacked Ethiopia, had he set out war aims. As
a puppet dictator, his first priority after the killing of his son-in-law
and other ex-collegues was to survive. The territory under his
purported control continued to shrink, in spite of the owness of the
Allied advance up the rugged Apennines. Naples had fallen on i
October 1943, Rome followed on 4 June 1944, Florence on n August.
At least as troubling was the problem of defining the independence
left to the RSl by the Germans. The national borders of Italy were a
prey to them, too. One recurrent issue was what it was that the
Germans intended to do with Trieste and the Trentino, territories
governed by the Habsburg empire before 1918 and, from September
1943, returned to ‘temporary' German administration. It was al very
well Mussolini pompously complaining to his officials about German
failure to consult and demanding that Italians rule Itaians."* In prac-
tice, Hitler, alone of the German leadership, favoured any serious
resumption of Mussolini's authority in what was left of Fascist Italy.
Goebbels, more logica about ‘restoring’ 'German’ control over lands
which ‘they' had once ruled, instead urged the reclaiming of al
Venetia for the Reicht” Before long the Nazi propaganda minister
wouldjot into his diary what he and his colleagues had long believed:
'Fascism and the socia-fascist republic are so impotent that it is fairly
immaterial who occupies the various ministerial posts in Mussolini's
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cabinet'.>® For the great majority of the Nazi leadership, Mussolini was
rather more the puppet and less the dictator.

It was in this atmosphere of German contempt that, in April 1944,
Mussolini travelled to the castle at Klessheim near Salzburg for
another, the sixteenth, of his meetings with the Fihrer. Although
Marshal Rodolfo Oraziani, in charge of Salesformal armies, found the
Duce nervous and meandering, at the opening of discussions on 22
April Mussolini did argue that his labours were constructing a real
government in Italy.® However unconvincingly, he was assertive
about a series of other matters, including the need to improve the
conditions of Italian POWs and work emigrants, from September 1943
kept as virtual dave labourers in Germany.> Similarly he wondered
whether Hitler could elucidate real German intentions in Trieste and
the other border lands. 'The strengthening of the Italian Republic', he
urged beseechingly, was 'in the interest of Germany.® With Hitler
remaining unaccustomedly silent, Mussolini returned to what, as the
war had proceeded, had become his strategic obsession. England, he
declared, was the real enemy of the Axis. Could not the USSR be
persuaded to accept its old borders and the entire fight redirected to
the West?"

When he harped on about the idea of a compromise with Stalin,
Mussolini was indicating the superficiality of his own commitment to
the racist and anti-communist ideals of the Axis. At the same time, he
was exhibiting his egregious misunderstanding of the fanaticism
about these matters that gripped the minds of Hitler and the rest of the
Nazi German leadership. In 1944 Germany was fighting its real war,
the most fundamental of all the second world wars, in the East. For an
Italian leader to hope wistfully, in the petty interests of his nation,
that the Nazis could be detached from this campaign was a delusion of
the most profound kind.

None the less, despite the low quality of Mussolini's performance,
he did again win over the Fihrer, at least to a degree. Other Germans
might comment to each other about Mussolini's feebleness as a nego-
tiator and compare him unfavourably with Vichy Prime Minister,
Pierre Laval.® However, after technical discussions of ways to stiffen
Italian military resistance and some meandering comments from Hitler
about the 'unnatural’ nature of the Allied alliance and the continuing
certainty of Axisvictory, the German leader resuscitated his old admi-
ration for the Duce. He had decided, he stated bluntly, to have no other
contacts with Italy; 'once and for all', he would 'rely on' Mussolini.>®

As a sign of his refurbished prestige, the Duce was alowed to visit
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a camp where Italian troops of the San Marco division were being
trained with German help.*° He was received enthusiastically and,
briefly, his own morale may have risen. However, in what he called ‘an
amost Socratic dialogue' published immediately after his return to
Italy, he was at best measured in his analysis of the likely future. War,
heremarked, in hackneyed smile, 'isagreat comparative examfor the
peoples. In it, a nation did not aways have to win. ‘It is possible to
lose well; and it is as possible to win badly.™ Whenever he surveyed
the front, Mussolini's optimism withered.

At Klessheim, Mussolini had inssted that Rome, 'the spiritual
centre of Italy’, would be defended to the uttermost.®? By July, when
Fuhrer and Duce readied for one last meeting, the Eternal City had
aready fallen, an event which had prompted Mussolini pathetically to
quiz a Fascist colleague about whether this meant that the people of
Rome had already forgotten him.® Finding acheering crowdin Italy in
1944 was difficult and so, en route by train to Hitler's headquartersin
East Prussia, the Duce stopped off to address soldiers being trained by
Nazi experts. He tried to encourage these youths (and himself) with a
racism that may not have quite purist enough for any listening Nazi.
'Rome’, he proclaimed, ‘which, in thirty centuries of its history, has
never seen Africans except when shackled to the chariots of its victo-
rious consuls, now has its walls profaned by this uncivilised and
bastard race’. "The multi-coloured enemies of Italy should realise that
thefinal victory was not yet theirs and that the RSl's troops, like those
whom Mussolini was now addressing, would be tough opponents,
indeed.®

Whether or not he or his audience had their morale raised by these
sentiments, with their unwelcome undercurrent of advice that
'America, that ancient paradise sought by generations of Italian
emigrants, was now the real enemy, must remain a matter of specula-
tion. At least his speech was better targeted than one by Oraziani, who
evoked the legions of Varus destroyed by Arminiusin 9 CE, only to
realise that he was talking about a war in which 'Germans' had exter-
minated 'lItalians.®

Traintravel in Nazi Europe by the summer of 1944 was a precarious
business and the transit of the delegation was repeatedly delayed by
bombing raids and troubles on the line. The Italians were thus not too
surprised to find that, just outside Rastenburg, the engine pulled into
a sding and sat for an hour without any indication of what was
happening. But when the train stuttered to its destination and
Mussolini alighted, the Fuhrer, who was wrapped in a blanket,

21



Mussolini

extended his left arm and not his right in greeting.®® Mussolini had
arrived late for the attempt by Klaus von Stauffenberg and what was
left of conservative Germany to assassinate Hitler (and pursue a diplo-
matic ambition to unite with the Western powers in a grandiose
struggle against Slavic communism, that is, exactly the opposite of
what had become Mussolini's desired war).

In the circumstances, serious conversation between the two
battered dictators proved impossible, but the interpreters present
depicted for posterity the scene in the room where the bomb had gone
off, where, almost as though they were two old men reduced to
waiting for Godot, Hitler perched on an upturned box and Mussolini
on a rickety stool.®” Hitler, unsurprisingly, was mainly interested in
describing what had happened, in threatening terrible deaths for his
failed assassins and in contending that his escape demonstrated that
providence was saving him for fina victory. Mussolini muttered
bandities about his shock and sorrow, athough he was secretly
pleased to see the German leader taken down a peg. 'Were not aone
when it comes to betrayals, he told a Fascist journalist on his return
from East Prussia.® The two dictators did make a perfunctory effort
for alast time to review the situation at the front. Hitler pressed that
Florence, the city of his dreams,® be held. Mussolini asked again that
some Italian troops pent up in Germany now be sent south. The
distracted Hitler agreed at once.”® With the Fiihrer's granting of this
small concession, any attempt by the RSI to preserve a foreign policy
ended,” although, back in Italy, Mussolini still found many reasons to
squabble with German ambassador Rudolf Rahn.

Five months earlier Mussolini had been jaunty in one exchange
with his German minder. On this occason he took evident pleasure in
telling Rahn what he did not want to hear. 'Many Italian industrial-
ists, the Duce noted, awaited 'the Anglo-Saxons with open arms.
Many more, he added, had borne responsibility for the Italian aban-
donment of the German alliance on 8 September.”® It was time, he
implied, for such social forces to be checked and disciplined. It was
time to make real the word 'social’ in the Socia Republic and to give
the RSI a popular and 'revolutionary' base of a type invoked before 25
July 1943 but then too often frustrated.

These were the months in which there was much talk of 'socialisa
tion', when Mussolini could happily invoke the Fascism of 1919 in
which his programmes had contained radical plans to push society
towards equality. Mussolini had, after al, grown to manhood as a
socidigt, and now, to some extent, he redeployed the vocabulary of his
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youth,” blessing those of his colleagues who talked about moving
Italy in someway tothe L eft.”* AsBruno Spampanato, ajournalist who
had been with Mussolini since the 19205 and who, during the 19305,
flirted with the idea of seeking ideological accommodation between
Fascism and Stalinism,” later argued: 'Socialisation was not impro-
vised. It was rather done with the utmost seriousness, both legally and
practically.™

By the time he was making this case, Spampanato was interested in
giving Fascism a legitimate history and in creating a political space for
postwar neo-Fascism. During the RSl Mussolini's own line on socia
revolution wobbled, just as it had done in 1919-20. In any case, his
power and his independence from German control were too dlight for
a genuinely radical policy to emerge. Instead, as often in his life,
Mussolini backed and hedged, seeking one day to appease one inter-
locutor, and the next day another. Thus, to some of his new €lite, he
said that any plans for social change were secondary to the require-
ment that mattersreturn to normality, with an end to violence, and the
nation's regaining its honour.”” On other occasions he urged haste in
proceeding with socialisation, if only to spite the Germans who
disdained the anti-capitalist rhetoric involved.” In seeing contradic-
tion to this promise of a mobilised and egalitarian society, he
instructed his officials not to require party membership from those
who headed financial operationsin the Republic.’® Perhapsthe Duce's
real sentiments about al these efforts to earn the RSl a 'place in
history' were best summarised in his bitter comment in August 1944:
"The extent of credulity which can be found in any man of whatever
class or intelligence is quite extraordinary.' In any contest, he went on,
'lies always win against the truth'.2° No wonder that, shortly after, his
own fudging was apparent when he told an audience of Fascist loyal-
ists that RSl socidisation incarnated a 'human, Italian and achievable
version of socialism which would somehow eschew socia levelling.®

Beneath its rhetoric and uniforms - Mussolini required the wearing
of these latter to prevent the spread of 'demo-social Slovenliness® —
the RSl lurched along the edge not so much of socia revolution as of
anarchy. The question of its armed forces was never fully resolved,
with a party militia, the Guardia Nazionale Repubblicana, under
Renato Ricci, contesting the efforts of Oraziani to create a 'national’,
'unpolitical' armed force of atraditional kind.®® Only in August 1944
was the GNR finally absorbed into the army.®* Even then, other inde-
pendent armed groups continued to flourish. Backed by party
secretary Pavolini, who was locked in personal dispute with Minister
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of the Interior Guido Buffarini Guidi, Brigate Nere (Black Brigades) of
volunteers grew in number in theoretical imitation of the 'squads
from the salad days of the Fascist rise to power. Just asthen, they often
embodied alocal spirit and shored up the power of alocal boss. Their
recourse to violence was equally undisciplined and they could even
threaten the overthrow of Mussolini himself. The most notorious semi-
independent chief was Prince Junio Valerio Borghese, the commander
of the so-called X Mas (an independent military force),®® and a naval
hero. Borghese did not hesitate to suggest that the Duce's charisma lay
buried in the past®® (the men of Gargnano, he stated loudly, embodied
only ‘folklore),®” and to pursue a sort of independent foreign policy
by seeking patrons among the Nazi leadership, whose intervention
achieved his release from gaol after his arrest in January 1944. During
the early months of 1945 Mussolini was still perturbed by the thought
that Borghese might be tempted to mount a coup and sought to defuse
his power by promoting him Chief of General Staff of the practically
non-existent Salo Navy (and by keeping a secret tabulation of his
many adulteries).®® Similarly, thejournalists of the RSI failed to find
ideological unanimity, but instead wrangled and plotted against each
other.®” Mussolini's frankest remark about the problem of the armed
forces, public order and press opinion in the Salo Republic came when
he deplored the death of his long-term (and non-party) police chief,
Arturo Bocchini, back in 1940 - ‘it just isn't possible to govern
without a Chief of Police', the Duce murmured sadly.®

Meanwhile Italians endured the terror being visited upon them by
the Germans and by themselves. In March 1944 a partisan bomb in the
via Rasella in Rome, exploded near the palace where Mussolini had
oncelived, killing morethan 30 German soldiers. In retaliation, in the
Ardeatine Caves near the Via Appia, the Germans massacred 335 men
(including 77 Jews) whom they had summarily rounded up. In June
the Hermann Goering division, again reacting to partisan attack,
slaughtered more than 200 as it retreated up the Va di Chiana in
Tuscany.” In September the paese of Marzabotto, on the outskirts of
Bologna, was similarly visited by condign punishment. In the cities,
too, the Germans indulged in terror tactics. In Milan, the public
display of bodies at the Piazzale Loreto brought protest from
Mussolini who, to Rahn, deplored the damage such acts did to popular
morale.%? In the border territories of Trieste and the Alto Adige, Italy's
‘national’ prizes from the First World War, present German adminis-
tration gave every promise of wanting to convert into German rule
should a Nazi peace ever be imposed on the region (SS chief, Odilo
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Globocnik, transferred from a bestia career exterminating Jews,
incarnated at Trieste this potential future).

Throughout his life, and certainly since he had become a Fascist,
Mussolini had sown the wind of violence; now he and his subjects
reaped the whirlwind. There were plenty of Fascist fanatics who killed
with the same will as the Germans (just as there were plenty of non-
believers who sought to wait out the catastrophe afflicting Italy). The
failings of the Salo government had a more humdrum side. By 1944,
food supplies were thin, inflation was rampant and the new govern-
ment proved as inadequate as the old in imposing any just or credible
rationing scheme.*® Averting his eyes from the catastrophe imploding
around him, Mussolini concentrated on self-justification - in
June-July publishing in the Milan paper, // Corriere della Sera, a
highly tendentious account of his fall in July 1943* If he could write
the history, it might be the more likely to salve his reputation.

At the end of 1944, however, Mussolini did attempt one last mass
meeting in which his oratory could amaze and enthuse his people, as
once it could be relied on to do. Leaving the greyness of the lakes
behind, he came back into Milan and spoke at the Teatro Lineo. He
talked about the betrayal by King Victor Emmanuel 11l and his Prime
Minister, Marshal Pietro Badoglio, and the divisive effect of the events
of July-September 1943 on the Italian people, whose better elements
had nevertheless recognised the need to go on fighting shoulder to
shoulder with the German and Japanese alies. The war, he declared,
was not yet lost; the pact between plutocracy and Bolshevism must
rupture soon. He wanted to revive the spirit of Fascism's early days
and was serious about socidisation although he was careful to add an
evocation of the golden years of the regime which, he claimed,
spanned from 1927 to 1935. He summoned Mazzini again to be the
prophet of the times. The new order would favour a united Europe in
which Italians 'could feel themselves to be Italian because they were
Europeans and Europeans because they were Italian'. It was this
amalgam which ensured that they would be steadfast in resisting
socialist internationalism and Judaeo-Masonic cosmopolitanism, the
'monstrous’ medley of their enemies.®> Whatever the frustrations of
the past the RSl would seek out a 'third way'.

Both the Duce and the audience alowed themselves to be lost in
these words and the pleasing re-evocation of a happier time when war
could be spoken about but not actually waged. But it did not take long
for gloom to return. Mussolini had tried to be a hard-working execu-
tive and, in friendly eyes, seemed a competent administrator,
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'scrupulous, diligent, attentive' to his advisers.® Similarly, on occa-
son, he could stll praise the skill and devotion of the good
bureaucrat, so indispensable to any administration.”” But at his desk,
too, his magic was lost — even afriendly observer thought he looked
like a provincial lawyer or doctor in the dowdy surrounds of his office
at Gargnano, cut off from the splendour of the Sala del Mappamondo,
his spectacular office in Rome's Palazzo Venezia from 1929 to 1943* He
protested that he was bored with what was left of hisjob (and was,
without doubt, bored with himself).”® The unreality of his position
was exemplified in bizarre attempts bel atedly to frame a new constitu-
tion. Mussolini made a pretence of being interested in the question
whether a Duce should serve for a maximum of two y-year or two 5-
year terms.'® Can he have day-dreamed about his own reputation, had
he given up hisrulein 1936, when Italian troops triumphantly entered
AddisAbaba?

Haf aware that this was the moment to review his own life, he 4ill
gavethe occasional interview, speaking warmly one last time about the
profession of journalism and recalling that 'to create a newspaper isto
know the joy which comes with motherhood'.*™ There were other
moments of philosophising. He had always preferred cats to dogs, he
said, perhaps thinking of Hitler, Biondi and his 'dog years.’% He had
made mistakes, the Duce confessed, but only when he had obeyed
reason rather than being guided by hisinstinct.*® Now he had become
a prisoner, atoy with which destiny played. But he did not fear death;
rather it would arrive as a friend.™ He believed little or not at all in
the creed of Fascism, but only in the goodness of the Italian people,'®
or so he maintained to an intrepid foreign interviewer. To an Italian,
by contrast, he urged that Fascism would till be recognised as the
idea of the twentieth century. In the end history would prove him
right.® He had only entered the war, he now suggested, to restrain
the Germans, and he had early known that the USA was destined to
emerge as top nation.” At times, too, he claimed that he had aways
been a socidlist at heart, merely one who had adapted socialist thought
to reality and so invented the Corporate State.’® He took pains to deny
yet one more time that he had himself been responsible for the murder
in 1924 of the socialist deputy Giacomo Matteotti.’® His work had
been beset by 'an ulcer which would have laid low an ox', but his
worst fate was the loss of his brother Arnaldo, 'an Italian of the old
stamp, incorruptible, intelligent, serene, human', hislightening rod to
the people. Towards other figures he had met in hislong career, he had
rarely found reason for respect. Egoism, after al, was 'the sovereign
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law'. Men belonged to the animal kingdom. They scratched and killed
and deluded themselves when they spoke of their souls.

Ever more sententious and embittered, Mussolini was moving to his
end in away which might be regarded as the quintessence of banality,
but for the terror and the slaughter being visited on the peoples of
Italy and Europe during those last days of a war which he had done
much to unleash. Finding the most predictable of paralels, if one
peculiarly lacking in appropriateness, on 15 April Mussolini told an
old admirer 'l am crucified by my destiny. It is coming'."*° The next
day, the Duce explained to alast meeting of his ruling Council that he
would move to Milan, but only briefly, before proceeding to the
Valtelinain which Pavolini and his Brigate nere were assembling."'* He
would, he added without conviction, 'go to the people’ one last time."?
On 18 April, without consulting his Nazi alies, who were annoyed at
the prospect,''s he left for his final visit to Milan (though, given the
coming fate of his corpse, perhaps hisjourney might be more accu-
rately labelled his penultimatetrip there). In Milan, for want of amore
fitting setting, he took up residence in the prefecture, where a certain
pretence of government survived. By now insomnia had taken deep
hold over him. As had been true on other occasons in his life,
Mussolini was a prey to nerves and, apathetic about his surrounds,
could scarcely eat."* Even though he might still state mechanically
that the war was a 'great drama’, which might not havefive, but rather
six, seven or eight acts,"* he had long accepted that all was lost. In that
conviction, he began the last week of his life, reduced to the role of a
political deep-walker.

Since September 1943 he had talked from time to time of the heroic
last stand which his regime would make should the war go against
Nazi-fascism. In February 1945 he had wondered whether Trieste,
with its ancient reputation as the prize of Italian nationalism during
the First World War, the last citadel of italianita (Italianness) against a
sea of Slavs (and Germans), ought to be this place of ultimate resis-
tance. But the Nazi Germans, who were very inclined to think that
Trieste had come home to the Reich, forbade it."® And o, instead, the
choice fell on the Valtellina, an alpine valey bordering that
Switzerland to which the youthful Mussolini had twice emigrated,
and near enough to Milan, though otherwise lacking anational past of
any fame. As Mussolini told Oraziani, another guaranteed to like what
he heard, 'Fascism must die heroically."’

Actualy, plans for a serious military effort in the Valtellina did not
exist"® and the Duce had no will to fashion a grandiose conclusion to
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his life. As Spampanato commented: 'There's talk about resistance but
how and where | do not understand."® Mussolini did not stem the
confusion. Rather, on 24 April, he admitted with somerelief: ‘there are
no orders; | can't give orders any more'. There was a time in the tides
of men, he pronounced, when you could only be a spectator. His
friends must focus on remembering what they had done and not
repine about what was to come.® Hearing this, Spampanato, at least
according to his own account, stooped and kissed his leader's hand.***

Such moments of formal piety were fleeting. Once again, Mussolini
did not forego the chance to blame others. The Germans, he told any
who would listen, had betrayed him as they had done so often
before,**? the implication being that somehow he had not wanted the
Nazi-Fascist alliance and the war. Or perhaps the responsibility lay
with both the Germans and the Italian people? All had played him
false."3

Meanwhile, Mussolini tried to make contact with the Anti-Fascist
resistance, being especialy ready to talk with representatives of the
socidist party to which he had belonged before the First World War.
The hope of one last deal in which he could out-haggle his rivals
subsided with difficulty in this politician's mind. A meeting was
arranged for 3 p.m. on the afternoon of 25 April, to be held at the
palace of Ildefonso Schuster, the Cardinal-Archbishop of Milan.***
Schuster, a patriot and anti-communist, had been prominent among
the Catholic hierarchy in his endorsement of Mussolini's regime. Its
boy scout organisation, the Ballila, he had hailed as providing 'a
healthy, Christian and Italian education'.**® The March on Rome, he
had argued, saved the nation from Bolshevism, paving the way for the
Lateran Pacts, the agreement signed in 1929 between Church and
state.'® Fascism's imperial war, he had celebrated, as the opportunity
to 'open the gates of Ethiopia to the Catholic Faith and to Roman civi-
lization'.'?” As late as 1937 Schuster had blessed an assembly of the
Scuola dt Mistica Fascista Sandra Mussolini (Sandro Mussolini School
of Fascist Mysticism), pompously named after the son of the Catholic
Arnaldo.*® Only the regimes drift by 1933 into overt racism had
prompted Schuster to doubt the superiority of Fascism over other
ideologies in the sinful modern world.”® Hoping with reason in a
comforting reception, Mussolini reached the episcopal palace on time.
However, the Resistance chiefs were delayed. Cardinal and Duce had
an hour to chat.

Schuster left behind a wonderfully telling account of Mussolini's
last dealing with a member of the hierarchy of the Catholic and Roman
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Church."° He recalled welcoming the Duce with thanks for his 'sacri-
fice' and his willingness to spend 'a life of expiation in prison abroad
in order to save the rest of Italy from final ruin', words which may
actually have deepened Mussolini's gloom.”® The Church, Schuster
added, would never forget the service which the Duce had done for it
in the Lateran pacts. What a shame that Mussolini had himself been
served so badly by some of his party chiefs (the Cardinal was an old
foe of the radical Fascist, Roberto Farinacci,® and had warned
Arnaldo about his impiety in 1931).”® After this scattering of initial
comments, the Cardinal noticed that his visitor was depressed and
saying little. As a charitable churchman might, he therefore offered
Mussolini asmall glass of rosolio and a sweet biscuit. The conversation
still limping, Schuster then asked whether the Duce had caught up
with his own most recent publication, alife of St Benedict. Mussolini
had to confess that he had not read this estimable work. All attention,
Schuster then pressed what he said was his very last copy on the Duce,
insisting that the book would help him understand that 'your calvary
amounts to an expiation of your sins before the ever just and merciful
God'. In what Schuster discerned as gratitude, Mussolini, again at a
loss for words, clutched the cardinal's hands.®*

The topic of St Benedict allowed the conversation to drift to the sad
fate of Montecassino and the abbey where the saint had met the
Lombard king, Totila. Each man knew that in 1944 the celebrated
Benedictine monument had been reduced to rubble by the invading
Anglo-Americans (Schuster had never held back from his denuncia-
tions of Allied bombing).”® With both men warmed a little by this
mutual sense of the vice of others, Schuster, ever more palpably in
quest of the salvation of Mussolini's immortal soul, raised the story
that a priest on the island of Ponza, where the Duce had been briefly
confined in August 1943, had got some way in ‘reviving' Mussolini's
religious sense. Mussolini, still uneasy at the Cardinal's rapid fire of
conversational gambits and his attempts to plumb his innermost
thoughts, replied cautiously that he 'meditated to a degree' on a Life of
Christ then presented to him. Schuster did not pursue the matter too
far, but, again being meaningfully tangential, took his chance to
remind the falling dictator of the story that Napoleon on St Helena had
found God."*®

If only to escape from the insistent probing of the state of his soul
and the frightening assumptions about his coming fate as a prisoner
and exile, Mussolini now stated that, the next day, he would dissolve
the armed forces of the RSl and retreat with 3000 men to the Valtellina
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for a brief last fight. Then he would surrender. Schuster interrupted
this account with the shrewd comment that Mussolini would only get
300 to go with him and the Duce sadly acknowledged that the assess-
ment was probably true. Aware that he had scored another hit on
Mussolini's sagging self-confidence, Schuster turned the discussion
back to religious affairs, quizzing his visitor about the Ambrosian rite
and later declaring himself astonished to discover that anyone in
charge of the destinies of the Italian Church did not have the details of
this basic matter at his finger tips. Aware that his attitude was
prompting another embarrassment between them, Schuster found
safer ground by stating his view that Eastern Orthodoxy should never
be confused with 'the real Church of Christ', the Catholic one.”*’

The beginning of a discussion which might have held promise of an
agreement between two old men about the sins of Slavs and commu-
nists was interrupted by the arrival at last of the Resistance
negotiators. In their presence, Schuster discreetly fell slent, but not
without hearing Mussolini say that he only believed in ancient
history, since the modern version was too skewed by ‘passion’. He also
remembered the Duce complaining that the ‘Germans have aways
treated us like daves and in the end they have betrayed us. When the
meeting came to a close and Mussolini made ready to leave, the
Cardinal did not forget to hand him again that last copy of the Soria di
San Benedetto, lest the Duce in his haste and confusion overlook the
precious gift."®

Whatever he had thought of the Cardinal-Archbishop's attempts to
capture and save his soul, Mussolini now changed direction yet again.
With the spokesmen of Anti-Fascism he scarcely negotiated at al,
harping instead on German misdeeds. The news had come through
that German SS Genera Karl Wolff had agreed to end hogtilities with
the Allied forces at 5 p.m. With this prospect so imminent, the discus-
sons broke down, athough Mussolini promised the Resistance
representatives that he would give them further news within an hour.
However, once back at the prefecture, he prepared instead to fleewith
his immediate entourage to Como, nearer the Swiss border. It was a
sauve qui peut which bore some comparison with the disgraceful
actions of the royal government after 8 September 1943, when Victor
Emmanuel 111 and Badoglio had abandoned Rome and the Italian
peopl e to the mercy of theinvading Nazi Germans and of those Fascists
who chose to go with the RSI.

During the 36 hours in Como the tattered authority of the Salo
Republic crumbled into nothingness. At this moment of final crisis,
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Mussolini and his advisers could not make up their minds whether to
head for the Valtellina or seek the mercy of the Swiss. Before dawn on
the morning of 27 April they proceeded up the western side of Lake
Como but not heading either towards the boasted Fascist redoubt or
for the border. Rachele and the younger children were abandoned at
Como. Mussolini sent his wife one last, pathetic, letter, beseeching
'your forgiveness for al the ill 1 have involuntarily done you. You
know that you have been for me the only woman whom | have really
loved. | swear it before God and our Bruno at this supreme moment'.""

Despite the protestations of enduring love for Rachele, among the
convoy were Claretta Petacci and her scapegrace brother, Marcelle
(poorly disguised as the Spanish consul and his wife).""* A number of
other leading repubblichino Fascists, including Pavolini, left Como with
them. Present, too, was Nicola Bombacci, a constant associate of the
Ducein the last days. They had first met in 1910 when Bombacci was a
socialist journalist at Cesena, a town in the Romagna just down the
raillway from Forli, where Mussolini was then employed. Bombacci
had opposed the First World War and, in January 1921, joined the
infant Italian Communist Party. But he gradually reconciled himself
with the Fascist dictatorship, rallying to the nation over Ethiopia and
aso enjoying state subsidies for his journalism.'* After September
1943 he gained a place in Mussolini's entourage and was regularly
present at the Villa Feltrinelli. He earned a public presence, too,
through his insistence that the new form of Fascism was genuine in its
commitment to a version of socialisation."” In this time of trouble he
almost became a friend for the Duce,** who had long insisted that he
did not, and could not, need friendship. Bombacci's presence at what
was to be the very end hinted at the survival of a Mussolini whose
roots in the socia conflicts and hatreds of the Romagna had never been
entirely destroyed.

In the convoy, however, lay another symbolism, one that was less
easy to explain away by post-1945 nostalgics. The column of Fascist
cars was reinforced by retreating Nazi soldiers, crammed into two
armoured trucks and led by L uftwaffe lieutenant Schallmayer, hoping
to pass through to the Germanic world by one path or another. The
better to conceal himself, Mussolini decided to travel aone with these
sometime dlies. He donned one of their greatcoats, was given a
German helmet to conceal his renowned features, and, in the cabin of
the truck, wrapped himself in a blanket against the spring chill.
Throughout the countryside between Lago di Como and Switzerland,
partisans were active. On the evening of 26 April, in pouring rain, the
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52nd Garibaldi brigade had blocked the lakeside readjust north of the
ironically named paese of Musso and south of the dlightly larger
Dongo. At Puncett, where the hill fell steeply to the lake, the partisans
had rolled a great tree trunk, rocks and other debris across the track
and waited to see who would try to pass.*** Eighteen months earlier,
when first establishing himself at Gargnano, Mussolini had remarked
sourly: 'Lakes are a compromise between ariver and a sea, and | don't
like compromises’.*> He had read the omens right. He was destined to
die by alake.

At 6.30 am. the next morning, news spread among the partisans
that an enemy column was approaching. After a brief exchange of fire
in which a stray Nazi bullet killed a marble worker innocently at his
labours in the area above the road, the Germans asked to talk.*
Schallmayer at first tried to tough it out, but the partisans had sent for
reinforcements and were soon aware that Bombacci, Goffredo Coppola,
Mezzasoma and Ruggero Romano had sought what proved to be
unavailing sanctuary with the priest at Musso. By the early afternoon,
when Schallmayer accepted the condition that any Italians must be
surrendered, the partisans had spotted Francesco Barracu, a fanatical
RSl Under-Secretary, and suspected that other Fascists were present in
this convoy, too.”’

At 3 in the afternoon, the column started to move off, dowly, since,
to be permitted passage, each member had to present his documents.
It was then that a Giuseppe Negri called the partisan leader, Urbano
Lazzaro, over, saying with an automatic recourse to loca diaect which
mocked Fascist efforts to homogenise the nation: 'Gh'é che el crapunl’
(Weve got Big-Head). He drew Lazzaro's at first incredulous attention
to a figure slumped in the darkness of the back of the truck. The
Germans tried to insist that the man was one of them, lying down
because he was drunk. But when Lazzaro pulled back the blanket, he
knew with whom he was dealing. 'Camerata’, he began (using the
Fascist term for comrade), 'Excellency’, 'Cavalier Benito Mussolini'.
Only at the last title did a response come. Now Lazzaro snatched off
the helmet and the Duce was indeed disclosed.*® 'His face was like wax
and his stare glassy, but somehow blind. | read there utter exhaustion,
but not fear', Lazzaro later remembered. 'Mussolini seemed
completely lacking in will, spiritually dead.™* After being disarmed -
he had been carrying a machine gun and a pistol which he made no
attempt to use - Mussolini was formally arrested and taken to the
townhall of Dongo. He spent the following night, hislast, inthe Dongo
barracks. The final vigtation of the Furies to his life was to be more
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prosaic than the various dramatic renditions of the charismatic Duce
had foretold.

Other prisoners were aso being brought to Dongo: the non-
Spanish-speaking Petaccis had been unable to preserve their claim to
diplomatic immunity. Pavolini had tried to flee, but was dragged in,
wounded by shrapnel and terrified at his imminent fate.™ That
evening in Milan, Sandro Ferrini, leading member of the Committee of
National Liberation (Comitato dt Liberazione Nazionale’, CLN) and
eventually president of the Italian republic from 1978 to 1985, broad-
cast the news that the Duce had been captured. Pertini made no
attempt to hide his view, shared by his comrades on the CLN, that
Mussolini should be shot 'like a mad-dog'.*>

A rather tasteless controversy hangs over this final twenty-four
hours of Mussolini's life. One of the issues is the fate of a |eather bag of
documents which Mussolini was carrying when he was stopped by
the 52nd Garibaldinians (no one seems to have asked whether they
included a thumbed copy of the Life of & Benedict by I. Schuster).
There have been charges and counter-charges about the contents of
government papers apparently treasured to the last by the Duce. Some
have claimed that they contained letters which compromised Churchill
and others who wanted no post-war association with Fascism.”?
Except for those who love conspiracy theories, with or without the
support of evidence, the speculation has seemed pointless indeed.'>
Others have disputed the exact timing and nature of the events of
27—28 April. The official story was that Mussolini and Petacci were
shot on the afternoon of 28 April at 1610 hours beside the Via XXV
Maggio (ironically named for the day in 1915 when Italy had opted to
enter the First World War), and just outside the hamlet of San Guilino
di Mezzegra. The lovers had been re-united that morning at a nearby
peasant house used by the partisans. Shortly after, some communists
arrived with orders from Milan to carry out summary justice on the
Duce. At first Mussolini thought that Walter Audisio, the |eader of the
execution squad, had come to liberate him and Petacci, who had
trouble clambering into Audisio's humble Fiat uoo, hampered as she
was by black kid leather shoes with very high heels. But, when the
Duce was unloaded before the gates of the Villa Belmonte, the actual
execution site, he 'obeyed orders docile like a lamb'.">* When the guns
misfired at the first attempt, Mussolini, so Audisio aleged, shook with
fear, 'that animal fear which you exhibit before the ineluctable'.”™
Finally, the Ducefell, riddled with bullets.

There are several alternative versions. Some say the two were actu-
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ally shot earlier, probably before noon, and in different circumstances.
They were dready corpses when hit by bullets at Mezzegra in a staged
joint execution. The neo-fascist politician and journalist Giorgio
Pisano has been especially insistent that the two died separately, and
that the communists and their partisan friends plotted a mystification
of the real story in what he regards as atypically nefarious communist
way.™® The romantic theory has been propounded that Mussolini
sprang to the defence of Claretta, about to be abused by her captors,
and, a good cavalier at the last, he was shot in the resultant struggle.™’
In this version, she was killed later, unplanned and because there was
no alternative. The chief problems with this account are that it lacks
any direct substantiation and its most convinced advocates have every
reason to wish Mussolini a heroic death.

It is worth underlining the fact that Mussolini's death was not the
only one then to trouble Italy. At Dongo the partisans had just shot 15
of those taken at Puncett or its surrounds, including Pavolini,
Bombacci and Zerbino (the RSl's last Minister of the Interior). When
the corpses were moved to Milan and put on public display they were
joined by the bodies of another eight comrades, among whom was
Achille Starace, the Fascist party secretary through the 19305. A less
formal reckoning with the two decades of tyranny and five years of
world war had begun before the conflict's end and continued for
months afterwards, exacting a death toll estimated as approaching
12 000.® The war itsalf, so blithely entered by Mussolini in June
1940, even if it was with the approval of elite opinion, had cost Italy
more than 400 ooo lives to which should be added those whom the
Italians had killed and maimed, during that conflict and in their impe-
rial campaignsin Libya and Ethiopia and in the Spanish Civil War. A
gill more important context is provided by that complex of vicious
battles known to history as the Second World War, the event under-
stood by history through the terrible signifiers of Auschwitz' and,
after August 1945, 'Hiroshima, terms which express humankind's fall
into an all but ultimate abyss.

Aware of such matters, this historian does not regret the death of
Benito Mussolini, or want to glamorise the circumstances surrounding
it (or exaggerate his uniqueness). All the evidence is that, psychologi-
cally, morally and politically, the dictator was dead well before hislife
was terminated by those final shots. And yet one part of the macabre
scene does deserve reflection. Mussolini's demise, both at Mezzegra
and in those events which would occur at Milan and which are
narrated later in this book, had much that was 'normal’ and ‘'tradi-
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tional' about it. The failed dictator, fleeing who knows where, had
been caught like arat by his people and by them killed in retribution
for his crimes and inadequacies. How different was this from the fate
of Hitler, committing suicide amid bombs and fire in his bunker,
hidden away beneath the city of Berlin and separate from the terrible
sufferings of the city's peoples and the endless travails of those who
were conquering it. Different, too, was the death of Stalin, expiring
after a stroke in his dacha, an object of terror beyond his death both to
his people and to his henchmen. These last assembled nervously
around his death-bed, trying to make up their minds whether their
boss was really dead and whether it was safer to acknowledge the fact
sooner or later. The final act of the lives of Hitler and Stalin is
enmeshed with the horror of a modernity gone to ruin (and with their
coming historical status as Great, if Evil, Men).

Not so the death of Benito Mussolini. Yet, Fascism, too, shed an
excess of blood. In its rise to power, during the solidification of the
Fascist regime, through its frequently retrograde domestic policies, in
Libyaand Ethiopia, inits meddling in the Spanish Civil War, and then
in its own special Second World War, Mussolini's Italian dictatorship
must have sent early to the grave at least a million people, and prob-
ably more. It is a cruel record and it ensures that this biography is
self-consciously Anti-Fascist in its intent. No doubt | must also admit
that, in the catalogue of the crimes, follies and tragedies of humankind
which was so expanded during the history of the twentieth century,
Mussolini occupies arelatively banal place and was no more than the
least of the tyrant-killers who so scarred interwar Europe. He was the
one who well reflected his nation, class and gender, although both
Hitler and Stalin can dso be effectively approached through 'struc-
turalism' rather than ‘intentionalism', to use the ugly jargon of
historiography. Very likely, the free will of Stalin and Hitler was often
as cribbed, cabined and confined as was Mussolini's by the societiesin
which they operated. But my task isto write the biography of the Duce
and not of his more notorious contemporary dictators. | must therefore
tell the tale from the beginning, from the relatively, but not too
humble, birth of an infant in an Italy which itself had only existed for
a generation, and ask how remarkable was the boy, Benito Mussolini?
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First of his class? The
Mussolinis and the young
Benito, 1883-1902

N Sunday 29 July 1883 at 2 o'clock in the afternoon a son was
born to Alessandro Mussolini and Rosa Maltoni. The happy event
occurred at the hamlet of Dovia, a scattering of houses lying below the
little administrative centre of Predappio, perched on the foothills of
the Romagnole Apennines and commanding a back road which ran
from the provincial capital, Forli, to Tuscany.! With the northern
Italian summer reaching its height, loca peasants were no doubt
preoccupied with the prospect of the coming harvest, but one
Hungarian enthusiast later maintained that, as if to signify the
nativity and the national grandeur which it portended, at the hour of
the infant's birth a thunder-bolt struck the double-headed eagle of the
Habsburgs at the Schénbrunn palace in Vienna and sent it tumbling to
the ground.? On 30 July the infant was christened Benito Amilcare
Andrea Mussolini at the romanesque local church of San Cassiano. A
tourist today can find the church (much ‘restored' in the Fascist era)
and buy a postcard of the baptismal font whose holy waters once
anointed the future Duce.
Although, as the youthful Mussolini would often tell himself with
a characteristic amalgam of anger and ambition, Dovia was not
Predappio, and Predappio was not Forli, and Forli was not Bologna,
and Bologna was not Milan or Rome, and neither of those great Italian
cities was Paris, long the metropolis of his dreams, the Mussolinis had
a certain presence in their immediate surrounds. They may not have
been signori, but they should not be confused with, and would not
have wanted to be confused with, the lowest stratum of society. The
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author of one of the numerous hagiographies produced under the
eventual Fascist dictatorship struggled to show that the Mussolinis
were of noble origin— allegedly, acertain 'Malsomini' had moved from
Bologna to Venice in 996; thereafter his family rose socidly, under-
taking a succession of useful community roles notably in medicine,
providing at least one saintly priest and always displaying 'moral and
civic elevation’, or so the zealous and deferential researcher into
Mussolini family history contended.® Marriage into the patrician class
eventually permitted family usage of thetitle of count. But, sometime
in the 15605, the noble Mussolinis left Venice to return to their origins
in the Romagna. Then came a gap, although an English admirer of the
Duce added the claim that a Mussolini had achieved 'some reputation’
as a composer in eighteenth century London,* and an Italian expert
brought forward what he said was irrefutable proof that the
Mussolinis were of genuine Roman descent. Other friends or enemies
of the dictator would from time to time aver that he was 'really’ Serb,
or Macedonian Turk, or Argentinian, or even a Polish Jew.’

When, in the late 19205, the dictator was informed of the more
pious research into his ancestry, he was publicly scornful of it,
discouraging its practitioners from extending their studies into the
more recent past. In amodernising world, a noble inheritance was too
much for aDuceto bear. Modesty may nonetheless have had itslimits.
In July 1943 Egidio Ortona, ayoung diplomat, visiting the Rocca delle
Caminate, the restored castle above Predappio which a grateful public
had donated to the Mussolini family, noted a genealogy prominently
displayed on a wall.® Ortona does not specify the detail of this list of
family descent and perhaps it only recorded the more historically
established fact that the Mussolinis sprang from a family of peasant
smallholders who, during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries,
earned their living in the high hill country of the border territory
between the Vatican-administered Romagna and independent
Tuscany. They generally seem to have worked land holdings, owned
by more distinguished locals such as the noble Calboli family. Among
them were a Francesco and a Jacobus Antonius Mussolini.” By the
nineteenth century the family had been forced down nearer to the Po
river plain, certainly by the requirement to find paid work and
perhaps by the cultural appeal of such growing urban centres as
Bologna and Forli. Thefirst Mussolini to have a serious historical pres-
ence was Benito's grandfather, Luigi. Locals remembered him as
something of a character, a man who would strut around the town
piazza wearing the uniform of the National Guard, which he had first
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donned during the political disturbances of 1847-49. He was given to
bragging that he had served a term in the gaols of the Pope-King, Pius
IX, aregrettable fate for one who had for a time received education in
aseminary.8 In more humdrum matters, Luigi Mussolini wasafailure,
however, having been driven by economic need to sdl his land to his
brother, Pietro, and being obliged thereafter to sustain himself as a
hired hand.® Luigi did not die until January 1908, by which time he
was a decrepit figure in his paese. To a degree, therefore, the
Mussolinis were of declining socia status, and the personalities of
both Alessandro and Benito owed something to their compelling
desire to restore respect and fortune to their family.

'‘Benito Amilcare Andrea’ - a grovelling biographer would later
state that the Duce could dispense with his surname since, plainly, he
was 'ben ito [wdl sent] to the Empyrean of Glory, his figure shining
with refulgent light among the stars of the first grandeur’,'® but actu-
aly the infant's names were telling in another sense. The family
traditions of the Italian peasantry might have suggested that the child
be called Luigi after his grandfather, but instead the name Benito was
chosen in order to honour Benito Juarez, a Mexican revolutionary
who had fallen victim to the Habsburg Emperor Maximilian. In the
enmity thus declared for the '‘German’ dynasty, driven out during the
Risorgimento but still installed in Trieste and the Trentino, lay a hint
of patriotism, but Alessandro insisted on adding two other names,
each invoking a prominent local 'sociaist: Amilcare for Amilcare
Cipriani and Andreafor Andrea Costa. The baptism of baby Benito had
indeed reflected something of a historic compromise between the loyal
Catholic observance of mother Rosa and the fiery anti-clericalism and
populist revolutionism of Alessandro.

Under the Fascist regime much would be made of the circumstance
that, for a time, Alessandro was a blacksmith - the father forged iron,
his son, it was said, tempered a people.” More significant was the fact
that, by 1883, Mussolini's father was already a well-known local
'socialist'.® Born on u November 1854 at a farm on land still owned
by his father, he had been involved in local political disturbances
while ateenager, and in 1876 had acted as an official delegate for the
paese of Predappio and that of nearby Meldola to the 'Congress of
socialist groups in the Emilia-Romagna’. This meeting of 'subversives
was held at Bologna, elegantly colonnaded capital of the region and,
for a provincia like Alessandro, doubtless impressive in its ‘culture
and 'history’. Well before his marriage, Alessandro Mussolini was
proud to call himself a follower and even a friend of both Costa and
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Cipriani. Each of these men was akey figure in the organising of Italian
socialism, with Costa becoming in 1882 the first Italian 'socialist' to be
elected to parliament. Alessandro Mussolini assisted his campaign
and, it is said, was directly responsible for mobilising some thousand
supporters in and around Predappio, votes which proved crucial in
the election.*®

Both Costa and Cipriani were activist rather than intellectual
Marxists. Cipriani had fought with Garibaldi at Aspromonte, joined
the Greek rebellion against Turkish rule in Crete and rallied to the
Paris Commune; his punishment for thislast wasto be sent prisoner to
New Caledonia. He was rather more an anarchist than an orthodox
'legalitarian’ socialist, characteristically combining a generosity of
spirit with a fondness for ill-prepared insurrection: Michael Bakunin
had as much influence on fledgling Italian socialism as did Karl Marx.
Costa, 100, at least early in his career, made revolution the main plank
in his political ideology. Somewhat ironically for a man whose name
would be borne by the later Fascist Duce, Costa in 1874 declared his
political purpose to be 'the destruction of the State in all its economic,
political and religious manifestations ... the abolition of armies, banks
and cults.* Later he turned more orthodox, earning fame for the
elegance of his dress and the precision of his appearance.® He exerted
a major influence on the creation of a united Italian socialist party in
1892. Both Costa and Cipriani were by definition also self-conscious
internationalists, who looked to the utopia of the brotherhood of man
and who, for the most part and at least in theory, scorned the petty
interests of the Italian State and nation.

Alessandro Mussolini never made it to the national stage, but he did
become a significant political figure in hisown region, as early as 1878
attracting police attention as a potentially dangerous revolutionary. In
May 1880 he was formally admonished for his threats to property and
persons.’® By the end of his time as an activist, it was reckoned he had
published at least 20 articles in the local press, no mean achievement
for a man with only a modicum of formal schooling.” According to a
biography written during his son's regime, he was famed as 'an exco-
riator of every vice and every corruption' in his neighbourhood.*®
None the less, in 1839 he cooled his revolutionary ardour long enough
to favour a compromise whereby his socialists joined with local
liberals in order to oust the clerical administration of Predappio.
Thereafter Alessandro served on the town council in a variety of posi-
tions including, eventually, deputy mayor, sometimes in ajunta based
on the socialists alone, sometimes in coalition. In 1891 he was
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sufficiently worldly wise to travel to Milan, and took his eldest son
with him, while he arranged to buy a modern threshing machine for
his town. Merging ideology with practicality, he was by then spon-
soring a co-operative at Predappio, which lasted until 1898."» Heisalso
on record welcoming the arrival of the telegraph, favouring the town
band, urging the expending of subsidies to meet the medical needs of
the local poor and, more surprisingly, in 1900 formally regretting the
assassination of King Umberto I. That monarch, he announced, was a
‘gentleman’ at heart/"

Being a socialist in Liberal Italy, however, carried its perils and, in
1902, following a riot in which he did not directly participate,
Alessandro Mussolini was arrested and gaoled for six months,
'unjustly’ as his biographer would emphasise.®* Grandfather, father
and son Benito would all experience spellsin gaol for political reasons,
exhibiting a constancy of rebelliousness which must have been rela-
tively unusual in Italian society. Gaol seems to have affected either
Alessandro Mussolini's health or his spirit; family matters, and the
death of his wife Rosa in February 1905, may have further discouraged
him from political activism. Or was it that his position in society had
changed? In the years before her death, Rosa had come into an inheri-
tance, producing an elevation in wealth and status which, in the
recollection of Mussolini's sister, Edvige, led the peasants of the area
humbly to address Alessandro as Signor padrone.”? From 1908, the
family rented out some land beside the local river Rabbi for a payment
of 490 lire per annum.®

After becoming a widower, Alessandro Mussolini retreated from
Predappio to take a job as innkeeper on the outskirts of Forli,
detaching himself with seeming deliberation from what had been his
political power base. He lived there with a peasant widow, Anna
Lombardi (she had reverted to her maiden name), whom he had
courted in hisyouth, and the menage included her five daughters, one
of whom was a teenager named Rachele Guidi. This Rachele was soon
to be Benito's socialist companion and eventually his church-approved
wife. Another of Alessandro's problems may have been drink - one of
the first groups to which he belonged called itself the Societa dei bevi-
tori (Drinkers club), with a proud dogan boasting that its members
intended to 'live working or die fighting'?* His son's political enemies
had no doubt that Alessandro in old age was an alcoholic, although
more charitable onlookers ascribed his health problems to arthritis.*"
Whatever the case, at the inn, named patriotically (and so with a
certainlack of socialist internationalism) The Bersagliere', Alessandro
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Mussolini died in November 1910, aged 56% - most of the Mussolinis
did not make old bones.?” Not long before his death, the host of //
Bersagliere had cause to see his elder son acting as a waiter there
between school-teaching jobs. It was not a sight which pleased him:
'‘What a dreadful state of affairs! A teacher ... an educated young
man, reduced to being a mere servant'.?® Whatever had once been his
revolutionary fervour, in old age Alessandro Mussolini, property
owner and small businessman, was moderating his devotion to the
principle of equality and had become instead aware of the intricate
differences in class and status which characterise the human condi-
tion, especially in the imagination of the propertied.

But political contradiction had always hung over the Mussolinis. At
least as influential a member of the family was Rosa Maltoni, wife to
Alessandro and the mother of the Duce. Under the Fascist regime, Rosa
Mussolini would be depicted as La Madre (The Mother), embodying
for her children and especially for Benito ‘the most beautiful vision of
their past, and a vision which lives on in an eternal present'.?® Her
background and world view were not identical with those of her
husband. Rosa Maltoni was born on 22 April 1858, the daughter of a
man whom a later biographer pompously called a veterinarian and
who humbly did his best to bring some medication to local livestock
and some scientific knowledge to local peasants at a village three kilo-
metres outside Forli. He also owned some land. Whereas al of the
Guidi sisters except Rachele were illiterate® Rosa Maltoni's family
position a little further up the socid scale meant that she received
some schooling. Indeed, in 1876, aged 18, she earned a diploma to
teach in elementary school; her Fascist biographer celebrated this
devotion to ‘the most noble calling then available to women'** The
following year she was posted to Varano, as the school house for the
scattered families of Dovia was called, on a salary of 50 lire per month,
a pittance, but more than a peasant, and especially a peasant girl,
could expect to be paid. Something of the nature of the school (the
Mussolini family would live in the two rooms abutting it) can be seen
in a letter Rosa Maltoni penned to the Predappio council in 1894
asking for the windows of the room in which she instructed her pupils
to be fixed since wind and snow blew in over herself and her
scholars.®

It was at Dovia that Rosa Maltoni - to the dismay of her parents,
who regretted that their talented daughter was marrying ‘down’ - met
Alessandro Mussolini; in their tiny community they were very likely
the only aspirant ‘intellectuals. In January 1882 the couple were
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united in marriage, somewhat surprisingly through the religious cere-
mony which was long avoided by their eldest son and which
Alessandro Mussolini's revolutionary rhetoric was accustomed to
scorn. Rosa Maltoni was known for her piety.” Soon she would take
her cherished Benito to the calendar of religious festivals, allowing
him later, when need be, to summon Catholicism as 'the faith of my
infancy* (even if he elsewhere confessed that he had hated the smell
of incense and of the faithful, the guttering of the candles and the
drone of the organ).” A biographer later maintained that the young
Duce loved bible reading, at least when he could savour the sonorous-
ness of the lists of names in Leviticus or the Book of Numbers.* In
adulthood, too, his intelligence and understanding were often
sustained by alist and by a (deluded) hope in mathematical precision.

Rosa Mdtoni's piety was of a conventional kind and was accompa-
nied by afirm will. Her pedagogical methods were similar. In 1900 she
explained to her superiors:

In teaching geography | follow the most rational method and avoid the
formality of complex naming which simply loads the mind with
abstract, and so useless, ideas. Such concepts hang around for a while
in a pupil's mind but soon just disappear. In regard to history, | under-
line the sentiment involved, seeking above al to foster character in the
children, as well as reinforcing their resolution and determination.

Typically, she added that her instruction would be more effective if
only the lighting available in her school room were not so dim and
unreliable.®’

One enthusiast eventually averred that Mussolini and that apostle
of hard work and sdf help, Samuel Smiles, had much in common.*®
But, among the Mussolinis, it was Rosa Maltoni who was the most
obvious 'Victorian', the upright believer in ‘improvement’. She was a
good teacher, but herself did not gain promotion, becoming instead a
local identity and rather more universally admired than her husband.
By the time of her death aged 46, she had sacrificed much to her calling
and her family. Her effort and dedication, and the prestige of the
Mussolinis, were evidenced when her funeral procession drew a
crowd of over a thousand."”

By the 19305 Fascist propagandists enjoyed declaiming that ‘'on
every occason [the Duce] praises Italian women whom he knew
through his Mother and whom he knows through his Woman, both
typical embodiments of the national woman, who lives out her history
between slence and the family hearth'* Another credulous
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biographer would remember how Rosa had given the baby Benito a
pet white rabbit to which he was attached and which was given to
nuzzling the future Duce with its warm pink nose.* Such breathless
writers would typically add that, through the presageful events of his
infancy and childhood, Mussolini had mystically absorbed the spirit
of Italian womanhood and could somehow express its essence in his
own erect masculinity.* One stll more ardent biographer was,
however, dismissive: 'Alessandro Mussolini and Rosa Maltoni only
played the part of a John [the Baptist] toward Christ. They were the
instruments of God and history, given the task of watching over one of
the greatest national messiahs. Actually the greatest.”® This last,
however, is a decidedly skewed summation of the influence of the
dictator's parents. Rather than being mere sentinels, father and mother
transferred many attitudes, ideals and habits to their son, and some of
the confusion or eclecticism of his ideas in turn reflected the differ-
ences which actually existed in the Mussolini parents view of the
world.

Completing the family and crowding the rooms beside the Varano
school-house were two siblings. The youngest was a girl, Edvige, born
io November 1883, who would rarely intrude publicly into her elder
brother's life but who was to undertake a supervisory role over the
Duce's children, as befitted an aunt, and who was respected by him for
her capability and her good sense. Far more evident was the middle
child Arnaldo, born n January 1885, and thus less than 18 months
younger than Benito. For years the two boys, like many of their class
and nation, sept together on the same iron bedstead (it had allegedly
been crafted by their father and, photos reveal, was ornamented with
putti and grapes).”® Throughout their lives, the brothers were very
close until Arnaldo's premature death, aged 46 (the same age his
mother had been), on 21 December 1931 Though Arnaldo might
become accustomed humbly to introduce himself as ‘Mussolini the
Little,*® he was often a crucial agent for his older brother - in adult-
hood, for years they exchanged a phone call each night at io p.m.*’ -
and may well have been the only person whom Benito ever trusted.
Certainly Mussolini's eldest son Vittorio was, by contrast, aware that,
whatever the level of his filial respect, he never altogether won his
father'sconfidence.*®

Like Benito Amilcare Andrea, Arnaldo was awarded arevolutionary
name by his father, if now one of a greater pomposity, hinting at
Alessandro Mussolini's growth in political experience, worldly status
and ambition. Arnaldo da Brescia was a twelfth-century
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anti-hierarchical and puritanical heretic, hanged by the Church for
rebellion. In nineteenth-century Italy he had been remembered in
anticlerical circles as a somewhat unlikely 'apostle of civil liberty'.*
Apart from the desire, demonstrated in this naming process, to find
inspiration from and connection with history, another sign of the
Mussolinis' rise in social status may have been that Arnaldo was not
nourished by Rosa, but instead given to a peasant wet-nurse. When he
came to write a magniloguent biography of his brother, the Duce
recalled this matter guiltily and as reflecting an inescapable fate
through which the Great Mussolini aways overbore the younger
brother.* Despite the intended resonance of his name, Arnaldo grew
up an unheretical child, with an educational curriculum vitae heavily
suggestive of maternal influence, but with a hint of his father's pres-
ence, too. Rather chubbier than his elder brother, indeed by the 19205
unhealthily puffy-looking, Arnaldo had a higher forehead than
Benito, yet hisjutting if dimpled chin marked him as a Mussolini.

In 1902 Arnaldo graduated from a college concentrating on agricul-
tural subjects. He was therefore entitlted to cal himself 'Dott.
Mussolini' and duly did so.> For atime, Arnaldo followed his brother
in emigration to Switzerland, working there as a labourer and
gardener. By the end of 1905, drawn back to the family by his mother's
death — to his dismay, Arnaldo did not arrive in time to embrace her —
and funeral, he was employed to teach a variety of agricultural skills,
first a Cesena and then in the emphatically Catholic Veneto. He
married in 1909, fathering three children over the next decade. In 1914
he moved from teaching to loca administration, obtaining a position
as communal secretary. Asaresult of the battle of Caporetto, however,
Morsane, his Friulian township, fell to the Austrians and, in 1918, he
was called up (he had not volunteered) for the Italian army. Shortly
thereafter he was sent to officers' school, as befitted his educational
level and class position. He ended his quiet war as a Second
Lieutenant, a rank well above that of Corporal Benito Mussolini.>?

Whatever the army and its service might have offered him, Arnaldo
Mussolini never questioned the fact that the hierarchy of his family
mattered more than that of the nation, and he was soon helping his
senior sibling, both with the Fascist cause and with more mundane
concerns — his elder brother recollected that Arnaldo spent more time
looking after Benito's family than did the Duce." A Fascist eulogist
added that Arnaldo became the shadow who was adways there, but
who 'did not hamper the bodily movements' of the Duce, the 'Great
Brother'> Another urged naively that only Benito Mussolini
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understood the Italian people better than did Arnaldo, the teacher of
teachers.> Actually Arnaldo Mussolini's other identifying factor was
his piety. Here was a Mussolini whose politics were markedly clerical.
His wife's brother was a priest, eventually employed to give belated
baptism to the senior Mussolini children.®® Analysts till argue about
the genuineness of Fascism's thrust towards social and spiritual revo-
lution. It is certainly worth remembering that the mind-set of Arnaldo
Mussolini was respectful of the status quo, certainly of the Church and
perhaps of the State. Mussolini the Little was no revolutionary. In and
around Predappio, he would be remembered as 'the good one'.>” His
elder brother, by contrast, was known as 'e mat', the mad one.>®

Fascist propaganda would love to claim that Mussolini had '‘come
from the people, sharing in this way all the aspirations of the people.*®
Of course, the Mussolini family background was a specific one and
cannot be generalised to encompass Italians of other classes, regions
and times. All the same, any reading of the Duce's personality and
mind can easily find there echoes of hisfamily and of the piccolo mondo
of that part of the Romagna into which he was born.

When Arnaldo and Benito Mussolini engaged in familiar conversa-
tion, they, as brothers in Italy might, automatically spoke in dialect.®
Thislinguistic preference is areminder of the novelty and weakness of
that Italian nation state which recorded the birth of the two brothers.*
In 1883 modern Italy had been in existence for less than a generation;
its capital had been secured in Rome for not much more than a decade.
Similarly the modern Italian language had only recently been
invented; linguistic historians nowadays claim that, at the moment of
unification in 1860, only some 2.5 per cent of Italians (about 600 000
people) spoke the national language with comfort or pleasure.®?

Nationadlists, then and later, avowed that the unification was
natural, and were proudly sure that Italianness or italianita was a
primordial quality, constituting the eternal identity of the racial stock
(stirpe) of the peninsula. Reality was different. For all its propagan-
dists' boasts about the eternal nature of Rome and the refulgent glory
of the Renaissance, Liberal Italy was a fragile state. Internationally, the
nation was required to play the ambiguous and even frightening role
of the 'Least of the Great Powers.”® Some 14 months before Benito
Mussolini's birth, Italy's diplomatists had secured membership of the
Triple Alliance with Imperial Germany and Habsburg Austria, a
strange pact given that Italian irredentists vociferously maintained
that the Risorgimento, or national unification, was incomplete while
Austria continued to rule Trieste and the Trentino. Since this was the
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age of imperialism, men of government mused, perhaps irredentist
ardour could be assuaged and European tensions diverted to Africa
and the wider world. In 1833 conservative moralist and politician
Sidney Sennino demanded a 'grandiose colonia future' for Italy"* and
the nation's Foreign Minister, Pasquae Stanidao Mancini, a
Neapolitan, was actively engaged in the process of planning imperial
gain. In January 1885 he sent a battalion of Bersaglieri to occupy the
Red Seaport of Massawa, thereby initiating anational Italian presence
in what would become the colony of Eritrea. From its hinterland beck-
oned the vast and vulnerable medieval-style kingdom of Ethiopia.
Perhaps there, Italy, too, could locate the Glory, God and Gold of
modern empire, and prove to Italians that it was better to be the aly of
Austria and the Germanic world than its enemy.

As far as the Mussolinis were concerned, these international
alarums sounded as yet but fitfully into their daily lives. The domestic
travails of Liberal Italy touched them more directly. One prominent
issue was the relationship between Church and State. Cavour and his
liberal friends had made anti-clericalism a major plank in their
programme of ‘'modernisation’, and Italy had been united against the
wishes and to the damage of the Vatican under Pope Pius IX (1846-78).
By the i880s the Papacy was in the hands of Leo XIII (died 1903). On
election, he appeared an elderly reactionary, and even when his poli-
tics proved more ample than expected - in 1891 he published the
encyclical Rerum Novarum (Of New Things), whose very title
promised certainly novelty and perhaps modernity — it was still
unclear whether the Church was plotting the overthrow of the
heretical or godless Liberal regime which had usurped rulein Rome.

In 1883 Italy's Prime Minister was the cautious Agostino Depretis, a
Lombard Liberal and Freemason, who was becoming renowned as the
advocate of trasformismo, that is, the de-ideologising political practice
through which government came from the centre, buying off its
‘extremist' foes of left and right through a continuing process of coali-
tion. The best leader was he who could most adroitly offer members of
the Chamber of Deputiesrewards and benefits (what to some moralists
seemed ‘corruption’) in order to attach them to the governing majority.
The legacy of Depretis was durable - in most eyes, Republican Italy
after 1946 remained 'transformist’ - but, during the 18805, it also
faced critics and challengers. Italy had begun with a tiny and easily
manageable electorate, composed of some 2 per cent of the national
population. In January 1832 Depretis had acknowledged that social
change, which was spreading into the Italian peninsulafrom the more
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industrialised Europe to the north, by passing a suffrage reform. It
extended the vote to 7 per cent of the population; Depretis had kept
the figure low, in a country where the maority of the peasantry
remained stubbornly illiterate, by insisting that electors be able to
read.

An electorate of that size could still be 'managed' in something like
the traditional manner, as successive Prime Ministers - Depretisin the
i880s, Francesco Crispi in the 18905 and Giovanni Giolitti, in the era
given his name from 1903 to 1914 - demonstrated. Nonethe less, from
the i88os all Italian politicians were perforce preoccupied with the
'socia question', that is, with what to do about that great mass of the
population who remained outside the political system. How these
masses could be safely 'nationalised’ and so converted into loyal
Italians was the basic issue in Italian politics until the First World War
and beyond.

The Liberal nation seemed to possess two main enemies, each
destined to create its own modern mass party. As has been noted, one
was composed by those Catholics who yearned either to restore the
temporal power of the popes, or to create a Catholic democracy as
l[imned in Rerum Nouarum. The second was constituted by 'socialists,
people like Andrea Costa and Alessandro Mussolini, who preached
political and, still more ominoudly, social revolution. How could they
be accommodated in any tolerable system without a descent into
‘chaos’ and a surrender by the propertied classes of their wealth, lands
and expertise? Would drastic solutions prove necessary? After dl, as
early as 1876 Lombard liberal and financier Marco Minghetti mused
about the eventual need for a 'fascio [union] of al conservative forces
marshalled against the 'ideas of the socialists.®®

In the story of the growth of Italian socialism, the Emilia-Romagna,
that region which runs from the Po Valley to the Adriatic Sea, was of
major significance. Indeed, in 1831 Andrea Costa had founded the
'Romagnole Revolutionary Socialist party' as afirst step in his own
move from anarchism towards afully organised state socialismin Italy.
Fascist propagandists, too, regularly emphasised the 'Romagnole
character of their Duce and his family. Alessandro the blacksmith was
thought to be 'a courageous and humbl e son of the Romagna, thrustful
and ardent like its land';®® Benito was dubbed 'the vehicle of the very
soul of the Romagna',®” and, in the dark days of 1942, an effort was
made to cheer the public with photos of the Duce and his Romagna,
where, it was solemnly explained, Mussolinis had dug for more than
three centuries.®®
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What did such grandiose words imply? Partly the answer to that
question lay in the past. During the sixteenth and seventeenth
centuries, dynastic crises in the various dukedoms handed the rule of
territories from the watershed of the Apennines as far as the Po river
to the Vatican. However, in many senses, these lands continued to lie
'beyond the mountains'. There was a major climatic difference, with
the fogs of the Po valey hovering over the flat terrain for months in
winter in a way unimaginable in sunny Rome. Given the weakness of
the early modern state - and there were few states weaker and more
erratic than the Papacy - the population of such cities as Ferrara and
Bologna retained a strong sense of urban identity and a resentment at
incompetent, cruel and 'foreign’ government from Rome. Romagnoles
were thuslikely to be dissidents — anarchism did well for atimein the
region, while republicanism continued to flourish there throughout
the Liberal era.

Economic and cultural developments, however, ensured that
'socialism’ was the modern ideology which found most fertile soil in
the Romagna. The commitment to revolution appealed to urban intel-
lectuals in the many citta — a word which more often signified the
towns, places with a population of io 000 or o, than the cities of the
region. Not for nothing did Benito Mussolini serve a political appren-
ticeship editing for atimethe earnestly entitled La Lotta di Classe (The
Class Struggle) in Forli and, while there, strive for promotion to
Bologna. A historian of the region has noted that, by 1900, Bologna
had become the 'acknowledged, if unofficial, capital of agricultural
Italy',”® and, as a consequence, the rival of the industria ‘capital’
Turin, the financial capital Milan and the administrative capital (and
capital in myths) Rome. Predictably, then, Bolognas intellectuals
strove to distinguish themselves from ther rivals in Turin, Milan,
Rome (and Forli).

But Romagnole sociaism was unusual in also penetrating the peas-
antry in a way which might have surprised that youthful Karl Marx
who had declared dismissively that one peasant was separated from
another as was one potato from another potato. Po valley agriculture
felt the impact of capitalism as early as did any part of Itay. Since the
i880s the Romagnole hinterland had fallen into economic crisis. Old
style sharecroppers had been driven either up or, more frequently,
down the socid ladder as farm production resolved itself into an
arrangement between owners (often that now meant anonymous
companies) and day labourers. As a modern historian has put it:
‘farming in the Bologna plains and to a lesser extent in the foothills,
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increasingly became an industry like any other'.”® In this world the
socialist message about the steady pauperisation of the working
classes, and about an inevitable conflict between bourgeocisie and
proletariat, capital and labour, made sense. In 1901 Bologna saw the
unification of existing rural groups into Federterra, a massive peasant
trade union which, within a year, approached a membership of a
quarter of amillion.”

In other words, as the old century passed, both in town and in
countryside, any 'new man' of the Romagna was likely to call himself
a socidigt, and a youthful Benito Mussolini did just that. On i May
(the day of the workers) 1903, the ig-year-old published a celebratory
sonnet to Gracchus Babeuf (charmingly misspelled by Mussolini as
Baboeuf), the 'pioneer communist' who had mounted an unsuccessful
‘conspiracy of the equals in Paris in 1796. Babeufs first name
resounded with the clamour of agricultural ‘revolution' as once hero-
icaly pursued in the classical Roman republic, but that was a
resonance which Benito Mussolini presently ignored. Instead, the poet
sang of the great but sad days of Revolution in Paris, of the betrayal of
Thermidor, of the devious plotting of priests, and of the smile of
Babeuf at the moment of his sacrificial death. 'Into his dying eyes, the
still-not-quite Duce wrote, 'travelled the flash of the [socialist] Idea,
the vision of the centuries to come.”” In his own new century,
Mussolini was dreaming of fresh uprisings in which he might be the
guiding light. But how had Benito Amilcare Andrea, self-conscious
young revolutionary and intellectual, reached this stage of his life?

The upbringing of the infant Benito was inevitably heavily mythol-
ogised under his dictatorship, during which an endless stream of
servile authors underlined his exceptionality and genius in order to
prove that the Duce was 'always the Duce",” and that, from his birth if
not before, he had acted 'like a true Roman'.” As an old family friend
turned hired pen of the Fascist state proclaimed: ‘At once the infancy
of Benito Mussolini gave unmistakable signs of his great passion for
study and spiritual meditation’.” Such evidence is difficult to inter-
pret and plainly cannot be taken at face value. Rather, the first story
about Mussolini as a baby is psychologicaly intriguing. It was not
until after his third birthday that the future orator learned to speak.
This delay in maturation so worried his parents that they took him to
Forli to be examined by an ear, nose and throat specialist, presumably
a costly trip (and one that a peasant family would not have been able
to afford or imagine). Allegedly the doctor told Rosa: ‘Don't worry, my
good woman, soon he will talk too much'.”® A modern psychologist
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might be more worried lest such a delay in maturation suggest that all
was not well at home, and it may be wondered just how compatible
Rosa and Alessandro really were - after all, even Mussolini's pious
socialist obituary of his father admitted that Alessandro had not ato-
gether made asuccess of life.”’

For dl that, young Benito did not grow up in away that was excep-
tional for his class and region. Legend would emphasise his ‘wildness,
the more to prove hisinnate quality of leadership. The Fascist image of
the boy Mussolini focused either on his commanding of a gang of
urchins in its intrepid raids on local farmsteads, or on the Boy-
Philosopher, cogitating in the shadow of the ancient oak which grew
just outside San Cassiano (vengeful Anti-Fascists cut it down after
i945),® or beside the plashing waters of the Rabbi.”® Mussolini can
even be found saying in ultimate cliché that these were the happiest
days of hislife.®

The only real hint of the unusual in the boy Mussolini's behaviour
occurred when the nine-year-old, after some family debate, was sent
as a boarder to the Salesian college at Faenza, a big school by the
standards of the time with 200 pupils aged from six to late teenage,
in a town which was the next citta up the railway line towards
Bologna from Forli. Again, it was a choice of schooling suggesting
ambition among the Mussolinis, but with Rosa Maltoni having the
greater influence - Benito claimed that his mother had been talked
into sending her cherished son there by a 'bigoted’ female member
of the locally powerful Zoli family.® Among the Catholic fathers
Benito survived for two years but in increasingly evident travail.
There was the problem of religion and, very likely inseparable from
it, the problem of class. Certainly in Dovia and probably in
Predappio, the Mussolinis were gente per bene (respectable people).
But the good citizens of Faenza, a citta with an iron bridge for the
provincial to marvel at,?? did not easily acknowledge inferior beings
from a barbarous world outside the city gates. As Mussolini took
pains to recal, among the Salesians he was placed in the third and
bottom rank, a station which was humiliatingly emphasised during
lessons, at school medtimes, in scholastic dress and in deeping
arrangements. All in al, the fathers of the Catholic order seem to
have remembered malicioudly the reputation of Alessandro, the blas-
pheming father of their pupil, and forgotten the piety of his mother.
Intheir conscious and unconscious actions, they made young Benito
an object of their dislike and persecution, even though, after some
public recalcitrance, he took communion — in the odour of sanctity
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which briefly clung to him thereafter, he remembered, school food
improved.®

The outcome of the conflict between boy and teachers was perhaps
inevitable. During a petty squabble among the pupils, Mussolini, ill
short of his eleventh birthday, pulled out a knife and stabbed a class-
mate in the hand. There followed a tremendous hue and cry, in which
the future Duce was told by an outraged Salesian that he had a soul as
black as soot, and was then put out to deep with the school dogs for
the night (even if a charitable teacher eventually rescued him from
that frightening fate).®* Deemed violent and uncontrollable, Mussolini
was, sometime thereafter, expelled from the school, a circumstance
which duly became the stuff of Fascist, Anti-Fascist and sensationalist
biographical account, and has remained grist to any analyst deter-
mined to prove that only one possible path lay ahead for the future
Duce.

The problem with drawing too definite a conclusion about his
nature from his time at Faenza is that, when, at the end of the summer
holidays in 1894, Mussolini transferred to the state school at
Forlimpopoli,® another but less renowned citta of the Romagna plain,
he became something of a model pupil (despite some trouble occa
sioned by another stabbing incident). At the Collegio Giosue Carducci,
named grandly after Liberal Italy's leading (and highly patriotic) poet,
and actually headed by the poet's brother Valfredo Carducci, Benito
duly passed his exams (if sometimes with a struggle), before matricu-
lating in the summer of 1901. A surviving school report shows him
doing best in pedagogy, language and literature, and 'morale’, and
worst in agriculture and maths.®® He also began to develop what
became a lifelong interest in music and even talked about seeking a
career as a professional musician - his aim, he said, was to compose a
tune which would express 'al the motion of the universe'®” In 1899
Mussolini participated in a 'Festival of the Tree' held in the nearby
elegant hill-town of Bertinoro and was photographed playing the
cornet.® It was, then, not just convention which caused the later
politician fondly to recall his days a Forlimpopoli.®* Indeed, the
school gave him his first chance to place his name before a wider
public. In early 1901 Mussolini was chosen to represent the school in
an oration commemorating the death of Giuseppe Verdi, sometime
aleged hero of the Risorgimento and composer of universal fame. The
socidist national daily Avanti! reported the event in a three line piece
gravely defining the orator as '‘comrade student Mussolini',* while the
Bologna daily // Resto del Carlino also noted the 'much applauded'
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speech, even if they thought that the boy who delivered it was 'Benito
Mussoline.” Despite the pupil's forensic feat, a few months later the
school bursar did not forgo the despatch of an unpaid bill for 22 lire
and 68 centesimi to the local mayor with a request that he press
payment from the Mussolinis.”?

An account published in the 19305 by a school-fellow of the Duce
recalls aproud and generally taciturn boy who sought to mark himself
out from the other pupils by his fondness for black clothes (and tie)
and by his pallid looks, but he was dso known as a passionate and
athletic dancer. While still a schoolboy, he boasted of losing his
virginity in a Forli brothel at a cost of 50 centesimi, an event which, he
said, stimulated both guilt and lust. He told his friends that he was a
great writer of poetry, but he always tore up the results.”®* He let it be
known that he thought deep thoughts.** In his pocket, as his personal
talisman, he carried a medallion with the image of Karl Marx on it.*®
Mussolini's prominent eyes grew more burning every day. He began to
cultivate a small moustache, which he would keep until the end of the
First World War (though it would never grow as luxuriantly as that of
his father). Possessed of an excellent memory, he converted the oblig-
atory study of Dante (the medieval religious poet had been installed as
the chief cultural symbol of united modern Italian nation and its
national language) into a weapon of his own. Thus, it was said, he
loved to walk through the dark, silent, streets of Forlimpopoli late at
night, shouting the stanze of the Inferno or Purgatorio. It was as
though he was assaulting the walls of the villas which lined his path.
And it was the invective of Dante which he especially loved.*®

When he finished his schooling, Benito Mussolini was young,
bright, angry, ambitious, at times violent (aswas society around him),
disadvantaged in quite a lot of ways, but determined and fortunate to
live at a time when his particular talents were beginning to matter. In
many ways he was well defined as 'first of his class, though he would
not be the only politician in history to deserve that soubriquet. How
could he find a way to harness his evident promise, to solace his anger
and ambition, and to movefrom being merely thefirst of his own small
cohort to primacy in some part ofthat life which mattered? How could
he find a path to the great world?

Could teaching be the answer? In his last months as a student,
Mussolini was already assisting the staff as a pupil-teacher, notably, it
issaid, of history, and, in 1901, his mother's vocation seemed destined
to be his own (as it would be for a while Arnaldo's). School teaching,
at least at the more senior level, could bring considerable respect in
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belle époque Italian society. Some of the atmosphere of that profession
isrevealed in a ceremony held at the end of school term in May 1910 at
Forlimpopoli to honour Valfredo Carducci, 'brother of the poet' as it
was inevitably stressed, who had just completed 20 years of service a
his school. Benito Mussolini, granted the grandiose title of Forli corre-
spondent for the socialist national daily paper Avanti!, wrote up the
event. The mayor, he reported, had presided over the solemnities,
which saw Carducci presented with a gold watch and a ceremonial
scroll. Ex-pupils had assembled from all around the region, joining
their ex-teacher at a banquet, a civic reception and then a concert,
held at the elegant Teatro Comunale to the benefit of a local salors
hospice.”” No doubt plenty of time was |eft for orations and toasts.

A decade earlier, did the young school graduate wonder whether
one day he, too, might expect such honours? In December 1901
Mussolini published in the supplement of a teachers magazine what
seems to have been his first work, an admiring commentary on the
Russian novel.®® For much of the next decade his most likely employ-
ment was as a teacher - and, at least if her ghosted memoirs are to be
believed, his eventual companion Rachele was expected to address
him as 'professore’ until after the birth of their fourth child.*® But
young Benito Mussolini had one other great commitment - politics.
The dilemma remained - how could the two vocations be combined?

The ideal solution to this question was local. Young Benito, ‘grad-
uate', clutching his 'diploma, sought a post as secretary of the
Predappio comune, after he had applied for and failed to obtain a series
of teaching jobs.’® His application was taken seriously. The Council
voted on the matter, with Alessandro conscientiously retiring from the
room during the process. But Benito was too young and too inexperi-
enced a candidate, and was rejected i0:4.'"" It would have to be
school-teaching, after all. Alessandro alegedly told his son not to be
disappointed, but to head out onto the paths of the world. There, he
suggested, his son could turn into the 'Crispi of tomorrow'.!® In
February 1902 Mussolini left his parents house to take up the position
of relief teacher at atiny school at Pieve Saliceto, afrazione of Gualtieri
Emilia, still in Italy'sred belt but morethan 100 kilometres from home,
where, it was thought, Alessandro's raccomandazione (personal refer-
ence) had none the less carried weight. Mussolini eventually
acknowledged that he did not do especially well in hisinitial spell asa
teacher, but he blamed the reactionary clericdism which, in his
opinion, scarred the textbooks even in a socialist comune, and
explained his failure to foster his pupils initiative.!® Others said that,
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at Gualtieri, he spent too much time drinking and playing cards at the
locd Osteria della fratellanza (Fraternity pub).’** Moreover,
Mussolini's view of discipline, which tended to the libertarian, was
rejected by local parents. In June he found that his contract was not
renewed, although the reason seems to have had less to do with his
pedagogical radicalism than with the public scandal occasioned by his
adulterous affair with alocal soldier's wife.'®

In any case, the young teacher was already thinking of sloughing
off hiscommitmentsto thelittle worlds of the Po valley. In May 1901
Mussolini had applied for a passport and, because of his family's good
financial and civic reputation, had obtained it. Asheinformed afriend
back homein early June, soon he would reside 'no morein the land of
Dante, but rather in that of W. Tell'.® On 9 July 1902 Professor Benito
Mussolini, elementary school teacher, headed for the Swiss border.
His mother had transferred funds to him for the trip; they amounted
to the equivalent of dmost a month's pay. He claimed that the only
person to whom he said good-bye at Gualtieri Emilia was 'his woman,
whom he would never see again. Since, by his own account, he had
once stabbed her in the arm during a quarrel, she may well have been
glad to return to her husband.'®” On the slow train Mussolini readin a
paper of his father's arrest, but that family crisis did not diminish his
determination to shake the dust of Italy from his life.'® Like millions
of other Italians in the decades before 1914 - histrain, herecalled, was
crowded with others leaving'® — Mussolini had decided to become an
emigrant. He was to celebrate his nineteeth birthday in a foreign
clime.
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I N crossing the Swiss border, Mussolini was following a well-trodden
path. During the decade from 1896 to 1905, more than 4 million
Italians emigrated - during the following ten years the total expanded
to 6 million.* At first the emigrants tended to come from northern Italy
and to expatriate within Europe. However, by the beginning of the
new century a wave of departures had begun in the south, with both
the United States and Latin America becoming favoured destinations.
Furthermore, a massive departure to Switzerland, France, Germany
and Austria continued; in 1902, for example, Mussolini was one of 50
233 of his fellow countrymen (the great majority were indeed male)
who migrated to the Helvetian Republic.? Later in the decade
Mussolini also spent time in the Austrian Trentino, and he at least
contemplated departure to the USA or to 'Madagascar', this last a
somewhat unlikely choice.® In 1908 he told one friend that he was
mulling over the idea of departure to Africa for 20 years— by residing
there he could avoid the national draft.* Aslate as 1910 he and Rachele
talked about going together to America, only abandoning the prospect
when it became evident that Rachele was expecting a child.®

Italian emigrants tended to be young and to be male - between 1896
and 1905, men left at almost five times the rate of women.® Those who
went generally saw themselves as 'sojourners, or 'birds of passage’,
working hard and enduring exploitation, not least from those fellow
nationals who had departed before them and who now knew the
customs and networks of their new countries and could adapt them to
their own benefit. Such snares avoided or overcome, the emigrant
intended to go home wiser and richer. Often, like Mussolini, Italians
emigrated (and returned) more than once, asthe spirit of adventure, or
need, required. For many, the period of emigration resembled an
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apprenticeship, or, better, a period of conscription, in which much
that happened was cruel or imponderable but during which the life
beyond the borders constituted an initiation rite, a necessary service,
that eventualy set the emigrant, having made a 'fortune, free to
return to family, paese and full adulthood. Emigration was at its base
an act of 'the Italics and therefore of the un-nationalised masses,
behaving as though the modern Italian nation and state were irrele-
vant to their hopes and fears.

If an ideal of financial and spiritual emancipation was clung to by
many an emigrant in desperate times, for each individual the story of
migration had its own cast. Experience abroad mostly reinforced the
separation of the sexes and shored up the conventiona patriarchy -
this confirmation of existing habits and beliefs was what happened to
the young Mussolini. More striking is the question of identity, an
issue which was also of political interest for modernising states, be
they the countries which received the emigrants, or Italy itself. Here
there wasthe curious and ironical possibility that the act of migration,
despite the apparent accompanying acceptance that the nation-state
could provide neither present sustenance nor future opportunity,
might actually advance the nationalisation of the masses. Emigration
by its definition involved statistics, that process of tabulation and
assessment which was so near the heart of the modern state. Emigrants
may have left the Italics and their paesi, but both the host society and
the representatives of the Italian government with whom they came
into contact caled them 'ltalians. So, too, did the other peoples with
whom they mixed. Matters of identity were not aways smple.
Sometimes ‘Latins' would cluster almost as though they were ill
subjects of Imperial Rome. Morefrequently, ‘ltalian’ clubs and welfare
associations actually turned out to owe allegiance to a region, a town
or a village, and members were bound by a classca emigrant ‘chain’
to the folks back home. Yet, the word 'ltaly’ could not be expunged
from an emigrant's vocabulary. Indeed, as one emigrant put it, it was
through going to Latin America that he learned that he was Italian.”

Quite a number of important figures in the eventual Fascist regime
shared in this honing of their national identity. One was Edmondo
Rossoni, for atime Fascist trade union chief. Bornin 1834 and so ayear
younger than Mussolini, and from a paese in the province of Ferrara
not far from Predappio, Rossoni emigrated to the United States after a
brush with the Italian police over hislabour activism. There, by 1912,
he had become a sort of nationalist, insisting on ‘a strictly Italian
working-class union' as the best way both to defeat the capitalist
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bosses and to advance his own career.® Another Italian emigrant in the
U.S. was Amerigo Dumini, aman who became notoriousin 1924 asthe
leader of the Fascist squad which killed moderate socidist deputy
Giacomo Matteotti, setting off the Fascist regimes most public
scandal. Dumini was actually a second generation emigrant, born in
St Louisin 1896, but sent back to Italy for some education. Thereafter
he learned a nationalist vocabulary (athough never forgetting the
appeal of the main chance), through the First World War and service
in the Italian Army.°

Mussolini's own emigrant experience did not at first seem likely to
follow such paths. Benito Mussolini wasasocialist. Hisownfather, in
one of the short articles which he proudly contributed to a loca news-
sheet, condemned the Itdlian state for the disgraceful act of driving its
citizens out of the country - according to Alessandro, ninefamilies, in
total some 50 people, had just left Doviafor Brazil, certain suffering
and likely death. Yelow fever, Alessandro warned, staked the
tropics.’® Likewise, then and later, Marxist theory defined emigration
as a process of international exploitation through which the bour-
geoisie depressed wages and conditions, both at home and abroad.
Indeed, the Emilia-Romagna, precisely because it was 'red’, was a
region of scant emigration. For most fully aware Marxists, the
emigrant constituted a variety of traitor and black-leg who, rather
than abandoning hisfamiliar hearth, did better to stay where he could
fight the bosses most knowingly and effectively.

In his own mind, Mussolini was certainly not going to Switzerland
in breach of the rules of socialism. Rather, his emigration was a variety
of exile, a young man's adventure to be sure, but at the same time an
expression of contempt towards that Italy which had not found him
worthy employment. In his new abode, Mussolini had every intention
of remaining loya to socidist networks - they offered a home away
from home. Only weeks after his arrival in Switzerland, he was
writing with some regularity in a journal entitled L'Awvenire del
Lavoratore (The Worker's Future); Mussolini claimed to afriend that
he had been made co-editor of the paper dong with a Lausanne
lawyer, Tito Barboni (indeed the paper's editor and secretary of the
Italian Socidist party in Switzerland)." Mussolini had not occupied
the editor's chair, but he proved a busy scribe, a natural journalist,
contributing nine articles in less than six months of his initial resi-
dence in Switzerland.

In this regard, Mussolini's emigration was that of an 'intellectual’.
In 1902 the institutions of Liberal Italy were notoriously under
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challenge from many of the 'best and the brightest' of the new gener-
ation, and remained so at least until national entry into the First World
War in May 1915. At the turn of the century critical sociologists were
noting that, in Italy, there were 0.74 lawyers per 1000 inhabitants as
against 0.12 in well-administered and well-ordered Prussia’? In 1900
27 of 32 socidist members of the Italian parliament called themselves
professore,™* meaning that they had graduated in some course and had
the right to teach in school. The pessmistic conservative Giustino
Fortunato, who regularly despaired over how Italy might nationalise
its masses, drew the obvious lesson from such detail, inveighing
against 'that new form of intellectual proletariat which is even more
miserable and threatening than the economic proletariat, and from
which the extremist political parties recruit many of their shrewdest,
most active and most dubious elements."* Mussolini, of course, was
scarcely a university-trained lawyer, but he claimed the right to be
addressed asprofessore, boldly asserting the freedoms and duties of an
intellectual, one who was shrewd, active and ready for 'revolution'.
His world was, in his own estimation, awide-ranging one. Indeed, his
initial article for L'Avvenire del Lavoratore contrasted bourgeois
Europeans' current dismay at the collapse of the campanile in Venice
(actually, Mussolini wrote aggressively, the ancient monument was
‘artistically of dubious taste') with their tolerance of the massacre of
Armenians in the Ottoman empire. Violent Kurds, he added with a
characteristic hint of salaciousness, had even tied down Armenian
women, committing 'acts of unspeakableferocity' on them. When, he
asked rhetorically, would civilization be able to assert itself against
such wickedness? He knew the answer: 'the disappearance of the
tyranny which a single socid class, the one with economic privilege,
exercises over the other will signal the end of any fanaticism and racial
hatred; then all men will be united in fraternal solidarity'.*

From the very firgt, then, 'Prof. Mussolini' was pleased to have an
opinion on every issue. In the language of today, he claimed member-
ship of the 'chattering classes', unabashed and determined that others
recognised his presence. His actual education may have been narrow,
but his effrontery knew no limit. Wel before his twenty-first
birthday, Mussolini, however cadlow he was in redlity, aggressively
willed himsdlf to be an intellectual among the intellectuals — as one
contemporary noted acutely, he treated 'every other intellectual as an
enemy or a competitor'.®

But what did such intellectuality mean?’ One of the issues of
debate about his period of emigration in Switzerland is whether or
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not, in 1904, Mussolini attended the lectures of Vilfredo Pareto at
Lausanne university. Pareto wasimportant, asan intellectual of global
fame and because his postulation that what he called ‘creative dlites,
that is, men marked by their dynamism and will, were always destined
to rule, was eventually declared an antecedent of Fascist ideology.
Under the regime, the official line was that Mussolini had heard
Pareto, though some have doubted this account, and he certainly did
not sit any exams.”® Perhaps the student's attendance, attention span
and comprehension level do not matter very much, except to under-
line that the ex-school teacher was continuing to absorb the mental
world which surrounded him, however unsure his knowledge of the
detail of its ideas remained.

Actually, Mussolini the intellectual exile and Mussolini the
economic migrant jostle uneasily in any account of his life in
Switzerland. Now was the period, to be remembered with advantage at
appropriate moments thereafter, in which Mussolini sometimes dept
on a park bench, or found precarious work as a builder's labourer, or
butcher's or wine-seller's boy (though often he was swiftly promoted
to clerical work, and at least one contemporary noticed that this
pseudo-worker's hands remained soft and white).”® On occasion there
might be hunger or trouble in finding where to wash - Mussolini
recorded his anger at an early employer who complained that his
worker was too well dressed.?®® There were debts, not easily repaid,
both to friends back in the Romagna and to new acquaintances. There
was illness, very likely brought on by the loneliness of exile and the
unfamiliarity of his new surrounds — now began rumours, which
lasted beyond his death that Mussolini had somewhere contracted
syphilis® Anti-Fascists thereafter claimed that there was even
thieving on occasion, it being aleged, probably falsely, that Mussolini
gtole awatch from afriend.* There was a somewhat exotic love affair
with a Polish medical student. By 1903 there was sex of aless romantic
kind in Lausanne with a divorcee, but, as he explained to a mae
friend, merely 'in order to satisfy the flesh and not the soul'.?* Finally,
there was, from October to December 1903, a hurried trip home, after
the news arrived that his mother Rosa was sick. The return vist
became the opportunity to look up old friends (and to begin to learn
that the stay-at-home world had moved with different rhythms from
those of emigration).* Timewith thefamily also offered the chancefor
Mussolini, when he again headed off, to take his brother Arnaldo, now
18, on his emigrant quest.?® These were not unique choices. The twists
and turns of this story, the switching between deprivation and hope,
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the ties never quite renounced with family, home and paese uneasily
meshing with the allure of a new world, made up an array of experi-
ences not unfamiliar to other young male emigrants of the era.

To be sure, none of these other emigrants became dictator of Italy
and s0, however sceptical it is necessary to be about his self-estimation
and however self-interested was his hanging out with what have been
called the 'vagabonds of intel | ectualism',® Mussolini was beginning to
develop a corpus of ideas and a pattern of actions. For this emigrant,
socialism, at least verbally, lay at the centre of his being. When
Mussolini returned to his mother's bed-side, he explained with self-
aggrandising drama to a school-friend: 'By the end of November I'll
pack my bags still another time and again head off into the unknown.
The [socialist] movement has become a basic need for me. If | stop, |
shall simply croak.”” Others, too, were beginning to acknowledge his
significance. When the Rome liberal paper La Tribuna in April 1904
carried a report of one of his conflicts with the police, he was
described as the grande duce (maor leader) of the locd socidist
group.?® What were the component parts of the young man's socialism,
that ideology which he pledged was his nurturing credo?

The most strident and enduring feature of the youthful Mussolini's
belief system was what was then called 'maximalism’, a commitment
to the act of revolution of the sort which, a generation before, Costa
and Cipriani had favoured. Mussolini frequently expressed his scorn,
by contrast, for the ‘reformist’ caution favoured by such moderates as
Filippo Turati, co-founder of the Socialist party in 1892 and now a
member of the Chamber of Deputies. Turati's respectability and sense
of responsibility did not appeal to the dynamic young revolutionary;
for him, state authorities were natural enemies.

It was no surprise to find that, among Mussolini's experiences in
Switzerland, were trouble with the police, ‘arrest, imprisonment,
expulsion' from one Canton to the next or, on one occasion, after io
days pent up in the cells, over the border to Como.?® There he had
promptly bought a train ticket back to Lugano and, though again
summoned to explain himself by the forces of law and order, soon took
secure refuge with the Barboni family and other socidist friends. Such
escapades merely made his allegiance more definite. His first writings
in L'Avwenire del Lavoratore had set out his line: 'We have no simple
formula. We only hope that the party returns to its primordial
methods of struggle, and that it directs an implacable fighting spirit
against the constituted order, without ever dirtying its hands ... with
political or financial deals.® Mussolini was an activist and, in his own
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mind, apurist one, who deservedly bore the names of Cipriani and the
young Costa. In his poetry, he chanted solemn obituaries for fallen
comrades, summoning vengeance against their persecutors.® Hewas a
Republican; in a paper caled Il Proletario (The Proletarian), he
ridiculed the ways of kings, urging their swift overthrow.®
Parliament, too, he deemed afarcical organisation, which the virtuous
must one day destroy. Those moderate socialists who were trying to
make it work in the proletarian interest were deluding themselves.*

Most of all Mussolini was an anti-clerical. By the end of the decade,
he would write The Cardinal's Mistress, a period bodice-ripper in
which the Church was portrayed as a place of lust, hypocrisy and
murder.> In 1910 these were scarcely fresh sentimentsin his mind. His
first Christmas away from home had stimulated a piece for L'Avwenire
del lavoratore, in which the futurefriend or ally of the Catholic Church
pondered the gap between the suffering of Christ and the selfishness
and corruption of His agents on earth, people whom He would have
‘cursed and beaten’, had He been given the chance® Some months
later, Mussolini's imagination grew more macabre as he moralised
about the 'horrors of the cloister'®® By contrast, around Dovia, he
reported with naive enthusiasm, socialist baptisms were taking off and
very likely would soon replace the religious ceremony.®

His orations were filled with smilar themes and attitudes (he
claimed to devote every Sunday to political speechifying).® The stri-
dent anti-clericalism, which he had inherited from his father,
eventually sparked a public debate, held at the Maison du Peuple at
Lausanne on 25 March 1904, between Mussolini and a Protestant
pastor named Alfredo Tagliatatela. In the first moments of his oration,
Mussolini found causeto mention Bruno, Leibniz, Robespierre, Bacon,
Gdileo and a number of other Great Thinkers from the Past.*
Intellectual precocity was not all, however; it was said that the future
Duce clinched his argument by presumptuously standing on a table
and counting down, for, it was claimed, 5 minutes,* while challenging
the Almighty to display Himself. God ignored the noisy and blas-
pheming youth.

The wiser socialists were already arguing that matters of religion
were best left to the individual and the tradition of the mangiapreti
(priest-eater) was becoming outmoded - Mussolini publicly depicted
such moderation as time-serving and back-sliding, faring the worse in
a confrontation with the older and more experienced Emile
Vandervelde, areformist who eventually became Foreign Minister of
Belgium. Certainly the stridency with which the young socialist
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assaulted the Church and the deity had a troubling side. Would ared
intellectual think so crudely? Would a socidist with the welfare of the
people at heart be so truculent about the treasured beliefs so many of
them held? Did not anti-clericalism, with its conveniently invisible
enemy (at least in so far as God was concerned), often cloak ambition,
masking asuperficial commitmenttoliberty and equality? Thesewere
the questions which underlay the wrangling among socialists about
what should be the party line on the relationship between church and
state, and between individuals and their religious preference.

If anti-clericalism was one problem for socialist theoreticians, a still
greater one involved the nation. Marxist dogma suggested that
socialism was by definition internationalist, and maintained that its
triumph would free the workers of the whole world. Yet, with every
passing decade, the nation became more surely the modern political
form, and national cultures were engrained in the peoples of Europe,
if not with their mothers' milk, then with that schooling which every
state proffered as the obligatory entry gate to modernity. This was the
era when peasants (and some workers, too) were ‘turning into
Frenchmen',* Germans, and the rest. For the moment, socialists said
that they worked against this tide, condemning jingoism, down-
playing nationalist rivalry and even meeting in solemn assembly from
time to time as an 'International’. There they promised to blunt any
bourgeois drive to war with a genera dstrike; in a better future,
workers must not kill other workers. However, not far beneath the
surface of socidist thought and practice, the current of nationalism
eddied and flowed. Before long, its power would sweep away the lead-
ership of the German Sociad Democratic Party, the largest and most
sophisticated in the world, whose parliamentary membership unani-
mously voted war credits to the national (and Imperia) German
government in early August 1914. How did the young Mussolini
define his own posture on the question of the nation?

The answer is, with some innocence, some self-interest and some
inconsistency. In theory, as noted above, Mussolini was a fervent
internationalist. Nevertheless, despite his Marxist orthodoxy and
despite the fact that the processes of the nationalisation of the masses
were feebler in Italy than in the countries to the north, a notion of
Italian identity seeped into his words and actions. While a schoolboy,
Mussolini had been excited for a whole month by the great national
crisis occasioned when Prime Minister Crispi's plans for Italian impe-
rial grandeur were wrecked, after Ethiopians routed Italian forces at
the battle of Adowa.** Rather than rallying to avenge the defeat as
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other European states had done in other parts of Africa, the Italians
thereupon withdrew in bedraggled humiliation from the loca
emperor, Menelik Il's realm.

In Switzerland, too, Mussolini had known the nation. A socialist he
may have been, but his accustomed desalings were with those local
socialists who, whether themselves Swiss or fellow exiles from ltaly,
spoke Italian. Language was such a basic matter: 'l had studied
French' at school, he mused naively, 'but | did not understand it [as
spoken around him in Switzerland], given that my ears were not
attuned to the sound of a foreign tongue.'*® At least according to his
own account, his oral French soon improved and, throughout his life,
he read French often and with pleasure. Yet aforeign air lingered over
non-ltalian Switzerland and even stained those Swiss who did spesk
hislanguage. Switzerland was a country naturally given to reformism;
the Swiss, he complained, were too cosy in their lives to favour real
revolution.* They were not his natural bedfellows.

In his uneasiness as an emigrant among the Italian Swiss, Mussolini
sought solace as an intellectual exile. Switzerland was after all the
home to many such people, Lenin among them, who had fled from the
police in their own countries, and who, in relatively liberal surround-
ings, could now concentrate on planning revolutions as wel as on
winning out in the endemic factional disputes, recurrent in expatriate
intellectual life. Using the spare time in his trip back to his mother's
bedside to translate a piece by the Russian anarchist prince P.A.
Kropotkin, Mussolini advanced his case to be granted a presence
among the exiled dissidents.®® Once back in Switzerland, Mussolini,
with growing aplomb, began to move in the circles of the maximalist
Italian socialist Giacinto Menotti Serrati, and his Russian exile friend
Angedlica Balabanoff, a sprig of the southern Russian nobility.

Mussolini worked with the latter - even if she eventually
denounced his treachery to the socialist cause,* and bitterly labelled
him 'aHireling, aJudasand a... Cain'*’ — on another translation, this
time ambitiously of a German work by leading Marxist theoretician,
Karl Kautsky.”® Balabanoff dso took time to train Mussolini in basic
philosophy through a sort of stimulus and response, rote-learning
method. When she provided the name Fichte, he would reply ‘'thesis,
antithesis, synthesis; Balabanoff: 'Hegel': Mussolini: 'being, non-
being, becoming’; Balabanoff: 'Marx': Mussolini: 'need, work, class
struggle.*® His instructress later remarked of him, with a certain
malice and with considerable acuity: 'He thought of himself as an
"intellectual”, a leader, and the contrast between this conception of
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himself and the humilities of his daily life had induced in him an exag-
gerated self-pity and sense of personal injustice’.™

Now Mussolini started reading about syndicalism, a variant of
socialism which flourished in Italy in the decade before the outbreak
of the First World War. He scanned the works of Georges Sordl, the
alienated French bureaucrat who had made himself the renowned
theoretician of these ideas, as well as of the power of 'myth', arid so of
the view that the masses could be as easily moved to violent action by
a strategic use of words as by the redlity of their own suffering.”
Mussolini's mind was still too malleable; his ambition to rise somehow
and somewhere, both culturally and socialy, was too naked for him to
be reliably placed as an acolyte of this school or that. None theless, his
last year in Switzerland added syndicalism to the phrases which
would thereafter trace a path in his mind and, on appropriate stim-
ulus, he could regurgitate them with a will.

Suddenly, in the last months of 1904, his Swiss experience came to
an end. Leaving Arnaldo to fend for himself in Berne, Mussolini again
returned home. The reason is still alittle unclear. His mother's health
had not improved, and no doubt filial love (Rosa had continued to
send generous subsidies to her emigrant eldest son) gave some impulse
to his decision. The other explanation was more political. With hisre-
entry assisted by an amnesty for draft-dodgers, Mussolini had decided
to accept his conscription into the Italian army. In the past, he had
talked about emigration to more distant climes to avoid being called up
and, in March 1904, he had ignored the summons of the Italian state to
Bologna, where he had been condemned in absentia by amilitary court
for evading his national duty.>® Now, with seeming ease, he sloughed
off his anti-patriotism and anti-militarism, serving his turn as a
bersagliere, and so being inscribed into an elite corpsin the Italian
army, with good discipline and even with pleasure.

Again his actions should not be read as too surprising. The Army
did have an appeal to its conscripts, perhaps as the 'school of the
nation' and certainly as an institution which reinforced male values
(and legitimised that violence which was rarely distant from the
poorer, and wesdlthier, sections of Italian society). Whatever his
reasons may have been, Mussolini remained under the colours for just
short of two years, although, early in his service, he was generously
granted two monthsleave, afurlough which enabled him to reach his
mother's deathbed.>® He had been summoned back by a letter i'rom
Temistocle Zali, warning him that Rosa had contracted meningitis; her
final agony lasted less than a week.> Allegedly, Benito knelt,
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beseeching forgiveness for his waywardness and blessing for his
future. His mother was unable to speak but recognised him through
his unusual head-gear, a piece of apparel which she hugged 'many
times.>® At her death, Mussolini, it was said, felt utterly logt,
remarking sadly: 'the only living being whom | had really loved and
who had been near to me had been torn from me'.* He tried hard to be
stoic, however: 'In this hour of pain | bend before the ineluctable law
which dominates human life. | would like to find comfort in such
fatalism, but the most consoling philosophical doctrines are not
enough to fill the emptiness, left by the irreparable loss of a loved
being'.>” More gushingly, Rosas Fascist biographer declaimed about
the sacrifice of her desth amounting to a Pact whereby the Mother
consigned her Son to Italy, while remaining for al her children 'the
most beautiful vision of their past; and a vison which lives on in an
eternal present'.*®

It was said that, before his return from Switzerland, Rosa had
written urging her son to settle down. And, for a time, his radicalism
did seem to diminish. A week after his mother's death he wrote to his
commanding officer expressing his proper patriotic desire to assist as
a soldier in preparing the nation against possible invasion by 'barbar-
ians from the north'.>® When, in September 1906, his term of military
service was over, he resumed work as a teacher. In November 1907 he
upgraded his qualifications to teach French at secondary level by
passing a test set by the University of Bologna, even though, a rebel
till, he allegedly provoked consternation among his professors, by
entering the exam room smoking and with a louche air.?® In other
ways, his life at last seemed less feckless. Preparing himself to be head
of the family, he welcomed the marriage of his sister, Edvige, to asmall
shopkeeper from the nearby centre of Premilcuore.® He evinced more
interest than in the past about the financial return being gained from
the family land-holding. In some eyes, he was even doing well as a
teacher. When, in July 1908 he left his position at Oneglia in Liguria,
he was farewelled with a public banquet.®?

Mussolini was not quite a man of respect, however; the vie de
bohéme was hard to renounce. His sex life remained disordered and,
when he went off to teach at Tolmezzo near Italy's northern border,
there was rumour of a soon deceased illegitimate son.®® For the only
time in his life, Mussolini drank to excess (as his enemies recalled).®*
He continued to be a socidist (and anti-clerical) activist, although,
briefly, the number of his publications declined. His fondness for
speechifying did not. Thelocal paper at Udine, for example, was soon
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describing the deeds of the ebullient revolutionary maestro
'‘Bussolini’. This sociaist extremist had improvised a clangorous
harangue, lasting for 45 minutes, about the martyred heretic Giordano
Bruno. The speech was so inspirational that, at its end, the comrades
sang the workers anthem and finished their demonstration outside
the local priests home by shouting their admiration for Bruno and
their undying support for contemporary French anti-clericals.”

At Oneglia, Mussolini had an extra reason to revive his political
career. The school where he worked was a private, Catholic, one.
However, he resided in the town with two of the brothers of G.M.
Serrati; Lucio Serrati edited thelocal socidist weekly, La Lima, and, in
its pages, Mussolini was soon once more publishing on awiderange of
topics. He could still be a naive provincial, mourning, for example,
Edmondo De Amicis, author of the patriotic manual, Cuore, which he
recalled had been the favourite book of his youth (as it was meant to
befor al good Italians).® His more accustomed politics, however, were
crudely revealed in an article he published at Easter (it cannot have
much appealed to his employers), condemning Christian festivals as
matters which left real workers utterly indifferent. Only ‘idiots, he
added, believed Bible stories.’” Characteristically, hewas also quick to
defend 'intellectuals - they were not the ones who brought trouble to
socidism; the problem lay instead with 'those who proclaim them-
selves socialists without really knowing why'.® But his most
ambitious article for La Lima was a lengthy review of Marx on the
twenty-fifth anniversary of his death. Here Mussolini celebrateci the
father of socialism as an activist, as one who was simultaneously
'scientific’ and realistic. Marx, he wrote with fervour, had demon-
strated conclusively that 'a class will never give up its priviJeges
unless it is forced to do so'. He had proven without doubt that ‘the
final struggle will be violent and "catastrophic™ because the capital-
ists would certainly not surrender without a bitter fight.®*

The message which Mussolini read to himself from such lines was
that teaching was aless enticing career than was politics. At Oneglia,
his contract was short-lived, asit had been at Tolmezzo, and again he
began to think of something better to do. Like many another young
man on the make, he remembered his possible patrons, very politely
consulting G.M. Serrati about whether he might be thought suitable to
edit a paper at Mantova and, if so, begging Serrati to advance his
case.” In this application he was not successful. Again he was driven
back home, there to tell readers of La Lima about the revolutionary
spirit which, in his surmise, coursed through the Romagna.” A strike,
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some strident orations and aquarrel brought arrest, imprisonment and
release on appeal.” In the aftermath of these events, and now livingin
Alessandro's household outside Forli, Mussolini turned back to
culture, writing an exposition of the poetry of Klopstock in the syndi-
calistjournal, Pagine libere, and a defence of Nietzsche for the regional
cultural magazine, 77 Pensiero Romagnolo. In this last piece he
concluded that Nietzsche was indeed a positive intellectual force; his
works resounded with a 'hymn to life'.” With an apparent contradic-
tion which he shared with such other nationalisers of the people as
Frenchman Charles Maurras, he used the pages of // Pensiero
Romagnolo to celebrate local dialect poetry; it displayed 'our people,
he explained, and made manifest 'our ethnic and spiritual profile'.™

By the time that his readers were digesting this particular idea,
Mussolini, now aged 25, had found his best job so far. His patrons,
Sarati and Balabanoff, had recommended him as secretary of the
socidist organisation in the Austrian-ruled Trentino and editor of the
locd party paper. On 22 January 1909 readers of L'Awenire del
Lavoratore were told to welcome the new comrade: '‘Benito Mussolini,
besides being a proven fighter, is afervent propagandist, versed espe-
cialy in the subject of anti-clericalism. He is a cultured young man,
and to the great advantage of our movement, he has athorough knowl-
edge of the German language.'” His most scholarly Italian biographer
ismore curt: 'Psychologically Mussolini went to Trento, as he had to
other jobs, out of a spirit of adventure and a sense of novelty, and also
simply to make ends meet'.”®

Mussolini's own first account of his life in Trent, once city of the
Counter Reformation and now a town of 30 000 people, was mixed in
its tone. His work, he said, was not demanding. He had to give lots of
speeches, but frequently in beer-halls, not venues he liked, given that
he had renounced his earlier fondness for acohol (and, indeed,
according to a malicious friend, had turned into something of a
hypochondriac).”” In the town, threejournals competed - a socialist
paper, a Catholic one and the nationalist // Popolo, organ of the later
'martyr of theltalian nation in war', Cesare Battisti. Mostly the papers
used their space to insult each other, Mussolini noted deprecatingly,
though he himself did not rule out the possibility of working for
Battisti (and was soon writing for // Popolo and for Battisti's weekly,
Vita trentina). The loca sociadlists, he added, mistrusted his fervour
and were not taking to his persondity. To fill in time, he was
composing short stories ‘in the manner of Poe'.® He had aso put up
advertisements round town for himself as a private teacher of French,
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guaranteeing 'a swift and sure method'. Life, though, had its advan-
tages. One was that the police were less interfering than in Italy.
Moreover, he could aways spend time in the town library (open from
9 am. to io p.m., and subscribing to forty dailies and eighty journals
in the four main European languages), a place much better than Forli,
ignorant 'town of sellers of pigs and lucerne'.”

Trent, or Trento to use the Italian name, was, after al, the biggest
centre in which Mussolini had lived. It was aso the one most
conscious of possessing a culture and a history, destined after 1918 to
be the capital of the South Tyrol (or Alto Adige as Italians patriots
demanded it be called). Here was a place that mattered in a way that
Predappio, Oneglia or Tolmezzo, and even Forli, did not. Despite
standing on the perimeter of Austrian events, the significance of the
city was enhanced by contemporary politics. The Habsburg empire of
Austria-Hungary was a crucible of belle époque European ideas. The
leading adherents of Austro-socialism’, such men as Otto Bauer and
Karl Renner, sought a proper line on the great dilemma of how
Marxists might relate to the modern state and nation. In the wider
intellectual world, figures such as Klimt, Schonberg and Freud
allowed the Austrian capital Vienna to challenge Paris as the cultural
epicentre of Europe® With his populist and manipulative Anti-
Semitism, Karl Lueger, the mayor of Vienna, was pioneering another
sort of modernity and winning the admiration of Adolf Hitler (born
1889), who, in 1909, was at the nadir of his fortunes as a failed anist.®
Hitler and Mussolini did not yet know of each other's existence. Had
they done so, thereis little doubt that each would have then despised
the culture, personality and politics of his later ally.

Although the debates of Vienna grew attenuated by the time they
reached provincia Trento, the city embodied adilemma central to the
issue of state formation. Somewhere in the South Tyrol lay the border
between the Italian and German speaking worlds, that is, where the
dialect of one peasant household had a Germanic base and that of the
next some Latinate structure. How, then, should this linguistic border
be treated politically? Should it, for example, coincide with state
borders? Italian 'irredentists’ (those who wanted to ‘win back' the
terre irredente or unredeemed Italian lands) had marked out Trerito's
significance in 1896 by erecting there a statue to Dante Alighieri, icon
of what was caled the new, 'Third’, Itdy. Even the most self-
consciously respectable of bourgeois Italians hoped for gain through
what they proclaimed to be 'the genius and commitment of their great
and inspiring Duce, Dante.® If this 'ethnic' nationalist thesis was
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accepted, what did it mean for the survival of the entire multinational
Habsburg empire? What, too, did it imply about the fact that Italy and
Austria-Hungary were presently joined in the Triple Alliance? How
might the national issue be reconciled with other political ideals, the
socialist obviously enough, and also the Catholic, since Austriawas a
place where modern 'Christian Democracy' or 'Christian Socidism'
was beginning to flower, and where Itay's future post-Second World
War Christian Democrat Prime Minigter, Alcide De Gasperi, was
commencing a political career and earning Mussolini'sirefor his cler-
icaisn?® Mussolini only stayed 8 months in Trento but, in that
period, he both watched and, with his brazen willingness to express a
view about anything, participated in the manifold debates which
disturbed the city's natural deepiness.

Over the months which followed, Mussolini dashed off a series of
articles on this matter or that, the only real problem for alater analyst
being to reconcile what he had to say on various occasions. He did not
forget to be an anti-clerical, taking his predilection for blasphemy
further than usual when he wrote, with strident cynicism, that ‘it was
a good bet that many Catholics and quite a lot of priests prefer a good
beefsteak to the body of Christ'.®* Forgetful of his own military
service, he now resumed his stance as a convinced critic of militarism,
‘that monstrous octopus whose thousand slimy tentacles ceaselessly
suck out the blood and best energies of the people'.®

He preached sociadism. As he explained in a first editoria in
L'Avvenire del Lavoratore, in phrases which, for dl his denials of rdli-
gion, were indebted to the sermons he had once heard with his
mother:

Socialism means the elevation and purification of the individual
conscience, and its achievement will be the result of a long series of
efforts. Everyone, indeed, from the professional man to the worker, can
bring a stone to the edifice, doing a sociaist deed every day, and so
prepare for the overthrow of existing society.®

Actually being a socidist was rather more difficult than was here
implied, since factional conflict and schism continued to beset the
movement. Once, Mussolini had said that he was a syndicdlist, but, in
1907, such supporters of that ideal as Sergio Panunzio and A.O.
Olivetti had renounced the mainstream of the Italian socidist party.®’
Now Mussolini decided that he was not a syndicalist, while half
fearing and half hoping that syndicalism might prove the way of the
future.®® After al, he explained, Georges Sorel, though difficult to
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read, was a major philosopher. Unravelling his logic, Mussolini noted
disarmingly, was comparableto the trouble it took to find the melodic
theme in amusical composition by Wagner. The task was none the less
worth the persevering.”® Roberto Michels, another commentator on
the role of dites in moving history, was dso to be appreciated.® Of
course Mussolini treasured Marx; but the father of socialism had an
equal, Charles Darwin; each preached 'struggle against tradition,
authority, dogma.® In any case, perhaps there was more than one
Marx with whom to conjure. The most attractive one was, he declared,
the young Marx; he who was 'above al a man of action'; he who
preached that 'presently one should not just study the world but
rather changeit'.%?

If marking out the proper socidist line had its pitfalls, another
matter which could not be ignored in Trento was national difference.
On that topic, too, Mussolini's mind flitted from one position to the
next. When feeling pious in his socialism, he remembered that
Marxists were internationalists, committed to saving the workers of
the globe. Patriotism was 'a fetish', manipulated by the bourgeoisie.
The true proletariat, he told the audience at one of his speeches, was
‘anti-patriotic by definition and basic need'.® It was hard, however, to
keep such purity unsullied. When the Germanic comrades had to deal
with Italians they were not always polite; German socialists were
evidently contaminated by nationalism, he wrote, and Germans as a
whole underestimated the contribution of Italian emigrants to the
working world of Central Europe.** A quasi nationalist or racist rejec-
tion of German nationalism and racism remained the central issue,®
but other, similarly ambiguous, generalisations dipped easily into his
prose. 'Slavs, intheir 'civilization and soul', were given to 'tragedy";*
Italians, too, were 'sceptical’ and ‘fatalist’, like 'other peoples of the
south'.?” None the less, they had a potentially positive side. When
French aviator Louis Blériot flew the English Channel, to Mussolini's
eyes the event signalled a triumph of 'Latin genius and courage', as
well as providing evidence of the infinite potential of scientific
modern man, that blessed being who was rejecting fratricidal struggle
in order to win afinal victory over 'nature, life and the universe'.®

The other great theme of Mussolini's writings, and also a compli-
cating factor in his sociaism, was his continuing weakness for
intellectuals, and his uneasy desire to cut afigurein their world. As
well as maintaining his connection with Battisti, Mussolini exchanged
correspondence with Giuseppe Prezzolini, editor of the journal La
Voce. Prezzolini, a Prefect's son, came from a class and a cultural base
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wedl above Mussolini's, even if ultimately he was a journalist whose
politics never found a secure ideological purpose, not for nothing
would he record his life under the title, 'The Useless Italian' " In 1909
La Voce enjoyed great prestige among those dissident young who, as
Mussolini put it, viewed Italian Prime Minister Giohtti and his liber-
alism as 'irredeemably mediocre, an 'anachronism' and national
'shame' '% Mussolini took out a subscription to the paper and, in
demonstration of his new bond, publicly urged others m Trento to do
the same Prezzohm, he proclaimed, was an intellectual with 'courage’,
a quality lacking in most of his contemporaries '®

Mussolini's correspondence with La Voce's editor was studied in its
deference An appropriate start was to regret that Trento's ‘intellectual
life' was 'wretchedly discomforting' When more serious commentary
became possible, he tried to explain the intricacies of local politics to
his potential patron the 'ltalians of the Trentino no doubt liked the
idea of some autonomy but they scarcely favoured annexation to Italy,
he admitted with honesty and acumen Trieste, too, was neither
‘absolutely Italian’, nor destined ever to be 'completely Slav' '%?
Nonetheless, what he most admired about La Voce, he eventually
explained, was Prezzolimi quest to 'make Italy known to Italians "3
To create an "Italian” soul', he told Prezzohm admiringly, 'is a superb
mission "

After all, Mussolini added in more detail in his own paper, it was
clear that socidigts, too, did not easily 'abandon their language and
culture, the traditions into which they were born and to which they
belonged'" They only foreswore'the bourgeoispatria 'Inloving their
own nationality, it is not mandatory for them to hate the others
[Rather] harmonic development and the brotherhood of al nations —
thisis the socialist ideal' '®

For some analysts, such comments signify that, by 1909, Mussolini
had transmogrified into a national socialist But it is a mistake to read
his views too literally and to regard his course as determined In corre-
sponding with Prezzohm, he was approaching an acknowledged
superior and was palpably endeavouring to be ingratiating as well as
respectful and interesting What his words really conveyed was his
thrusting desire to go beyond Trento to some more exciting and
important spot perhaps Florence, perhaps Milan, perhaps Rome In
this poorly cloaked ambition, Mussolini did not confine his world to
Italy Indeed, for him, when imagining a glorious future, the best
destination was still Pans, a city, which, he wrote m characteristics
phrases in one of his last pieces m L'Awenire del Lavoratore, was 'an
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immense crucible of passions, hatreds and loves, a metropolis where
'in a relatively small arena world-determining battles are fought out.
[There] men multiply their energies a hundred fold in the struggle;
[there] they are great in their sacrifice, abject in their vice'. This was
the city which contained within itself the 'universe.™® In ways not
unknown to other contemporary Italian intellectuals - the Futurist
Filippo Tommaso Marinetti launched the manifesto of his movement,
sometimes deemed nationalist, in Le Figaro in igog'”’ - Mussolini's
greatest ambition was to be lionised as a 'red intellectual’ in Paris.

The track to that summit was not, however, becoming easier to plot.
Again a term of employment was to prove short-lived. For al his
earlier confident remarks about the relative decency or inactivity of
the Habsburg police, the behaviour of the notorious 'subversive
Mussolini had actually been watched from the moment of his arrival in
Trento. By the summer of 1909 the authorities had decided to expel
him; their search for an excuse became more eager when a visit by
Emperor Franz Joseph to nearby Innsbruck prompted a full aert. On
29 August a mysterious theft was blamed on Mussolini, despite alack
of evidence that he was involved. His abode was searched, hiswritings
seized. He himself was arrested yet again, carried off to gaol at
Rovereto, with an expulson order hanging over him. On 24
September he was tried but, to the disgust of the police, acquitted.
Still in close confinement, Mussolini went briefly on a hunger strike,
but, two days later, Austrian officialdom resolved matters by putting
him over the frontier. He carried back to hisfather's restaurant at Forli
little more than a momentary fame fostered by the ham-fisted nature of
his expulsion.'® The matter was still an object of protest from socialist
members of parliament in Rome in March 1910.°°

For Mussolini, however, the prospects seemed grim. Here he was,
again unemployed, again back among the pig-sdllers of Forli, remote
from the 'European’ intellectua and politica world of Trento, and
with a decidedly cloudy future. Six weeks after his return he was
contemplating another, more distant, emigration. 'l am tired of being
in Italy', he wrote to afriend whom he thought might accompany him,
'tired of being in the world (I mean the old world, not [he added
pompously] the lacrimarum valle). | want to go off into the new. Will
you follow me if, as | hope, | make my fortune?"® A contemporary
recalled a young man who seemed older than his years, unkempt in his
appearance, given to sporting aflapping black tie and a tattered ‘three
day beard, prematurely bald so that his shiny head contrasted
strangely with his black chin. His detractors pointed out that his habit
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of rolling his burning eyes made him resemble the conventional
picture of an anarchist avenger of social injustice.™*

Perhaps this artfully contructed image added to his sex appeal.
Certainly Mussolini now found a woman who would share hislife. In
one of his ample articles for L'Avwenire del Lavoratore, Mussolini had
expatiated on love, warning against its over sentimentalisation and
preaching the need for 'a new law, a new morality, a new religion,
which might overthrow the tyrannies of bourgeois and Catholic
respectability."? Mussolini's own sexual habits remained Bohemian, or
‘Latin', throughout his life— one commentator reckoned he slept with
more than 400 women."® Undoubtedly, there were mistresses, persis-
tent or fleeting, and a number of illegitimate children. There was aso
the durable relationship with Rachele Guidi, which was in time
formalised by marriage, blessed first by the state and eventually by
the church, and five legitimate children. Guidi, still short of her twen-
tieth birthday, on i September 1910 was delivered of Mussolini's elder
daughter, Edda; Rachele was, Mussolini wrote the next year, la mia
compagna (my female comrade)."*

Though legends about their relationship abound, the couple first
met in Rosds school room, when Mussolini was standing in for his
mother. The schoolgirl Rachele, like many another, was struck by the
new young teacher's 'eyes like fire'."> For his part, Benito Mussolini
may have been attracted by the pupil's blue eyes and blonde hair,
ignoring both her squarish physique and her decidedly modest intel-
lectuality. Some 7 years younger than the Duce, whom for along time
she would address as Lei, using the formal third person appropriate to
superiors, rather than the intimate tu form,"® Rachele came from a
background poorer than the Mussolinis and nearer the peasantry.
Indeed, in many ways, the most surprising thing about their relation-
ship is that the ambitious Mussolini did not cast her off for a socia
superior, with whom a personal tie could have brought advantage in
wealth, status and connection. Asthe wife of the dictator, Rachele was
not always presentable, or anxious to be presented. But she continued
to live with Benito in the somewhat sporadic way that politicians
spouses often do. Unlike Hitler and perhaps Stalin, not to mention
many other political leaders, Mussolini had a'normal’ 'home' life, or at
least one whose character was shared by millions of his contempo-
raries and, in his own way, he never ceased to cherish Rachele and to
see her as alink to the 'real world' of the 'people.

Benito and Rachele began cohabiting in early 1910; she must have
fallen pregnant at much the sametime. Some months before, Mussolini

74



Emigrant and socialist, 1902-1910

had made her his 'intended’, writing properly that he was worried
about her moral status while she resided with his father and her
mother at the Bersagliereinn."” Mediterranean issues of 'honour and
shame' long played a part in the Mussolini household. Late in 1909 to
avoid the perils of life with the ageing Alessandro, Kachele moved to a
married sister's home. When Mussolini finally cameto fetch her tojoin
him in what would be their tiny flat in Forli, they walked for kilome-
tres in the rain, because, in Rachel€'s post-1945 memory, she had not
yet comprehended the meaning and purpose of an umbrella. In her
mind such contraptions were part of the lifestyle of the flamboyant
and spendthrift bourgeoisie and not of people like the Guidis.*®

Their life was humble - Rachele never forgot her dismay at her
companion's habit of wasting money on books."® But Mussolini had a
job, which again offered the prospect of what Italians are accustomed
to call sistemazione (a place in life). On 9 January 1910 he had
commenced work as editor of the four-page socialist weekly news
sheet of Forli, a task which he combined with the secretaryship of the
local branch of the Sociaist Party.’® The paper was called, with
Marxist virtue, La Lotta di Classe (The Class Struggle). In accepting
this post as administrative and cultural leader of Forlivese socialism,
Mussolini had come home. Given his talent and enterprise, a future
was beckoning in which he would turn into a Forli notable, a local
intellectual certainly, perhaps a potential member of parliament
(throughout the history of Liberal Itay, many politicians had
commenced their risethat way), and very probably aman of influence.
His commitment to revolution and socialism might stand in the way of
these prospects, but other youthful ideologues had ‘transformed'
themselves as they grew older. In early 1910 there seemed quite a
chance that Mussolini would soon be smiling at the way he had once
so deliberately styled himself a revolutionary. Instead he might soon
acquire a paunch, afrock coat and an admiring and importunate set of
clients. As he himself argued in his premature account of his brilliant
career, he was after al qualified. Since leaving Forlimpopoli, he had
imbibed a 'culture’, gained a 'knowledge of the world' and mastered a
st of 'modern languages’; he had become a man of the world in many
senses. Only one matter stood in the way of that resolution of the
Mussolini story: 'l am a restless person, with a wicked temperament’,
he wrote of himself."" Forli would not be enough to satisfy him.
Benito Mussolini would want to go further, faster, higher than was
possible in the deepy provinces.

75



Theclassstruggle, 1910-1914

NDER the Fascist regime, Mussolini declared on occasion that he
was a 'child of the last peasant civilization'.? This boast was
scarcely true (though it may have made sense if redirected to Rachele
and her family).? Certainly, in January 1910 the last thing that
Mussolini was thinking of embodying was an organic relationship
with the land. Back in Forli his interest lay rather in making a splash
intellectually and so promoting his revolutionary ideals and himself.
There was no need particularly to separate these matters, and histo-
rians who try to do so are often guilty of anachronism, and thus of
manufacturing a coherent Fascist chief (if there ever was such a
person) well before the event. In 1910 Mussolini's imagined itinerary
through life remained eclectic. Before assuming the editorship of La
Lotta di Classe, he had, for example, been an unsuccessful applicant
for ajob at // Resto del Carlino, the celebrated but liberal conservative
Bologna daily® and a paper he was soon cheerfully denouncing as a
'factory of lies.* Had he been taken on there, he may well have found
reason to moderate his socidism. But in Forli it was easy to identify
with revolution; in a setting like that, it was hard to see an alternative
for an aspiring young man of his class and educational background.
Benito Mussolini, editor of La Lotta di Classe and therefore chief
socidist of Forli, was not yet 27, and was aimost bursting with energy
- political, intellectual and sexual. Contemporaries recalled the way in
which he liked to go to bed at 3 or 4 am., but was always back in the
town piazza by 8 am., eagerly awaiting the arrival of the newspapers
from the greater world outside the town walls. Editing a four-page
journal, indeed writing it, since he was La Lotta di Classes only
serious correspondent, and managing the local socialist branch,
scarcely constituted afull timejob for aman like him. Mussolini spent
much of his day leaning up against the kiosk of the Fratelli Damerini,
esteemed purveyors of papers and of 'al the fresh books which came
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out on art, science, economics and philosophy'. Whenever such anew
work was exposed to the public, Mussolini a once devoured it.” In the
evening, at n p.m., he would ostentatiously take his place at the local
coffee shop and commence scribbling his articles for the next edition
of La Lotta di Classe, al the while gaining fame for the sarcastic retorts
which he would throw off about the misdeeds of others.® Mussolini,
people were beginning to notice, was a man with staring eyes which,
if you submitted to his truculent and commanding gaze, could place
you in histhrall; histhick lips also expressed a certainty and a domi-
nance, or so his admirers said. All in al, they agreed, he was
characterised by 'an extraordinary masculinity'. Soon it would be
concluded that Mussolini radiated power, and even now it was clear
that he exuded a 'specia sense of urgency', was possessed of ‘a
phenomenal elasticity of judgement’, and was a 'journalist born and
bred'.” By some accounts he was a Duce in the making,® though such
hyberbole might be countered with the equal likelihood at that time
that he wasjust another ambitious provincial, with his destiny as yet
uncertain.

At first, after hisreturn from the Trentino, he was only a peripheral
figure in the world both of Romagnole socialism™ and of Romagnole
politics. In Forli the republican movement was at least as strong as the
socialist one (and Mussolini was soon acknowledging theinfluence of
a politician whom he saluted as 'the Duce of local republicans).’® In
these circumstances of relative anonymity and weakness, Mussolini's
task was to campaign on al possible fronts, against the bourgeoisie
and the established order, of course, but aso against the republicans
and, as well, against anyone in the socialist movement who doubted
his ideals and methods. Anti-clericalism might still prove a theme
worth pursuing. Modestly signing himself 'A Real Heretic', Mussolini
was soon telling his readers about the deplorable case of the free-
thinker, Francisco Ferrer, executed some months before in Spain,
where, Mussolini claimed, the Inquisition still reigned unchecked.” In
February 1910 he could also exultin legal victory when a case hanging
over against him from the previous December was dismissed. For the
present unemployed, he had organised a riotous counter-demonstra-
tioninaloca church after it was announced that the crusading priest,
Agostino Gemelli, wasintending to preach to thefaithful on the extra-
scientific virtue of cures at Lourdes.”

But anti-clericalism was falling out of fashion and even Mussolini
began to recognise the fact. His editorials would have to fix on other
matters. A socidist leader, for example, had the task of recording
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party history and so it was mandatory to write a mournful obituary of
Andrea Costa. A few months later he further demonstrated his pedi-
gree by doing the same for his own father®* — romantic rumour spread
that he had sworn an eternal alegiance to sociadism on his father's
grave.* Yet thejob had itsirritations, too. In atypical piece composed
less than a month after taking on his editorship, Mussolini wrote
scathingly of the general cultural level at Forli and especialy that to
be found within socidist branches. There, on entering the room, a
man could expect to see comrades playing briscola (a card game), and
doing so badly, beneath an obligatory, and presumably frowning,
portrait of Karl Marx. The town could not boast one decent bookshop,
Mussolini complained despite his patronage of Damerini's; presently
one had to ferret out books promiscuoudy displayed between post-
cards and perfumes. What was the point of books in Forli anyway,
Mussolini mused bitterly? How could they be discussed rigoroudy?
The locals failed to read serious journals, only four subscriptions
could be tallied for La Voce and none at al for the syndicalists' Pagine
libere. His town was a place where 'the people corrupt their brains
with pubs, dances, brothelsand sport'. At Forli’, Mussolini concluded
tartly, ‘'intellectual interests always come last'.™® The Mussolini who
tried to scintillate each afternoon in the piazza was plainly discon-
tented. How could he hit upon a path to greater satisfaction?

To rise was the answer, to redouble his revolutionary rhetoric, to
become known not just in Forli but throughout the region, and even
beyond. A Romagnole background might help a man move past the
Romagna. On his first speaking appearance as a delegate to the
national Party congress in Milan, Mussolini took pains to introduce
himself, in what he hoped was a telling fashion, as the messenger of
the 'absolute intransigence' of his part of the country.’® Romagnole
spirit meant that here was a young man ready to say openly that ‘the
Italian parliament is profoundly and irredeemably corrupt'.”” Here,
too, was a spartan spirit not afraid to berate reformists wherever they
might be found. He would speak up aggressively when one of their
leaders, Leonida Bissolati, controversially agreed, in March 1911, to
meet King Victor Emmanuel at the Quirinale, theroya palacein Rome,
and give advice on who might servein the next government.® In addi-
tion, Mussolini was ruthless in his attacks on the gentlemen of his
party, the lawyers for example, men who, like army officers and
priests, were, Mussolini wrote evocatively, 'the locusts who fling
themselves on the body of a young nation and sap its best energies;;
'lawyers, and prieststoo’, headded, could never betrusted, sincethey

78



The class struggle, 1910-1914

'had to lie in order to live. Real socialists they could never be."
Similarly, Freemasons were not good comrades, and their ubiquity in
Milan made nearby Ravenna a better potentia site for a socidist
congress.® The only crisis to be located in contemporary socialism, he
urged, lay among its supporters not in its ideas - he was destined
many timesto return to this theme of human inadequacy. Real socialist
men could see at once that the struggle between bourgeoisie and
proletariat was indeed visceral and needed forthwith to be carried to
its highest expression - 'total revolution'.

It was the way of the world that, despite his contempt for locd life,
Mussolini could not avoid the humdrum. His paper, for example,
published an effusive report (Mussolini very likely himself wrote it) of
a visit which he made in May 1910 to Predappio, by invitation no
doubt, but aso to shore up his domestic base. He spoke there at
considerable length on the theme of 'The socialist and labour move-
ment'. It was a great day. Mussolini's genius had shone through and
Predappio could be proud of him. A 'huge’ audience had assembled,
‘composed of both sexes and of al grades of society’. It was not disap-
pointed. The orator, ‘whose name is so dear to our workers', exceeded
al expectations in a speech which lasted almost two hours and which,
'with convincing and cutting words and a real oratorical passion, so
engrossed the many listeners that they often interrupted him with
heartfelt cries of approval, and they saluted him at the end with a
wave of applause which went on for quite a few minutes. The whole
event, the correspondent concluded breathlessly, amounted to 'a rea
intellectual feast’. Everybody in town hoped that Benito Mussolini
would soon agree to another speaking engagement at Predappio.?

Being lionised by the folks back home must have brought some
gratification. But, though not cutting himself free from his base - he
never fully did so - Mussolini was still looking out from Predappio
and Forli for wider fields to conquer. Could there be prospects in the
editorship of the party newspaper Avanti!, a journal reduced in its
impact, Mussolini complained with a mixture of disgust and self-
interest, because of party factionalism and editorial weakness? From
the modest pages of La Lotta di Classe, Mussolini began to advocate a
drastic solution for the socialists national daily. Take the paper away
from Rome — that city lacked areal working class and was parasitic by
definition (whatever later Fascist propagandists might say, Mussolini's
soul was not yet atogether Roman). The so-caled 'eternal city’, he
stated in words common enough among al the enemies of the
Giolittian Liberal system, pullulated with 'cheap landladies, shoeshine
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boys, prodtitutes, priests and bureaucrats. Just outside its gates, he
lamented, families in the Agro Pontino still eked out their survival in
straw huts, as though they were primitive beings from beyond
civilised Europe. And so, if not Rome, then where? PerhapsMilan, but
that was the city of stock-market and business dominance. Forence?
But the quality of its existing dailies was too poor. No, the best place
for asocialist paper was, it scarcely needed to be said, Bologna, capital
of the Emilia=Romagna. There Avanti! could be positioned at the
‘centre of national proletarian life ... very near the red lands of the
Romagna where thousands and thousands of socialists were waiting
ready for any sacrifice'.? |i Avanti! was edited there, Mussolini specu-
lated in his secret thoughts, a young and aggressive journalist from
Forli, who had once been rejected for ajob with the establishment's //
Resto del Carlino, might yet win employment in the numinous regiona
capital.

Mussolini was constructing himself, then, as 'the extremist', the
warrior of Romagnole socialism. As he recalled with some pleasurein
May 1911, when reviewing his editorship of La Lotta di Classe, he had
campaigned with effect not just against republicans but against cleri-
cals, anarchists, syndicalists and the mainstream of the Socidist party
itself: 'in this ample liberty to criticise, | find my full self-justifica-
tion".?* He had boosted his newspaper's circulation until it sold 1600
copies, with 'about 1000 of those being by subscription. The majority
of such loya readers were, he claimed proudly, 'rea workers. In addi-
tion, every Sunday he preached the socialist gospel, either in Forli or
in the smaller towns of the province, whose piazzas and party
branches he located with some effort after he tramped down dusty
roads.® Often he spent the night in down-market provincia hotels - it
was in one that he met Leandro Arpinati, destined for atime to be the
Fascist bossof Bologna.?®

By 1911 it could be agreed that he had worked hard and effectively,
both in his own egtimation and that of others. He loved his infant
daughter and continued to live with Rachele. Already his post at La
Lotta di Classe had outlasted his previous terms of employment and
his life had a pleasure and a promise about it which in the past had
been lacking. Maybe it was even time to abate his familiar rudenessin
dealings with the world and cultivate a certain geniality and sense of
humour. And so he expatiated in his own paper about the way in
which Romagnolesloved rhetoric, violence and their town campanile
(bell tower); they rejected emigration and knew only that their paese
occupied the centre of the world.?” He was presumably intending to be
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ironical, but the piece conveys a mixed message, half hostile, half
fond, and very much about himself. Mussolini was growing used to
being a man who mattered in Forli.

His accustomed prose remained brusque, sarcastic and churlish.
Sorel, whom he had once admired but whose politics had moved right-
wards, was now excoriated as 'a pensioner given to sacking library
shelves, a covert admirer of the ancien regime, an enemy of the French
Republic, democracy and sociaism.?® Those intellectuals, who had
united at Florence and formed the Associazione Nazionalista Italiana
(Italian Nationalist Association) and who before long became his
crucial allies in the Fascist cause, were the lick-spittles of 'the
monarchy, the army and war', 'three words, three institutions, three
absurdities'. Acknowledging his own flirtation with Prezzolini and his
colleagues at La Voce, who themselves looked appreciatively on the
Nationalists, Mussolini admitted that once he had sympathised with
domestic nationalism and the idea of 'a democratic and cultural move-
ment devoted to the advancement, unification and renewal of the
Italian people. But no more; his sociaism was now too stout for
further dalliance.?™ Still, there were places worse than Italy, he had to
admit, the distant USA, for example. There 'the rapacious property-
owning American bourgeoisie admits no limits, possesses no scruples
and does not share the fears and the cowardice of our bourgeoisie.
[They are] violent, absolute, criminal. When they feel the need, they
simply stain their hands with proletarian blood. They lack any human
sense. They are only interested in exploitation'.® Nor had he broken
fully with Prezzolini. Indeed, in March-April 1911 Mussolini humbly
asked the editor of La Voce for an advance on his royalties for "The
Trentino as seen by a socialist', which was to be published in Florence
under Prezzolini's auspices (and with his sub-editorial attention to
Mussolini's prose); the death of his father, Mussolini complained, had
caused temporary financial embarrassment.** Once again the possi-
bility lurked that, somewhere beneath the stormy surface of his
rhetoric, Mussolini cherished his Italian identity, and placed implicit
limits on his dedication to internationalist revolutionary socialism.

Mussolini, a Sociadist Party stalwart? Mussolini, an intellectual
patriot? Mussolini, a man of general fame? Each alternative remained
alivein hismind. What was not possible was the prospect of Mussolini
settling down content in the provinces. His restless search for an
extreme line, and for the credit which might accrue from it, had not
ceased. Even as, philosophically, he discounted some of his earlier
heresies, in practical terms he was stretching his socialist loyalty to
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breaking point. In April 1911, on his initiative, the Forli branch
declared itself autonomous from the national party organisation.
Mussolini justified the decison under the characteristic and heartfelt
title 'To Dare': 'We are not talking about raising a new political stan-
dard, but rather of saving the old socidist flag from those who have
wrapped themselves in its folds' They stood for compromise and
corruption of the ideal; he and hisfascio, he wrote, perhaps using this
word for the first time but without its eventual meaning, instead
represented purity.*

In this step to outright schism, Mussolini had, however, run ahead
of his time (or behind it, since the actions of the Forli branch with
their presumed hypothesis of an eventual Forli Socialist Republic
could be interpreted as campanilism rampant). His maximalist friends
in the party were soon engaged in negotiating Mussolini back into the
ranks.* After al, in the summer of 1911 major issues confronted Italy
both at home and abroad, and it was these concerns, as refracted into
the Romagna, which wereto secure Mussolini's reputation in the party
and, over the next 18 months, make him, in some eyes, its coming man.

The years 1911-12 were a watershed for Liberal, Giolittian, Italy.
The early part of the twentieth century had been good for a political
system which, from 1898 to 1900, under the quasi dictatorship of
General Luigi Pelloux, seemed on the edge of collapse. The assassina
tion of King Umberto | by an anarchist emigrant returned from the
USA had signalled not reaction but instead an opening of the Liberal
regime to emerging socia groups. Under Gidlitti's clever administra-
tion (he was Prime Minister in 1903-05 1906-09 and ign-March
1914), the economy for the most part flourished, and such moderate
socidists as Turati acknowledged that Itay, too, was a place of
‘progress. In the northern ‘industrial triangle’, marked out by the
factories of Turin, the banks of Milan and the port of Genoa, Italy was
rapidly approaching a modernity which in the past had been the priv-
ilege of such richer and more powerful countries as Britain, Germany
and France. Given this advancement both in reality and in expecta-
tion, the state celebrations, planned for the fiftieth anniversary of the
Risorgimento in 1911, aimost seemed justified. The huge 'refulgently’
white Victor Emmanuel monument in Rome, positioned beneath the
classical Capitol to claim the inheritance of Latin civilization, was
inaugurated to applauding throngs, even if, in March that year,
Claudio Treves, the editor of Avanti!, was grudging in his admiration
of what proper socialists derided as the monumentissimo.®

Treves dyspeptic tone expressed the unsurprising fact that
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economic growth and social development rarely carry a single
message. In 1911 Giolitti, newly returned as Prime Minister, faced a
series of dilemmas lying at the heart of Italy's existence as a liberal
nation state. There was the division between one part of the country
and the other. What should be done with the South, which so far had
barely experienced the benefits of economic growth? What should be
done with the numerous other pockets of poverty and ‘backward-
ness? In a dangerous world of tightening aliance systems within
Europe and flaunted imperialism outside it, what should be done to
defend or improve Italy's rank as the least of the Great Powers?
Furthermore, what should or could be done to nationalise the Italian
people, or, to be more precise, the peoples of the peninsula and so of
the Italics? How could they be persuaded that official Italy was theirs,
too? How, especially, could those dissidents — socialists of all persua-
sions, Catholics, Nationalists, intellectuals— who were more and more
strident in their attacks on Liberal inadequacy or 'corruption’, be
‘transformed' into the existing system, without revolution, war or
tyranny?

To be sure, Gialitti had an ambitious strategy to deal with these
massive issues. Abroad, he planned to seize Turkish-administered
Tripolitania and Cyrenaica; these territories could be given the clas-
sical name of Libya and, however poverty-stricken in practice,
appease the nationalists and raise Italian prestige throughout the
world. At home, Giolitti combined welfare (a nationalised insurance
scheme) with a large expansion of the electorate — when the vote was
next taken in 1913, some 65 per cent of Italian adult males had the
right to cast their ballot. In theory the combination looked brilliant,
practical liberalism of the most far-sighted kind. In reality it turned
into disaster, signalling the commencement of the agony of Liberal
Italy. Among those cheering the troubles of the Prime Minister and
simultaneously acquiring a new national prominence was Benito
Mussolini.

Some socialists were tempted by Giolitti's formula — the cases of
Bissolati and Turati were exemplary. They were national figures who,
like Giolitti himself, viewed matters from a national perspective. For
humbler socialists, indeed for the great mass of the party rank and file,
the issues were read differently but seemed no less drastic in their
local significance. In the Romagna, for example, the relative economic
growth of the Giolittian decade had hardened the lineaments of the
class struggle. The modernisation of agriculture simplified the once
intricate disparities between various sorts of peasants - large or small
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landowners, sharecroppers with one rental arrangement or another,
and day labourers. More and more, life in the hinterland of Bologna or
Forli became a conflict between wealthy landowners and a peasantry
who struggled to make ends meet. Not infrequently the land was
falling to limited companies, whose anonymous owners lived far away
in Milan or Rome, and whose interests were defended by paid
managers, likely to be even more cruel and rapacious than their
masters. The great peasant union, Federterra, by contrast, continued
to grow, notably attracting new members from the poorest peasantry,
wage workers on the land. Sharecroppers, too, oftenin relative decline
economically as the pressures of capitalisation bore down on them,
were frequently socidists, as, of course, were a number of urban
workers and ‘intellectuals of Mussolini's type. They composed an
uneasy coalition.

The intellectuals' radicalism and the socialist loyalty of the peas-
antry were for the moment, however, enhanced by the fact that the
landowners, like the industrialists - who, in 1910, established the
umbrellaemployers body, Confindustria® - were aggressively forming
associations to defend and expand their own interests. In April 1911
the National Agrarian Congress at Bologna was urged to reject the
Prime Minister's policies of accommodation of the masses, privileging
instead 'the solidarity that unites all those who, in different areas of
activity, contribute to the production and development of national
wedlth at a time when every principle of liberty and justice is threat-
ened with subversion'.® In the parliament Giolitti might preach and
even practise moderation, compromise and 'national unity’, but the
reality in the provinces was starker. The rich seemed to be getting
richer and more overbearing and the poor poorer but more assertive.

It was a circumstance made for the extremist rhetoric and personal
ambition of Benito Mussolini. For some years he had applauded the
strikes and other 'socid actions' of his region. Now, suddenly, he trod
anational stage. Thetrigger for his elevation was the campaign which,
it became increasingly clear in the summer of 1911 as one patriotic
anniversary event succeeded another, Giolitti intended to launch
against Tripoli. Italian ships sailed to their destination there even
before an Italian diplomat presented Turkey with aformal declaration
of war on 29 September.

According to socidist theoretics, war, unjust, colonid, imperial
war, demanded a general strike and resistance to the utmost from all
members of the working class. Mussolini wasjust the man to urge this
case vociferoudy and without qualification. In his first article about
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the Libyan question for La Lotta di Classe, published on 23 September,
he condemned the 'mock-heroic madness of the war-mongers by
profession’, that is, those nationalists, whose chief ideologue, Enrico
Corradini, had been arguing for some time the brazenly anti-Marxist
case that Italy was a 'proletarian nation' which should avoid the class
struggle and concentrate instead on a fight against the plutocratic
nations of Britain and France." Mussolini was not yet sure whether
Giolitti was toying with such ludicrous or pernicious sabre-rattlers,
but if there was war, he wrote ringingly: ‘the Italian proletariat must
hold itself ready to effect the general strike'.®

When the news reached Forli that the government was, indeed,
intending to act, Mussolini acted also. On 25 September, at his urging,
the party branch unanimously voted for the strike; galvanised by
speeches from Mussolini and other local leaders, on 26 September
socidist cadres sabotaged the back railway line to Meldola, blocking
its troop trains and beating off the cavalry attacks which tried to stop
them. As Mussolini explained passionately in his report of the inci-
dents for La Lotta di Classe: 'the proletariat of Forli has set a
magnificent example. The general dtrike has fully succeeded'.
Reformism, he noted contemptuously, had demonstrated its pusilla-
nimity and irrelevance by doing nothing to block the government's
evil course. Real socidists, steeled by the 'new revolutionary
mentality' displayed by the comrades of the region, must continue to
subvert the war. What had the great French Revolution been,
Mussolini added, in a familiar and moving but historically inaccurate
parallel, but a genera strike which went on for years? Opponents of
the strike, be they Sorelians, syndicalists (quite a few of whom had
turned patriotic over Libya), socidist members of parliament,
orthodox trade unionists from the Confederazione generale del lavoro,
or any other sort of reformist, must be swept aside.®® So, of course,
should clericals and their reactionary friends.*" Now was the time of
the deed; now might be the hour of the 'revolution'.

A stern response from the government against this fomenting of
disorder was not long in coming. On 14 October Mussolini and such
associates as the young Pietro Nenni, who, in the 19605, became Italy's
socialist Foreign Minister, were arrested. A contemporary suggests
that certain formalities were still observed at this moment. The police
located Mussolini sipping a coffee at his accustomed place. 'Professor
Mussolini? they enquired politely. "You must accompany us to the
station'. Mussolini then asked if he could finish his coffeefirst and was
respectfully assured that he could.* Only then was he marched off to
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gaol. On 18 November Professor Mussolini went to trial a Forli, where
he spoke superbly in his own defence as a hero, 'not an evil-doer nor
a vulgar criminal, but a man of ideas and of conscience, an agitator
and soldier of a faith', who ssimply demanded respect, if not justice,
from the ingtitutions of the king.** Listeners were stirred by this
rhetoric, but the court, unmoved, found him guilty, and sentenced
him to a year's imprisonment. On appea, however, his term was
reduced and, on 12 March 1912, he was let out, jubilant and greatly
risen in status.*® In La Lotta di Classe, which kept its readers aware of
their leader's sacrifice, the author of an anonymous article in January
had been impressed by the power of Mussolini's eyes (as ever 'restless,
profound and burning’) and of his brain, words and soul; he was
possessed of ‘a head like that of Socrates; he was the 'leader'.* La
Soffitta, a socidistjournal published in Rome, similarly celebrated his
personality; Mussolini, acorrespondent wrote, given his deep culture,
had undoubtedly become 'one of the most sympathetic and signifi-
cant' members of the party.”® Eventualy, Avanti!, too, caried a
flattering report of the event: '‘Comrade Mussolini was released this
morning from prison, more a socidist than ever. We met him in his
modest house among the family whom he adores and we chatted a
little with him. He hasn't suffered physically from his time in prison.
A great number of telegrams of congratulations and support were
arriving from dl over Italy'.*® Mussolini, it seemed, was deserving of
the banquet which the Forli party membership offered him at the
commodious and well-named Albergo Vittoria.** Unlike his father, he
had emerged onto the national political stage, doing so as much
through the flagrancy of his actions as the clarity of his ideology.

The banquet over, Mussolini moved swiftly to publicise and rein-
force his recent political gains. Now honoured with the title of 'Forli
correspondent’ of Avanti!, he told readers of his determination to
bring out La Lotta di Classein a bigger format and with an aimost
double run of 2800 copies, transforming it into 'one of the best and
most widely-read papers in the Romagna.*”® He aso expanded his
intellectual ambitions by beginning to write an extended essay on
Czech Protestant theologian, Jan Huss. Though armed with a docu-
mentary appendix, Giovanni Huss il veridico (Jan Huss the
truth-teller),« when actualy published in 1913 turned out to be a
curious work, demonstrating that, whatever else Mussolini may have
been, he was no historian. As its author disarmingly confessed in the
introduction, Italian libraries contained scarcely any books on Huss,
and he himself was not numbered among those few Italians who could
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read Czech.™ In great part the book was a slightly genteel throw-back
to Mussolini's days as a mangiapreti - he wrote again with relish of sex
in convents, and papal conspiracy and crime, though he aso
applauded Huss as a Czech nationalist who resisted 'German’ hege-
mony. In Mussolini's version, the precursor of Protestantism was
almost refashioned into a father of the Risorgimento.>

Luckily for Mussolini his career was not dependent on such divaga-
tions. Practical advantage was coming his way. On 7 July 1912
delegates from all over Italy assembled at Reggio Emilia, just to the
west of Bologna, for the Socialists Thirteenth Party Congress.> It was
to be an unlucky occasion for the reformists. The year beforein Milan
they had carried al beforethem. But the crisis surrounding the Libyan
war had heightened social tensions and converted Reggio into a
fortress of revolution. When he rose to speak on 8 July Mussolini, still
wearing the aura of his heroic exploits over the previous nine months,
was very much playing at home.

His speech was a triumph. With studied intransigence, Mussolini
signaled to the party faithful and the world beyond that the young
editor from Forli must be acknowledged as amajor political figure. The
oration began with a root and branch attack on parliament (and
socidist parliamentarians), bolstered by an apposite quotation from
Marx. Italy, Mussolini proclaimed, wasthe country where 'parliamen-
tary cretinism ... had reached the ... most humiliating levels.
Giolitti's suffrage reforms were no morethan atrick to keep parliament
going but the organisation was 'absolutely unnecessary' for real social-
ists. The record of amost all those elected under the party banner to
the Chamber of Deputies was disgraceful. Only Turati (who was
attempting a compromise between the warring factions and whom
Mussolini did not yet want to antagonise) had remained areal socialist,
in his expression of the Italian proletariat's utter detestation of war, for
example.

The solution to the problem was simple — expel the leading
reformists, Bissolati, Ivanoe Bonomi, Angelo Cabrini and Guido
Podrecca. In March a Rome building worker had fired at the King
('Victor Savoy', as Mussolini, no doubt with knowledge of 'Louis
Capet' in 1792 and perhaps buoyed by the idea that some saw him as
the new Marat,> insolently called him). Bissolati and his colleagues
had publicly regretted the assault on Victor Emmanuel. But, Mussolini
urged, while he did not want to be inhumane towards another human
being, it had to be agreed that enduring ‘an act such as thisisjust part
of the job of being a king'. The soft-hearted, he ran on, would no
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doubt argue that the battle should focus on ideas not men. But that
was not good enough. Intellectual talk had itslimits. There was atime
when it was 'logical and humane' to arraign men; 'we should put on
trial not an idea but certain specific acts which fall under the party
rules, rules which we ourselves have not made', Mussolini declared in
the robes of tribune of the people. 'The Socidigt Party’, he added in a
metaphor with a sinister role to play in the tragedies of the twentieth
century,> 'practises expulsions becauseit is a living organism. There
are socialist antibodies,*®just as there are the physiological antibodies,
discovered by M etchnikoff. If we do not defend ourselves, theimpure
elements will disintegrate the party in the same way that damaging
germs circulate in the blood ... and kill off the human organism.' In
sum, new-style political parties in Italy must concentrate on one
matter only, the need to bring down the aready chaotic and inco-
herent liberal system, 'assailing it from every side. That was why a
'numerous and compact' party was required; that was why he carried
hislist of 'proscriptions, Mussolini concluded with one of those clas-
sical referenceswhich Italiansfound so hard to eschew. Real socialists
would not want to follow reformists, 'either now, or tomorrow, or
indeed ever'.>®

As far as the party delegates were concerned it was a marvellous
speech, learned (there were references to Cervantes as well asto Marx,
while Bissolati was blamed for borrowing too much from Sord), 'scien-
tific' and populist at the same time, a mixture which Mussolini long
favoured. Therevolutionary from For i had made his case in the spirit
of the moment. The deputies under attack were expelled (to found
their own schismatic Reformist Party). Costantino Lazzari, a friend of
Mussolini's old patron, G.M. Serrati, became secretary, while Angelica
Balabanoff and Mussolini himself were elected to the party direc-
torate. Moreover, the events in Reggio Emilia echoed resoundingly.
The exiled Lenin®" wrote in Pravda of his pleasure that the Italians
weretaking 'theright road'. The elderly firebrand Cipriani singled out
Mussolini for praise in the pages of L'Humamte— 'his commitment to
revolution’, Cipriani declared, is just like mine.® The spoils of
success were not only verbal. Avanti', party extremists now agreed,
could not remain under the editorship of Treves, but must also fall to
the revolutionary wing. A journalist, passionate, dynamic, steadfast,
was needed to take over. Here stood opportunity even if Mussolini,
some weeks after his return from Reggio Emilia, timidly put in an
application for another local teachingjob.*®

It was the last suggestion that journalism and politics were not to be
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his calling. Soon, it was announced that Mussolini was the victorious
faction's (interim) choice as editor of the socialist daily. In October
1912, he furthered his cause touring Puglia, hisfirst visit to any part of
the Italian south. There he spoke often, and wrote positively of the
prospects for socialist conversions among the peasantry, 'a people
which feverishly wants to work. A people in other words, not just the
plebs.® On i December 1912 ill more than six months short of his
thirtieth birthday, Mussolini took over the editorship of Avanti’,
having moved his family to Milan from where, since 1911, the paper
had been published/ Rachele and baby Edda brought with them to a
modest flat in Via Castel Morrone, Anna Guidi, who had been left
alone after the death of Alessandro. The extended family scrabbled to
find an annual rent of a thousand lire.?

Favoured by fortune, the rise and rise of Benito Mussolini was
continuing at astonishing speed. He wrote in a first editorial of his
pride and trepidation in having become spokesman of ‘the moral and
material patrimony of Italian socialists. After the congress of Reggio
Emilia, the victorious group had and has the duty to assume the full
responsibility for its own experiment before the Party and the prole-
tariat at large, he explained. Of course he would listen to views from
all factions, but he would also be ‘'more revolutionary'. 'We promise
solemnly to demonstrate to the philosophers of bourgeois reaction, to
the bloc of hostile parties and to the weak, little instruments of sav
[sic] government, that the vitality of Italian socialism is unbounded.'®

Here, then, was Mussolini the militant, pure and ready for any
sacrifice to the ideal. Writing anonymously as ‘'L'Homme qui cherche,
he had told readers of the journal La Folia (The Crowd) that party
journalists should not think of themselves as working their way up in
a career but rather as engaged in battle. (Paolo Vaiera, the editor of this
illustrated weekly', remembered his correspondent as possessing
‘eyes of fire,, and as living with Rachele who was 'a good housewife,
and who positively liked their penury'.)®* None the less, once again,
matters were not quite as simple as they might seem. In the very same
piece in La Folia, Mussolini expressed a curious insecurity: ‘I am a
primitive. Also in my socialism. | walk up and down in the present
market society like an exile. | am not a businessman [sic]. | don't have a
taste for business.* Nietzsche, he told readers ot Avanti! at almost the
same time, was a hame which socialists should not forget.®® In general,
Mussolini was ready to argue, 'it is faith which moves mountains
because it gives the illusion that the mountains move. Illusion is,
perhaps, the only reality in life'.*” How 'heroic' and how ‘idealist' and
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‘anti-materiaist’, Mussolini was asking himself, could and should a
socialist be?

Mussalini's intellectual and personal restlessness and insecurity
were reflected in a letter which he sent Prezzolini in the immediate
aftermath of the Reggio Emilia conference. Its phrases need careful
appraisal since, in crafting them, Mussolini was hoping to please the
recipient of his note. He was, he confessed, 'alittle dépaysé among the
revolutionaries' (his utilisation of the French mot juste doubtless signi-
fying his sophistication). ‘Certainly my religious [sic] conception of
socidism is far from the philistine revolutionism of many of my
friends. Laying it on thickly so that Prezzolini would ill want to be
his 'friend’ and patron, Mussolini mused how 'l need to orient my
ideas better and make them more precise’, even though he understood
the present conflict with the reformists was 'but an episode in the
struggle for existence' between the party and those of its organisations
more concerned with pay and conditions.®® 'Sometimes, he explained
in a subsequent letter to Prezzolini, 'l have the sensation of shouting
inthedesert'.®® A Darwinian?A Nietzschean?A Blanquist?A Vocean?
A syndicalist? A journalist who could turn out a good article on
anything?™ Playing the roles of both intellectual and activist was not
becoming any easier, now that Mussolini possessed a greater fame, a
more immediate importance, and a more pronounced ability to see or
to imagine personal opportunity.

Tailoring ideology to action was one problem; sociability was
another and sex athird, especialy once the Mussolinis were installed
in the great world of Milan. The metropolis had so many attractions
and there were so many rules to learn. As editor of Avanti! Mussolini
enrolled in the prestigious Associazione Lombarda dei Giornalisti, the
local journalists' club, founded in 1890. At its meetings he strove to
keep alow profile, although a new colleague remarked sarcastically on
the 'embarrassing’ inadequacy of his small talk. Mussolini, he remem-
bered, was giving to muttering through his teeth in a way that was
hard to hear, and grew rude and ferocious if contradicted.” Most of
the time, however, the new editor strove to fit in. Gone now was the
farouche floppy hat he had sported in the past; its replacement was a
bowler. Mussolini adso took pains to be seen in the Galleria, Milan's
most celebrated and elegant meeting place, and tentatively began to
enter the city's less costly bars and restaurants, especialy if someone
elsewas paying.”

The men with whom Mussolini was now uneasily consorting were
not like his comrades in Predappio or Forli. The women of Milan were
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even more different. Most renowned was Margherita Sarfatti, the art
critic for Avanti!, born in 1880, married, a mother, Jewish, and
presenting herself as afeminist and a new woman. Her husband was a
socialist (and Zionist) lawyer; her father had been areactionary clerical
representative on the Venice council; her politics were as potentially
elastic as were Mussolini's. Their relationship” lingered on until the
passage of Fascist racial legislation drove Sarfatti to take refuge (with
Mussolini's co-operation) in New York. Earlier Sarfatti wrote an effu-
sive biography of the Duce™ and, though her political role and her
influence on her lover should not be exaggerated, she was to achieve
some prominence in the regime's cultural policies.

More emblematic, however, was Mussolini's affair with Leda
Rafanelli. A woman who paraded her search for meaning between
anarchism and Arabism', awriter, novelist, journalist and activist, she
lived the life of the new woman with greater consistency and convic-
tion than managed by Sarfatti.” A wonderfully revealing set of letters
written to her by the later Duce has survived attempts at their destruc-
tion under the regime,”® and an edited version of Rafanelli's account of
their relationship has also been published.”’ Like Sarfatti, Rafanelli
had been born in 1830 (at Pistola in Tuscany), and so was a little older
than Mussolini (and a decade senior to Rachele). Asa 20-year-old, she
had spent 3 months in Egypt and may have had an affair with the
Futurist painter, Carlo Carra.”® On her return to Italy, she soon made a
name for herself, with a variety of opinions which spanned from
denouncing clerical lubricity, especially towards minors, to opposing
racism and imagining blacks as full participants in society, to
endorsing ‘free love, even while she believed that the summit of
freedom was located in the Moslem world. More conventionally, she
pressed that 'mass man' be saved from drink and brothels, and that
'mass woman' not forget or forego motherhood. In uplifting the
common people, she declared, a self-conscious elite and avant-garde
could build 'the fourth estate’, even while she excoriated those who
might betray the cause of the workers for the lucre of the bour-
geoisie.””

Although, throughout his life, Mussolini was the crassest of patri-
archs, the new arrival in Milan was easily convinced that he had found
a soul-mate when Rafanelli, impressed by a fiery speech he had made
about the Paris Commune, introduced herself to him. His ego must
have been further stroked when she wrote him up in the anarchist
weekly, La Liberta, as 'the socialist of heroic times. He is one who still
feels, still believes impulsively in a virile and powerful way. He is a
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man'.?° In a later novel, Rafanelli described a young journalist ‘with
big black eyes and a slightly mad look'. Often reduced to nervous
silence, he was handsome and yet somehow brutal, but also awaysiill
at ease, readily won by the heavy perfume of his woman. In this man,
ambition and sensuality competed in aterrible way; at 25, he looked
spent by his internal conflicts. Marriage to a young and beautiful
blonde had not requited him; nor had music or writing, even though
journalism drew him as an dectric light draws a moth at night'. This
ardent youth wanted passionately to be seen, to be admired, but
somehow, for him, satisfaction never came. Only themysteriousallure
of a woman in touch with the orient could send him down enchanted
paths which might yet lead to happiness. @

If this was Leda’s literary construction of her friend in 1913 when
Mussolini was trying to make Milan sit up and take notice, her
admirer for his own part expressed an infatuation with new woman.
Their first problem was how to meet. It was no use trying the news-
paper office; there Mussolini was never alone. The cafe, too, was
hopeless, since people crowded around. A better prospect was her
home. He could be there a 3 p.m. on Tuesday (the Italian habit of
devoting the morning to formal work and the afternoon to other
matters was, it seems, Mussolini's, too). '"You have understood me,
Mussolini wrote with alover's platitude, '‘and in away different from
the others. | fed that something has begun between us ... or am | just
fooling myself? Tdl me straight. Wait for me. And | shall wait for you
with a strange trepidation’.®?

A few dayslater, he wrote again:

Yesterday | spent three wonderful, swiftly-dwindling, hours with you.
We spoke about everybody and everything. We have the same sympa-
thies and antipathies, in politics, in art, in philosophy, about the
weather. We love solitude. You want to look for itin Africa, | among the
tumultuous crowd in the city. The aim is the same. Your little salon has
been for me arevelation. It isnot like the others. Y ou have given methe
illuson of the mysterious and marvellous East, with its violent
perfumes, its mad and fascinating dreams.®

Mussolini, the provincial, with the dust of Damerini's not altogether
brushed from his clothes, was smitten, it seemed, at least for the
moment. 'Withyou, | feel milesfrom Milan, journalism, politics, Italy,
the West, Europe. ... Let's read Nietzsche and the Koran together.
Listen. | am free every afternoon. Write to me when | can come and |
shall be there, punctual and discreet.®
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But finding the high road to love, if that was what the two were
imagining, was complicated. Mussolini's life was busier than he had
suggested, and soon he was apologising for having been dragged away
to Rome, or to Zurich, or for having been taken ill. But when they did
meet, it was heaven: 'l seem ten years younger, when | committed any
sort of madness.' In his Leda's company, he surrendered to a 'sentiment
which | try to define but do not want to define. ... | shall just leave my
days in the hands of destiny".®"

And so the story went on. It was a mistake on her part to turn up at
one of his meetings, but he was sorry not to have publicly welcomed
her there. Could he make up a quarrel on Saturday with flowers? He
had left her house at midnight feeling drunk with passion, 'my nerves
deliciously aquiver, my heart beating in an irregular fashion as never
before, my brain in tumult', and swallowed a large glass of absinthe in
order to calm himself down.®® The dark hours were when he might write
to complain of her absence: 'Midnight. | feel | amfloating. Full of desire
and of nostalgia. | would like to pass on to you a little of the electric-
ity which is coursing through my veins. Who knows why? But then
the commonplace might break in. He had to be away for a few days -
it was the middle of July - 'l am taking my domestic tribe, two people,
to the seaside’. But he would be back on Saturday. Would she write,
'impenetrable’ as she was, 'like an Arab', and so solace his longings?*’

Matters could turn sour - according to one authority, Rafanelli soon
formed another relationship with a Tunisian, 'a co-religionist’, and
was not at all willing to confine herself to being Mussolini's woman.®®
Now Mussolini wondered if their love was 'morbid'. Did he not on
occasion hang around in a square fruitlessly waiting for her: "You
make me like a boy again, that is ingenuous, that is impatient, that is
an idiot'.®® When she announced that their relationship was over, he
accepted it as 'destiny’, promised to give back her letters and asked
melodramatically that his be consigned to theflames.** And yet, when,
in February 1914, she wrote again, he declared that he had been
suffused with joy at the scent of her notepaper: 'You know that
strange, magical power which a perfume, your perfume, has on me. It
IS SO penetrating, fascinating, strange, outlandish'. 'Y ou offer me what
| cannot find elsewhere [sic]: an hour of peace, of repose. Something
entirely different’. For seven times seven years, he pledged fervently,
he would wait for her. In the interim, he was off to hear Tristan for the
first time— even imagined contact with her could put him in the mood
to commune with Wagner.”

Quarrelsrecurred. Despite her skill at the 'spiritual game', he feared
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that she had never quite grasped his nature: 1 am what | am. I, too,
have a mask in order to defend mysdf from indiscreet glances. But
under the mask lies the real me which isfleeing from you because you
do not want to stop me'.%? He was still ready for ameeting: 'Dear L eda,
you possess something which draws me on, fascinates me, overcomes
me. At 2 am., he could smdll her perfume, and its memory drove him
to scribble one last note to her before he went home.*® Again at 2 am.,
the thought of her encouraged another bout of philosophising; he
wanted to be a modern man, who was therefore all the more engrossed
by her 'extraordinary tastes, beautiful moments of madness, discov-
eries, progressin "Arabism™'. Her special charm made him happy even
when he did not really understand what she meant. 'But, aboveall’, he
continued, 'you attract me because - with truly remarkabl e dedication
- you have succeeded in making of your life a delightful fiction'. Her
commitment was both admirable and seductive. He, after all, was not
a cynic; that she must grasp.**

Alasfor Leda and 'B.", as he had taken to signing himsdlf, the war,
the First World War, was coming. She opposed it and wrote against it.
He was not so sure. Leading intellectuals like Livio Ciardi and Filippo
Corridoni, he complained, had swung around to favour ltalian entry
into the conflict. The war was 'a contagion which is not sparing
anybody'. Before its revolutionary challenge, the proletariat seemed
'deaf, confused, distant'.®® Mussolini was facing a grave dilemma, and
the choice which he would make over it would lay waste his dreams of
bohemian love and of intellectual and avant-garde ‘vagabondage'.”
Ledawas not to remain his.

What, then, is to be made of the affair? In his maturity, Mussolini
was much given to proclaiming that what a man did below his belt
was of no interest to anyone but himself.*” And yet the exchanges
with Rafanelli cannot be dismissed. No doubt much of the verbiage
which Mussolini deployed was conventional, and, beneath the heart-
felt sentiment, was aimed at sexual conquest and little more.
Nonetheless, the letters do express the personality of that Mussolini
who had just reached Milan. Here was the provincial seeking sis-
temazione in a great city, the man who had never thought that
women had minds but now half-hoped, half-feared otherwise, the
socidlist chief who yearned, aimost achingly, to be recognised as a
rea intellectual, the romantic cynic, the morbid lover, who sighed
for what he hoped was the expansive world of love and the intellect,
but who lived in a humdrum way with Rachele and Edda and the
other children to come, and who would make do with the political.
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None of his other women were ever to be as exciting or as frustrat-
ing as Leda Rafanelli.

Life in Milan had a mass of problems. For Mussolini's precarious
personal financesthe transfer to the great city had been expensive. An
ingenuous correspondence exists with Cesare Berti, a friend in Forli,
from whom Mussolini had borrowed 100 lire to help with the cost of
the train trip, rent and furniture, that debt not being quit until
October 1913%® To Berti, Mussolini claimed in March 1913 'Here |
work like a dog. | live in solitude. They attack me from all sides;
priests, syndicalists and the rest.® All in al, he added a couple of
months later, his furious devotion to polemic had rendered him 'the
most hated man in Italy' (a phrase destined to recur in his vocabulary
about himself).'®

The solitude, animosity, temerity, the aggressive determination to
assume equality but in practice treat most as inferiors, these were now
the accustomed postures of a man who grew sure that he was fated to
become a leader of some sort. He did well on Avanti! ~ in spite of his
disclaimers, he was actually a good and hard-headed businessman. By
March 1913 through a series of sackings and some adroit alliance-
building, he had eliminated al rivals to his editorship within the
paper. At the same time, he was doubling and redoubling the paper's
circulation until, just before the outbreak of the First World War, it
touched looooo copies. He improved Avanti's technology and
reduced its deficit.™™ He was also ready to assert brusquely that the
paper was al his own work. As he told a colleague: 'l bear the only,
sole and absolute responsibility for the newspaper both in regard to
the socialists and the public. Moreover, |, without personal preference
or antipathy, hand over al the work that is going to the editorial staff
simply according to the needs of the paper."® Mussolini had no diffi-
culty in assuming the executive role. Both tireless and ruthless, he was
indeed 'one of the greatest journalists of his times',’*" if rather better at
the destructive side of the profession than the constructive. Just as a
Mussolini who had somehow stayed in Forli can be imagined taking
his place as alocal notable, so, without the First World War, Mussolini
might have risen in his profession, winning fame as a modernising
opinion-maker of the type familiar in the Britain of those days with
Lords Northcliffe and Rothermere and in our own with Rupert
Murdoch and Silvio Berlusconi.

But editing a paper was not enough for Mussolini. He was anxious
to demonstrate his expertise over broader fields. His editorship of the
socialists' national daily demanded, for example, that he comment on
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those issues of foreign policy which were preoccupying the establish-
ments of pre-i9i4 Europe. Whether the matter was the actual cost of
the Libyan war (Mussolini thought the imperial adventure had proved
a 'grotesque’ waste of money),’™ the spread of the armaments
industry,'®® the detail of happenings in the Balkans, ™® or even the
French colonid programme in Algeria® Mussolini could turn a
phrase and advance an intelligent or peremptory opinion.

Similarly, he could negotiate his way, at least to some extent, among
the bitterly competing factions of Italian socialism, acting at times, for
example, as a friend of the syndicdlists, at times as their critic. His
openness or intellectuality he sought to demonstrate through the
holding of a public lecture series on socialist culture at which figures
so diverse as Gaetano Salvemini and Giuseppe Prezzolini eventually
spoke. Aimed, initidly, a Milanese workers whom Mussolini hoped to
acquaint with thinkers from Plato to Campanella to Babeuf,'® the
lectures were subsequently delivered at Rovigo and Florence, in this
last venue with a claimed audience of more than 3000.)° In 191314
Mussolini also found time to put out a theoretical journal, directed not
a the masses but at intellectuals like himsdf. It was optimiticaly
entitled Utopia."® Though proudly claiming on its masthead to repre-
sent Italian revolutionary socialism, the journal made much of the
Revolution's French heritage, in its initial issue publishing translated
pieces by Jules Guesde and Auguste Blanqui.™

In his editorial Mussolini had explained that Utopia had been
created not by the Party but for it. He wanted, he explained, to be
hedlthily sectarian. There was 'a jealousy over ideas a the root of
factional difference, he mused, since, 'with ideas as with women, the
more you love them the more they make you suffer'.'? At much the
sametimehetold Alceste De Ambris: ‘Certainly | am asectarian. | have
a soul which is narrow-minded, petty, full of sectarian bile. It is so and
| am not ashamed of it... today, tomorrow or ever."® But in the pages
of Utopia, almost become a libertarian, he published syndicalists like
Sergio Panunzio and Agostino Lanzillo, dissident liberals like Mario
Missiroli and friends like Margherita Sarfatti. The Mussolini who now
emerged was the professore again, wrestling with a range of ideas and
trying to impress as he did so. Not for nothing would another editorial
in Utopia pleasurably mark the fact that thejournal had been noticed
by Prezzolini in the pages of La Voce. As usual Mussolini switched to
deferential mode in writing about his cultural superiors. 'l am touched
by praisefromthose whom | esteem intellectually and morally, even if
politicsor ideological particularities divide us™*
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Actually, Utopia never quite made it. Its issues appeared erratically.
Its ideological purpose was visibly tainted by its editor's self-aggran-
disement. Yet, it had to be admitted that Benito Mussolini was
exhibiting a host of talents. He was, for example, an ever more bril-
liant and persuasive orator. He may have failed in 1913 in his first
attempt to stand for parliament - then, at Forli, he was badly beaten
by the local republican™" - but who could doubt that he would even-
tually find a place in the national assembly? Certainly he tirelessly
practised his speechifying, usually on the party faithful. Mostly, he
preached revolution, though, as ever, his version of that desired event
was more passionate than clear. In March 1914 for example, he
sounded decidedly parochial when speaking at Milan:

| am a convinced supporter of local government, and | am so precisely
because | am a socialist revolutionary and therefore against the state.
The municipality is the last bastion behind which the citizen can
oppose the steadily increasing invasion from the state."”

Later, a close associate would notice the trouble with which Mussolini
prepared himself for any speech or meeting. Although exuding spon-
taneity, he took great care beforehand to craft his phrases, and was
very much in control both of his text and his emotions."” It cannot be
known when such a studied approach became his habit, but it may be
assumed that, already while a socialist, he was|earning such skills. At
the same time, he was growing used to his oratory bringing applause
and devotion. He was noticing others, at least as they impinged on
himself, his image and 'charisma. After 1922, he confessed that, as an
executive and dictator, he learned as much from the stance and body
language of his interlocutors as from their words*® He himself
certainly hoped to convey as much implicitly as he did explicitly. Later
followers would remark on his ‘inimitable and incomparable
command of gesture,"® while a Fascist propagandist, blinded in the
war, declared his enchantment just at listening to the Duce's articula-
tion. To his acute hearing, Mussolini had ‘more than one voice, or
rather spoke with a variety of timbres and tones — they varied from
the sweet and intimate to the stridently powerful - 'which recon-
firmed the plurality and multiplicity of his soul'.*?

Under the regime, of course, Mussolini's charisma was unquestion-
able and boundless, but, even while he was editor of Avanti!, it was
building, and he was certainly not averse to its construction. The term
Duce may have eddied through the vocabulary of the time— in March
1914 the word was even affixed to the studiously prosaic Prime
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Minister Giolitti (though the purpose was sarcastic).*** All the same,
the way in which Duce began to stick to Mussolini is significant.
Whatever the force and the content of his rhetoric about revolution
and socialism, it was Mussolini's personality which most impressed his
contemporaries. By 1914 many Italians were looking for a 'leader' to
cut through the compromise, confusion and corruption which they
detected all around and, if doubtless still among a restricted group,
Mussolini was becoming known as a potential candidate for thisrole.
His irrepressible dynamism, his unquenchable ambition, the quick-
ness of his thought, his insolent refusal to bow before any odds, his
contumely, dl were helping to make him into a young man who
counted palitically, especidly if the new world were to be linked
somehow to the masses.

A year later, with Italy in the war and with Mussolini no longer a
socidlist, Torquato Nanni, an old friend from Predappio, at the request
of Prezzolini, composed the first of many eulogistic biographies of the
Duce. In staccato phrases, perhaps even more staccato than those typi-
cally used by Mussolini in his speeches,*?? Nanni delineated a ‘force of
nature, 'the man of action par excellence, who 'had stopped the
Italian proletariat from being mere sheep'.’”® If Nanni were to be
believed, and behind him Prezzolini and the intellectual establish-
ment, Mussolini was aready perceived as having the potential to be
the Duce.

In reality, at the time Nanni's work was published it is doubtful
whether it attracted many readers or whether they were impressed by
his case. In 1915 the rise of Benito Mussolini had, for the time, been
deflected by events. Moreover, well before Italian entry into the First
World War, there were grounds to argue that Mussolini's lightning
victories of 1912-13 were looking fragile. It is true that the Sociaist
Party, at its congress at Anconain April 1914, had confirmed the domi-
nation of the revolutionary faction, strengthening Mussolini's
personal position both on Avanti! and on the party executive.
However, by then it was aso becoming evident that the revolution-
aries were extremely vague about long-term policy, and basically had
no idea either about how their revolution might be implemented or
about what it would entail.

Shortly after, large-scale strikes and riots broke out, notably in the
Romagna, in what was caled 'Red Week'. Mussolini's editorials
predictably urged more drastic action, hounding the government and
its troops when they attempted to restore order.*** None the less, the
popular discontent was spontaneous, actually taking Mussolini and
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the rest of the current party leadership by surprise.”® The inadequacy
of their preparation, and their more serious failures, both in tactics
and strategy, could not be concealed. By June—July 1914 there were
quite a lot of reasons to believe that the next months might restore
advantage to the more moderate socialists.

Other, more grandiose, events would in fact decide the destiny of
the socialist factions. On 28 June 1914 Archduke Francis Ferdinand of
Habsburg-Este and his morganatic wife were assassinated at Sargjevo.
Their deaths signalled the collapse of belle époque Europe into the First
World War. Three years before, Romagnole syndicalist A.O. Olivetti,
the scion of a pro-Risorgimento family from Ravenna, had lamented, in
phrases typical of the moment, that the society around him in Italy
was 'dying for want of tragedy'.*?® Very shortly, Italians and other
Europeans were to be accorded tragedies enough to slake any reason-
able thirst.
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War and revolution,
1914-1919

rriHE outbreak of the First World War brought grave embarrassment

J. to the government and institutions of Italy. On 3 August 1914 the
public announcement was finally made that, for the present, Italy,
caught between its membership of the Triple Alliance with Germany
and AustriazHungary and its 'traditional friendship' with France and
Britain, had opted for neutrality. Given the nation's military weakness
and, behind that, its comparatively feeble economic and industrial
power, staying out of the war was a wise decision. It was, however, a
choice which deepened the numerous fissures in the political and
socia bases of the Liberal regime.

Ready to back neutrality was a clear majority of Italians.' They
included leading politician Giolitti, the King, important sections of the
Army, big business, Freemasonry, the majority of the bureaucracy,
most socialists, many Catholicsincluding new Pope Benedict XV, the
main part of the peasantry and almost all Italian women. Some of these
individuals and groups themselves differed over whether, or at what
moment, they might accept Italian entry - even Giolitti, whose career
would thereafter be beset by charges of cowardly neutralism, was
happy to contemplate an Italian presence by the side of the winners,
when it was plain who they would be. However, for the moment, he
did not want to force the pace. With a good sense unusual among
Europeans at this time, large sections of the Italian populace were not
victims of a 'short-war illusion’ and resisted forecasts that the conflict
would be over by Christmas.

In the end, however, the huge plurality of those opposed to prema-
ture Italian entry into the war did not matter. In favour of urgent
commitment were two crucial groups. First was the government itself.
It was a minority administration, more conservative than when
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Giolitti was in command, and headed by Southern academic lawyer,
Antonio Salandra. This administration, which seemed likely to be
short-lived, was given much of itsimprint by Tuscan moralist, Sidney
Sennino, who, after November 1914, became Foreign Minister. For
more than a generation, Sonnino had combined calls for greater disci-
pline at home (and an end to Giolittian compromise and obfuscation),
with a preference for expansionism abroad. The war brought immense
opportunity to Salandra and Sonnino. Now they could 'dish the
Whigs, whittle away Giolitti's long-standing parliamentary majority,
and, as they put it presumptuously, 'enter history'.?

Backing this line, if not very fond of the government itself, was
another powerful force. It was composed of those intellectuals, espe-
cially of the new generation, whose ideas tended to be both expansive
and irreconcilable, but who were agreed that they constituted the
coming new men without whom a healthy and 'modern’ Italy could
not prosper. As the so-called intervento (the period in-between) wore
on, and the treatying by Italy between the Central Powers and the
Triple Entente grew more tortuous, Italian intellectuals stentoriously
demanded an end to hesitation. And reasonably prominent among
them was Benito Mussolini.

Renzo DeFelice argued ageneration ago that, in the aftermath of the
failures of 'Red Week' and just before the onset of the July crisis,
Mussolini had glimpsed the future. 'Only Mussolini’, De Felice wrote,
‘'understood that a new era was beginning and that socialism must not
continue to be out of step with the times.® Then, and in the months
that followed, Mussolini was the sociaist who was in touch with the
country.® It is a curious claim for a historian to make, since it is plain
that Italy was manipulated or 'spoken’ into the war by a small
minority of its population. In any case, the evidence shows that
Mussolini, like the overwhelming majority of his contemporaries, was
slow to recognise where the July crisis could lead. Asagood journalist
might, one day after it happened he did report the assassination at
Sarajevo. Moreover the event was sufficiently grave for him to specu-
late about its meaning. The death of Franz Ferdinand, he argued,
demonstrated that the conflict between the Habsburgs and the 'Slav
world' was profound; the Balkans were being shattered by 'an explo-
sion of national hatred’. As he had learned from his own past
experiencesin the Trentino, Austrian administration was 'both hateful
and hated’. But Mussolini did not laud Serb nationalism either,
concluding his piece portentously with the comment that the killing
of the Archduke was 'a painful but explicable episode in the struggle
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between nationalism and central power, which is both the strength
and the ruin ofthat tormented country [Austria-Hungary]'.®

Over the next month, he added nothing to this initial appraisal,
though he did worry about Greek adventurism as part of a general
concern, not unknown among other journalists at other times, that the
Balkans could 'burn' at any moment.® His major preoccupation
remained domestic as he tried to put a positive slant on Red Week,
declaring, in areview of those events, that 'revolution’ was still immi-
nent locally: 'Italy needs arevolution and it will have one.”” Only after
the Austrian ultimatum was delivered to Serbia did his attention
return to the international scene. Any war, he then suggested, would
be at the behest of the 'military party in Austria’. Despite this renewed
hogtility to the Habsburg regime, Mussolini went on to damn what he
feared were secret clauses in the Triple Alliance, insisting that Italy
adopt a posture of strict neutrality towards any conflict. The Italian
proletariat must not spill a single drop of blood for a cause which was
not its own. Socialist policy towards diplomatic scheming must be to
insist on the line 'not a man, not a penny' for a war.?

When, during the first week in August, the alarums in the Balkans
widened into European conflict, Mussolini tended to switch the blame
from the leadership of Austria to that of Imperial Germany. The viola
tion of Belgium he deplored as an event which might unite 'all Europe’
against the 'Germanic bloc'. Germany, he added, was behaving in an
unheard of way. Through its ‘brigandage’ and ‘'aggresson against
Belgium, Germany was laying bare its purpose, its aims and its soul'.
'Prussian militarism and Pan-Germanism' had a sad history; since
1870, Germany had acted as a sort of ‘bandit lurking along the road of
European civilisation/9 These were strong words, and there can be
little doubt that they reflected a genuinely emotional reaction by
Mussolini against the Central Powers and in favour of France. His
‘unspoken assumptions), like the cultural baggage of many ltalians,
not al on the Left, told him to beware of Austria, the alleged tyrant of
the Risorgimento, and to admire France, 'the Latin sister’, as it was
often called, in somewhat jealous and sensitive affection.

To be sure, too much of the future should not be read into
Mussolini's phrases. Until late August he feared that the details of the
Triple Alliance were ill likely to push the Italian government into the
war on the part of the Central Powers.’® When it became clear that the
government was dallying with the other side, Mussolini wrote on a
number of occasions in favour of the official socidist line of 'absolute
neutrality’. War, he knew from his party's dogma, benefited only the
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bourgeoisie: "The proletariat is not disposed to fight a war of aggres-
sion and conquest after which it will merely be as poor and exploited
as before.™ And yet his mind did have trouble in sticking to this line.
The German occupation of Brussels was brutal, he reported ingenu-
oudly. He was convinced that Imperial troops had shot hostages and
used dum-dum bullets. The Triple Entente might well have relative
virtue on its side, but did it need Italy at the front and was it not
anyway being assisted by Italian neutrality? Trieste might be ethni-
caly Italian, but the city was surrounded by Slavs and the fairest
solution for its future was probably internationalisation.” Mussolini's
thoughts were always likely to range widely, and the new conflict only
enhanced this tendency. But, beneath the scatter of his words, he
began to perceive that war could entail opportunity, the chance to
destroy an old order, the possibility of imagining a new.

With these heresies beating into his mind, by September 1914
Mussolini's adhesion to the official line of neutrality was slipping,
even though he still believed that the party's attachment to neutralism
was limpet-like.® Gradually he began to admit an outright sympathy
for the Triple Entente cause. He was aware, too, of the way in which so
many leading intellectuals, quite a few of them with political views
somewhere on the 'Left', had begun to campaign for Italian entry into
the war against the Central Powers. Prezzolini and La Voce, the
Southernist radical democrat and historian Gaetano Salvemini and his
paper L'Unita, syndicalists such as De Ambrisand Corridoni,” his old
editor Cesare Battisti - voice after voice - al were bracketing war and
modernity. Italy's dissident intellectual s wererepresenting the conflict
as the opportunity to cast off the corrupt and time-worn shackles of
the Giolittian era and to build a future in which the people would be
happier (and their own talents would be better recognised). How
could Professor Mussolini not be tempted by their cause?

And so, at first incrementally, he began to retreat from socialist
orthodoxy. On 13 September Mussolini explained that he had decided
to publish a piece by Sergio Panunzio in Avanti! since, after all, ‘it
would beridiculousandilliberal to forceinto silence' those who were
backing an ltalian entry into the war (although Mussolini then
scrupulously reviewed Panunzio's arguments to demonstrate that they
were wrong).” On 30 September he editorialised about the Italian
proletariat's sentimental preference which, like his own, had swung
behind the Entente cause, but angrily denied that such sentiment
could ever convert workers into ‘war-mongers.'" Five days earlier he
had written privately to Amadeo Bordiga, a Neapolitan engineer and
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intellectual who was destined to lead the Italian Communist Party, of
his sense that neutrality and reformism constituted shabby and
unholy alies. The idea of standing pat before great events was, he
feared, typical of those who had 'exiled themselves from history".”
Deep in the Marxist psyche, after al, was inscribed the idea of the
'locomotive of history’, the belief that society was on the move, and
that an adroit adept ought to be able to read its course and timetable
correctly. Certainly, in Mussolini's mind, a tension was rising to
breaking point between the passivity of neutralism and the dynamism
of intervention.

And 0, on 18 October, he published a crucia article in Avanti! It
was entitled 'From absolute neutrality to an active and working
neutrality'. Mussolini's patience, often precarious, had run out. The
socialist party's existing policy was 'cosy', precisely because it was so
'negative’. 'But a party', Mussolini explained in words in keeping
with his personality, ‘which wishes to live in history and, in so far as
it is alowed, to make history, cannot submit, at the penalty of suicide,
to a line which is dependent on an unarguable dogma or an eternal
law, separate from the iron necessity [of change] over space and time'.*®
In redlity, the policy of neutrality had already favoured the Entente
and was being nourished by 'a profound hostility to Austria and
Germany'."® Similarly, it was patently absurd for Italy to stay out of a
conflict when the rest of Europe was participating in it. Socialists in
France, Belgium and Britain had acknowledged the significance of the
'national problem'.?’ How could Italians not do the same?

Searching for a clinching quotation, Mussolini ended with Marx.
The father of sociaism, he remembered, had left the message that
'whoever develops a set programme for the future is a reactionary'.?*
Absolute neutrality, he concluded, was by definition 'backward-
looking' and 'immobilising’. 'We have the privilege of living at the
most tragic hour in world history. Do we - as men and as socialists -
want to be inert spectators of this huge drama? Or do we want to be,
in some way and some sense, the protagonists? It would be a disaster
to save the letter of the party, he concluded, if that step meant
destroying its spirit.

This editorial duly caused a sensation, at least among the socialists
and their friends.”® The heretical sentiments which Mussolini had
enunciated were by no means unique, and had occurred to many other
socidists, and especialy to those who deemed themselves intellec-
tuals. Even Antonio Gramsci, later Communist martyr to Fascism, was
tempted.* Giuseppe Prezzolini, no socidist but a man honoured and
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admired by Mussolini, hastened to send his congratulations to this
former subscriber to La Voce?® Such an editorial had other implica-
tions, too. On 19 October the executive of the socialist party met at
Bologha. Impassioned debate ensued, with Mussolini emphasising
that his new outlook was based on principle, reiterating his view that
the attacks on him from within the party were 'ssmply ridiculous.
Nevertheless, his schism was too open, and he resigned as editor of
Avanti!?®

Since bureaucratic processes moved dowly, it took another month
before Mussolini was formally expelled from the socidist party. His
words in his own last defence were dramatic: 'You hate me today
because you love me till. ... Whatever happens, you won't lose me.
Twelve years of my lifein the party are or ought to be sufficient guar-
antee of my sociadlist faith. Socialism isin my very blood'. He was, he
pledged, still the enemy of the bourgeoisie. When time proved him
right on the war, he prophesied, 'you will again see me at your side'.*’

Mussolini was, of course, not the only dissident ever to leave a
socialist party, especially during the traumaof the First World War. In
many countries, the great conflict demanded that a choice be made
between the ideals of internationalist socialism and those of the
nation. Nor was Mussolini the only defector, or 'rat' as they were
frequently euphoniously called, to discover that a quarrel which, at
the time, had seemed significant but eventually possible to repair, in
fact terminated a sociaist career. In their insecurity and weakness,
socialist parties were given to hating well. Nor, when they hated, was
the first charge to be made against a dissident hard to imagine. The
'rat’ was likely to be called venal, a Judas who had been bought and
sold by the numerous wealthy and powerful enemies of socialism. So,
while the interventionist press welcomed Mussolini's conversion to
patriotism, and great bourgeois paperslike 77 Corriere della Sera and //
Secolo reported the event and sought interviews with the new
patriot,”® a damning phrase began to be bruited abroad among the
socialist party faithful: Chi paga? (Who is the paymaster?).?

In Mussolini's case, there was reason to ask the question. On io
November, in an interview which he had conceded to // Resto del
Carlino, the Bolognese paper, owned by sugar interests and headed by
Filippo Naldi, he had arevelation to make. He was not, he stated with
accustomed truculence, ready to retireto 'privatelife’. Rather, buoyed
by support from the Francophile Cipriani and other | eft-leaning inter-
ventionists, he was launching a paper in their cause. It would be
entitled, with Mazzinian more than Marxist reference, // Popolo
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d'ltalia (The People of Italy). ¥ Itsinitial issue printed on its masthead
two dogans, one from Blanqui: "Whoever has iron has bread' and one
from Napoleon: "The Revolution is an idea which has found its bayo-
nets.® // Popolo d'ltalia was also destined to become, from October
1922, the official organ of the Fascist regime.

Although some of the evidence is till disputed, it is clear that b
October (if not earlier) Mussolini had been engaged in a double game.®
He was in communication with Naldi, a notorious advocate of the
interests of the local landed elite, who had himself been talking with
the highest circles of the government, including the aristocratic
Foreign Minister, Antonino Di San Giuliano.* Naldi was known for his
contacts. Contemporaries remarked on the extravagance of hislifestyle
and the way his paper seemed to swing between imminent collapse
under debt and sudden bursts of prosperity, which goodtime Naldi
would celebrate with 'rivers of champagne'.>* The result of such deal-
ings was that Mussolini was assured of funding for the new paper.
Naldi aso promised that the provenance of any largesse would be kept
secret, so that it was 'money which | can accept’, as Mussolini had put
it.* The two men had met by arrangement at the Hotel Venezia in
Milan, where Mussolini impressed an onlooker with his 'pallid face,
and glittering black eyes like those of a porcelain doll'.®

Later Naldi and Mussolini travelled to Switzerland in search of
funding from the French secret service. In their journey, certain class
differences were observed. The deek Naldi stayed, as he dways did, at
the best hotel. Mussolini, by contrast, shared a room in a less luxu-
rious hostelry with ajournalist acquaintance, Mario Girardon. Naldi
was generous enough eventually to take the two out for afinal night of
drinking, eating, dancing and, by implication, whoring, so presum-
ably some money, or the promise of it, must have passed hands. Amid
these events, Girardon, after he fruitlessly began a discussion of Sorel's
ideas with his friend, decided that '"Mussolini did not like to get entan-
gled in doctrinal complications. When he likes a theory, he takes it
over whole, and then tries to sdl it to the public'. Back in the hotel
room, he noticed that Mussolini's underwear was torn and his cuffs
frayed, and that he shaved himself as though in afury with hasty and
careless strokes. Confined together as they were, Girardon was aware
also that Mussolini possessed big feet.’

How is this complex story of bribery to be read? In the past
Mussolini had not seemed covetous, though he had borrowed from
whomever would lend to him and spent what money he had to his
own benefit or pleasure. Nor, later, under his regime, was he corrupt,
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in the sense that General Franco as dictator of Spain became corrupt,®®
or indeed in the way of many a Fascist, Italian and other politician,
even if he was not as selfless as official propaganda liked to claim. In
accepting the sort of funds which he was now offered - including
subsidiesfrom the French embassy®* and, after 1917, from the British*
— Mussolini was ruthlessly breaking the accustomed codes of the
socialist movement. He was ignoring the fulminations of Leda
Rafanelli and many another comrade who had inveighed against the
contaminating effects of bosses gold. He was therefore ensuring that,
whatever his revolutionary protestations, he could never go back. If
socialist orthodoxy was to fail him, perhaps he could resume an iden-
tity as 'Professor Mussolini’, that is, as a freelance intellectual, one
who had his ideas and, in cavalier confidence, took it for granted that
someone else would pay for their publication.

If that was Mussolini's position at the end of 1914, it was a precar-
ious one. The great and powerful had no particular need for him.
Marvellous insight into this fact is found in the pages of the diary of
Ferdinando Martini, then Minister of Colonies, a Tuscan liberal who
had served as governor of Eritrea (there he had carelessly favoured the
liquidation of the local population) and who had later tried unsuc-
cessfully to write lyrics for Giacomo Puccini.* Martini belonged to the
great world. As early as io October 1914 he was aware, probably from
talks with Naldi, that Mussolini, though still unwilling openly to
favour the war, had declared that 'should the war prove necessary, the
socialists, too, will do their duty'.*? Just before Christmas Martini had
another meeting with a now annoyed Naldi. The latter explained that
he had given money to Mussolini, knowing that the ex-editor of
Avanti! would bring over to the patriotic cause a whole set of
Northern leftists. But, complained Naldi, he could not bear the
onerous financial burden of this undertaking alone. And so he had
spoken to a lawyer from Bologna, who had seen the local member of
parliament, Luigi Pera. He, in turn, promised to alert minister Vittorio
Emanuele Orlando, who would then get Prime Minister Salandra to
cope with the affair. But, somewhere, the chain of patronage and
interest had snapped. Naldi therefore appealed to Martini to intervene
himself since a sum of at least 25000 lire was urgently required.*’
Mussolini, it was plain, could rejoice in his funding and use it the
better to preach his cause. However, it was similarly evident that he
stood a long way down a complex |adder of patronage, the rules of
which all Italian contemporaries understood. His status was scarcely
yet that of a potential national |eader.
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After Naldi's appeal, Martini does seem to have bestirred himself.
He continued to keep an eye on Mussolini, even if, by 1916 he
regarded him as 'over the top' and even 'mad' in the amplitude of the
territorial annexations which he was by then seeking for Itay in the
Adriatic. Mussolini's usefulness, Martini recalled, was domestic.**
Carlo Sforza, another genuine member of the Italian €elite, if one who,
unusually after 1922, refused to accept the imposition of Fascism, simi-
larly wrote that the key to Mussolini's character was that he was ‘a
self-taught man, and always a bit above himself'.*> His comment and
the attitude of Martini are a demonstration how Mussolini, in leaving
the sociaist movement, had cast himself onto seas which he was as yet
ill-prepared to navigate. Despite the bitterness and ubiquity of
factional fighting within the party ranks, socialism offered its
members the comforts of appreciation, a sense of belonging, a place in
the world, a path to the future and a reason for optimism. Such advan-
tages were all the more consoling when the social gap between a
Martini or a Sforza and a Mussolini, was indeed so yawning. A
contemporary remembered Mussolini going to the key meetings of
October-November 1914 with an ashen face, trembling with anger.*®
He had reason to be moved. In opting for the war, Mussolini had taken
a perilous step, one which in late 1914 seemed unlikely to bring him
happiness or serenity, and which may have ensured that he thereafter
replaced hope with an ever deepening cynicism about the meaning of
his life. Those fellow leftists, who swung over with him and helped to
write the first issues of the paper - Sandro Giuliani, Ugo Marchetti,
Alessandro Chiavolini, Nicola Bonservizi, Ottavio Dinaie, Margherita
Sarfatti and Manlio Morgagni - were never altogether cast out from his
heart,*” but perhaps his on-going ‘friendship’ was nurtured as much
by a sense of lost comradeship as by more positive feelings. Some of
the disdain which Mussolini evinced, more and more frequently,
towards his closest associates may well have sprung from the desperate
knowledge that many of them were 'rats, too.

What, then, was the line pursued by // Popolo d'ltalial On 15
November Mussolini proclaimed that, in 'an epoch of a genera
auction of ideas like the present’, the destinies of European socialism
were tied up with the results of the war. His opponents, in their intel-
lectual emptiness, stood for death. And so he appealed 'to the young
of Italy, the young of the factories and schools, the young in age and
the young in spirit, the young of that generation which fate has driven
to make history'; to them, he raised the 'fearful and fascinating word:
war'.*® In a second editorial he endeavoured to be more precise. It was
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in the supreme interest of the proletariat that the war finish quickly -
here, after al, was Mussolini's 'short war illusion’. Otherwise, mutual
hatreds would penetrate societies too deeply. Germany must be
defeated and the influence of Russia on the Entente side diminished.
Action was needed, and needed now. To de-nationalise the proletariat
iswrong; to de-humanise it is a crime’, and that was what a policy of
absolute neutrality actually proposed.*

None the less, Mussolini aso devoted many columns in his small
paper to strictly personal polemic. He argued bitterly with those who
had expelled him from the party. They had begun the fight, he argued
stoutly.® In any case, he would be a bonny fighter. As he told an erst-
while friend from Oneglia, he personally found solace and instruction
in the motto: 'an eye for an eye and a tooth for a tooth'.> His enemies
had 'stabbed him in the back'; they were 'the worst sort of cowards),
no better than 'canaill€'.” The ex-comrades from Forli were especially
culpable in his regard. 'Hysterics' and 'cannibals, they might try to
stop him speaking, but they would fail and, anyway: 'l am what | was
yesterday. ... atenacious and disinterested soldier for al the causes of
liberty and social justice.™ He would sooner or later beat hiswretched
opponents.>* 'Aslong as| still have a pen in my hand and arevolver in
my pocket, why should | be afraid of anybody? he melodramatically
asked the presumably startled readers of the conservative daily, //
Giornale d'ltalia, to which he gave an interview.” Actually, it was not
entirely a rhetorical question. Duelling remained an acceptable prac-
tice of that intellectual-political world in which Mussolini so eagerly
participated. Andrea Costa had duelled and, in 1898, the republican,
Felice Cavallotti, had died in the course of his 33rd 'conflict of
honour'.>® Even though // Popolo d'ltalia took pains to condemn
'disgusting' German-style duelling at university,> Mussolini had just
the temperament to join in the Mediterranean version of this boy's
game, and his expulsion from socialist ranks removed his last reluc-
tance to fight. In February 1915 he engaged in three rounds with Lino
Merlino and, in March, he stood for eight with Claudio Treves, his
predecessor at Avanti! Mussolini was wounded once by the sword-
play, Treves three times in a bout which was said to have been
conducted with unusual vim and vehemence, and their contest ended
without any gentlemanly 'reconciliation’.®® In lighter vein, contempo-
raries noticed that, after October 1914, Mussolini transferred his
accustomed places of dining up-market and also began to indulge in
the;gaxpensive hobbies of riding a horse and, eventually, driving a
car.
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When not sampling the delights of the bourgeois lifestyle,
Mussolini sought to rally his friends to his cause - one new associate
was Dino Grandi, a Mazzinian law student and occasional journalist
for // Resto del Carlino.®® In early December 1914 Mussolini was
aready advocating the establishment of so-called Fasci d'azione rivo-
luzionaria (revolutionary groups).®® On 6 January 1915 // Popolo
d'Italia published a draft constitution for the membership. It was not
a party, Mussolini emphasised in what would become typical
phrasing, but 'a free association of subversives from &l schools and
political points of view'. It was also republican.®? The secretary of the
Fasci, asthey werecalled, was Calabrian Michele Bianchi (hewould be
a secretary of the Fascist Party, too. Among the directorate were
Mussolini's syndicalist contact, Alceste De Ambris, and Giovanni
Mannelli, destined, a decade later, to be another prominent early
Fascist.

The Fasci, Mussolini explained, wanted to teach the ‘workers that
only intervention could produce 'socid revolution’, because such
action would tie Italy to France, ‘cradle of a hundred revolutions,
'free’ Britain and 'generous and heroic' Belgium.®® Mussolini aso
spoke of how what he already called 'the Fascist movement' could help
spread 'subversive, revolutionary and anti-constitutional ideals' inter-
nationally, precisely because it was not bound by 'the rules and
rigidity of a Party'.*

As yet, however, this verbal elan won few converts and, with the
passing months, Mussolini's problems increased. In the debates about
whether or not Italy should intervene, // Popolo d'ltalia was not
finding a political or intellectual space. The paper's readers were told
that its funds were running low.* On 15 March Mussolini confessed to
Prezzolini that the paper could boast only 1600 subscribers, and the
great majority of them had paid for a month, not a year.?® It was dll
very well expatiating about how the war might bring the 'people of
Italy' within the historical process — Mussolini now repeated
Prezzolini's worthily didactic claim that winning a war meant for a
nation the equivalent of passing an exam.®” But 'the people did not
seem impressed, and the majority of the populace, like the majority of
the members of parliament, continued to prefer neutrality to other
alternatives.

In these circumstances, Mussolini's personality led him to rage
against the apparent ebbing of enthusiam for war-entry. Before the so-
caled 'radiant days of May' 1915, when it seemed for a moment that
Giolitti might return to government, stimulating nationalist crowdsto

no



War and revolution, 1914-1919

mobilisein Rome and other cities against thisdread event, Mussolini's
phrasing was notable in its extremity. In his paper, he urged ‘the
shooting, | say shooting in the back of some dozen deputies.
'Parliament’, he added, was 'the pestiferous pustule poisoning the
blood of the nation. It must be wiped out'.®® The monarchy, too, if it
would not back the war, 'must pay'.*"° To Prezzolini, who as ever did
not demur at the junior intellectual's verbal savagery, he suggested
that the best way to deal with Giolitti was 'five revolver bulletsin the
stomach'.”® In the ‘first great war of the Italian people, he urged, the
nation must adopt a policy of 'an eye for an eye and a tooth for a
tooth’. The Germans aimed at 'exterminating’ the Italians. But 'to a
war of extermination, we must reply with a war of extermination of
our own'."”*

Whatever the character of Mussolini's nationalism before October
1914, he now found it easy to mouth nationalist phrases. The German
Swiss dominated Switzerland and were 'Prussians at heart; Italians
must remember that fact.”> All foreigners were given arrogantly to
viewing Italians as 'strolling musicians, sdllers of statuettes, Calabrian
bandits'; they must be made to bow instead to the 'new, great, Italy'.”®
Still sensitive to attacks from the socialists, he none the less denied
their charge that he had become an imperialist. His present hero was
the generous unifier of peoples, Giuseppe Garibaldi, apostrophised in
I/ Popolo d'ltalia as 'the Duce'.”* Mussolini saw no reason for Italy to
seize the Ticino, Corsica and Malta, though he did not explain why,
except to aver pioudy that, 'like al principles, the principles of
nationality must not be understood and practised in an "absolute"
sense’. In Damatia, he wanted to resist the 'Slavisation' of such 'truly
Italian' centresasZara(Zadar), Spalato (Split) and Ragusa(Dubrovnik),
but he could still imagine some compromise arrangement with Serbia
over the issue.” The Trentino and Trieste, however, were a different
matter, since they were 'geographicaly, historically and morally
Italian’.”

No doubt Mussolini, for the present, believed in his case, however
dubious it seems now. Yet he was giving hostages to fortune if he
thought, as he proclaimed, that he was still on the side of revolution.
On 24 May 1915, the day that Italy finally declared war on Austria-
Hungary, Mussolini wrote in his paper that, for him and al Italians,
'Italy has a historic personality, is aive, possessed of its own body and
immortal'.”” Mussolini may not have signed up for the socialy reac-
tionary Nationalist Association, but the gospel which he was
preaching, for all its social revolutionary residue, was about as far
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from socidist internationalism and socialist materialism as it was
possible to go.

By the end of May 1915 Italy was at war, a very idiosyncratic war,
since the Salandra-Sonnino government tried to restrict the conflict to
one with Austria alone, with hogtilities not finally being extended to
Germany until August 1916.* The peculiarities of Italy's war effort
have not aways been understood by non-Italians, who long have been
inclined either to dismiss the campaign, or to assume that what was
true on the Western Front must have been true in the Italian
sideshow'. Militarily, the Italian war was mostly a mountainous one,”®
although the great defeat at Caporetto in October-November 1917 - it
roughly coincided with the Bolshevik revolution in Russia—brought
Austro-German troops down to the northern plain which ran on to
Milan.® Between 23 and 26 October of that year the armies of the
Central Powers took some 300000 Italian prisoners of war®
Eventually, however, Italian forces, bolstered by their dlies, held on
the line of the Piave river to the east of Venice and, in the subsequent
months, gradually pushed the Central Powers back before the final, if
disputed, ‘'victory' a Vittorio Veneto. On 4 November 1918 a week
before the end of the war on the Western front, Austrian forces surren-
dered.

By then, more than 5 million Italians had seen military service,
about the same number as those who had actually voted in the elec-
tions of 19132 Throughout the war, Italy suffered a death toll of more
than half a million, with a nearly equal number of incapacitated or
mutilati, to use the graphic Italian word. As had usually been truein
the past, the worst of the campaigning was born by the peasantry, that
social group which, before 1915, had least embraced the nation. In
1919 an estimated 63 per cent of war orphans came from peasant fami-
lies, while Professor Salandra set an example of a kind by ensuring
that none of his three sons saw servicein line of battle.®

As with the other combatant states and societies, the conflict made
extraordinary demands on the Home Front. In 1919 a leading soldier
remarked that, during the war, 'in truth no-one governed Italy/** and
it is plain that no Italian equivalent of Hindenburg, Clemenceau or
Lloyd George rose above the rest. Neither a general nor a politician
dominated the country, power remaining diffused across the various
political, military, industrial, landowner, Masonic and bureaucratic
elites. Furthermore, the demands of the war effort cut into Italian
society as never before. Many did well. With the national government
disbursing more in three and a half years of warfare between 1915 and
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1918 than it had expended in 50 years of ordinary administration since
the Risorgimento, the period saw a massive increase in the bureau-
cracy, in the profits of industry integrated into close and fruitful
relations with the state, and in the size of the working class. Quite a
few workers avoided the cal-up, since their skills on the factory floor
could not be replaced. As a result, this class frequently had a very
different experience of wartime from that of the peasantry.

In November 1918 Italy emerged from its military venture with an
ambiguous victory. The subsequent peacemaking at Versalles, where
Foreign Minister Sonnino showed himself peculiarly ill-adapted to the
ideals and hypocrisy of the Wilsonian 'new diplomacy', soon under-
lined the fact that participation in the war had not amended Italy's
position as the least of the Great Powers. Furthermore, Italian society
had been radically unsettled by the war effort. In 1919 there was an
even more urgent need than in 1914 to find some way of binding the
masses to the state system. The vast gap between politics and society
was made more emphatic by the events of the last year of the conflict.
Between 1915 and the defeat at Caporetto, successive governments, not
to mention reactionary and brutal monarchist generals, sought to run
a war which was traditional in character. As Salandra put it with his
usual crudity: his Italy was fighting for its sacro egoismo (sacred
egoism), which meant the preservation and enhancement of the inter-
ests of the existing ruling elites. Before October 1917 these elites did
little to explain or justify contemporary events to the masses. Unlike
al the other combatant states, Italy, after the machinations of
April-May 1915, had entered the conflict without any union sacrée,
but rather with the majority of the population at least passively
opposed to involvement in the war.

Once Italy was engaged in battle, the requirements of fighting a
modern war lessened this gap, with soldiers and their families, and
those new socid groups benefiting economically and in status from the
war, being drawn into seconding the national effort. After May 1915
Giolitti's erstwhile parliamentary majority dwindled to the benefit of
the more conservative side of the Liberal groupings. Poor King Victor
Emmanuel 111 had to grow used to being called 77 Re Soldato, despite
his diminutive stature and homely attitudes. But the real move to
propagandise the war and to preach that al Italians belonged to the
nation only occurred in the last 12 months of the conflict. One who
now joined Mussolini in this cause was Roberto Farinacci, once a
reformist socialist, then an interventionist and soldier. Summoned
back from the front to resume his career as a skilled railway worker, he
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began to act as correspondent for // Popolo d'ltalia in his adopted
town of Cremona® Thereafter he became convinced that Caporetto
marked the breaking point between the 'old and the new Italy'.®® As
his case suggested, at the end of the war the nationalisation process
retained a freshness and a vigour often by then lost in the other
combatant states. At the same time, the effect of nationalising propa-
ganda remained circumscribed; not al Italians were ready to surrender
their identities to the nation. Rather, in 1919 much of Italian life was
defined by awrangling about the meaning of the war and its implica-
tionsfor thefuture.

Mussolini's own First World War had two parts, one military, the
other political. Though not volunteering® he did accept the draft. On
2 September 1915 he celebrated his induction into the army, in a piece
he wrote for his paper® (hereafter placed under the management of
Manlio Morgagni).?® The story of Mussolini the soldier became an
essential part of the Fascist construction of the Duce, perhaps the most
essential part. As one windy propagandist phrased it, every
'legionary' of the new Fascist state was both rigidly disciplined and
enthusiastically romantic because, in the ranks, his personadity
merged with that of the great legionary Mussolini, whose spirit was
omnipresent and who thus became 'the creator, animator, and infal-
lible guide' of every soldier.*

A key source for such ranting was Mussolini's war diary, proudly
rdleased in 1923 by Imperia, the official Fascig party publishing
house, and reverently read by Italian schoolchildren and Fascist loy-
dists thereafter.®® It had initially been serialised in 1l Popolo d'ltalia
between 1915 and 1917. So much has been made of it that it is hard
to read its pages without reference to the later myth of a Duce,
which was, as yet, by no means fully developed. Nevertheless the
diary does contain significant information, both witting and unwit-
ting. Bersagliere Mussolini believed in what he viewed as the practi-
cal, as a soldier should, expressing his views in lapidary sentences.
He was glad to serve at the front: ‘It is war time. So you go to war.'*
"Trench life is natural, primitive life', even if monotonous at times.
'Rain and fleas are the first enemies of the Italian soldiers. Guns are
next.'«

War, he explained, was 'grey’, constructed from 'resignation,
patience and tenacity', accepted by all real soldiers 'as a duty which
you don't discuss. Wartime politics were simple. He said he never
heard a mention of neutrality or intervention. Peasant soldiers from
the remotest villages very likely could not comprehend such difficult
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and unaccustomed words.* Returned emigrants, especially those
from the USA, were the best soldiers, he thought (though he did not
wonder whether their power and commitment came from their being
nationalised and/or democratised abroad).® The villagers near the
Isonzo front were, by contrast, enigmatic about the war: ‘these
Slovenes still do not love us, he noted, while the actual paese of
Caporetto he dismissed as 'a wretched little Slovene town'.”"
Technology and efficiency were good, but mules were the most use-
ful aides of the Italian army.?” High on the alpine front (his position
was for a time ailmost 2000 metres up), where soldiers had to combat
an 80 per cent slope and could only move roped together, he even
had occasion to admire the scenery and philosophise about its
attractions.”®

About different ranks and those matters of class which impinge on
other wartime diaries, Mussolini had relatively little to say. Early in his
service, he did complain that a colonel could not rouse the troops
because he insisted on speaking to them as if they were schoolboys,
not men.” Similarly, he recorded the suspicion of front-line soldiers
that, through the machinations of a ‘camorra’ of corporals, the best
rations were purloined before reaching them.'® In his paper, he was
hailed for hisintrepid skills in scabbing for his matesin the trenches
copious supplies of chocolate or sardines whenever he had the occa-
sion to visit the company store.’® But mostly he did not cavil at
barriers between the ranks and was more willing to accommodate
them than he had been with the differences in class and status in the
civil and intellectual worlds. There were moments of vanity - he was
plessed to be sauted as ‘the interventionist journalist Benito
Mussolini'. He had to recognise, none the less, that he was the only
soldier in his brigade to read the papers when they arrived sporadi-
caly from the plain. The snow and the bitter cold were what mattered
most to hiscomrades.'%?

At times, he was almost deferential, an unusual quality indeed for
him to exhibit. In March 1917 he was wounded by shrapnel when a
grenade exploded prematurely in an exercise behind the front - one
worthy biographer would claim that a piece had been headed for his
heart until blocked by a book he was carrying,’® while his paper
contended that he had endured afever of 40.2 degrees.”* As aresult of
hisinjury, hewasintroduced to King Victor Emmanuel 111, who wason
an official visit to the military hospital. They exchanged banalities,
which, throughout the Fascist regime, were replayed as grave and
significant:



Mussolini

'How are you, Mussolini?

'‘Not so wdll, Your Mgesty.'

'‘Bravo Mussolini! Put up with the immobility and the pain as you must.'
'Thanks, Y our Mgjesty.""®

In sum, Mussolini's war diary gained in meaning after its author was
elevated to dictatorship. Of course Mussolini the soldier was a patriot.
He was moved emotionally when he crossed the border of the Trentino
across which the Austrian authorities had once unceremoniously
bundled him. On one occasion he rejoiced that the war acted as a
melting pot of regionalisms from which a genuinely united Italy could
be forged.'® Similarly, the war experience confirmed his voluntarism,
his belief in the triumph of the will: "The winner of the war will be
whoever wants to win it. The winner will be the one who can dispose
of the greater reserves of psychic energy and resolution.™® No doubt
such attitudes are not easy to reconcile with Mussolini's pre-war
espousal of socialist materialism. However, on the variousfrontsof the
First World War, they do not really amount to a distinctive credo or set
of values. Corporal Mussolini was, in most ways, a soldier like any
other.

This normality, often in the past eschewed by the thrusting Duce,
was being confirmed in his own home. On 17 December 1915 after a
bout of typhus earned him first a stay in hospital (and two fraternal
visits from younger brother Arnaldo)'® and then furlough at home,
Mussolini formally married Rachele Guidi in a civil ceremony. Nine
months later, on 27 September 1916, she was delivered of a son,
named, appropriately for the moment, Vittorio. A second son, the
conventionally named Bruno, would be born on 22 April 1918, Sister
Edvige lived for atime with Rachele during that pregnancy. *® As ever
relieved of domestic duties, Mussolini on occasion had time to play
'some exercises by Liszt' with his young daughter and favourite child,
the now legitimised Edda. "

It was as well to get these family matters straight, because, on n
November 1915, Mussolini had fathered another son, called by his
mother Benito Albino. This other Benito was, it seems, eventually to
be a casualty of the Second World War."* The mother of the ill-fated
child was lda Irene Dalser from the Trentino, for a time owner of a
beauty salon in Milan which she sold to her lover's benefit and was
thereafter employed for a time on 77 Popolo d'ltalia. Her conjugal
status, as compared with Rachele's, was sufficiently accepted for
Mussolini's commanding officer to send an account of the bersaglieres
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illness to Ida, not Rachele — some evidence exists that |da and Benito
had undergone a form of religious marriage late in 1914."* And
Mussolini did acknowledge the liaison and pay Ida a variety of
aimony. On becoming dictator, acting as so often through Arnaldo, he
also provided a capital sum at 5 per cent for the life expenses of Benito
Albino, though he did not bother to see the child."® However, the war
was ensuring that Rachele would win the contest for Mussolini's affec-
tions against her competitor, whom she took to deriding as la matta
(the mad-woman), ironically visiting on her rival the soubriquet
which others had used to describe her husband. Her victory did not
curb Mussolini's other amours. According to their biographers,
Mussolini remained smitten by Margherita Sarfatti, who had
conquered her initial doubts about the war and become a patriot. Her
own eldest son, Roberto, died awar hero and his sacrificial death rein-
forced the political sympathies between Sarfatti and Mussolini."*
Whatever the character of this office relationship, events had made it
clear that Rachele would be Mussolini's legitimate wife and the person
who ran his domestic household. In his patriarchal and Mediterranean
eyes, there might be other women, but the war had confirmed that
there was only one Rachele.

His domestic arrangements might have been becoming somewhat
less Bohemian, but, in other ways, the great conflict was complicating
Mussolini's life. In 1914, among the socidists, he had seemed a dtar.
But the Italian entry into the First World War, however much desired
by Mussolini, had actually dimmed his political influence and
authority. During the intervento and then in the first years of military
campaigning, he had been unable to compete with such grandiose
figures as the lush poet and self-proclaimed world's greatest lover,
Gabriele D'Annunzio, weathy man-about-town and Futurist Chief,
Filippo Marinetti, and a dew of established Nationalists from philoso-
pher, Enrico Corradini, tojournalist and member of parliament, Luigi
Federzoni. Compared with such people Mussolini was very much a
boy from the back-blocks, sprung from a class well below their own
and possessed of a culture to which their natural reaction was scorn.
In the estimate of many, Mussolini remained a boorish provincial. It
was little wonder that the military authorities, believing that he had
not overcome his subversive past, decided not to send him on an
officer course."® His class and culture, they believed snobbishly, better
equipped him for the non-commissioned ranks.

Nor did // Popolo d'ltalia fare well while he was at the front. In the
weeks before his departure, he had combined vicious attacks on
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socidists (even Marx and Engels, he now argued, were German nation-
alists at heart),"® with a strident assertion that production would win
the war: 'Work and fight: in this formula lies the secret of victory."’
The present war, he proclaimed, was a people's war. Italians could be
as motivated to win it as were French revolutionary soldiers at Vamy
in 1792."® But, after he left office, the rhetorical energy of // Popolo
d'ltalia dissipated. His replacements at the editoria office lacked
Mussolini's passion and hisjournalistic and manageria skills - rather
than increasing the paper's sdes, his manager Morgagni was rumoured
to spend time and money furtively paying off Ida Dalser's hotel bills
and other extraordinary expenses."® At the sametime, the Fasci d'azione
rivoluzionariawerefading in significance, even though Mussolini wrote
from the battle front about their continuing purpose when the age of
"static" parties wasover.'?° By 1917 the paper wastumbling into finan-
cid trouble. Itwasbaled out for awhileby CesareGoldmann, aMilanese
businessman of Jewish origin, and, later that year, was also assisted by
the giant heavy-industrial, ship-building company, Ansaldo. ©

None the less Mussolini's wounding and hospitalisation occurred at
a moment of some opportunity. The survivingjournalists at // Popolo
d'ltalia had made much of their director's sacrifice. He was, they said,
the Duce, Garibaldi's heir, and, if that proud title was not sufficiently
expressive, he was also labelled 'The Inspirer', 'The Inciter', 'Ours.*®
Othersfrom his circle maintained that he could animate a causelike no
other.® Such outrageous grovelling seemed justified since, once
Mussolini re-occupied his editorial chair in June 1917, the paper
quickly regained its initial thrust. Now he insisted that Italians wage
what was to be called 'total war'. Though censorship was severe,
Mussolini, with his accustomed temerity, began to chalenge its
authority as he demanded a 'real’ government, one that was above all
bold and would fight 'the Germans, especidly the Imperia Germans,
with a will."** The pseudo-peacemaking of such feeble men as 'His
Holiness Pope Pilate XV must be rejected.’”® More and better propa-
ganda was required to enhance the crucial 'moral health' of the army
and so provide it with a 'soul’. Greater impulse was needed to give ‘a
"socid" content to the war effort'.*?® Mostly his language was tough
but, on one occasion, Mussolini let dip aresidual utopianism; then he
imagined an arcadian post-war world, where love would replace hate,
leisure suffering and production destruction. With the return of
peace, he cogitated briefly, there would be no more ‘convulsions,, but,
rather, a " detente" of soul and body"."*’

The battle of Caporetto ended such happy imaginings. Now
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Mussolini's most strident past warnings seemed justified as Italy
lurched to the edge of utter defeat. Against this threat, he proclaimed,
there must be total resistance, 'the Nation must be the army, the army
the Nation'."?® Italians must display the nobility of their stock and
march to the beat of ‘one heart only".**® Socialists and other traitors
should be trested without respect or mercy.® Frivolity must end,
orchestral concerts, theatres, race tracks and coffee shops be closed;
the whole people must be militarised and behave with soldiers' disci-
pline.® Nor should the peasants be forgotten: 'To save the peasantry
for the Nation, land must be given to the peasants, he wrote emphat-
ically.® The country should be handed over to those who were
fighting for it."®® In sum, he urged, Italy 'requires a government. A
man. A man who has when needed the delicate touch of an artist and
the heavy hand of a warrior. A man who is sensitive and full of will-
power. A man who knows and loves the people, and who can direct
and bend them with violence if required’. Under such a ruler - his
own choice for the office may be imagined — Italy could wage a 'war
which concentrates only on the war'. Then it would at last find a
‘government which is aso subtle and can adapt itsdlf to circumstances
and situations'. Its line would be simple: 'for the ingenuous and igno-
rant, propaganda; for the canaille, lead'.”**

Mussolini's sentiments were still too extreme for many (and his self-
interest was as blatant as usual), but his thoughts were not out of
kilter with the times. De Felice perhaps exaggerated a little when he
argued that Caporetto converted Mussolini from an agitator into a
politician.” However, there can be no doubt that the last year of the
conflict was fought in a new atmosphere, amounting to a sort of
‘people’'s war'. Such novelty gave potential space to a man of
Mussolini's class and culture. In December 1917 more than 150
deputies and 90 senators (including Salandra) joined in a Fascio parla-
mentare di difesa nazionale (Parliamentary union for national defence),
again utilising a word which was embedding itself into political
parlance. Mussolini duly hailed 'the 152 Fascist deputies' in an article
hewrotein January 1918."° New Prime Minister, the moderate Liberal
Orlando, similarly tried to sound both populist and nationalist,
hailing expansionism abroad and social reform at home, and appearing
to promise land distribution to his nation's 'heroic' peasant soldiery.
Mussolini may no longer have been a Marxist, but again the course of
history seemed to be going his way.

He would ill occasionaly describe himself as a 'sociadist’, but
there were almost always qualifying phrases. His socialism could only
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be 'anti-Marxist' and 'national'/*” he wrote, since 'to deny the Patria
means to deny your own mother'.®® Now his ancient antipathy for
American capitalists was forgotten as he celebrated the arrival of
soldiers of the 'New World' in Europe, full of the verve and drive of a
'young stock' (razza) and led by 'Woodrow Wilson the wise', a peer-
less leader who had demonstrated just how ‘holy' the Entente cause
was. " Mussolini till hankered for a 'dictatorship', which, he argued,
could as eadly be 'democratic’ as 'reactionary’. 'It is only a dictator-
ship which can pluck men from wherethey are and deploy theminthe
best way possible’ His candidate for this post was, he noted in May
1918, Wilson, the 'noble, the 'sharp and the resolute’.*** When Wilson
spoke, he assumed the part of Moses, transl ating Europeansto a better
world.** Even in January 1919, at which time he was urging that
'imperialismisthe eternal and unchanging ruleof life', Mussolini was
dill saluting 'Wilson's empire', which, he wrote lyricaly, knew no
bounds because it expressed 'the needs, hopes and faith of the human
soul'.* Wilson, his paper proclaimed, was 'the magnificent Duce of
the peoples.'*

Events in Russia, by contrast, appalled. The disgrace of the
Treaty of Brest Litovsk was exactly what official socialism offered
Italy in prospect.** Leninism entailed autocracy, bestiality, terror
and chaog™® the failure of 'socialism’/*® As he put it after the war
was over, Soviet socidists were no better than murderers/*” What
they were doing in Russia, they would, if given the chance, perpe-
trate in Italy as well.

A residue of the diaectic could ill be found in his mind, however.
At the end of 1917 he had explained more clearly that what he now
stood for was the trincerocrazia (rule by those who had experienced
the trenches). 'ltaly’, he declared, was dividing into two great parties
- 'those who have been there and those who haven't been; those who
have fought and those who haven't fought; those who have worked
and the parasites."* Production was what mattered most (not, as he
might have once thought, pay and conditions). An efficient adminis-
tration could easily mobilise 100 ooo women to replace physically fit
men, presently tied up in the factories.™ In August 1918 the sub-title
of 11 Popolo d'ltalia was changed from that of a 'socidist’ paper to one
of 'soldiers [combattenti] and producers, and Mussolini's editorial
declared ringingly that an international of such people was actualy
being born.'>°

In some other matters Mussolini's line was still inclined to swerve,
however. Inregard to ambitionsin Dalmatia, he was not yet an out and
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out nationalist, suggesting in April 1918, with a surviving optimism,
that 'moral values' could outweigh 'territorial' ones.™™* Similarly he
welcomed the suggestion of greater freedom for India, speaking
admiringly of what he thought were British 'step by step' plans
there.® Concerning the League of Nations, whose lineaments were
now being sketched, he was more sceptical. The conceptual base of
such an institution, he thought, did not fit the Italian 'forma mentis ,*»
Typically, he preferred realism to idealism. 'The "will to dominate”
was, he stated baldly, 'the fundamental law of the life of the universe
from its most rudimentary formsto its most elevated ones.">* Man was,
after al, driven by a 'divine bestiality'.”® Darwin weighed more
heavily on his mind than Marx had ever done.

On u November 1918 came the surprise end of hostilities on the
Western front, certainly not an event foreseen either by Mussolini or
by Italy's leadership. Naturally, // Popolo d'ltalia celebrated the
victory of the Entente. The fall of the Roman Empire or that of
Napoleon, Mussolini wrote with what might seem surprisingly nega-
tive or nervous reference, could not compare with its grandeur. Now,
he added, 'it makes you dizzy. The whole earth trembles. All conti-
nents are riven by the same crisis. There is not a single part of the
planet ... which is not shaken by the cyclone. In old Europe, men
disappear, systems break, institutions collapse’.® Citing Dante,
Mussolini orated about the prospect that ‘work' could be
'redeemed'.”®” Could the outbreak of peace ensure that real 'revolution'
which he had so often exalted?

Actually, of course, the conclusion of the war threatened another
dead-end for Benito Mussolini. With the fighting over, what did | eftist
interventionism now mean? How, still more importantly, could a man
who was merely first of his relatively humble class win respect and
influence in a world which most likely would return to the hands of
the old elites or their sons? It was al very well for Mussolini, still the
Francophile, to compare himself with Georges Clemenceau, the French
'Tiger', the Architect of Victory and a Jacobin turned nationalist.”®
But others might not readily accept the parallel. To win the respect he
deserved, more political work was necessary, and so, as early as 14
November 1918 Mussolini was trying to organise a meeting of his sort
of people: 'if, in acertain sense, the war was ours, so the postwar must
be ours, he stated hopefully.™ They might be called the Fasci per la
Costituente (Fascists for a Constituent Assembly).® His newspaper, he
recalled, in new phrases, had been 'virile in the Roman manner'. It
had kept dive its 'profound hatreds and loves. It was ready for future
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battle and future victory.’ It could be converted into ‘a great news-
paper of ideas, news and information'.*®

What remained imponderable was just who might join Mussolini
and to what end. The socia policies which he favoured had a radical
air. But what would | eftists make of hiscomment in February 1919 that
'the padrone ['boss, 'owner]l no longer exists, since the war had
demonstrated how Italians must work and produce together.
Moreover, Professor Mussolini sill had so many competitors in the
chaotic ranks of non- or anti-sociaist, pro-war, radicalism. Futurists,
syndicalists, 'democrats, the Associazione Nazionale dei Combattenti
(the main returned soldiers organisation),’®® Nationalists, Gabriele
D'Annunzio and many another hoped that the future was theirs, and
were convinced that they or their group had played the crucid role in
Italy's recent victory, and now knew how best to cash in their part in
it.

The political and intellectual world in the early months of 1919 was
in flux. Two words, however, were affording some encouragement to
Mussolini, and suggesting that a united approach might eventually be
possible. They were the obviousword, 'national’ and the lessfamiliar
but becoming ever more redolent, fascio. In February 1919 some 20
Fasci di combattimento (ex-servicemen's leagues) had sprung up in
places ranging from Venice and Milan, to Ferrara and Florence, to
Naples, Messina and Cagliari.® On 23 March 1919 Mussolini
summoned their representatives and a motley throng of other ex-
interventionists to a meeting in Milan.’® Among those attending were
Chiavoalini, Farinacci and Mannelli, now joined by Umberto Pasdlla,
Mario Giampaoli, Corrado Pavolini, Cesare Ross, Mario Gioda,
Ferruccio Vecchi, Marinetti and a number of others.’® All would have
roles, though varied ones, to play during the Fascist dictatorship. In a
building overlooking the Piazza San Sepolcro, they presently came
together to sketch a programme for a national organisation of Fasci di
combattimento. The Fascist movement was about to be officially born.
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ITH the beginning of the first year of peace, Benito Mussolini

stood at another crossroads. He was 35, the father of three legit-
imate children and the owner-editor of a newspaper which had made
asplashin Milan, Italy's most important city. He had established arep-
utation as an ablejournalist and an efficient manager. He was known
to labour and to play hard. A colleague on // Popolo d'ltalia, who soon
after would leave the paper, remembered how his editor loved to shut
himself in his office between coffees and threaten to shoot anyone who
interrupted him, a boast which was given a certain verisimilitude by
the fact that Mussolini, the spokesman of ex-soldiers, was aways
armed. He worked furiously but without the assistance of notes or
archive. 'Whatever he read went into his brain cells and stayed there.'
Any journalistic underling bold enough to enter his door was attacked
as producing rubbish, a conclusion which Mussolini regularly reached
even when he had not seen the piece in question. Mussolini himself
could write anywhere, and his articles were as likely to be composed
at the theatre or coffee shop, amid gossiping friends, as at the office.
This Mussolini was much given to mood swings, 'a cruel sentimental-
ist', a man who combined the 'ferocity of atyrant' with ‘the hesitations
of a child'. Altogether he was one who 'never resisted temptation'. He
could also laugh at typographical dlips(anotherjournalist remembered
his easy smile* and many warmed to his 'geniality’); hejoked that his
children amounted to 'the printers' errors of an intelligent man'.
Among his offspring, he added, the newspaper constituted his 'most
perfect child'.? Ashisregime's propagandistswould loveto underline,
Mussolini honed his knowledge of people while acting as an editor:
‘Journalism’, he said, 'led meto understand the human material from
which politicsismade'.’
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The first months of Fascism, 1919-1920

A not unfriendly police official reporting in June 1919 to the new
Prime Minister, the worthy but unimaginative economist Francesco
Saverio Nitti, amplified this picture, observing that Mussolini was of
strong constitution. His day began late; usualy he did not leave his
home until around mid-day.* Having departed, however, he was not
accustomed to return there until 3 am. By the estimate of the time, he
Wastou%h and manly, although his sexual conquests and hisvictories
in duels’ might now be written off as boys games. He had served in
thewar, and, at aminimum, not disgraced himself. Hisexperiences at
the front made it easy for him to claim to represent Italian soldiery
and, in some senses, he did. He could speechify over considerable
span, adopting a crudely populist tone on most occasions but also
aspiring to intellectual profundity. Whatever the audience, he could
be relied on to express views, both spoken and written, on topics
which ranged from foreign affairs to Milanese city politics. In every
circumstance as a speaker he sparkled. His ‘emotionality’ and 'impul-
siveness rendered his words spellbinding, even though he lacked the
gravitas of a real orator. He was, the report ran on, 'at base a senti-
mentalist and his quality in that regard draws him much sympathy
and many friends'. At the same time, he was a ruthless and brutal
purveyor of polemic in the debates which were a habitual part of
Italian political life, especialy when they concerned self-defined
membersof theintelligentsia. Rabble-rouser, philosopher, factional or
party chief, he had sought to master all these briefs, and could make a
fist of each of them. He was liberal with any funds which fell into his
hands, the police analysis continued, certainly not personally
grasping. His conversion to supporting the war, the official believed
perhaps too easily, had not been won through corruption, but rather
genuinely reflected his ideals. Mussolini rallied behind his friends
whatever the cause. At the same time, he was a good hater of his
enemies. Very intelligent, he knew how to measure men and swiftly
assay their strengths and weaknesses.®

Inthislengthy appraisal, Nitti was being told that, in thetraditions
of Liberal Italy, Mussolini was a politician-in-waiting. As the police
report reminded the Prime Minister, the editor of // Popolo d'ltalia was
'intensely ambitious' and 'did not always stick to his convictions and
ideals; above al, he would not rest content with second place in any
ordering of society.” De Felice and his followers® have argued, with
obvious contemporary political motive, that the Mussolini here
described still belonged on the left (and aways retained a socidist
humus for his ideas). And yet, in being so fixated on his alleged
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ideology, they ignore behaviour patterns familiar in the rest of Italian
history. Take the case of Francesco Crispi, an emblematic figure espe-
cially because Fascist propagandists loved to depict him as a precursor
of the Duce.’ At the peak of his success in the 18905, Crispi combined
hard-line conservative politics at home, in which he did not blanch at
summoning the army to shoot peasant protesters, with imperialism
abroad (even if it ended in tears at Adowa). In the aftermath of this
defeat, Crispi's career collapsed. But moretelling isthefact that he had
begun his political life in the 18508 as a provincia Sicilian lawyer
committed to the ‘revolutionary' overthrow of the Bourbon regime. He
was, in other words, another ambitious boy brought up far from the
centres of power, favouring 'revolution' as a term which more than
anything else would guarantee his own elevation. After 1860, in the
society of united Italy, he continued to think of himself as belonging
to the left. However, his own need for social comfort - a vivid sex life
was expensive — and the ordinary processes of trasformismo pushed
him steadily to the right where greater reward and opportunity lay.

Crisi's case was an extreme one, but as a rough model it illustrates
the history of many an Italian politician, both in the Liberal era and in
the Republic after 1946. In early 1919 there were plenty of reasons to
imagine that Mussolini might find a smilar route to ‘transformation’.
His lifestyle was unthrifty. He had just moved his family to a larger
and more commodious flat in the central Foro Bonaparte and he
retained a fascination with fast cars (in October 1919 he was lucky to
survive a crash at ill-omened Faenza).*° In 1921 he was to become the
proud owner of a new four-cylinder sports Alfa." He continued to take
fencing lessons and to duel. He dreamed of flying.*? Nor was his family
cheap. There were medical expenses when, in October 1918 he caught
the Spanish flu as did Rachele who suffered the more.® The next year
baby Bruno amost died from diphtheria'® Perhaps his mistress
Margherita Sarfatti paid the bills; she was rich enough to do so and, on
the edge of forty, she may have been in generous mood. With or
without her prompting, as he drifted up-market in his patterns of
behaviour, Mussolini began to cultivate a fresh image, shaving off his
moustache, wearing collared shirts, and generally aiming at a new
elegance.

These persona matters hinted a something more political. There
was one overwhelming argument why neither Mussolini nor Italy
could resume pre-igi5 life— the First World War and dl that it implied
and had been made to imply. Crispi had twisted his way through the
thicketsof Liberal factional and interest politics. Heexistedinaworld
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where the suffrage extended to no more than 7 per cent of adult males
and where the great majority of the population was by definition
excluded from even a remote influence on the public exercise of
power. Already, before 1914, this old world was dlipping into criss,
and the war confirmed that its systems no longer worked. The
dopoguerra or post-war was to be the 'age of the masses, the time when
politics were no longer constructed from back-room deals but rather
spoken out emphatically to a public who would need the organisation
of a mass party and the cultural hegemony of a mass ideology. While
Mussolini strove ostentatiously to await his call to ‘transform’, both he
and his social betters glimpsed the reality that 'new', post-war politics
must somehow embrace 'mass man'.

In reality the fug of the back-room lingered in Fascist practice (just
asit lingers in our own world). However, in terms of presentation and
representation — that is, the marketing of politics, both to the people
and to financial and intellectual elites - by 1919 it had become neces-
sary to proclaim that politics reflected the masses will and was rooted
in their needs. Moreover, in any attempt to construct a credible
programme, recent history, and so the meaning of the First World War,
bulked large. All politicians had to take a stance on the war.

Here Mussolini seemed fortunate. In the simplest of understand-
ings, he had been right about the course and the character of that
conflict. He had punted on Italy, France and Britain winning it, and
the Entente, with the belated help of the USA and the simultaneous
defection of Russia into revolution, had done so. The socialists, whom
he had abandoned, had tried to pursue an honourable line of 'neither
support nor sabotage' towards the national effort, but their policy was
too subtle and too virtuous to be explained away polemically. In the
post-war era, socialism could only thrive if Italian entry into the
conflict was al but universally accepted to have been a disaster. So
much human travail had been expended in the fighting that such a
renunciation of history, however intellectually convincing, seemed
unlikely to appeal to the majority of the Italian populace. In 1919 the
forces hostile to socialism could rely on a natural electorate of those
who craved a positive memory of the war.

To be sure, theimpact of the war was rather more complicated than
it might at first seem. After dl, the nation-state, Italy, had proved an
unreliable victor in the conflict. Indeed, as Foreign Minister Sonnino
and Prime Minister Orlando were fumbling their aims and propaganda
during the Versalles peacemaking and drastically failing to re-make
themselves and their country 'Wilsonian',® Italy began to acquire
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what has been wittily called 'an honorary losar' status in the interna-
tional sphere of post-war politics. Whatever might be thought of its
wartime sacrifice, Italy had again been shown up as no more than the
least of the Great Powers and maybe not even that. Mussolini, too, in
early 1919 could easly be read as one who had personally snatched
defeat from the jaws of victory. Who, after al, constituted his elec-
torate and who were his power brokers? The old elites and their
younger comrades in the Nationalist Association had found
Mussolini's skills useful throughout the war and especidly in the
period after Caporetto, when Italy's leaders wanted any help they
could get to raise national consciousness and steel the determination
to fight. Mussolini had excelled as a drummer for their cause. But did
the cause have a future? And how could it be reconciled with
Mussolini's own provincidity, his evident limitations as a boy from
Predappio who had been merdly first in his class? It was not as though
Mussolini had been the only propagandist of a nationalised Italian war
effort. How could he not now acknowledge the seniority in both class
and intellectua terms of D'Annunzio, Corradini, Salvemini and many
other potential new politicians, who, however divided one from
another, also hoped in the new peace to earn credit from their careers
as wartime patriots?

If that was Mussolini's problem 'above, he also confronted evident
difficulties 'below'. Whenever he wanted to connect with the masses
of a class statusinferior to his own, what ideas could he use? Were not
the majority of the Italian people, in processes which again had been
reinforced by the nature of national participation in the First World
War, by now committed either to the socialists, or to the Catholics?
The latter had, on 18 January 1919, published a manifesto announcing
the formation of a mass party, the Partito Popolare Italiano or PPI, to
be led, somewhat ambiguously, by a Sicilian radical priest, Luigi
Sturze. The PPl and that ancient anti-clerical Benito Mussolini had
little reason to be friends, while the mutual hatreds of the war stood as
an impenetrable barrier against any resumption of Mussolini's
socidism. As the delegates arrived for the founding meeting of the
Fasci di combattimento at the building which looked out over the
Piazza San Sepolcro (Holy Sepulchre Square), Mussolini must have
wondered somewhat despairingly how he might locate a space
wherein his promise as a politician could be made good. For the
present, and, indeed, for most of 1919, there were many grounds to
fear that time was burying him. In the small print, was he about to find
that, after al, he had 'lost' his First World War?
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Yet aresurrection did lie ahead, and just over three and a half years
later Mussolini had accepted his designation as Italy's youngest Prime
Minister. During that short period the range of ideas which the Fasci
di combattimento espoused were hammered into a credible political
programme. And the indispensable leader of the Fasci, their only
plausible national political chief, had become Benito Mussolini. He,
and no other, had assumed the role of their Duce. How, then, did the
fragility and weakness of March 1919 turninto the political triumph of
28 October 19227

In Mussolini's Complete Works, as collected and published by his
admirersin the 19505, the meeting at San Sepolcro is described glow-
ingly as 'the actual birth of Fascism'.® This claim is, however, a
simplification of the complex state of the Italian new right in the
spring of 1919. In the gloom of the Second World War, Mussolini
would, with typically savage cynicism, dismiss those who joined him
in Milan as men of ‘trifling quality’.”” At the time, however, it was
Mussolini himself who was the more obvious bit-player. Among those
in attendance, for the moment more celebrated and more active than
Mussolini, were Ferruccio Vecchi and ET. Marinetti. Vecchi was the
leader of what he called Arditismo civile, that is, a group which strove
to chart a peacetime presence for the wartime ideals of the Arditi, or
crack troops, now discharged from the national forces. Vecchi, too,
owned a paper — L'Ardito — and viewed the Mussolinian // Popolo
d'ltalia as just ‘another anti-Bolshevik' organ.® His movement
possessed the smatterings of an ideology - Vecchi spoke of a reliance
on youth, a commitment to compulsory military service and a popular
army, and a dedication to a reformed education system which would
genialy split the school-day into three hours of formal lessons and
three hours of sport and gymnastics."* Others of his ideas were till
more idiosyncratic. Vecchi deemed Milan 'the sacred city of italianita’,
and, perhaps to separate himself from Florence-based Nationalists, he
even dared to doubt adulation of Dante Alighieri, automatically
accepted elsewhere as the poet who first lit the path to a glorious
national future. For Vecchi, Garibaldi, a man of action rather than
words (and not a Florentine), was 'more of a poet than was Dante'.° To
make taut their political will, followers of Arditismo civile, he said,
should adopt the slogan ‘first the Patria, then the family, then we
ourselves, then the international’. Rather more passionately, the Arditi
also pledged their utter opposition to sociaism, clericalism and all
forms of middle-class passivity (borghesmi).?

Along with a programme went a ritual - Italians, by definition
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aware of the Vatican and al its works, rarely forbore for long to clam
that their ideals were bolstered by a rdigious impulse from which a
ceremonial naturally sprang. So the Arditi wore in peacetime the black
shirts which had marked them out in war; 0, too, they developed the
chant A noi (which might be best translated as meaning 'ltaly belongs
to us) meant to signa their unity and their fiddity to the cause®
Vecchi was not always a patient lobbyist for his ideals. One unkind
critic remembered the Arditi wandering from one Milan bar to the
next, imposing in their black shirts, but otherwise without an obvious
purpose, 'talking loudly until boozed into silence.”® By contrast, a
more reverent ex-military chaplain wrote in praise of the Arditi's
youthfully generous chivalry and willingness to fight to the death
against 'barbarian’ enemies at home and abroad.** Another fan spoke
of the the way the Arditi embodied 'the unchanging genius of the
national stock’, exuding an Italian elan vital against the leaden heavi-
ness of Germanism. At the front, they had intrepidly engaged in the
‘gymnastics of war'; in peace, they would want 'little formal disci-
pline, no bureaucracy, the most flexible of hierarchies. Manly in
every sense, they fused thought, beauty and action; a new aristocracy,
they were the enemies of traitors wherever they might hide.”

In February 1919, though still believing the Futurists to be too
verbal and too detached from the mass of ordinary ex-soldiers®
Vecchi had formally met with Marinetti to discuss ways to construct a
more practical base for this pot-pourri of ideas. Marinetti was very
much an established member of the local intelligentsia, a person with
an acknowledged media profile. He was also a man of many contradic-
tions - the revolutionary critic of bourgeois dullness and tedium
whose family house was an ornate villa in one of the more sought-after
streets in Milan;?’ the bold advocate of phallocracy and the end of
marriage who, in 1919, began living with a much younger woman
whom he would formally wed four years later and by whom he was
hen-pecked;?® the strident patriot who never quite abandoned the
hope of cosmopolitan recognition in Paris. In most eyes, Marinetti's
determination to push every issue beyond its logical conclusion as
well as his exquisitely bourgeois desire to upset the bourgeoisie,
scarcely rendered him a credible political figure. The tone of an article
he wrote early in 1919, in which he imagined that the most positive
result from the war might be the sudden arrival of men from all over
the world and from 'the most diverse races ... uniting in disordered
and rapid coitus with just one woman' and thus publicly over-
throwing the traditional family, was hardly calculated to win mass

130



The first months of Fascism, 1919-1920

appeal.?® Nor did his demand that the Papacy be expelled from Rome
in order 'to free Italy from the Catholic mentality’ seem likely to turn
into general policy. ™ It made Mussolini, for one, write Marinetti off as
an 'authentic buffoon’, a man to be disliked and discounted.® Given
the Futurist chief's vagaries, it is not altogether surprising to find an
acolyte of the movement from Rome suggesting that not Marinetti but
Mussolini might be 'the new man' of whom the movement had
dreamed and wanted to ‘adore'."?

None the less, among the restless intelligentsia of Milan - people
who agreed, or said they agreed, with Marinetti that 'our race outdoes
all other racesin the huge number of geniuses it produces' — Marinetti
retained great cachet. On 15 April he and Vecchi turned some of their
words into actions. After meeting at one of the elegant pasticcerie in
the Milan Galleria, and proclaiming their vocation as 'assault journal -
ists,'® Marinetti and Vecchi marched to the nearby headquarters of
the socialist Avanti! and proceeded to sack the place, in what was
eventually mythologised as 'the first victory of Fascism'.>* Mussolini
himself did not accompany the punitive expedition. However, on 17
April he tried to make the best out of both worlds, explaining in an
interview he was granted by // Giornale d'ltalia, that, although the
attack had been spontaneous, he himself accepted the ‘whole moral
responsibility for the episode’.” The respectable readers of these
words were meant to realise that Mussolini was suggesting that he
could again become a useful ally for Italy's socia elites, a prospect
which was reinforced when the police showed little interest in
punishing those who beat up unpatriotic newsmen. The socialist press
similarly tried to capitalise on the event, preferring to blame the 'rat’
Mussolini rather than the more outré Vecchi and Marinetti, even
though by doing so they reinforced Mussolini's continuing political
presence.

To be sure, doubts lingered about Mussolini's exact political posi-
tioning. If, beneath their verbiage, Vecchi and Marinetti belonged to a
right of some kind, others among Mussolini's associates in these
months were much more likely to talk about social revolution and to
sound as if they might mean it. The first secretary of the Fasci di
combattimento was Attilio Longoni, an airman, but one who had once
been a railway-worker and syndicalist. His more active replacement
from September 1919 was another syndicalist, Umberto Pascila.®
Mussolini himself, only two days after the San Sepolcro assembly,
announced that 'the hour of syndicalism' had sounded; it was, he said,
an ideology which could trace a third way between class struggle and

131



Mussolini

class collaboration.®” As A.O. Olivetti, a more subtle proponent of this
credo, had been stating, syndicalists could find their class identity
within the nation rather than in opposition to it.* It was unnecessary
to be utterly precise ideologically, Mussolini was soon adding, since
the Fascist movement was an 'anti-party without a constitution and
without rules'. It had as yet no ultimate solution for issues relating to
the monarchy or the Church or even socialism - in April 1919 there
were rumours that Mussolini had made soundings about his possible
return to his old party®® - or, indeed, any matter. Fascists were
practiaal people who looked to practical choices and foreswore the a
priori.™

Another way to describe this position is, of course, that it was one
of confusion and opportunism. Certainly, compiling a heat account of
Mussolini's array of ideas - thejournalist kept pumping out his trucu-
lent pieces in // Popolo d'ltalia — may well be a foolhardy venture. As
had been true now for aimost a decade, one area of Mussolini's exper-
tise was foreign affairs; those skilled in understanding such matters
alone possessed the kudos needed by any leader who aspired to recog-
nition beyond the humdrum world. Readers of the paper could note
Mussolini's inveighing againgt Britain, 'the fattest and most bourgeois
nation in the world.** Eire and Egypt, he demanded, should be set
free; Malta should become Italian.** Woodrow Wilson, whom a few
months before he had so admired, was now mocked as fundamentally
‘anti-Europe’ and ‘anti-Latin', at best a muddled professor.* The final
signature of the Treaty of Versailles, Mussolini admonished in early
June, did not mark the end of history. Whatever was presently agreed
at Paris, Italians must not renounce the heritage which had come from
the decision in 1915 to intervene. Instead, they must proudly recall
that the great conflict had represented the first war fought by ‘all
Italians' since the collapse of the Roman empire.** The port of 'Fiume
(or Rijeka) in the north-eastern Adriatic should not be abandoned;
whatever the wishes of the new Kingdom of the Serbs, Croats and
Slovenes, or of 'international plutocracy', Fiume must remain Italian.*

The last reference was not the only hint of anti-Semitism in
Mussolini's phrasings at this time, an anti-Semitism which, though
infrequently expressed in Italy, could be found more stridently in the
pages of La Vita Italiana. Thisjournal was edited by 'Dott." Giovanni
Preziosi, an unfrocked priest, and boasted among its regular contribu-
torsthe economist Maffeo Pantaleoni, business chiefs Oscar Sinigaglia
and Dante Ferraris (themselves patriotic Jews), nationalist Corradini,
philosopher Pareto, and a number of other intellectuals and politicians
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of a class and influence superior to Mussolini's.* In one of Mussolini's
denunciations of 'Leninism' in Russia, he used words which he might
have borrowed from Preziosi. 'Eighty per cent' of the Bolshevik |ead-
ership, Mussolini remarked, were Jews who, in their secret plots, were
actually in the service of the Jewish bankers of London and New Y ork.
'Race’, Mussolini wrote in words to be invoked again after 1938, 'does
not betray race."*’

Those commentators anxious to argue that Fascism, like Nazism,
was aways committed to 'a war against the Jews, emphasise the
fervour of these phrases.”® More likely, what they signify is
Mussolini's chameleon-like ability to take on the colour and tone of the
discourse which surrounded him. Indeed, hardly had he exposed
these 'Jewish conspiracies than he was writing in favour of the
heavily Jewish revolutionaries of Hungary, where their policies could
be read as putting off social revolution while they tried patriotically to
defend their country against an invading Romanian army.*® Nor was
Mussolini consistent in his dislike of financiers and businessmen. His
first article on the new government attacked Nitti but praised the role
taken on by Dante Ferraris, the president of Confindustria, the big
business league, and a regular and generous contributor to nationalist
causes. Ferraris, Mussolini wrote ingratiatingly, was a 'self-made man'
[sZc], a man of action who was committed to saving Italy from social
disintegration and simultaneously to modernising Italian industry and
ltalian industrialists.®® As if in proof of his new interest in such a
world, Mussolini, one day in the spring of 1920, braved the floor of the
Milan Stock Exchange, with a friendly journalist taking pains to
explain the arcane deals going on there.”

Despite the breadth and ambition of his commentary on the state of
the world, Mussolini's most common phrases were truculently
directed at the more homely matter of lambasting the mainstream
socialist party. Sociaists, Mussolini typically recalled, had, in 1914,
taken Italy into a 'civil war', a conflict which had still not ended. It
was not a fight between rich and poor as socialists liked to argue, he
explained, but rather one between 'national’ and ‘anti-national’
forces, a dispute based not on economics but on mentality.>* The
contest was not material but spiritual.

In other words, despite his yearning for social recognition,
Mussolini was at his most verbally consistent in his hostility to
socialism. Nevertheless, as the polemics heated up, the initiative in
this running dispute seemed to lie not with Mussolini, who, in August
1919, was again reduced to making plaintive appeals for new
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subscriptions to save // Popolo d'ltalia from collapse,® but with the
socidists. Though they did not cease their cry that Mussolini was a
'rat" who had been bought and sold, another soiled hireling of the
bosses,> the socialist movement had more than Mussolini on its mind.
Nitti's goverment was offering the lack-lustre dogan 'produce more -
consume less™ to an Italy which was drastically dislocated by the
problems of fitting a war economy, society and polity to peace. Could
this, socialists asked in hope, and their enemiesin fear, be the hour of
the revolution when, as the words of a contemporary song ran aggres-
sively, 'we shall do asthey are doing in Russia. Whoever doesn't work,
won't eat'?*® New members were flocking into socialist unions and,
even if amuch publicised strike in favour of Russiafailed in July (and
was bitterly condemned by Mussolini and his friends),” in the elec-
tion to be held in November the socialist vote promised to be high. It
was al very well for the Fasci to draft radical sounding programmes
involving swingeing taxes on war profiteers, areduction in the voting
age for men and votes for women, an 8-hour day, the abolition of the
Senate®® and many another leftist cause (even refurbishing the ancient
catch-cry of seizing ecclesiastical goods).> But it was the socialists
who, during the autumn and winter of 1919, seemed to be riding the
wave of history and who could afford to deride the small and divided
Fasci di combattimento. A historian tabulated 16 rival groups who,
earlier in 1919, had been using the word fascio to describe them-
selves® Ranging from anarchists to restless bourgeois university
students, these ‘'fascists' had nothing in common except their name.
It was true that in August 1919 Mussolini somehow found the funds
to float a new journal, entitled // Fascio, whose aim wasto help define
the movement, and that, by then, the Fasci di combattimento were
becoming the best known of the competing groups. Even if ‘fascism'
could be thus confined, an ample political space for its followers was
still hard to discern in post-war Italy. One event, however, was about
to give anew cast to Italy's postwar crisis and, in thelong run, to open
important opportunity for Benito Mussolini. On 12 September 1919
poet Gabriele D'Annunzio, saluted by Vecchi as the 'great Duce',* led
a band of what were claimed to be 1000 myrmidons, the same humber
who had once accompanied Garibaldi to Sicily, to seize Fiume, a
humble town of 49000, which speechifying had converted into a
Great National Cause. There, D'Annunzio established what has been
called a 'lyrical dictatorship',%? pledged to defending the city's ital-
ianita against all comers. He aso flirted with socia revolution,
collaborating with syndicalist Alceste De Ambrisin drafting the Carta
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del Carnaro (Carnaro charter), a document destined to be glossed as a
precursor of Fascist corporatism."> De Ambris himself would soon
break with Fascism, writing bitterly of Mussolini's 'monstrous egoism’
and his 'crafty political gamesmanship’, which had taken Fascism
towards a 'reactionary involution’, made it an instrument of the
landowners, and betrayed Fiume."* Oblivious to such bickering,
D'Annunzio, with characteristic advertising flair, sought new propa
ganda techniques to win the souls of the townspeople. According to
some historians, the poet was pioneering the coming modern and
Fascist worlds.”™

In retrospect, D'Annunzio appears at least as unlikely a political
figure as was Marinetti. The two poets cordially disliked each other
and each deprecated hisrival's use of words. If Marinetti (born 1876)
had tried to be stedy, hymning the rise of the machine, D'Annunzio
(born 1863) had made a name for himself through the lushness of his
language and the arch pornography of his themes. Each had condi-
tioned his commitment to a Great Italy with a love of Paris.
D'Annunzio, who had the higher international reputation, had lived
for long periodsin France. However, he, too, had rallied to Italy's war,
been prominent at interventionist demonstrations, and, during the
conflict, had completed well-publicised expeditions, notably an
intrepid aerial raid on Vienna on 9 August 1918 Whatever the ambi-
guity of his past role and present lifestyle, D'Annunzio had become
identified with the new nationalist cause and was viewed by some,
and especially by himself, as a credible national leader.

Not surprisingly Mussolini did not warm to D'Annunzio arid his
little free state. The class and cultural backgrounds of the two leaders
were wildly different. None the less, both now and later, Mussolini
sought to utilise any headline which D'Annunzio might stimulate and
harness any resulting energy for his own purposes. A version of events
common after 1922 would praise the way in which Mussolini and
D'Annunzio worked together during the occupation of Fiume in
sketching the lineaments of a new politics at home and abroad. In
practice, however, Mussolini evinced little desire to join the poet in
Fiume, where he had reason to fear that his burgeoning charisma
would fall under the shadow of the poet's own and might indeed be
blighted for ever. Mussolini's tilting for Fiume was restricted to the
rhetorical. In // Popolo d'ltalia, he hailed the occupation of the city as
a grandiose gesture of revolt against 'the plutocratic Western coali-
tion', 'sharks every one”® The 'pseudo-economist' Nitti, he added,
dulled by the Bourbon mentality that could be expected of a man of
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the South, could never begin to comprehend such grandeur.®’
Mussolini even made a flying visit to Fiume on 7 October. But that trip
was designed to publicise afirst national congress of Fasci di combat-
timento - with what would become accustomed military vocabulary,
Mussolini was calling it an adunata, or muster. With the efficient help
of Pasella, who did not hide his dislike of D'Annunzio's silliness, this
meeting had been summoned to Florence for 9-10 October. There it
was Mussolini who was meant to cut a figure in the world of new poli-
tics, not D'Annunzio. In language that was still deliberately opaque,
Mussolini used the moment to proclaim the rise of a group which was
'not republican, not socialist, not democratic, not conservative, not
nationalist’, but was young and did believe in the cause of the war. It
was destined to unitein ‘asynthesis of al negations and all positives,
especially as its members campaigned against Nitti, Sua Indecenza
Cagoia (His Indecency, the Shit-Bag).%®

Rather than sacrificing al for Fiume, Mussolini was directing his
attention to the fast-approaching national elections in which he was
standing as a candidate in Milan. In articles and speeches he tried to
mobilise support and his singing of the Arditi anthem Giovinezza at
public adunate was directed to the same end.®® Mussolini continued to
gress his 'lack of prejudice’ philosophically and his determination to
solve Italy's problems practically as a soldier might. 'Only the intelli-
gent and the strong-willed', he declared, had 'the right to decide the
country's fate'.’”” Ever more blatantly, Mussolini was underlining his
departure from his socialist past and his willingness to adapt himself
to those social goals which he had once opposed.

For the moment, few listened. On polling day, Mussolini garnered
fewer than 5000 votes in his electorate. The anti-war parties, the
Socidists and the PPI, were, by contrast, triumphant, winning
between them just over half the 508 seats in the Chamber of Deputies.
The sociadlists aone took 156 and, on 19 November, Avanti! exulted
that 'the Italy of the revolution is born.” Those who wished to save
the old social order and those who had favoured Italy's First World War
had reason to be depressed, even though D'Annunzio remained in
Fiume. There the poet, too, seemed to be yielding to a new radicalism,
in what he avouched was ‘the city of life',”> an indulgence in revolu-
tionary rhetoric that distressed such otherwise friendly business lead-
ers as Sinigaglia. Others noticed that D'Annunzio's 'legionaries, as he
was pompously calling them, and especially the airmen, sometimes
sought refuge from their persona travails in cocaine, a drug which was
becoming common among the post-war beau monde.”
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One who refused to bow to what seemed the new reality was Benito
Mussolini, even though at the end of 1919 branches of the Fasci only
maintained a feeble existence in Milan, Turin, Venice, Cremona,
Bolognaand Trieste.”* He boldly disguised hiselectoral rout as'apolit-
ica affirmation’, 'neither a victory, nor adefeat’.” As for the socialists,
he prophesied that they would not crow for ever. In the French elec-
tions, their comrades had done badly. In Itay, there was a yawning
gap between the socialist vote and the socialist ideological penetration
of the masses. 'Strike-mania’ could not last, and the socidist revolu-
tion was far from completion."* 'There are victories which are as
crushing as defeats, Mussolini concluded,” as he optimistically
scanned the right for some political space.

Briefly, his enterprise was interrupted when, in the aftermath of the
elections, he, along with VVecchi and Marinetti, was arrested on Nitti's
orders. The police had uncovered a store of arms which Mussolini and
his friends were illegally holding. However, almost as quickly, and
again on prime ministerial intervention, the supporters of the Fasci
werereleased, and Nitti ignored suggestions from the Prefect of Milan
that the weapons-possession charge be prosecuted.” Besat by many
enemies, Nitti had apparently decided that his sort of liberal should
not renounce contact with Mussolini, who could thereby continue to
draw advantage from the prospect of his 'transformation’. Though
defeated at the polls, Mussolini had not been expelled from the polit-
ical stage.

Indeed, hardly had the electora excitement settled than there were
momentary suggestions that Mussolini might be just the man to
accompany industrialist Ettore Conti” on an official expedition to the
Caucasus, where it was imagined the nation might be granted a
mandate and where local Mensheviks might warm to a personage like
him. In the pages of La Vita Italiana, Sinigagliatold a nationalist read-
ership that trade prospects were good but blamed Nitti for not
pressing ahead with negotiations in that part of the ex-Russian
empire.® The mission had been put off. Mussolini, by February 1920,
with aplomb or effrontery, explained that he was not going to Baku
because he had realised that it would be unpatriotic to absent himself
from Italy while the Fiume question remained unresolved.® Of course
he had never dreamed of supping with the despised Cagoia.

What the aborted affair of the Caucasusreally signified wasthat the
Fasci, despite the bleakness of the current political situation, were
indeed winning a new set of converts. Among the first was Vincenzo
Fani Ciotti, a sickly middle-class litterateur (he lived mostly on the
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Riviera) who published under the pseudonym 'Volt'. Fani Ciotti had a
background in orthodox nationalism and had truck with the Futurists.
But, when he joined Mussolini, he thought of himsalf as an 'inte-
gralist', one who approved of 'the monarchy, religion, hierarchy, a
disciplined concord between individuals and classes, a generational
solidarity proceeding across time, heredity, family, racial sdection,
dominion, empire'.?? The society he most admired was, he said,
Japan.2 All history, he maintained, was dominated by aristocracies
and Mussolini was thus 'the Duce of an aristocracy which is ill to be
created'.®* Fani Ciotti, it was plain, embodied a Fascist right which
tolerated with difficulty the radical chic of Marinetti and Vecchi, and
which saw little future in Mussolini's own lingering forays into
populist syndicalism.

By the end of 1919, then, many factors were driving Mussolini
further to the right. The son of Alessandro might retain a barely
suppressed resentment towards his socia betters, and his wife
Rachele, with a never diminished crassness, might endorse such
hostility in their domestic conversations, but Mussolini was set on a
political course which was, above everything else, anti-socialist. Not
for nothing would his new year's message to his readers for 1920 urge
'‘a return to the individual', which almost sounded as though
Mussolini was readying himself for our own contemporary marketised
end of history.85 His friends, and therefore he, too, were determined to
crush the socialist movement, both politically and throughout civil
society. In 1920 this determination deepened and spread, and
'Fascism', despite being till highly local in its base and organisation,
began to exhibit the first signs of a national appeal and purpose.

The Fascist minister, Raffaello Riccardi, later re-invoked these early
days of Fascism in the region of the Marche. At his own town of
Senigallia, just north of Ancona on the Adriatic coast - and a place of
republican traditions but one where the local middle classes deplored
what they viewed as socialist violence and lack of patriotism - Fascist
supporters began in 1920 to assemble at the circolo cittadino, or club
for more respectable citizens. Indeed, one imaginative youth, sprung
from what Riccardi described as the more manly of the town middle
classes, appropriated one of the club's billiard cues to serve as the staff
on which to affix the pennon of their infant anti-socialiss movement.
An ex-member of the arditi had purloined a black petticoat from his
mother's store and the 'squad’, as it called itself, inscribed it worthily
with the Latin tag custodes et ultores (guards and avengers).®™ As the
group's socia activities and ambitions grew, Riccardi was selected to
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travel to Milan in order to meet Mussolini and bring the local into
contact with the national. He found the Duce furiously scowling while
he scanned a newspaper in his office and Riccardi wasignored until he
explained that he was a Fascist from the Marche who needed to
acquire arms. In response, Mussolini scribbled an address on a piece of
paper which he then signed, and promptly went back to his reading.
Riccardi noticed the dynamism of his future Duce's eyes, and hurried
off to collect two bags of revolvers and grenades® For provincials
willing to be star struck, Mussolini could offer charisma, contacts, a
ruthless approval of violence and an ability to locate the weapons they
needed.

Elsewhere in northern Italy, similar but rather grander evenl s were
beginning to occur, if at first dowly. In Trieste, a city where 'Anli-Slav'
bands had not been unknown even under Habsburg rule,® Francesco
Giunta and others were uniting to destroy any opposition which they
could find from 'Slavs and 'communists.® In the Po valley and
Tuscany, opponents of socialism grew restive at what seemed to them
aviolent local tyranny in which the poorest classes threatened to over-
turn all "civilization'. In Pugliain the south memories revived of those
squads which, during the first years of the century, aready in one
town or another were accustomed to stiffen the power of the local
landowners.®" By March 1920 Mussolini admitted that, personally, he
did not now mind being labelled a reactionary: 'the title pleases us,
because, at the present time, amid the orgy of revolutionary words, to
be areactionary is a sign of nobility ... to a minority movement like
our own', even though, somewhat apologeticaly, he aso took the
occasion to reiterate his continuing commitment to a series of social
reforms.” At much the sametime, he again summoned the ‘freedom of
the individual' to his rhetorical cause. The state turned into a
'Moloch', he declared, when it tried to be 'a banker, a lender,
agambling-house keeper, a seaman, a bandit, an insurer, a postman, a
railway-worker, an impresario, an industrialist, a teacher, a tobacco
shop-owner, ajudge, a gaoler and a taxman'.*> As he adopted one
verbal gambit or another, Mussolini's conflict with official socialism
became visceral. After a murderous incident at the Piazzale Loreto in
Milan, a square destined to play a further part in his history,
Mussolini wrote that socialist barbarism had outmatched that of prim-
itive tribes and ‘cannibals. 'Those who lynch others, he observed
with a menace of his own, 'don't represent the future, but rather the
age ofggri mitive man (atime which was healthier than that of civilized
man).’
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In May, at the second Fascist congress, held patriotically on the
24th, fifth anniversary of the Italian entry into the war, Mussolini
concentrated his fire against the socialists, who, he maintained, were
guilty of being 'anti-ltalian’. From some of his old ideals, he now
openly back-pedalled. The Vatican's implicit power could not and
should not be denied. Although, personally, he confessed to finding
any religion irrelevant, Catholicism could be wedded to the nation and
speed the expansion of its power. The monarchy, too, should not be
lightly abused; rather, the eventual creation of a republic could be
postponed to an appropriate time. Even the bureaucracy, which he
had roundly condemned only a month before, had a good side which
might be enhanced through a pay-rise for the bureaucrats.** Listening
to Mussolini's words was a new Fasci directorate, which itself had
swung openly to the right.® Rejecting his new line were such old dlies
as Marinetti and Vecchi, who failed to renew their membership, with
the Futurist being especidly disgusted by what he viewed as
Mussolini's toadying to the church.®

While the Fasci thus looked to a fresh political positioning, the Nitti
administration had entered its unhappy last days. The Fiume issue
lingered. Socialism swept both urban and rural parts of northern Italy,
where the poorest peasants extracted improved contractua relations
from many a landowner, where the ancient and intricate verities of
peasant class differences seemed to face revolutionary overhaul, and
where, more generdly, the countryside no longer acknowledged the
supremacy of the city as al decency and order knew it must. The
Popolari were proving equaly intractable and Catholic trade unions
were almost as demanding of improved pay and conditions as were
socialist ones. As the economy stuttered, the cost of living spiraled to
alevel four times greater than in 1913. A union demand for a 30 per
cent wage rise grew strident. A failure even in his area of greatest
expertise, on 9 June 1920 Nitti resigned. His replacement was
Giovanni Giolitti, so dominant and astute a politician before 1914, but
now approaching his eightieth year and, in nationalist perspective,
damaged beyond repair by his neutralism during the war.

Thefiresof socia crisis burned on. In August-September before he
was properly settled back into the Prime Ministership, Giolitti faced
the massive problem of the 'occupation of the factories, an action
which revolutionaries hoped would amount to an orderly culmination
of the summer of deepening socia violence. In Turin and Milan, the
metal-workers' union FIOM and revolutionary intellectuals like
Antonio Gramsci seemed about to convert the rhetoric of socia
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revolution into practice. As one factory after the next fell to their
control, at least half a million workers were associated in their cause.
So united were the workers that such an emblematic modern industri-
aist as Giovanni Agnelli of Fiat contemplated accepting some sort of
worker control. Confronted by this array of unwonted events, Giolitti
behaved with characteristic (and salutarily ostentatious) caution,
telegraphing his Prefect in Milan on n September with the advice: 'It
IS necessary to make the industrialists understand that no Italian
government will resort to force and provoke a revolution simply to
save them money".*” The Prime Minister was also known to be pres-
suring Italy's banks to withdraw their support from the more hard-line
industrialists, and, in apparent accord with his fellow Piedmontese
Agnelli, talked favourably of workers being granted shares m the
concerns which employed them.*®

As ever, at least in the short-term, Giolitti proved the master tacti-
cian. His bdief that the social storm would blow itself out and that a
Bolshevik take-over was not imminent proved correct. Ey 25
September the occupations were finished. There had been, and would
be, no revolution from theleft. Another matter Giolitti did not foresee,
however. Inlittle over 2 years there was to be arevolt from the right,
when landowners, industriadists, nationalists and those with positive
memories of the war united to dispel the spectre of an Italian commu-
nism and to revenge themselves on those who had in 1920 seemed on
the brink of power. This triumphant campaign was led by Mussolini
who, during the months of crisis, had kept up his usual running
commentary on events, still, on occasion, sounding as though he had
preserved sympathy with the poor, but aways ending by rejecting the
idealsand actions of the socialists. 'Class struggl €', he noted, might be
al very well in some utopia but not in an Italy which needed urgently
to produce.®® Fascists as ever emphasised the practical but 'our princi-
ples have been and remain these: to defend the national war effort, to
enhance the existing victory, strenuously to oppose the imitation of
revolutionary Russiaindulged in by our home-grown socialists. 'We
are indeed a minority', Mussolini ran on, in words which adapted into
one of the slogans of the regime, but ‘a million sheep will always be
dispersed by the roar of one lion'.*® All the other anti-sociaist parties,
Mussolini predicted as the occupation of the factories began, were
destined to dissolve, since they could not, and would not, act with
leonine courage. Their members must switch instead to the fascisti,
even if only in a temporary way to achieve a set aim.'® The best
example of this outcome, he added a month later, was already evident
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in the Venezia Giulia, where a national 'defence’ against 'Slavs and a
praiseworthy 'imperialism' abroad, could go hand in hand with an
anti-socialist syndicalism that ensured production and class collabora-
tion at home.’® Mussolini had long thought of himself as a |eader; now
he was beginning to detect a potential mass of wealthy and influential
followers.

As the sun began to shine on his prospects, there was some time to
relax. In this summer and autumn of Italian discontent, Mussolini was
not just busy as an editor and polemicist. Rather, his life was
enlivened by a new hobby and one which could readily be adapted
into a new politics - flying. The young socialist who had hailed
Blériot's conquest of the Channel now had his own chance to soar into
the skies. An infatuation with the cult of the air had lingered in his
mind until, in August 1919, he imagined an empyrean future in which
the tyranny of distance had been overcome along with differences
between peoples. Then, he mused romantically, 'all souls will be fused
into a single soul'!® At the turn of the next New Year, he excused
himself to D'Annunzio for what might have seemed inattention to
events at Fiume by explaining that he was contemplating departing on
a 'raid' to Tokyo, and preparing for the prospect of such a world-
girdling exploit was taking a lot of his time.®* When, 6 months later,
that flight did go ahead without him, Mussolini still waxed lyrical
about it. 'A flash of green, white and red, Italian, light will stay in the
skies, he pronounced grandiloguently, 'signalling to the infinite what
Italy stands for.' 'Flight', he continued, constituted 'the greatest poem
of modern times, the contemporary equivalent of Dante's Divine
Comedy.™”

Mussolini was not alone in expressing these overblown views. The
air, especially while planes offered a cockpit open to the elements,
seemed to many a contemporary to exemplify 'reactionary modernism'
and appealed to a world-ranging new right which included Hermann
Goering, Charles Lindbergh, and a number of Mussolini's Italian
friends.’®® Among these last were Giuseppe Bottai, who drifted into
the Fascist movement from a background in Nationalism and Futurism
helped by his leadership from 1921 of a 'Roman Club of Fascist
Flyers,’” and the Ferrarese Alpino, anti-socialist and patriot, Italo
Balbo (whose sister had been christened Trieste Maria).'®® Later to be
the Fascist Minister for Aviation, as well as the heavily propagandised
pilot-commander of intercontinental flights, Balbo had, back in 1911,
aged 15, tended fires lit to chart the path of airmen dauntlessly
competing in arace from Bolognato Venice and back, and sponsored
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by Naldi and // Resto del Carlino.'® By 1921 Balbo was one of the most
active and significant of Fascist squadrists. Dreams of flight and of
beating up socialists went together because, in the aftermath of the
First World War, propagandists were sure that the individual courage
needed to conquer the air, as the expression went, was fundamentally
'‘Anti-Marxist'."" Darwinism, too, dipped easily into an aeriad vocabu-
lary; and so, despite Mussolini's happy thoughts about a fused
mankind, did nationalism. Italy, Mussolini typically began to argue,
must aim to achieve 'primacy in the air' and those idiots who objected
to such a target or who, like Nitti, were penny-pinching about its cost,
should be swept aside."* From August 1919 // Popolo d'ltalia featured
apagina aeronautica which was meant both to favour the cause of the
aeroplane and to underline the modernity and technological optimism
of the Fasci. Mussolini took to defining himself as ‘a fanatic for
flight"? and on at least one occasion aimed to stun a meeting of the
Fasci by appearing dressed as an airman."

Nor was his interest merely theoretical and propagandist. In July
1920 Mussolini found time from his other affairs to start flying lessons
at an airfield at Arcore, on the outskirts of Monza, just to the north-
east of Milan. 'Prof. Mussolini' arrived, so hisinstructor remembered,
wearing his editor's get-up: 'a dark suit, a bowler hat, grey spats."* On
subsequent flights he used the occasion to bring Rachele and the boys
or Edda with him on an afternoon outing. On one occasion hewasin a
special hurry because he had a duel scheduled shortly after his flying
lesson."" Over the next year Mussolini completed 18 flights, lasting
amost seven and a half hours. In March 1921 he survived a crash at
the cost only of scratches to his face and a twisted knee — flying was
still a decidedly hazardous undertaking, even if Mussolini's instructor
advertised his joy-flights with the comforting advice that 'every
passenger isinsured'."® Asaresult of his success as a pilot, from May
1921 Mussolini and a Jewish Fascist acquaintance, Aldo Pinzi, were
gratified by being labelled 'the first flying members of parliament' by
the Gazzetta dell'Aviazione."*™! Indeed, throughout his life, Mussolini
retained pleasant memories of his experiences at this time. Flying had
something viscerally Fascist or Mussolinian about it as man flew
heavenwards to challenge the very gods. There were times when the
working dictator could take control of a plane in which he was travel-
ling. Contemporaries noted how, even during the dark days of the Salo
Republic, he sloughed off his usual gloom when again given the
chance to be his own aviator."® More notoriously, in August 1941 he
had insisted on piloting a plane in the company of Hitler, who paled at
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what he viewed as ludicrous, and dangerous, Latin bravado.*
Whatever else troubled Benito Mussolini, before and after 1922 it was
not a fear of flying. In 1920-21, in the open cockpit, he dared both the
elements and those still Marxist dullards who clung to material inter-
ests on the ground and swore to strike him down, as, inexorably, he
conquered the air, and contemplated the conquest of Italy.
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The Fascist rise to power,
1920-1922

NTENTIONALIST' historians, in whose cause biographers are likely

to be enrolled, are much given to arguing that dictators dictate.
Great Men are great in their possession of free will; it is they who move
and shake their societies. Cesare Rossi, an early follower of Mussolini,
who broke from the movement and then pursued an ambiguous
personal course in the shadowy world of the secret services has tried
to counter such aline. Almost all the most characteristic features of
Fascism, he remarked, came from 'below": the use of the Roman salute
began at Verona; the solemn appeal to the fallen at Modena; the
kneeling before a ceremonia coffin at Florence; the use of castor oil on
Anti-Fascists at Ferrara; the employment of trucks to carry Fascist
punitive expeditions into the countryside at Bologna; the Ballila or
Fascist scouting movement for boys at Piacenza. 'The gestures,
customs, rites which then spread’, he has explained, 'germinated
spontaneoudy.' Their adoption by the wider Fascist movement and
party was amatter of imitation. To hislist can be added the wearing of
the black shirt, the singing of the party anthem Giovinezza and the
chanting of the logan A noi - al originated with the Arditi. Much of
the remaining stage-furniture of the regime was invented either by
D'Annunzio at Fiume or, more loosdly, by the Futurists. The word,
fascio, was ubiquitous in Italy in the aftermath of the war, while the
term Duce was by no means at first confined to Benito Mussolini. In
sum, what historians these days are inclined to cal the liturgy of
Fascism, the medium through which it expressed its message, was
scarcely inscribed by Mussolini alone.

But the limits of Mussolini's individuality and inventiveness were
not confined to dressage. Certainly, no account of the rise of Fascism
and of Mussolini to power from late 1920 to October 1922 should
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assume that the two worked in natural or happy harness. Rather, the
relationship between the Duce and his movement was a flickering one,
in which a unity survived uneasily, while a mutual self-interest
continued to curb the many factors which suggested divorce. During
these months, so crucial for Italian political history, Mussolini may
have been turning into the Duce, but it was still not altogether clear to
what political end and with what socia following.

Prime Minister Giolitti was meanwhile working at his accustomed
rhythms and with his usual intent. One issue of continuing concern
was foreign policy where, he believed, D'Annunzio's posturing at
Fiume and a number of other difficulties in the Balkans must end. In
August 1920 he found reason to evacuate Italian forces from Albania,
where troops had first arrived on Christmas Day 1914 but where the
value of a national presence in this poor and unstable land had never
been clarified. This withdrawal facilitated more general negotiations
with the Kingdom of the Serbs, Croats and Slovenes and, on 12
November, the Treaty of Rapallo was signed. Its clauses demarcated
the border between the new Yugoslav state and Italy in the Adriatic.
D'Annunzio and Fiume had been by-passed and, on Christmas eve, the
Italian army moved against the rag-tag force left in the town. A few
casualties were enough to snuff out resistance and D'Annunzio, who
had been shouting to the heavens o Fiume, o morte (either Fiume or
death), found his own third way by fleeing back to Italy on 18 January
1921. This Duce, as his admirers had been accustomed to call him, may
have possessed 'limitless charm' and a seductive prose style,? but he
plainly lacked staying power.

Benito Mussolini was an onlooker to these events, well aware that a
rival was being weakened and humiliated, if not totally eliminated as
a possible leader of the new right. It was true that, later in 1921, a
crisis in the Fascist movement would revive suggestions from such
local chiefs as Balbo and Grandi, now a lawyer with offices in
Bologna® that D'Annunzio head the Fascist movement.* Similarly,
D'Annunzio's name would resurface in the jockeying for political
authority in October 1922,5 though the poet was then hampered by
injuries sustained in a fall from a palace window.® In every case
Mussolini found the right tactics to counter the poet's allure. After
1922 he would confine him to the Vittoriale, a palace near Salo, where
D'Annunzio could architecturally express his syncretic soul, rejoicein
his titular elevation to Principe di Montenevoso, and surrender all
political influence.” D'Annunzio's charisma had wasted while
Mussolini's had grown.
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In 1920, while the Fiume occupation lasted, Mussolini's approach
was straightforward enough. He penned his regular commentaries on
foreign affairs, aware that he could not let himself appear as lukewarm
as he probably was about D'Annunzio's adventure. Mussolini's
rhetoric about foreign affairs was thus sharp and aggressive. Fiume
must be annexed:; Versailles revised.? Italy, he urged, should have the
courage to aspire to a'world policy'.® A 'young people’ must be impe-
rialist'® - only Italy had offered the Albanians of Valona (Vlora) some
hope; without the Italian presence the locals would return to scrab-
bling around in the dirt outside their 'primitive huts." As he had
done the year before, Mussolini even dabbled in the vocabulary of
Anti-Semitism, narrowing his definition of who might constitute the
nation and contradi cting hisrecent enthusiasm for thefreeindividual.
‘Italy’, he remarked, 'did not know Anti-Semitism and we believe that
it will never know it." However, he continued, Zionism was beginning
to threaten this tradition of tolerance. So far, Italian Jews had gener-
ally been steadfast in their willingnessto sacrifice their blood 'for this
our adorable homeland' and probably they would be smart enough
always to do so. If they were not, he predicted with a hint of menace,
Anti-Semitism would begin to grow 'in the one country where it had
never been'.*?

What is to be made of these last observations? Despite Mussolini's
clichéd gainsaying, alatent element of Anti-Semitismdid existin Italy,
especialy on the Catholic right, and a smattering of prejudice lurked
in the minds of many Italians. In what was becoming Mussolini's own
circle, La Vita Italiana continued to declaim against 'the Jewish inter-
national’ - inaparticularly shrill articlein August 1920 editor Preziosi
claimed that David Lloyd George was of Jewish origin. If that 'fact’
was not disturbing enough, Prezios went on to retail the story of the
Protocols of the Elders of Zion which, at that moment, had wide
currency outside Italy being, for example, believed by the London
Times. As far as Preziosi was concerned, the Protocolsjustified his
longstanding view that revolutionaries from Marx to Trotsky worked
hand in glove with international banking and stock-broking from
New York to Warsaw, and al nefariously aimed to victimise Italy.”
Mussolini never seems especialy to have warmed to Prezios - he was
said to have told a friend that the ex-priest was marked by the evil
eye.*What M ussolini'sown Anti-Semiti sm best refl ected wasacombi-
nation of his conscious desire not to be outdistanced on theright — if
nationalist circles were going Anti-Semitic, then Mussolini would
move that way, too - and what would become a familiar bui less
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conscious tendency for Mussolini to parrot the ideas and attitudes of
those surrounding him.*> Under the dictatorship, too, his own position
was often heavily influenced by the views of his latest interlocutor.
Certainly, Mussolini's Anti-Semitism, if that is what it was, settled
back beneath the surface of his mind, while the Duce proceeded with
his love affair with Margherita Sarfatti, his friendship with Aldo Pinzi
and his welcoming of the considerable number of patriotic and
socialy conservative Jews who favoured the growing Fascist move-
ment.

Similarly, Mussolini's more general observations on foreign affairs
should probably not be taken as seriously or literally asthey have been
by those critics anxious to prove that, from beginning to end,
'‘Mussolini meant war'. The first intention of his words remained what
it had been when, on Avanti! or even at La Lotta di Classe in his
socialist past, he had striven to make a name for himself by flaunting
his expertise about the great world. Politicians of national stature held
views about international affairs. Mussolini was, or wanted to be, a
politician of national stature. Therefore, he must never forego the
chance to express opinions about Italy's place at the tables of diplo-
macy. In these circumstances, no one should have been too surprised
to learn that, despite his fiery nationalist verbiage, Mussolini readily
accepted the realism of Giolitti's deal at Rapallo™ and swiftly adapted
to the new arrangements in the Balkans. Without trumpeting the
matter, he had opened contact with Giolitti as early as October 1920,
and exchanges of ideas continued through Alfredo Lusignoli, the
prefect of Milan. Mussolini even met Foreign Minister Sforza, seem-
ingly assuring him that his backing of D'Annunzio had its limits.’
Italy, he now wrote with a decided switch of tone, had a profound
need for peace. Only 'madmen or criminals' rejected this truth and he
took the opportunity to berate members of Nationalist Association in
Rome who, he charged, were obsessed about sovereignty over every
little island in the upper Adriatic. They were anachronistically 'impe-
rialist’, he wrote dismissively; by contrast, his Fascists were merely
healthily 'expansionist'.'®* The Mussolinian line on foreign policy,
Giolitti and Sforza might be expected to understand, could trace many
twists and turns.

Whatever he said about the international situation, Mussolini's real
concerns were domestic. Trieste and Venezia Giulia, where the inten-
sity and success of 'border fascism' increased every day, provided a
meeting between the two worlds. In these newly annexed territories,
Mussolini was proclaiming as early as June 1920 there could be no
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compromises over the political and ethnic victory won in the war.
Right-thinking Italians, he urged in phrases which delighted local
supporters, must 'energetically clean-up [sic] Trieste'. (Here indeed
was a metaphor with a future in the region.) The city so far had not
been fully annexed; it must be, through a process of ethnic and class
cleansing in which both internationalist socialists and 'Slav' elements
should be purged.”® In September Mussolini gave a major speech at
Trieste in which he invoked more stridently than in the past the 'glory
that was Rome' and that Italian primacy which was allegedly evident
in hydroelectric technology and many other fields. 'Every modern
man’', he added pompously, as though again donning the gown of
'‘Prof. Mussolini', had read Cervantes, Shakespeare, Goethe and
Tolstoy. But Dante was il the best. Bountifully enriched by past and
present, Italians could dismiss from their minds both their own social-
ists and the Bolsheviks of Russia, whose Soviet regime in reality
amounted to 'a dictatorship by a handful of intellectuals, who had
nothing in common with 'real workers'.?°

When, later that day, Mussolini cabled the office of // Popolo
d'ltalia with news of his visit, he revelled in the 'marvellous' local
Fascist movement. Inall VeneziaGiulia, hedeclared gleefully, the Fasci
now dominated local politics, the terrain there had proved 'wholly
favourableto ... [Fascism's] development'. To the horror of its socialist
or catholic rivals, Fascism's own syndicates or unions were starting up
everywhere. The evident advantage gained by the Fasci over their
rivals owed much to 'the national struggle’, to the assertion of Italian-
ness over 'Yugodav megalomania and 'Sav ... racia rancour'. Ethnic
difference, it seemed, possessed propulsive qualities politically which
were easier to direct than was class conflict. ‘It could well be that the
Fascists of Venezia Giulia signal the commencement of a great move-
ment of national renewa and constitute the generous and tough
vanguard of an Italy about which we dream and for which we
prepare’.?* He did not add that provincial Fascists had been able torely
on tacit support from the local representatives of the Italian govern-
ment who had, for example, turned a blind eye when, in July, Fascists
burned down the Hotel Balkan, a Slovene redoubt.?? In their hearts,
army, police and prefects agreed with the Fasci that violence in the
cause of Italian ethnicity was not violence at all. They did not object
either when Francesco Giuntajustified salutary Fascist violence on the
grounds that the national government had 'gone missing' in the newly
annexed territories of Italy's north and east.?

But what of violence in the cause of class? The failure of the
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occupation of the factories had brought to the surface that socia
element which, already before September 1920, had been resentful of
socialist gains, be they political, economic or cultural. Now these
‘agrarian fascists, based especialy in the Po valley, Tuscany and
Umbria, where socialism was for the moment powerful and even over-
weening — and where a modernised agriculture, ever more ruthless
and competitive in its class relations, spread — were becoming
Fascism's certainly most numerous and perhaps most influential mass
base. Even liberal Luigi Albertini, the editor of // Corriere della Sera,
defended 'holy reaction' in such places.”* So widespread was the
sympathy among Italian elites for the move against the socialists that
it would be foolish to think that Mussolini himself was in direct
control of ‘crusades’ assembling in Florence, Modena or the rest. His
task, rather, was to ride the political groundswell which resulted, and
so remain the national leader of what was still overwhelmingly a local
movement, or a series of local movements. If he spoke as a convinced
nationalist in Trieste, in these other regions he must sound ever more
fervently an enemy of peasant socialism and all its works.

In this part of Fascism's rise the examples of Bologna and Ferrara
were emblematic. In these two historic centres on the Po plain,
Fascism sank early and profound roots. In the latter city, case studies
have explained, socialism was destroyed by its success. The region had
already been a place of unionism and social violence before 19142
Despite some momentary gains for a 'third way' favoured by Calabrian
syndicalist Michele Bianchi, who was active there,®® a contest was
developing between the poorest of the local peasantry, the braccianti
or landless day labourers, and the landowners, and the crisis re-
emerged in the dopoguerra worse than before. Complicating the matter
were sharecropping and other middling peasants who traditionally
had been very aware of the differences in status between their families
and those of the braccianti. Socialism, especially as embodied in the
peasant union Federterra, tried to embrace both. In August 1920
Federterra claimed 74000 members in Ferrara province alone, the
highest tally in ltaly (Bologna came next with 73 000).?” This mass
following was, however, poorly instructed in union principles and
practices, and was riven by potential disaccord.

In 1919 Fascism had briefly materialised at Ferrarawith syndicalism
as its main programme, although a local futurist and Ardito, Olao
Gaggioli, had acted as his city's representative at Piazza San Sepolcro.®
By the end of 1919 the Ferrara fascio had, however, collapsed. It
revived towards the end of 1920, with Gaggioli unrepentantly urging
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violent retribution against socidist 'robbers. His Fascists were rich
and 'modern’ enough to assemble a pool of trucks in which to saly
forth from Ferrara in 'raids against socialist meeting places in the
countryside. Local socialists had been intransigent, both in their
rhetoric and their tactics, scandalising landowners by strikes at
planting time and again when harvest was due. In early 1921 socidist
power collapsed before the better armed and more ruthless Fascists
and also because of social divisions that remained unresolved among
the socialists. The greater matter then became the character of local
Fascism, where a contest grew between Gaggioli and the more socially
respectable Italo Balbo, who, then and later, got on well with the
prominent Jewish community at Ferrara® A dispute aso smmered
between the movement's local organisation and headquarters in Milan,
which strove to limit the amost complete independence of Ferrarese
Fascism, and to exact afinancial tribute from what was evidently a
flourishing movement.* The authority of the able, ambitious and
cynica Balbo® continued to expand, as did a structure of Fascist
unions, sometimes composed of unwilling members assembled at gun-
point, but none the less pledged to offer some socia ‘justice’ and not
merely to second bullying by the large landowners. The more left-
leaning of local Fascists, however, began to find themselves excluded
from influence and advantage, and Gaggioli and hisfriends eventually
abandoned the movement. By the summer of 1921 Balbo had turned
away from too intense a concentration on native Ferrarese affairs in
favour of a 'foreign policy'. His 'squads now drove their trucksin the
Fascist cause over the provincial bordersto Veniceand Ravenna. On io
September 1921 the sensational ‘March' of 3000 squadristi on Ravenna
was patriotically timed to coincide with the raising of a monument to
the poet Dante who was thought to be buried there, and became the
occasion for a brutal cleansing of the city's 'Reds. To show their
mettle, Balbo's men celebrated their victory over unpatriotic socialists
by solemnly filing past the poet's tomb.*? By February 1922 Balbo was
loudly demanding that Fascists venture still further afield and
‘conquer the nation'.®

In Bologna the story was similar. Again a social crisis had threat-
ened before 1914, even though the mainstream of local socidism was
responsibly reformist. Dante Ferraris, who, along with sugar inter-
ests and arms manufacturers, was prominent localy in right-wing
causes provided finance for the Nationalist Association's paper,
L'ldea Nazionale.* In the dopoguerra, the social conflict had deep-
ened, especialy when the socidists polled 63 per cent in Bologna
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city in the elections of November 1919. // Resto del Carlino com-
mented meaningfully that the real losers from this figure were 'mod-
erates’; indeed moderation, the paper mused, might no longer be a
tenable political stance.® Until the election result had its effect, the
Fasci were pitifully weak, in August 1919 counting 15 members who
favoured a ill radical programme, and in December numbering as
few as six.*® By the next year, however, the movement had been
taken in hand by the activist Leandro Arpinati, an old acquaintance
of Mussolini, who could boast of having once been an anarchist and
then an interventionist, but who now was willing to do business
with local elites.® In November 1920 an armed attack on the Palazzo
d'Accursio, seat of the sociadist city administration, underlined what
sort of business the Fasci meant. The murderous violence involved
was endorsed editorially by Mussolini who wrote: 'The redlity is
this. The socialist party is a Russian army encamped in Italy. Against
this foreign army, Fascists have launched a guerrilla war, and they
will conduct it with exceptional seriousness'™® Thus endorsed,
Bolognese Fascism began to bloom, nurtured by both provincial
landowners and urban commercia interests, though Arpinati's hum-
ble origins — he let it be known that, after his marriage in June 1921,
his accommodation dtill did not include a kitchen and his wife
cooked on a portable stove® — somewhat restrained the movement's
conservative drift. Squabbles recurred between Arpinati, who, in his
paper euphoniously entitled L'Assalto (Assault), had not ceased to
invoke an inheritance for his ideas from Andrea Costa,®® and the
more socially respectable Grandi.

Elsewhere in the Emilia-Romagna, the picture varied. At nearby
Reggio Emilia, no class fudging was needed since Ottavio Corgini, the
founder of the Fascist movement in the province, doubled as President
of the Reggio Chamber of Agriculture By contrast, in Mussolini's
home province of Forli, the movement was feeble, despite inaugura-
tion at a resonant site beside the Rubicon river in April 1921 (Fascist
signorini had arrived by car and proceeded to harangue the assembled
peasantry who seem to have been bemused by the experience); neither
Forlimpopoli nor Predappio would have a party branch organised
until September 1922.%

Anti-Fascist observers of Fascism, both in the region and especially
in the city of Bologna, recognised the movement's social conservatism,
even while admitting that it attracted 'those who enjoyed carrying
arms and exhibited a certain socia and ideological heterogeneity,
amounting less to a revolution than 'a convulsion of the middling
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classes ® As one disillusioned ex-republican Fascist put it in the
autumn of 1921

Every region, every province, possessss its own Fascism Most often
agrarian in the Emilia, nationalist and conservative in the Veneto, irre-
dentist and provocative towards Slavs and Germans in the border
territories to the east and north, sparked m many small towns by
private vendettas or conflicting local interests, it is nonetheless, either
with its syndical organisation or with its squads of thugs, in fact
working for the richest part of society**

Its programme might seem to have many colours, but the battle which
Fascism waged was fundamentally directed to winning the class war
against the socidists*>

To the south of these regions, the socid crisis was not so acute, the
interests of the usual ruling elite not so threatened and Mussolini's
own attention was rarely engaged In the Abruzzi, for example,
Fascism was slow to develop All the same, in 1920 Giacomo Acerbo,
later to be a Fascist minister, was emerging as its local chief, a role
which would be confirmed by the April 1921 elections Acerbo (born
1888) was a sprig of a distinguished local bourgeois family, and, before
1914, had been experimenting politically as a Giohttian He had
favoured intervention in the war, however, and was to servein it with
distinction One of his brothers, a captain in the celebrated Sassari
Brigade, lost his life at the front After 1918 Acerbo participated in the
uncertain politics of the Associazione Nazionale dei Combattenti,
emerging as uncontested leader of the movement in the provincial
capital, Teramo 4 Once an admirer of D'Annunzio, who had been born
at Pescara, the regional capital of the Abruzzi, Acerbo now evinced
both afervent nationalism and arelative social conservatism, hostileto
those in the ANC who talked carelessly about deals with the socialists
By February 1921 Acerbo was occupied ensuring that his strain of
conservative Fascism out-distanced the more radical variety ill
strong in the rival provincial centre of L'Aquila (where the eventual
Party Secretary, Adelchi Serena, was commencing his rise)*’ Local
landowners had decided to favour Acerbo's cause and were presum-
ably cheered when he organised a March on Vasto, then a socialist
stronghold “® By 1922 Acerbo was widely acknowledged as the 'new
man' of the Abruzzi, although a sceptical historian might doubt most
of his claims to novelty, and after 1922 many of the systems and struc-
tures of what had once been called giohttismo were again evident in
whathadbecomehisFascistfiefdom>'e>
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Further south still, in Sicily, Fascism was almost non-existent. None
the less, there in 1919 Prince Pietro Lanza di Scalea, a member of the
local nobility but destined to be a Fascist Minister of Colonies (and
rumoured a patron of the Mafia), > urged the need for a Partito
economico, pledged to 'defend to the uttermost' the existing system
against any socid threat.”* That year and the next there were some land
occupations and other signs of social radicalism in parts of Sicily, with
the Catholic PPl being an important local presence. However, in the
elections of November 1919, unlike in the north, the old liberal bloc
held. During that year, afew Mussolinian Fascists appeared in Palermo
under the leadership of a revolutionary syndicalist, but they did not
obtain a following and their organisation soon collapsed.” By the time
of the elections of 1921 a different sort of Fascism had made its pres-
ence felt and was led by a lawyer, Gennaro Vildli, from Messina, and
an archaeology teacher from Palermo, Biagio Pace, the latter destined
to become a major propagandist of Fascist imperialism.>® It was still,
however, ameagre and divided movement. Social violencein the cause
of the existing elite was left in the hands of 'the Mafia™* in an envi-
ronment in which sociaists did not exaggerate when they stated that
it is enough to be a socidist to know that you may not wake up the
next morning'.> The Sicilian version of liberalism had never flinched
from utilising violence in defence of the social order.

In the spring of 1921, then, Fascism, in one version or another, was
arising phenomenon as the tide of socialism was turned back in every
locality. By May Fascists controlled most of the Venezia Giuliaand the
Po valley - in Mantua a student group called Terza Italia fused with
the more nationalist returned soldiers and turned Fascist.® Equally,
the Fasci had sdized authority in the Piedmontese provinces of
Alessandria and Novara, and in Tuscany — where, in Arezzo province,
motorised squads were known to stay out on their 'expeditions for
five days® - Umbriaand even Puglia.®® The casualties of thisoffensive
mounted: between January and April the official total was 105 dead
and 431 injured; from April to May a further 102 dead and 388
injured.® Notorious was the sacking of Empoli, an industrial town to
the west of Florence where, on i March, invading Fascists taunted
local socidists with the cry: 'Either leave Empoli, or you will stay in
Empoli for eternity.'®

Asthe front of this social war moved on, Mussolini's task, as |eader
of the variegated Fasci movement, was an intricate one. The provin-
cials in their energy and determination should continue their
quasi-military operations, but they should not forget their obeisance

14



The Fascist rise to power, 1920-1922

to the one who alone possessed the charisma, the drive and the
contacts to be their Duce. Simultaneously, the politicians in the great
world, and especidly Giolitti, should remember Mussolini in their
plans and policies. Mussolini would have to speak with many voices.
At the same time, he needed to think harder about the institutionali-
sation of what was after all still a 'movement’, not a party, and about
its financing. In October 1920 the bourgeois paper Gazzetta Ferrarese,
in sentiments which expressed a feeling among many of the liberal
elite, had yearned for a 'Man' to take the country in hand: 'If this man
arises, he will earn for himself a unanimous national consensus.”
Mussolini had to ensure that he, and not Bai bo or another squadrisi
chief, or, worse, Giolitti or some old politician, was the figure who was
most widely acknowledged as ready, willing and able to assume this
role.

There were many reasons, then, why Mussolini's ideological line
remained adaptable. He welcomed the new year with another of his
disquisitions on economic liberalism. The Italian state, he wrote, in
words which must have been, and must have been meant to be, music
to those industrialists willing to nourish his movement financially, was
overgrown. 'Every state-owned concern is an economic disaster', he
declared, again displaying his apparently impeccable economically
liberal credentials. The state doubtless needed to run many things, but
business was not among them. No doubt, Fascism stood for the rein-
forcement of the 'political state', but, at the same time, it favoured the
'gradual demobilisation of the economic state'.® He, and his backers,
also agreed in welcoming the split of the socialist movement. At the
Congress at Livorno in January 1921 the Partito Comunista d'ltalia
was born, amid events which demonstrated that the Italian Left had
been driven into a new hesitancy and confusion as a result of Fascist
assaults.® Not even communist ideologue Antonio Gramsci's sarcastic
dismissal of Mussolini's movement as composed of 'monkey peoplé€,
those who 'make news, not history’, could concea the deteriorating
condition of the Italian Left/"*

The problems in the agrarian world also deserved comment. The
Fasci, Mussolini explained, were indeed committed, eventually, to a
solution whereby land was acquired by those who worked it.
However, any move towards greater social equality would be dow. It
could only be achieved with national agreement and so without any
damage to the economy/® Meanwhile, attacks on peasant socialism
must proceed, not because the Fascist movement was intrinsically
violent, but rather 'out of surgical necessity'. 'Chivalry’, Mussolini
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remarked piously, should never be renounced on his side of politics.®

The key matter was, however, the elections which Giolitti was
calling for May.®” Our programme, Mussolini announced 'without false
modesty', was 'to govern the nation' with those policies 'needed to
ensure the moral and material grandeur of the Italian peopl€'. Fascists,
the Duce again explained, eschewed ideological dogmatism:

We permit ourselvesthe luxury of being aristocratic and democratic,
conservativeandprogressive, reactionary andrevol utionary, accepting
the law and going beyond it, according to the circumstances of the
time, place and environment, in a word, of the 'history' in which we
must live and act.®

One who did not didike the sound of these words was Giolitti himself.
The Prime Minister, rather bemused by the new post-war world of
mass politics, had decided to gamble on a loose 'National Bloc' into
which Fascist candidates were to be welcomed. Mussolini did not
demur, explaining philosphically that 'life for those who do not wish
to spend it in some remote lonely ivory tower, demands certain
contacts, certain deals and, why not say the terrible word, certain
compromises. Anyway, he added, a National Bloc, stiffened by the
presence of Fascists, would soon march to a Fascist rhythm and with
Fascist eclat. They would no longer be 'Gialittian' in the old sense.
Neither the squadrists of Central Italy nor the nationalists of border
Fascism had cause to worry about the 'brilliant' arrangement which he
had reached.®®

Giolitti was confident, too, telling Sforza that the Fascists were but
‘fireworks: they'll make a great deal of noise but only leave smoke
behind'.”® It was an unjustified confidence. Giolitti's days of managing
politics were coming to an end. It was true that, in the elections, the
divided socialists lost about 20 per cent of their members of the
Chamber of Deputies. But thereafter, sounding ajarring parliamentary
note, at least 35 Fascists took seats in Rome (less discordant may have
been the fact that 16 of them were lawyers).” Among them was
'Professor Benito Mussolini', the fullness of whose 'transformation’, it
was swiftly plain, was not what Giolitti had wished. No sooner was he
elected than Mussolini announced that the Fascists would assemble on
the extreme right of the Chamber, while associating themselves with
the opposition. As so often, Mussolini tried to convey more than one
message. Still 'tending to be republican’, his Fascists did not want to
be confused with members of the Nationalist Association who, perpet-
ually lacking a mass base, counted only io members in the new house.
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Fascists, Mussolini pronounced, constituted 'an aristocracy of thought
and deed’, and, in their bright honour, were outdistancing the class-
bound Nationalists; the Fascists, and only the Fascists, were the
winning movement of the new Right.”” The complacent bourgeoisie,
he added aggressively, was as much the movement's enemy as were
socialists; Fascism, strengthened by its genuine mass base, had 'lead
and fire' ready for them, too.”" After all, Mussolini was soon empha-
sising, he disliked everything about parliament, its way of seating
members, its assumptions about oratory. In its cosy gentlemanliness, it
fostered too much 'useless chatter'. Better would be a tribune where a
'tough guy" like himself could ringingly speak his mind.” The Fascists
were entering the halls of traditional national power flaunting their
disrespect. Since they sprang from the soldiers' world in the recent
war, Mussolini pledged that they would behave in parliament like a
'homogeneous, organised and disciplined platoon’, determined to act
rather than talk.” If the old elites were intending to welcome Fascism
to their bosom, it would have to be on Fascism'sterms. The shirt of war
could not be doffed; carpet-slippers (the latter remained a pet hatred
of Fascist rhetoric concerning bourgeois softness while Mussolini,
contemporaries noticed, slept in his underclothes like a real working
man 7%nd did not own a pair of pyjamas) must now be renounced for
ever.

Actually, Mussolini's position was neither as adamantine nor as
puissant as he claimed. Often in the past, he had excoriated the
corruption and vice of the national capital. But as a member of parlia-
ment (even if one patronised by old leaders who on occasion still had
difficulty spelling his name),”” he possessed profound hope that the
future would bring still more advantage. In the interim, Mussolini
took up residence at the elegant Hotel des Princes in Piazza di Spagna,
and began in private to enjoy some of the many flesh-pots of Rome.”
To personal contradictions were added political ones. In redlity, the
new Fascist parliamentarians, and the movement as a whole, were
anything but united. In the aftermath of their victory, the Fasci
drifted into crisis. The trouble was to take 6 months to resolve, during
which time it did finally become clear that a new party, indeed a new
style of party, was coming into existence under Benito Mussolini, and
that he was its only credible Duce.

Once again, then, it had turned out that the radicalism and intran-
sigence of Mussolini's words were only part of their meaning. There
was something to be read between the lines. Having again distanced
himself from Giolitti, whose government collapsed on 27 June,
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Mussolini had not, however, renounced the idea of finding other
friends and alliesfor his Fascist legions. The moderate Ivanoe Bonomi
was the new Prime Minister. During the election campaign he had
paid tribute to the 'youthful exuberance' of Fascism, praising the way
in which the movement had assisted a 're-birth of the national spirit'.”
Simultaneously, however, Bonomi had urged an end to violence. And,
on 2i July at Sarzanain Liguria, in an apparent sign of a new official
will to curb Fascist excesses, the police repelled a squad arrived from
Tuscany and intending a violent assault on local Leftists. In thus
committing his government to a policy which applied the letter of the
law, Bonomi was making it known that the level of violence in 'real
Italy' had become intolerable and that he desired some accommodation
between Fascism and socialism.

Despite the plenitude of his words since October 1914 and the
violence of Fascist deeds in recent months, Mussolini did not find the
notion surprising or impossible. Sensing the way the wind was
blowing, during the fortnight before 21 July he had already been
talking in public and private about the advisability of a 'peace agree-
ment' with the socialists.®® On the evening of the events at Sarzana, the
national council of the Fasci met in Rome, engaging in a livey, if
confused, debate. Mussolini's own line was, however, clear. For the
moment at least, Fascist violence had gone too far. As he editorialised
in his paper on 24 July, too many late joiners of the movement had
interpreted Fascism in a personal and cynical way, converting it to 'an
organisation based on violence in order to be violent'. These
misguided newcomers needed to be purged and those who remained
must accept the discipline which he implied could only come from
bowing to their leader and his will on all occasions.®

Many Fascists were appalled by this sudden detour on the political
road. Roberto Farinacci, by now established as the ras (an Ethiopian
word for tribal chieftain come into Italian usage) at Cremona, had just
made a splash in the cloakroom of the Chamber of Deputies by beating
up a Communist deputy who had earlier opposed the war.®* Destined
to be a major figure in the regime and a never altogether denounced
influence on Mussolini, Farinacci, both now and later, maximised his
intransigence, while glorying in the right to equality or near equality
with his chief. Rather than have truck with 'Bolsheviks, on 23 July he
resgned from the national directorate. Seconding him was, among
others, economist Maffeo Panteleoni who, in La Vita Italiana, roundly
condemned the whole idea of treatying with 'social-Nittian robbers),
an action which, he argued, would betray the idealism of those
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intellectuals and students who had flocked to serve beneath the Fascist
banner. Had Mussolini, he wondered with the obsession of his
journal, fallen prey to the malign influence of the Jews?*" Those true
believing Fascists who liked to expatiate about their 'crusade’ being
fought by a militia armed with a divine will and refreshed by a
profound religious sense would, it seemed, have trouble fitting the
'pact of pacification' into their creed.

Matters moved quickly. On 2 August the agreement with the social-
ists and their trade union, the Confederazione generale del lavoro, was
signed. Mussolini's language the next morning in 77 Popolo d'ltalia
was unabashed by the consternation which this reversal in Fascist
tactics had produced. The treaty was signed; it had become 'historic'.
It safeguarded the nation, and the nation must always predominate
over 'faction’. Furthermore, the promise of sociad peace left Fascism
with an 'infinity" of other jobs (though Mussolini, perhaps prudently,
did not spell these out). In any case, Mussolini's tone grew personal. 'If
Fascism does not follow me, no-one can force me to follow Fascism.'
"The man who has founded and led a movement and has given it al his
energies, heran on uncompromisingly,

has the right through the analysis of thousands of loca matters to make
a general synthesis of the whole political and moral panorama. He has
the right to see the full horizon from the top of the mountain, and view
a world which is not that of Bologna, nor Venice, nor Cuneo, but of
Italy, Europe and the world.?

Fascism, he implied, could not survive and flourish without a genuine
national leader.

In this bold assertion of his own indispensability, Mussolini wastry-
ing to head off those who rejected his line. For the moment he did not
succeed. The distinguished philosophical 'father of new nationalism’,
Enrico Corradini, while conceding that 'these Fasci' had possessed a
'psychological’ value over the last months, took the moment to urge
that the fundamental Italian 'problem’' remained that of constructing a
powerful state. The Fasci's youth and their inheritance from the war
had made them a sort of 'militia. However crusading was not the same
as politicking. The national state must take charge of the national des-
tiny, and itself put down the socialists. In the meantime, he continued
severely, the situation had been worsened by the "pact of pacification’,
since it converted the holy contest between those who incarnated the
nation and those who did not into a 'sport’ which could be indulged
in or abandoned as the pleasure took its participants.®
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Within the Fascist movement similar sentiments obtained.
Vociferous in attacking Mussolini were Grandi of Bologna and Pietro
Marsich of Venice. The latter was a left interventionist who himself
had pursued a fluctuating course in Venetian politics.*® There the nub
of any action was the ever growing authority of Giuseppe Volpi,* a
business man, sometime Giolittian, and during the war, so far as
Nationalists were concerned, dangeroudy close to German banking.
Volpi had just been appointed Governor of Tripolitania by democrat
Minister for the Colonies, Giovanni Amendola, but was destined later
to be Fascist Minister of Finance, 'Count of Misurata, head of
Confindustna, acknowledged 'doge’ of Venice and a man Mussolini
cheerfully greeted as ‘friend'.® Spurred by the contest with the polit-
icaly sinuous Volpi, Marsich strove to embody a pure Fascist
radicalism, even daring to announce that ‘we are not ready to sacrifice
Fascism to Mussolini"® Grandi, too, was scarcely a worshipping
Fascist militiaman. Rather, he was ambitious, able and presentable,
despite his youth (he had been born in 1895), already imagining a
distinguished career for himself. For him, now was the moment to urge
that the Emilia was the real 'cradle’ of Fascism and therefore to be
trusted in the way that pompous Milan could not be.* On 16 August
Grandi organised a meeting at Bologna of anti-Mussolinian Fascists.
Many humble members of the Fasci took the occasion to express their
locd attachments - Mario Piazzes, a Tuscan youth, characteristically
imagined a leadership in the hands of 'Florence, my Florence, aways
at tgf: head, always first' in denying any deal with the 'bestial’ socid-
ists.

In reaction to this bubbling up of a semi-anarchist fondness for little
worlds somewhat out of kilter with ideas about national grandeur and
unity - Piazzes loved Florence because he so despised Rome® -
Mussolini, on 18 August, tabled his resignation from the executive
committee of the Fasci di combattimento. He could not cope any more,
he wrote, with the wave of provincia indiscipline stirred up by the
'‘pact of pacification'. He would, he said, just become 'a simple
follower of the Fascio in Milan'® The Fascist movement must do
without his ‘charisma’, which indeed some of his colleagues among
the Fasci were almost ready to discount.®*

Mussolini's retreat was a tactical one. Less than a week after his
resignation, and now emphasising his surviving dedication to
defending the Fasci from their enemies both to the L eft and the Right,
Mussolini urged that it was time to change the movement into a fully
organised and fully disciplined party, one that could boast both a
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'soul’ and a'programme’.® And over the next three months he steadily
enhanced his own role in the newly systematised group.”

By early November he was ready to mark his 'return’. A party
congress was summoned to Rome, emblematic capital of national polit-
ical power where local Fascism remained weak. (Mussolini limbered
up psychologically for the event by fighting another well-publicised
duel — Pinzi acted as his second).?” When the meeting in Rome opened,
Mussolini was reckoned to have only one-third of the delegates as reli-
ably his own.”® However, he had already made soundings to Grandi, a
man whom he rightly understood was vulnerable to the Fascist version
of duchessing. Grandi was offered a prominent role in the new theo-
retical journal, Gerarchla, due to be launched in the following January
and probably financed by Margherita Sarfatti, who became its defacto
editor.*® Mussolini, it was also understood, was guaranteeing to look
after the younger man's future. As the congress proceeded, the ras
failed to unite or to enunciate a policy. On 8 November Mussolini,
Grandi and Marsich embraced before the cheering delegates. (The
Venetian Fascist, however, had not been bought off and was not to
have a Fascist future, quarrelling with Grandi and leaving the party by
the next February.)™ For this public accord, the price which
Mussolini had to pay was abandonment of the 'pact of pacification’,
although he tactfully delayed its denunciation for a week.!® In his
eyes, the game was worth the fee. Conflicts between the leader and his
movement would ebb and flow beneath the surface of the history of
Fascism, but, in most senses Mussolini had won a final victory over
the ras. Fascism could not do without its Duce, while Mussolini now
knew that he was immensely superior to any party rivals and, even if
he never lost his suspicion of them, its members were no more than an
entourage, needing Mussolini more urgently than he needed them.

During his months of relative withdrawal, Mussolini had continued
to cast around for an ideal programme for the party which was
forming. As ever his thoughts ranged widely. Fascism must reflect the
‘primordiality’ and the eternity of the nation; before such historic
grandeur, individuals were mere 'transitory beings. The state must
serve this nation. Fascism would 'restore' it, just as Fascism would
sturdily defend the heritage and memory of the First World War. At
present, the party was agnostic over the institutional question of a
monarchy or a republic, but it would want to establish a Consiglio
tecnico nazionale (National Technical Council) to sit in parallel with
parliament, and serve the practical instead of the wordy. Emigrants
should be alowed the vote. As far as economics were concerned,

161



Mussolini

production was what should be favoured most.*® There might on occa-
sion be need for state protection of industry but as Mussolini, il
polishing his contacts with business and finance, re-emphasised to his
audience in Rome, 'as far as economics is concerned, we are liberals,
because we believe that the national economy cannot be usefully
entrusted to collective or governmental and bureaucratic organisa-
tions.

There was no doubt, however, that the real key for the present lay
within the party itself. There, if Fascism were to win its battles, disci-
pline must dominate.!® The borrowing of a military and militant
vocabulary, natural enough in every circumstance of the dopoguerra,
became more ingtitutionalised. During a speech to the Chamber in
December Mussolini upbraided his opponents in other parties with
the taunt that a military style now had become obligatory for all.’®® To
ensure his own command, Mussolini had taken pains to surround
himsdlf with reliable and obedient lieutenants. Replacing the too inde-
pendent Pasdla as secretary of the movement was Michele Bianchi,
once a colleague on Avanti! and long a respectful admirer of the
Duce™ - already in August Mussolini had instructed him to develop a
clear Fascist philosophy (and, by implication, one that was not too
complex or arguable). Those 'soldiers who fight knowing their cause,
Mussolini had advised with some pomposity, ‘are always the best'.**’
Beneath Bianchi were three Under-Secretaries, Achille Starace, Attilio
Teruzzi, and Giuseppe Bastianini; each destined for a long career
under the dictatorship, with Starace® and Teruzzi'® being disliked by
most with whom they came into contact while also being known as
Mussolini's men. Administrator of the party was Giovanni Mannelli, a
man who combined bureaucratic efficiency and an ability to manage
Mussolini's personal finances. He also had a reputation (to be
confirmed in 1944) for cowardice, hypochondria and corruption.**
Apart from Mussolini himself, the only member of parliament to be
granted a place on the party directorate was the now tamed Grandi. A
team was being assembl ed.

Similarly, a method was being invented. The squads were attached
to local party branches and made the object of military-style review
by a travelling Inspectorate General. Fascist women's groups - nine
women had been present at the Piazza San Sepolcro meeting"® but a
distaff Fascism had not taken off in the months which followed - were
brought under greater control. Early Fascist women tended to link
their feminism with Mussolini's cause but at the end of 1921 the organ-
isation began to make evident its doubts about women's liberation."?
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In Italy's universities, with their overwhelmingly middle-class student
bodies, Fascism was popular, and here, by February 1922, the new
party sought discipline through a national Fascist federation of
university groups, administered from Bologna.™'

To add to the efficacy of this structure came words, lots of words,
the meaning of which remains a matter of considerable dispute.
Historian Emilio Gentile, for example, has argued that the newly disci-
plined movement possessed a military, mythical and religious
character which utterly distinguished it from its competitors. Fascism,
he says, embodied a 'new state of mind'."* Its adherents were true
believers in a 'political religion’, adepts of a Fascist 'liturgy’, and
determined to nationalise or, rather, fascistise the masses."> According
to Gentile, a party member meant it when he declared that his weapon
was

the faithful and inseparable lover of a Fascist. ... Much more than a
woman. Women talk too much and never get on with it. ... The
Browning pistol. The only thing which a Fascist loves with an almost
carnal love. When nothing else is faithful to the Fascist, the Browning
pistol is his only and eternal faith. And that's enough.

After all, 'for usthe war has never cometo an end. We simply replaced
external enemies with internal ones.""

In the day-to-day world of ordinary politics, however, such atti-
tudes might be thought hard to preserve, especially after the regime
was established and much humdrum governing became necessary.
Indeed, even in 1921-22 there were grounds for doubts about the
fascistisation of Fascist souls. Too many Fascists, then and later, left
spacein their holy missionsfor self-interest and, more occasionally, for
self-doubt. And of al the soulsin Italy, Mussolini was the least credu-
lous, viewing Fascism, like everything else, in a practical rather than a
sacralisedfashion.

To be sure, the quasi-military campaign against |eftists and non-
[talians continued. The Bonomi government had found its own
strategy damaged beyond repair by the collapse of the ‘pact of pacifi-
cation'. Early inthe New Y ear, beset by an economic crisis exacerbated
by the collapse of the Banca Italiana di Sconto, Bonomi resigned. His
administration was replaced on 26 February by another coalition, this
time headed by Luigi Facta, a Piedmontese subordinate of Giolitti.
Everyone assumed it was a caretaker government. The official tough-
ness made manifest at Sarzana was now a memory and, by the summer
of 1922, in most of northern Italy, Fascist squads did their violent
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work without let or hindrance from prefects, police or army. Late in
July Italo Balbo led a punitive march like that of Sherman in Georgia
through Mussolini's own homelands, travelling from Rimini to
Sant'Arcangelo to Savignano to Cesena to Bertinoro, 'destroying and
burning dl the Reds houses and al the places where socialists and
communists rally'. He boasted in his diary: 'lIt was a night of terror.
Our passage was signed by plumes of smoke and fire. All the Romagna
plain up to the hills became prey to the exasperated reprisals of the
Fascists, determined to finish for ever Red terror', though, in practice,
Babo admitted, there had been meagre evidence of Leftist reds
tance."’ By autumn the Fascists were doing something similar in the
Trentino-Alto Adige - anyone who rejected full-scale Italianisation
suffered the consequences and, again, the government stood by and
did nothing to repel the marchers.

In September the squads had reached Terni and Civitavecchia,
which lay within striking distance of Rome. An attack on the capital
seemed imminent. Within the Fascist movement, Balbo, Farinacci and
even Bianchi grew pressing in their demands for action. "® Given the
breadth of Fascist control of provincial Italy, would the seizure of
national power prove 'a fact before it happened', as one Triestine
Fascist later averred?'® How easily could the Fascist victories in 'real
Italy' be converted into an occupation of the seat of power of 'lega
Italy'?

To answer these questions it is necessary to understand the way in
which Mussolini had been reacting to these increasingly impatient
demands from 'below’. The dea reached in November 1921 meant that
provincial Fascists continued to hail Mussolini as their Duce. But for
Mussolini such salutes were not enough as he wanted his followers
respect and devotion untrammelled. In September 1922 the new tone
expected by the Fascist leader was evident in an account published by
the ex-Futurist journalist Emilio Settimelli. The language used to
describe the Duce had indeed heightened (though it had not yet
reached the fervour which became mandatory after the seizure of
power). Mussolini expressed a ‘force of prodigious variety', Settimelli
wrote. It might be true that the lines at the corner of his eyes hinted at
his 'subtle sense of irony' and he might still be imagined laughing, and
yet his face wasthat of a man perpetually alone. So, too, hiswalk, with
rapid, hurried, even distracted steps, reflected the profundity of his
commitment to his thoughts and to his pledge to re-animate Itay. Here
was a man turning, at least in Settimelli's prose, into a god.'®

And yet a real world had not ceased to exist. In it, squadrists
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sometimes went too far - Balbo's diary, despite being published under
the regime, recalls Mussolini's trying to dissuade him from too precip-
itate action during the summer of 1922."*" Around that time rumours
resurfaced of the chance of a break between Mussolini and the more
intransigent of the ras.? If he were to contain this latent conflict,
Mussolini must preserve his contact with the centres of official
authority; indeed, connection with national power continued to
underpin any charisma which might be inscribed on the Duce. In his
articles, speeches and actions, Mussolini needed to make it completely
clear that he was the Fascist who mattered, the one who compre-
hended Rome, Italy, Europe and the world. If he failed in his
understanding, if he were shown to be a fool or a dullard, then he
might lose his credibility both with the Fascists in the country at large
and with those €elites who ill governed Italy. In every political match
in which he engaged he must win.

He needed, therefore, to express an opinion on many matters, and
aways in a way which was strident and 'revolutionary' but at the
same time left him open to compromise and possible negotiation.
There was the Vatican, where Benedict XV, a compromised figure on
the right because of his doubts about the Italian war, had died on 22
January. Benedict's demise prompted Mussolini to philosophise about
the Papacy's Roman inheritance'® and so remind the Church that his
friendship might be possible, despite his ancient anti-clericalism and
those more recent disputes which frequently boiled to the surface
with the Popolari, especialy with their most radical elements -
Farinacci in Cremona was a mangiapreti of the old school who did not
hold back in his excoriation of priestly meddling in civil life.** As
long as Farinacci and his friends were capable of being put back on the
leash, there were advantages to be won from the suggestion that the
new Pope, ex-Archbishop of Milan, Achille Ratti, who took the title
Pius X1, might be tolerant towards the 'better side’ of Fascism. Sprung
from a Lombard landowning family and fervently hostile to
'‘Bolshevism' and al its works, Pius X1 himself possessed a peremptory
personality, and what papal propagandists were soon praising as a love
of 'discipline and work’, al of which bore some comparison with
Mussolini's own qualities and image.'® Mussolini noticed the parallel,
and the panoply with which a new Pope was installed. Here was an
example of the inscription of timeless and limitless charisma; Fascism
might have much to learn from it."*" As surprising as it might seem,
within the subtle council chambers of the Vatican, Mussolini began to
be viewed positively.
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A commentary on foreign affairs had to be maintained. Gerarchla
could be a useful vehicle for expert analysis of such matters.'?’ In
March 1922 Mussolini felt able to take time off from domestic preoc-
cupations and go on awell-publicised fact-finding mission to Germany
where, among others, he met Walter Rathenau. This German Jewish
statesman a few months later was murdered by the German Right, a
fate which Mussolini claimed, without much evidence, to have fore-
seen.’® On this occasion Mussolini gave little indication of any latent
Anti-Semitism, and he was at pains to claim that Fascism had nothing
in common with the bloody vengefulness of the extreme German
Right.'?® At the same time, he noted his conviction that the Weimar
republican system was 'completely and historically foreign to the soul
of the German people.® A tourist, too, he found the quality of
German theatre poor and the Reichstag architecturally even smaller
and uglier than Montecitorio, the seat of the parliament in Rome.**
Here, his prose was proclaiming, was, in many senses, a man of the
world.

Back home again (he celebrated by fighting another duel in which,
with his accustomed devil-may-care fierceness, he severely wounded
his opponent),®* Mussolini continued to scan the international
horizon for advantage. In the diplomatic arena, he urged, Italians
should more visibly stand on their own feet, demonstrating to the
British, for example, that they produced more than gelato. 'Italy', he
added, in phrases borrowed from the Nationalists, 'has come of age
and can no longer be treated like a child/®® Austria, by contrast,
needed Italian backing™* and so did Kemal Atatiirk's regimein Turkey,
where Italians must oppose the 'unchecked megalomania of Greek
imperialism'."®® On issue after issue, Mussolini's readers of // Popolo
d'ltalia and the whole political world were being advised to admire
the Fascist chief's range of information and ideas.

Most importantly, there were top people at home to ingratiate
himself with or to pressure. In February 1922 the word Duce remained
sufficiently unsacralised for Mussolini to apply it flatteringly to indus-
trialist Gino Olivetti.”® But the real targets of Mussolini's rhetoric were
other politicians. In their world Mussolini moved every day with
greater aplomb and greater potential ruthlessness. One feeble Facta
government replaced another, but the 'big men' of national politics
remained those who had led during the war. Here was further
evidence of the way in which that great conflict still defined most of
what happened in Italy, as well as providing pleasing proof to the
aspiring Mussolini that, once a leader made it to the top, he could
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expect to stay there or thereabouts. As the summer of 1922 wore on
rumours were rife that Salandra, or Orlando, or Giolitti, was about to
make a comeback. As the old chiefs heard the rumours, they girded
their loins, tightened their strategies, and sought to defeat their puta-
tive enemies before they grew too strong. Towards Salandra, the
furthest to the right, Mussolini, through intermediaries, was polite
but cagey,"’ and such tactics won a declaration from the ex-Prime
Minister in September that he regarded himsef as an ‘honorary
Fascist'."*® With Orlando, contact was opened in July through Acerbo,
but at the time negotiations failed, although not before the Sicilian
leader talked of making Mussolini his Minister of Foreign Affairsin a
hypothetical new government.**® No doubt the political world was
digesting the new prestige which the boy from Predappio had
evidently earned. It remained to be seen whether he would prove to be
a coming man, or the coming man.

The crucial interlocutor remained Giolitti. Despite his age, he il
saw himself as waiting to save the nation, and was in turn regarded by
Mussolini as his most dangerous opponent. Early in October the Duce
told a friend 'either we stuff him now or he and his friends will stuff
us tomorrow'.**® A determination to see Giolitti off, however, did not
prevent Mussolini from talking warmly to an intermediary of his
desire that the old liberal take the reins again, especidly if it meant
pre-empting the scheming Orlando.'"* So infinite were Mussolini's
skills and so unconfined his effrontery, that Nationalist Luigi
Federzoni, another with whom delicate negotiations continued, paral-
leled Mussolini's bargaining ability with that of Giolitti. Indeed, he
concluded, Mussolini had the potential to outdo the old master.'*?

Here, then, was the background to the March on Rome and what
the regime later loved to call the 'Fascist revolution'.*”® On 24 October
a Fascist party conference assembled at Naples - the South was still
largely unimpressed by the Fascist advance elsewhere. The ras
urgently demanded a March on Rome and, by the morning of 28
October, were mobilising armed supporters. Mussolini, on anumber of
occasions during the previous months, had himself not ruled out a
Fascist mup de main.** In September he had stated bluntly that ‘oui
programme is simple. We want to govern Italy',"”® even though he had
qualified this comment with typical remarks about the childishness of
the masses,*® sentiments which could be as easily directed at the
Fascists of the countryside as at the rest of the Italian populace.

At Naples and during the days which followed, Mussolini had not
opposed his restless and importunate ras. But he had made plain that
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it was his task to manage the situation, a control which would be most
effective in the political and not the social world. Later, the Fascist
regime was anxious that the March on Rome be given the title of a
revolution but, in October 1922, it was a change in government to be
achieved by negotiation at least as much as by naked violence. In the
arena of high politics, apart from the politicians, the Army and the
monarchy were forces with which to reckon. On 14 October Mussolini
sent a warning shot across the bows of Pietro Badoglio, a leading
general (although one whose reputation had been besmirched by
Caporetto), who was rumoured to have urged military action against
the Fascists. Any such move, Mussolini wrote, would precipitate a
'massacre in the grand styl€e', though, naturaly, he was sure that his
party and the army, which shared so much, would never realy be at
odds."”” What of Victor Emmanuel 111, the celebrated re saldatoi For
him, the best pressure was to hint that his cousin, the Duke of Aosta,
was taller, a better soldier and could make a more manly king.'*® The
king, like al the rest, had his weaknesses and could be pressured,
bullied and blackmailed into accepting the presence of Fascists in
government.

The formula worked brilliantly, even though the marching Fascists
proved poorly armed and easily disconcerted by the commencement of
autumnal rains and by their lack of good maps. While they organised
what they boasted was a pincer movement from Perugia and other
centres to the north of Rome, Mussolini remained ostentatioudly in his
Milan stronghold, unhooking his telephone for three nights in a row
while he publicly attended the theatre, demonstrating thereby that
nothing could ruffle him. The main politicians eyed each other but
could not unite. Salandra, Orlando and Giolitti each awaited his own
return to the Prime Ministership, but each indicated a preference that
the post be entrusted to the young Mussolini rather than to a hated
old rival. The army chiefs enigmatically advised the monarch that
their forces were loya, but that such loyalty was better not put to the
test.'® The Vatican washed its hands. Facta fluffed an effort to impose
martial law. On the morning of 29 October Mussolini received the
crucial phone call with an offer that he form a coalition government.
His press release was emphatic: he was proceeding to the capita
'wearing his black shirt, as a Fascist', and he was backed by 300 ooo
men, 'organised and faithful to my orders.™ Stll not hurrying, at
830 p.m. he caught the Milan-Rome direttissmo, humbly and
frugally rejecting the suggestion that a special train be hired for the
occasion. Fourteen hours later he reached Rome, where some
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bedraggled Fascists were organising their victory parade and taking it
out on what working-class zones they could find in the capital. On 31
October, aged 39, Mussolini was sworn in as Italy's youngest prime
minister. The great majority of people who counted in Italy, excluding
the immediate political enemies of Fascism, welcomed the news. But
Gaetano Salvemini, the historian and journalist and once the young
Mussolini's friend, wrote on the 2gth to an acquaintance in Paris that
his country was on 'the verge of madness.™ More charitably,
Margherita Sarfatti surmised that her lover and his Fascists could now
'restore style to the Italian people'.”®® Neither was altogether wrong.
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HEN Mussolini carne before King Victor Emmanuel 111 in order

to be entrusted with the task of forming a government, he was
said to have declared: 'Sire, | bring you the Italy of Vittorio Veneto.'
For all its repetition thereafter by regime propagandists' and even by
Mussolini himself,? the remark was apocryphal; Mussolini mocked it
in private as 'the sort of rubbish you come out with in school assem-
blies'.®> Nor had the First World War made Mussolini possible in the
way that lan Kershaw has argued was true of Hitler. Without the
conflict the later Fihrer very probably would have remained a
nobody.* Unlike his later German colleague, Mussolini had earned
considerable distinction before 1914 and, in some virtual history that
omits the war, can be imagined pursuing either an ideological or a
political career. And yet Italy's special First World War had indeed
reached government at the end of October 1922. The Fascists and their
Duce embodied it in many ways. There were, for example, the imperial
ambitions unleashed after 1915 at the heart of the ruling elite, when
liberal fathers passed the torch to Nationalist sons. The new generation
was girded by a determination to alter Italy's apparent destiny as the
least of the Great Powers. Fascist foreign policy might eventually
indulge in aggression in a way which made some liberals blanch, and
yet a continuity from Liberal to Fascist ambition in Ethiopia, in the
mare nostrum (it had been so nominated well before 1918), in the
Balkans, in the Eastern Mediterranean and in the administration of
Libya, cannot be denied. Still more significantly, Fascism incarnated
the new brutalism, the masculine willingness to kill and to maim, the
yen for killing machines, the cruel 'mateship’, al qualities and atti-
tudes learned or refined at the front and together amounting to that
new barbarism which has been identified as a crucial antecedent of
Auschwitz.” In the Fascist rise, Mussolini had never distanced himself
far from violence, the duel fought with maximum roughness and
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almost to the bitter end, the insulting slap, the forced dose of castor
oil, the burning of a newspaper office or a peasant meeting-place, the
purchase and provision of pistols and bombs, the sallying forth armed
and motorised in a uniformed squad, the slaughter of an enemy.

As if to mark his character in this regard, just before the March on
Rome Mussolini had appointed as his personal bodyguard or ‘gorilla,
the thuggish butcher, Albino Volpi/' later to be one of the murderers
of Matteotti. In Mussolini's mind, and in those of his entourage and
many of his followers, a public approval of violence, a continuous
acceptance of the usefulness of its employment, were precisely what
made a man a man. Having arrived in Rome, Mussolini may have
exchanged a telephone call with his brother in which he humbly gave
thanks for the good fortune of his success and expressed gratification
at the blessings of the Deity which the pious Arnaldo summoned
down upon him.” Thereafter he may have ostentatiously gone off to the
elegant Pasticceria Latour to take his coffee among the best people.® He
may have sought or received Margherita Sarfatti's advice about how to
smoothe his path into the capitd's socid and artistic salons (he was
soon cheering those attending an exhibition by declaring that ‘you
can't govern without art and artists'),” and been solaced by her expres-
sions of love.’® But the new Prime Minister was a hard man, un animale
poco socievole as he loved to define himself," a person who, as a
contemporary put it, above al lacked any sense of being checked or
curtailed by the law.” In his youth Mussolini had expressed his attrac-
tion to the thought of both Marx and Darwin. By 1922 it was the
philosophy of the latter which had taken control of his mind. His
Darwinism, like that of many another, was of a bitter sort. Time and
again Mussolini might prove he was the fittest in his world, but
somehow the victories were never sweet, the final act, he went on
fearing, could yet revea his every triumph had been but momentary
and the end was to be dire. Like Shakespeare's Richard Il1, Benito
Mussolini had set his life upon a cast and should stand the hazard of
the die, al the time believing that, somewhere, sometime, somehow,
fate must run against him.

Contemporary culturalist historians, anxious to paint a thick
description of ‘fascinating Fascism' in al the elan of its advertising and
'spin', obscure the rancour (and the nervous fear) at the heart of
Fascism and its Duce. Many Fascists were no more than offspring of
the liberals of the Risorgimento. But they were sons who had been
through the terrible experience of the First World War and were
destined never to regain the ‘comfort’ which had existed for the
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better-off sections of society during the belle époque. Then the fathers
had at least talked as though a kind and gentle world might eventually
extend to al society. Though Fascist yuppies in time appeared and
themselves yearned to be at ease, Mussolini and his regime mostly
bespoke an era of mobilisation - the muster, the march, the battle, the
liquidation of foes who paradoxically never lost their menace, and the
permanent readying for another conflict, another test. As the Fascists
began to govern, they revealed that the 'order' to resume in Italy
under their aegis was to be an edgy, even frenetic, one, in which, iron-
ically, all successes would themselves prove as hollow or uncertain as
had that at Vittorio Veneto.

The Fascist rise to power had been scarred by up to 2000 desths™
(the March on Rome had an officiai toll of three),* low figures given the
horrors to come in the twentieth century, but at the time a high cost to
pay. The casualties of the last two years, and the ambiguous way - half
coup, half manipulation - in which power had been achieved gave the
new government an urgent need to justify itself. What, then, were
Mussolini's intentions, now that he had become Prime Minister? The
answer is not at al plain. Here was a politician who, despite his youth,
had pursued a twisting path to the Palazzo Chigi. He had written (and
spoken) a very great dea - 18 of the 36 volumes of the standard edi-
tion of his Opera omnia are consumed by his publications and State-
ments before October 1922. But he had composed no single work of
political philosophy, nothing comparable to Mein Kampf or the Secret
Book (even though the influence on Hitler's course after 1933 and the
originality of the ideas in these works are still disputed by historians).
Perhaps the squads were already developing a mystical side and their
members had adopted a Fascist mentality - some historians say 0.
Perhaps they were genuinely moved and uplifted by the liturgy of
Fascist ceremonial. Mussolini himself, however, went on being the
least mystical of men. Balbo might claim in his diary that, when they
met in Milan on 6 October, the Duce had made their souls 'vibrate in
unison', and that Mussolini had been compelling in the clarity with
which he foresaw the future.”® On the detail of this future, however,
Balbo had nothing to say. Other more critical contemporaries noticed
instead the fluctuations in Mussolini's ideas and the way he preferred
to avoid in-depth conversations™® sometimes excusing himself by say-
ing that the details should be left to the experts. Here, they discerned,
was a leader more interested in imposing his will than in harmonising
his attitudes or policies.'’” Here was a politician more interested in
seeming to know than in knowing.
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Mussolini quickly developed an administrative style which
reflected his sense of duty and power, and which possessed a some-
what antique air. Using a pen, black ink and a very firm hand,
throughout his dictatorship he wrote out most of his speeches and
quite a few of his letters and telegrams.® Never forgetting the lessons
learned in his socidist days that complex issues could be compre-
hended in point form, he succinctly enumerated the matters which he
thought needed action. Such brief ‘orders’ exuded a pleasingly mili-
tary air, suitable for a dictator who led a militant regime. None the less,
one contemporary thought that Mussolini ran Italy as once he had
governed // Popolo d'ltalia; with his ministers acting as sub-editors, he
reserved to himself the task of setting the general tone and crafting the
headlines."* Appropriate for one who liked to boast of the 'mathemat-
ica' ordering of his life, Mussolini had his day punctuated by an
endless stream of visitors, who could rarely be dismissed in less than
15 minutes, time that visibly ticked by on the face of a small clock
which sat on his desk. Some audiences were granted to key ministers
or officials, but quite a few were earmarked for more ordinary Fascists,
or for foreigners, never reluctant to spend some happy days in Rome.

Especially for Italians, to win access to the Duce was a matter of
prestige and gave promise of enhanced authority and the possibility of
financial gain.?’ In turn Mussolini mostly had to seem pleased by the
visits and always needed to appear knowledgeable about the life and
beliefs of his interlocutor. It was a taxing requirement, but one
Mussolini proved able at surmounting, even if the inevitable superfi-
cialy of his 'knowledge' undermined the chance that he could
thoroughly master his brief in more serious matters of government.
There was much about Mussolini's role as leader which foreshadowed
that world in which political chiefs have turned into travelling sales-
people, more fascinated by image and spin than devoted to a deeper
comprehension of society.

As he began to explore the surrounds of the Prime Ministerial office
and became accustomed to life in the capital which, in the past, he had
frequently disdained, Mussolini had plenty of reasons to believe that
his struggles were not over and to ask anxiously whether being first in
his class at Predappio was sufficient qualification to cope with the
manifold political and socia quicksands of.'eternal’ Rome. Mussolini's
private life remained disordered; just surviving was demanding an
expenditure of psychic energy which, before long, revealed its fee.
Then there was his workaday life. Here, too, the Fascist rise had been
more precipitate than planned. Perhaps it was al the more Fascist to
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work on the run. Certainly, during the early days after the March on
Rome, Mussolini administered Italy from what has been called a
"luxury bivouac' in the Hotel Savoia, via Ludovisi, near the Borghese
gardens® There he tried to designate a political line on this or that
aspect of government. There, too, and perhaps more imperatively, his
private secretary, Alessandro Chiavolini, sought the means to fob off
the most pressing of office seekers and profiteers, and fruitfully to
manage the government's secret funds, once so useful to Giolitti and
now available to the Fascist cause.

Petitioners at the Fascist gate were indeed innumerable. Whatever
variety of 'revolution' Fascism might be, a throng of importunate
clients applauded it. To give but one example, on 18 December 1922
Renato Citarelli, a fledgling engineer from Calabria, opened suit with
the Duce in a process which, some years later, culminated in his
appointment to the consulate in Perth, Western Australia, perhaps the
most humble position in all the national diplomatic service, but a pos-
tion, nonetheless. Citarelli was one of those whose career advanced
over the sackings of older diplomats in the so-called 'massacre of the
innocents, and he owed his elevation to his alleged Fascist purity. In
Perth, he was indeed a fire-breathing extremist, given to evoking
Mussolini ("He Alone is the artificer of this our revival and this our
grandeur') in almost any circumstance and with unlimited fervour.?
Perhaps, by then, Citarelli believed what he said and his soul was
mystically filled with the Fascist religion. But his initial letter to
Mussolini raises some doubts, since it is studded with the forms and
processes of ordinary Italian, and especially ordinary Southern Italian,
life.

Citarelli's appeal began, ingratiatingly, with an expression of his
utter faith 'in the magnificent understanding possessed by Your
Excellency through the noble intuition of Your eect soul'. To senti-
ment were added facts. Citarelli was the son of a Calabrian doctor who
had died young, leaving his family in sadly straitened circumstances.
Citarelli had fought valorously through two years of the war, losing
both his brothers who died as heroes at the front. Thus bereaved and
tempered, after the war he moved to Turin to study engineering, there
associating himself with the local Fascist Cesare De Vecchi (from 1933,
pompously given theright to add di Va Cismon to his name). Together,
they sdlied forth on squadrisi raids against 'reds in Casde and
Vercelli. These punitive expeditions having achieved their purpose,
Citarelli went back to his studies. Around thistime, he acknowledged,
poverty had driven him to approach Giolitti about the prospect of
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some well-remunerated position, but the old politician, who may have
had other preoccupations, did not go beyond promises. They were not
enough to save Citarelli's two little sisters from wretched accommoda-
tion in a cheap pensione. And 0, he stated frankly, he was transferring
his hopes to Mussolini. He was not a member of the party, he had to
admit, but, 'as a child, | learned one religion, that of the Patria’; to
Italy his devotion could entail ‘any sacrifice’; it was 'to the death'. He
was only 24, he noted in peroration, but he had suffered so much. So
could he see the Duce whom he so admired and, more prosaicaly, be
forthwith found a post in which he could offer ‘'my work, my skill, my
passion, my life' to 'beloved and blessed' Italy?**

From October 1922 to December 1923 Fascist party membership
grew from some 300 ooo to more than 780 000, with the influx being
especidly notable in the South** Many of these new Fascists had
motives and world views like those of Citarelli. In their mentalita
Fascism's entrenchment in office meant advantage, personal advantage,
the tawdry as much as the sublime. In 1926 the use of raccomandaz oni
(letters of recommendation) was officially banned,? but in practice
they remained pervasive in Fascist Italy, indeed it has been reckoned
that, once installed in power, the Duce himself received daily some
1500 letters requesting favours and support.?’

In December 1922 Mussolini, learning quickly what it meant to be
a dispenser of patronage, transferred his base to the five-star Grand
Hotel, which lay just around the corner from Santa Maria della
Vittoria, the baroque church which houses Bernini's statue of Santa
Teresarapt in ecstasy, a saint showing herself a true believer either in
God or in woman. The possible impact of Bernini's celebrated statue
on the new Prime Minister and on his comprehension of Fascist
ecstasy was fleeting. In March 1923 Mussolini, assisted by the good
offices of Baron Alberto Fassini, a man of many contacts who knew the
highways and byways of Rome,?® moved again, now to a bachelor flat
at the Palazzo Tittoni, via Rasella® It was a curious site, since via
Rasella branches off via Milano and its Traforo or tunnel, which
skilled engineers in Liberal Italy had dug beneath the royal palace or
Quirinale. It was aimost as though the ‘revolutionary' Prime Minister
had agreed to live at the palace gate, an impression which was rein-
forced by the fact that Fassini was persona grata in roya circles
(themselves not above the search for profit), a natural intermediary
between Victor Emmanuel 111 and theDuce.*°If these networks looked
intricate, Mussolini's creature comforts were placed more straight-
forwardly into the hands of housekeeper Cesira Carocci, atraditionally
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formidable figure combining utter authority in the ‘female zone with
unalloyed personal deference towards her employer.*

Kachele, Edda, Vittorio and Bruno were left in their Milan flat in the
via Pagano, the family still extended by the presence of mother-in-law
Anna. Soon after Mussolini became Prime Minister, however, he was
wealthy enough, or had enough access to credit, to purchase Villa
Carpena, alandholding on the outskirts of Forlimpopoli — can he have
delighted in the thought that his grandfather's humiliating cession of
family land had now been avenged? The Villa Carpena was the sort of
estate owned by signori, although the Mussolinis did not themselves
take up residence there until March 1925/ Then and thereafter
Mussolini was rarely to be seen in the Italian version of the garb of a
country squire, but Rachele cheerfully took on the role and reputation
of a woman of respect at Forlimpopoli and in the rest of the Romagna.
In matters to do with the exercise of local power and influence, if not
in her personal style, image and vocabulary, Rachele had become a
signora.

In Milan, close to the Via Pagano, was the apartment of Arnaldo
Mussolini, his wife and children, in via Massena. Benito Mussolini's
rise entailed new prominence for his younger brother. Far off in busy
and imponderable Rome, Mussolini badly needed a uomo di fiducia (a
really reliable person) to oversee the daily running of // Popolo d'Italia,
long his special delight and the undergirding of his influence were he
ever to be forced back into opposition. Should Mussolini's power be
enduring, as he hoped, then the paper must act as the focus of the
Fascist regime's propaganda and ‘information’. Mussolini needed his
man in Milan. It says a great deal about the history of the Italian
family, about the eventual limitations of what came to be called atotal-
itarian state and about Mussolini's fundamental mistrust of his fellow
Fascists that Arnaldo, who had been employed on the accounting side
of// Popolo d'lItalia since his demobilisation in 1919, now took over the
editorship of the paper.®® Journalism apart, in all matters best not
exposed to public knowledge or comment, Arnaldo acted as
Mussolini's agent and friend. As the Duce confided in characteristic
phrases to an American journalist: 'l have a deep affection for my
brother. To be sure, he is too fat, but that is not his fault. He is, of al
men, the one to whom | turn first when | require unstinted devotion
and unfettered attachment.'®*

The younger brother was indispensable. When Arnaldo suddenly
died in 1931, his teenage son Vito was made official editor of// Popolo
d'ltalia. Unsurprisingly, Vito Mussolini, dim and untrained, failed to
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grow into thejob; indeed, he rarely turned up at the office.> While he
'matured’, the paper was 'temporarily' until 1936 placed under the
command of Mussolini's old friend, Sandro Giuliani, and that of the
professional journalist, Giorgio Pini, thereafter.® As for other, less
formal matters, from 1931 Mussolini had to fend for himselfinaworld
that seemed to have become the more bitter and treacherous without
his brother.

If these private matters needed some ordering, the new government
was, naturaly enough, Mussolini's main official preoccupation. The
administration which he had assembled was delicately balanced. He
himself was Prime Minister, Minister of Foreign Affairs and Minister
of the Interior - this last position was one which, as Gialitti had under-
stood, commanded the prefectures and police and so controlled the
most significant secret zones of national governance, the funds sepa-
rate from any budget, the access to telephone taps, the ability to act
covertly. Except from 1924 to 1926 and during the Salo Republic,
Mussolini retained this ministry throughout his regime. Not even a
brother could be trusted there.

Of the Fascists, Acerbo served as Under-Secretary to the Prime
Minister and Pinzi Under-Secretary to the Ministry of the Interior.
Each of these underlings was a friend; neither was a combative ras.
Neither Babo, nor Grandi, nor Farinacci, nor Bianchi, none of the
more obvious members of the leadership group, was yet elevated to
ministerial office. First Michele Terzaghi®” and, after his commitment
to Freemasonry was exposed too blatantly, later, Giuseppe Caradonna,
a ras from Puglia, undertook the humble seeming task of Under
Secretary to the Post Office. No doubt the occupants comprehended
that this was a traditional area of 'corruption’, a position where monies
flowed and contracts were refused or secured, a good place for a
Fascist, especially one who was not too credul ous about God and man
(while Caradonna had been at pains to advise Mussolini that no
government, not even a 'revolutionary' one, should exclude represen-
tatives from the South).>®

Teling, too, were the various positions accepted by men from the
existing elite who were not yet Fascists but who were certainly willing
to fellow-travel with what had become the triumphant movement or
with its successful leader. Mussolini may have told Balbo, an aert
listener, that, in time, he intended to deal with 'the old aunts of liber-
alism',> but presently he was happy to work with those who would
work with him. Giovanni Gentile, one of the nation's two most distin-
guished philosophers and an intellectual with a genuine international
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reputation, took on the Ministry of Education, intending to convert
his beliefsin astrong and organic state into practice. Thetwo military
ministries, those of war and the navy, went to General Armando Diaz,
Italy's commander at the end of the great conflict (though illness soon
drove him off to hedonist retirement on Capri),*’ and to Paolo Thaon di
Revel, who had been Italy's senior naval officer in 1917-18.

Luigi Federzoni, the leading Nationalist member of parliament, was
sworn in as Minister of Colonies, a doubly significant role. Since its
formation in 1910 the Nationalist Association had been the most
fervent proponent of Italian expansionism. Federzoni himself had
been a tireless advocate of Italian power in the Adriatic, Aegean and
indeed the whole Mediterranean. He also expressed a paranoid
concern about an aleged Germanic domination of national culture and
finance.* Civilization, he proclaimed curtly, could only grow if Italian
power was maximised.* The Nationalists favoured a highly conserva-
tive policy at home, sceptical of the presence of any virtue in the
masses and unconvinced by Fascist populism. During the weeks
before the March on Rome, the ANI leadership had let it be known
that their own paramilitary Sempre Pronti squads were ready to fire on
the Fascists, should the King summon them in defence of the nation's
institutions. Mussolini registered their threat, and in his memory
nourished his hostility to such upper-class dalliers with politics and
power.

For al the latent conflict, after 28 October compromise between
Mussolini and the ANI was swiftly reached. Federzoni took the occa-
son to pledge the undying ‘friendship’ of the Nationalists for the
'‘Mussolinian' cause, a support made certain, he said duplicitously, in
gratitude for the profundity of the Duce's 'loyalty’ to them.« By
February 1923 the Nationalist jurist Alfredo Rocco, from 1925 to
become a Fascist Minister of Justice, had drafted a detailed set of terms
through which the ANI accepted absorption into the Partito Nazionale
Fascista (PNF).* Thereafter, Nationaists would stud the dite of the
Fascist regime, leading communist, Palmiro Togliatti, to argue that the
movement had as much absorbed Fascism as vice versa.* His argument
is persuasive to a considerable degree, although Mussolini continued
where possible to subvert Nationalist snobbery and arrogance, charac-
teristically confiding to afriend that Federzoni was the sort of old man
who put on a dark suit before going out to buy aroll of toilet paper.*

The business world was appeased by the appointment of economist
Alberto De Stefani as Minister of Finance, a position which from
February 1923 embraced the previously independent Treasury. De

178



Government, 1922—1924

Stefani was a Fascist, but his formidable personality and his confi-
dence in dealing with the highest intellectual circles”” made him a
notably independent one.”® His views on economics were orthodox
enough, and he was soon urging his leader to lessen journalistic
snooping around business concerns and suggesting that the populace
at large must tighten their belts rather than rely on state assistance.*
He also countenanced with aplomb the cutting of military expendi-
ture. Nudged by his advice, the Duce spoke up in the Chamber about
his commitment to balancing the budget 'at any cost'. History, he
added in typical phrases, taught that financial rigour was what saved
nations.>® With De' Stefani in office, Fascism had endorsed the view
that what was good for Fiat, the banks and even international capital
was good for Italy. In 1924 Mussolini sagely told a visiting correspon-
dent from the Chicago Daily News that he and his government stood
four-square 'for the greatest economic liberty',” and, later that year,
De Stefani, to the applause of the markets, announced that the
national budget was in surplus.®* Mussolini may by then have been
engaged in liquidating liberal ideals in the political and cultural
worlds, but he was as yet very cautious about the economic one, either
because of his own native sense of good housekeeping or his canny
realisation that money commanded respect both from a liberal and a
Fascist.

The Minister of Work and Welfare was Stefano Cavazzoni, another
adroit choice. Cavazzoni was a member of the conservative wing of the
PPl and, by April 1923, was urging the party congress to follow his
lead in accepting collaboration with Mussolini, a suggestion enhanced
by the Fascists benign treatment of the Vatican's Banco di Roma,
which had been in difficulties in October 1922, but had been rescued
by the government's official and unofficial help. Other Catholic conser-
vatives similarly evinced a liking for dictatorship, since, they averred,
a dictator was someone who could be seen taking responsibility and
could be relied on to stem the threatening tide of Bolshevism,
Freemasonry and that democracy for which sinful man was not
morally ready.”® Pius X| probably did not demur from these ideas and,
although Luigi Sturzo for a while was stubborn in his commitment to
the survival of his party, by July 1923 he had resigned office.
Thereafter, the PP, unblessed by the Vatican, drifted towardsits final
dissolution in 1926.

But what of the Fascist party itself? How did its members view the
events in Rome and what was Mussolini's policy to be towards his own
supporters, whom he knew were likely to be demanding, chary of
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discipline and hostile towards any return to normality? On 5
November the answer seemed clear as Mussolini telegraphed firm
advice to his prefects and police to stop that socia violence which
'bloodies and dishonours the nation’. Many participants in Sunday
skirmishes had donned an ideological dress, he added, but their rea
motives arose from 'petty local and personal passions.> It wastimeto
reimpose the authority of the national state against both the enemies
of Fascism and the Fascists. Even Gaetano Salvemini, the most purist of
Anti-Fascists, now admitted that 'Mussolini is not as mad as the
hordes of Fascist youths, or as D'Annunzio, ‘the maddest of all', who,
he dill feared, would try to oust the Duce on a 'superfascist
programme'.>

Savemini was not reading the political stuation with great accu-
racy or acumen, but it was worth asking whether the instructions to
cool the socia crisis were likely to be carried out by the officials, or
were fully approved by the Fascists in the provinces, or even by
Mussolini himself. On most issues the Duce continued to speak with
two or more voices. In his initial speech to the Chamber of Deputies,
he proclaimed roundly that 'the revolution has its rights. He and his
party had overwhelmed their opponents and, if he wanted, he could
show just what such supremacy meant, 'converting this dumb, grey,
chamber into a barrack for my legions. ... | could shut parliament
down and constitute an exclusively Fascist administration. | could,
but at least for the moment, | don't want to'.>® But these were not his
only words. On an occasion like the death of Sidney Sonnino, moral
leader of Italian conservatism, the new Prime Minister could be dll
propriety as he urged that 'the interests of the Patria must transcend
all'.>" Similarly, he was ostentatiously respectful when he mentioned
the Church. His own spirit, he announced, was, contrary to much
evidence, 'profoundly religious’; the Catholic religion constituted 'a
fundamental force which should be respected and defended'.*® Pious
to the Church, respectful to the King, on many occasions polite to the
national establishment,> but still the black-shirted Fascist Duce,
Mussolini kept his options open. When he told some provincia
Fascists ringingly: 'l am the trustee of the will of the best young
peoplein Italy, | am the trustee for the passion of thousands of dead, |
am the trustee of that great struggle of ideals and power which has
been bubbling away in our younger generation',® it was unclear
whether he was trying to curb or to unleash his listeners political
passions.

Words apart, evidence mounted that a revolution was being
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institutionalised. Before October Mussolini had talked about creating
a body parallel to the parliament and separate from it. Such an organ-
isation, he had argued, would be more efficient and less given to
windy speechifying than was the Chamber or Senate. On 15 December
it became clear what he had meant as, the press was informed, the
Grand Council (Gran Consiglio) of Fascism had assembled (in the Duce's
private apartment at the Grand Hotel).* At the same time the ordinary
Cabinet continued to meet - by the end of the month, it could boast 12
sessions®® — as Mussolini commenced his Prime Ministerial work 'like
a catapault'.® In the flurry of administrative activity, however, no
attempt was made for the moment to define the relationship between
the Cabinet and the Grand Council. All that was clear was that, on the
register of the Council's members were the great names of the Fascist
movement which had been so notably absent from the Cabinet. The
quadrumviro, those who had headed the March on Rome, Italo Balbo,
Cesare De Vecchi, Michele Bianchi, Emilio De Bono (from November
1922 Chief of Police), were there. So were Edmondo Rossoni, leader of
the Fascist unions, Nicola Sansanelli, a colourless figure soon briefly to
replace Bianchi as PNF secretary, Giuseppe Bastianini and Attilio
Teruzzi. Aldo Pinzi took the minutes. He, Massimo Rocca and party
press officer Cesare Ross were the only ones destined not to have long
and distinguished careers under the dictatorship. Present, too, at the
second meeting of the Council in January 1923, were Dino Grandi,
Achille Starace, Francesco Giunta, Piero Pisenti and a number of
others. An entourage was assembling; henchmen were finding a role
and the Grand Council of Fascisnm began to challenge the left-over
liberal institutions as the place where key matters were discussed and
decided.

The Council's initial act indeed smacked of revolution. The party
chiefs had been worried about the way 'best to utilise the Fascists
military organisations. Their solution was to create the Milizia per la
Scurezza Nazionale, soon to be the Milizia Volontaria per la Scurezza
Nazionaleor MV SN (Voluntary Militiafor National Security).*"* Sucha
body could channel Fascist energy and stand at the ready should any
Anti-Fascists seek serioudy to oppose the new government. Here was
evidence that a Fascist understanding of law and legal process was not
what liberals publicly assumed it to be. As the second meeting of the
Council wastold, the MV SN would be 'Fascist in its essence’, designed
stoutly to defend the 'revolution of October'.*> The MVSN would
compose the revolutionary guard.

But, again, matters might not be as straightforward as they seemed.
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Between these first two meetings of the Grand Council Mussolini had
faced a crigs in his relations with the party. For three daysjust before
Christmas 1922 Fascist squads rampaged through Turin, city of Fiat,
the Agnelli family and of much industry as well as of Granisci, his
paper, L'Ordine Nuovo, the office of which was now sacked, a univer-
sity where Marxist ideas had possessed considerable influence, and a
working class with a decided sense of itself. Here was an Anti-Fascist
citadel that had not fallen before the March on Rome. Now the Turin
Fascists, led by quadrumvir De Vecchi, exacted brutal revenge, at a
cost of a dozen lives and much scandal.® An analysis of the event
reveals two apparent oddities about it. The initiative for the murders
and burnings was loca. Mussolini did not order them in any direct
fashion; indeed, on the first day of the 'action’, he wrote to De Vecchi
to complain of rumours that the Piedmontese leader had been claiming
responsibility for the March on Rome, when he knew very well: ‘I
planned it, | wanted it and | imposed it.”” De Vecchi responded at
once, denying everything and pledged sycophantically: 'l am the
follower and you are the chief'.®® However, his actions in Turin
implied that his loyalty and deference were not absolute and he was
indeed willing to find means to pressure his leader into acknowl-
edging his significance and merit.

But De Vecchi's world did not revolve around Mussolini alone. In
the complexity of life, he had other more pressing foes. The Fascism of
Turin, like Fascism in most parts of the country, was riddled with
factional disputes. Typicaly, these set radical and petit bourgeois
Fascists against their more conservative and socialy respectable
colleagues. In Naples, for example, the charismatic and intransigently
radical Aurelio Padovani, who had emerged as the city's Fascist chief
in 1921 and wasfor atime amember of the Grand Council, in 1923 was
challenged by forces led by Paolo Greco, an ex-Nationalist with many
friends among local businessmen. Greco, it was soon clear, could rely
on backing from Mussolini®* and, amid much toing and froing,
Padovani surrendered his political role (and, in 1926, his life when he
fell somewhat mysteriously from his balcony).”™

Similar disputes can be described in every town and city. So, in
Turin, De Vecchi's authority was opposed by Pietro Gorgolini and
Mario Gioda (this last, the founder of the Turin fascio in 1919, was an
ex-anarchist), who still espoused the radical ideals of Piazza San
Sepolcro. De Vecchi by contrast was a monarchist, with friends among
the Nationalists and in the Army and Church.” It might have been
expected that the raid against the working class of Turin would be the
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work of the radicals. But, actualy, it was the other way round. De
Vecchi and his men were responsible for the murders and, indeed,
were bitterly criticised by Gorgolini and Gioda for the savagery of
their actions. Anti-Fascist Turin may have fallen, but other Fascists
opposed the method of its defeat. The results were complex. In May
1923 Mussolini felt strong enough to sack De Vecchi from his govern-
mental position and did so with a peremptoriness of phrasing which
became his custom.”” Since, even out of office, De Vecchi retained
friends of his own, in October 1923 he was sent to be Governor of
Somalia, a distant post in which it was devoutly hoped he would not
be a nuisance.” This fate, however, did not destroy De Vecchi's influ-
ence in Turin. He was destined to be that city's leading Fascist
throughout the regime (even though Mussolini regularly practised his
wit on his ineffable stupidity).” Gioda, by contrast, left the party in
1924. And there was one other paradoxical effect. Turin remained
through the Fascist years il its own place; its citizens continued to
think of themselves as Torinese, and a dippage among the workers
back into their old enthusiam for socialism and democracy was never
far from the surface of Fascist and 'totalitarian' life.”” Turin had gone
'Fascigt' in its own manner and in a way which had certainly not been
directly planned by Mussolini. Turin was to prove a city highly recal-
citrant to any expectation that it might 'work towards its Duce'.

Thefatti di Torino do, however, reinforce the argument that, in the
short term, the creation of the MV SN was at least as much directed at
calming the Fascists as at pushing the revolution further.” Indeed, in
June 1923 Mussolini boasted to the receptive audience of the Senate
that the gravest issue resolved by his government so far was 'the
problem of squadrism' and the squads' resistance to 'the authority of
the state’.”” Local ras were not so entranced by such claims and quite
a few remained suspicious of the MV SN as an institution designed to
centralise and to control.” It was useful, of course, in absorbing the
Nationalists' Sempre pronti squads, though the Army was, unsurpris-
ingly, critical of a body which might derogate from its own authority.
Still more emphatically, Anti-Fascists regarded the squads, whatever
their form, as the epitome of Fascist tyranny. Mussolini, it seemed, was
looking for means to govern the country in a more drastic sense than
had his predecessors but, in 1923, it was not at al clear that he had
found the means fully to bridge the ancient gap between 'legdl’ Italy
and 'rea’ Italy.

While domestic business was his main concern, Mussolini could not
escape foreign affairs. In hisfirst two monthsin office he travelled to
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Switzerland and to London, as negotiations proceeded on reparations
and other issues left over from the war Even before leaving Milan to
take up office in Rome, on 29 October he had issued a press release
with the somewhat anodyne message that his government would
pursue an international policy 'based on dignity, and avoiding both
hesitation and threats' * Once appointed Prime Minister, Mussolini
added, in a simile common in Nationalist circles, that 'ltaly wishes to
be treated by the great nations of the world like a sister and not like a
waitress  Characteristically, his first speech to the Chamber of
Deputies blew both hot and cold The Duce had promised that the new
government would accept al treaties as binding, even though, he
added fiercely, 'the revolution has its rights' both at home and abroad
All the same, Italian policy, he promised, would be strictly realist,
based on the do ut des principle®

The London Times, then still the most thunderous of international
organs, had suggested that 'the Fascisti', although 'a strange organi-
sation of mixed origin' whose 'violence may too easily degenerate
into excess, nonetheless stood for 'a return to the older crestive
ideals of Italian Liberalism',® and so Mussolini wondered if conserv-
ative Britain might now respond to an appeal from ‘conservative
Italy', as he defined his government®* The Times, which, like many
foreign observers, was ready and anxious to believe that Fascism pos-
sessed a 'good’ as well as a 'bad' side and hoped that Mussolini
embodied the former, did worry lest Italian diplomacy go ‘wild' &
And the paper's fears were shared by the diplomatic world However,
Mussolini's initial threats to pursue a revolutionary foreign policy, if
that was what they were, soon subsided A second speech on the
international situation in February 1923 pledged in statesmanlike
vein that 'originality is impossible in foreign policy' 3 British ambas-
sador, Sir Ronald Graham, was soon reporting that Mussolini was 'a
statesman of exceptional ability and enterprise’,®® 'if inclined to be
hasty and violent' None the less, he added, Mussolini ‘reacts no less
quickly [to reality] and is willing to learn by experience His
'Fascista government' was doing well abroad and at home® There
were days when he fell into 'fits of ungovernable rage’ and to some
extent the Duce was 'a strange man and has lately caused some com-
ment by driving about through Rome in his two-seater with a well-
grown lion cub stting beside him' However, Graham advised, ‘the
Italians seem to like this sort of thing', and, after his moments of act-
ing up, Mussolini soon camed and was then open to sweet reason
like any other gentleman®” To international observers, the
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domestication of Benito Mussolini, the adaptation necessary to ren-
der him 'one of us', did not look too arduous a task.

Among his own diplomats, any early doubts were also soon over-
come. The Italian foreign service was deeply infected with the ideals
of the ANI. At the same time, officials were usually suspicious of the
populism of Fascism and sardonic about the provincial uncouthness of
the new national leader — one of their number took time out to teach
the Duce the smatterings of official etiquette.®® Much later commen-
tary has exaggerated the conflict between Mussolini and his
diplomatic staff. In redlity, right through to 1940 there is far more
evidence of a commonality in their views than of profound disputa-
tion. The Fascist revolution was not so out of kilter with the unspoken
political and socia assumptions of diplomacy for the new government
to cause any particular dislocation. Only oneleading figureresigned —
Carlo Sforza, by October 1922 no longer Foreign Minister but ambas-
sador in Paris® — and, among the lower ranks of the Ministry, there
was only one other case of public dissidence.® The diplomats, like the
rest of officialdom, were true to the classically bureaucratic principles
of ostensible calm, obfuscation and procrastination. The Fascist exci-
tation, they believed profoundly, would not last; things only ever
changed to remain the same. As the very experienced Giacomo De
Martino explained carefully, crafting his words so that they contained
many messages, any sense of alarm felt by elite circlesin Britain, where
he served as ambassador, had been diminished, as the Fascist govern-
ment had settled down. The City in particular, he added meaningfully,
was ready to approve the Fascist experiment.” The Charge in
Washington agreed.” So long as their words were understood, such
advisers were gently pushing their new Prime Minister towards what
they hoped would be a realistic assessment of where power resided
and how it was best approached by a nation of Italy's modest interna-
tional authority. As one of their number underlined in his memoairs,
the best sort of Prime Minister fulfilled the role of Naples San
Gennaro, that is was one who agreed to be exhibited once a year and
remain a mystery the rest of the time.” But would Fascist Italy indeed
'settle down'? Or would Mussolini kick against the pricks? Asthe first
months of 1923 passed, commentators at home and abroad were
unclear whether Fascism or Italy, ideological belief or national
interest, better defined the new government's comprehension of the
wider world.

Expressions of nationalism were hard to restrain and Mussolini was
not the only Italian to hope for a grander national presence in the
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world. Historian Gioacchino Volpe, an intellectual pillar of the regime,
wrote in Gerarchla, for example, that Corsicans carried 'our imprint in
the plainest possible way' and hoped that the French would remember
that 'Corsican history is also our history'.** Margherita Sarfatti, too,
had taken hersdlf off to Tunis where the maority of European immi-
grants were indeed Itadian. The account she prepared in November
1923, endorsed with a preface from her lover under the pompous pseu-
donym ‘Latinus, urged the preservation and development of the
italianita of the Italians there, even if Sarfatti had to admit that the
French were good administrators and failed to avoid the clichéd
conclusion that Arabs were 'great big children at heart'.%

Italy's relations with the Greater Powers constituted one important
issue. But what of the smaller states? Among these the most troubling
was Greece, a country frequently lambasted in Nationalist circles. One
of the first messages about the international situation which Mussolini
received urged him on no account to weaken in the determination to
keep the Dodecanese islands, occupied by Italy since 1912 and the
object of prolonged international treatying,”® out of Greek hands. The
Greeks, Mussolini was told, were a people incapable of gratitude.
Their superior, Italy, must treat them firmly as a good master might.*’

The rest of the Balkans, Africa, even the world beyond that might
raise problems for a patriotic government. So myriad were the interna-
tional concerns that, on 28 August 1923, Mussolini advised his
prefects, whom he had previously urged to ensure their precedence in
any issues of local hierarchy over PNF chiefs,®® again to restrain any
Fascist overenthusiasm. 'The most delicate problems of international
order', the Prime Minister explained, 'are presently coming to the
surface’.® A full-scale crisis was brewing between Italy and Greece.

Mussolini's own interventions over foreign questions had been few,
and, despite occasiona flourishes, had so far scarcely departed far
from the Italian norm. But on 28 August Mussolini cabled his minister
in Athens, the euphoniously named Giulio Cesare Montagna, urging
'immediate and exemplary punishment' for those who, the day before,
had committed a 'barbarous massacre’,'® which had just been
reported from the Greek-Albanian frontier. An Italian general Enrico
Tdlini, heading an inter-allied commission surveying the border, was
among those killed™™ The Greeks blamed bandits, but Montagna
suggested that the current Greek government had acted as the assas-
sins financier or worse and, on 29 August, Mussolini ordered the
Italian fleet to ready itself to occupy the island of Corfu, unless the
Greeks accepted within 20 hours a stiff set of demands. These even
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involved such humiliating pinpricks as the Greek government's atten-
dance at a funeral ceremony in the Roman Catholic cathedral in
Athens, where each minister should publicly honour the Italian flag,
as well as the urgent payment of a swingeing financial indemnity of 50
million lire™? In reply, the Greeks were conciliatory, but the die was
cast and, on 31 August, Italian troops landed on Corfu. In the confu-
son of disembarcation the island had been bombarded without
warning for some minutes beforehand. Fascist Italy was announcing
itself on the international stage with what seemed a replica of the
squadrisi raids, so ruthlessly deployed against its socialist and other
domestic enemies.

Then, 'salutary violence', as the Fascists enjoyed denning it, had
regularly brought the collapse of opposition. But the diplomatic world
was more complicated than were the Italian provinces. Once Corfu had
been seized, it was not at all clear what was meant to come next, and
Mussolini was soon circularising his diplomats with the strange advice
that their nation had engaged in a 'peaceful and provisional' inva-
sion.™" Leading Fascists, even so socially respectable a one as Giovanni
Giuriati, eventually to be secretary of the PNF, were soon suggesting
that Mussolini exploit the opportunity provided, withdraw Italy from
the League of Nations and so proclaim that the revolution was not
prepared to suffer the yoke of international control.™* By contrast,
some career officials — the wily and experienced Sicilian Salvatore
Contarini, the Secretary General of the Foreign Ministry, had been
driven by the summer heat to absent himself from the capital for the
more pleasant climate on Ischia— were deeply troubled by the precip-
itate nature of the action and aghast at the failure to anticipate what
might happen thereafter.

Moreover, Mussolini soon found that he was not just dealing with
Greece. In Britain, France and elsewhere, the drastic nature of the
Italian act reminded people not so much of a squadrisi raid as the ill-
fated Austrian ultimatum to Serbia in 1914. The unilateral occupation
of Corfu was read as a direct Italian challenge to the newly formed
League of Nations with its untested promises of peace preserved
through collective security. There was much concern, especialy in the
press, where the London Times was moved to editorialise magisterially
that the fall of Fascism might be bad for Italy, but the fall of the League
would be bad for Europe.”®" In reaction Mussolini raged to his
bemused ambassador in London that 'the utterly unacceptable English
press campaign’ was likely to cause permanent damage to relations
between the two Powers."* Many historians, convinced that Fascism
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of any kind meant war, have agreed that 'Europe was seeing a type of
diplomacy which was to reach its zenith and its most cynical formin
the coming decade'.*®” '"More than any other individual perhaps, they
have suggested, 'Mussolini was responsible for the collapse of the
League; [the attack on] Ethiopia [in 1935 was the climax of the erosion
begun at Corfu."®

There are, however, some problems associated with the argument
that the Duce's little burst of aggression was the act of ‘one man aone'.
There is every reason to believe that elite opinion in Italy supported
the ‘firmness of Mussolini's treatment of the Greeks.'®® Italy's most
significant, still liberal, paper, // Corriere della Sera, under its
renowned editor, Luigi Albertini, fully backed the government, criti-
cising, for example, the British reaction and generally arguing that
Italy was displaying 'moderation’ and ‘self-sacrifice’ towards the
‘brutally offensive’ Greeks™® Antonio Salandra, the conservative who
had taken Italy into the First World War and now national representa-
tiveto the League in Geneva, similarly endorsed Mussolini's decision,
praising a government which was willing to bolster national pres-
tige™ Thaon di Revel, the naval chief, had been planning an action
against the Greeks for months, since a dispute over the ownership of
the Dodecanese islands had continued to smmer. Indeed, on i August
Thaon had advised Mussolini that a full-scale naval war with Greece
could earn a 'maximum profit with a minimum of risk' and, parroting
the language of the Nationalists, suggested that it should not be long
before the Adriatic was made into 'an Italian lake."* Antonio
Foschini, the commander who actually landed on Corfu, was,
according to his memoirs, much more aware of working under Thaon
than of responding to the Duce whom he had never met."?

In other words, the Corfu incident offers considerable evidence for
the Togliatti thesis that, at least in so far as international policy was
concerned, the Fascist regime tended frequently to follow where the
Nationalists had pointed."* Mussolini was not acting in away that was
out of line with their wishes and habits. Nor, should the truth be
known, was his critique of the vagueness and confusion of the League
of Nations absent from the thoughts of conservativesin such countries
as Britain and France. Among the London press, the Morning Post,
Daily Mail and even the Observer invoked Realpolitik to justify their
appreciation of Italy's actions, rejecting the prospect of being dragged
into the role of an 'international policeman’. Mussolini's 'virile direc-
tion' of his country, they said, was to be applauded."® By January,
even Headway, thejournal of sympathisers with the new diplomacy,
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averred that Mussolini counted ‘for something more than Fascism' "°
Neither in the 19205 nor the 19308 would Mussolini be the only
European to doubt the efficacy of the League of Nations

In any case, the Corfu crisis was proving a short summer storm On
12 September Thaon had advised his leader that, if events pitted it
against the British Royal Navy in the Mediterranean, the ltalian fleet
could only survive for 'forty-eight hours " Fifteen days later the
Italian occupation of the island ended, and the conflict between Italy
and Greece was left to international accommodation The League, for
the moment, had held and Italy had been shown yet again that it was
the least of the Great Powers On the other hand, there was little sign
that Mussolini's own image had been damaged by the Corfu crisis
Indeed, on 23 September he was informed by his secret service that the
British ambassador in Rome, Sir Ronald Graham, rejected the view that
the Dace's actions had been too ‘impulsive, rather, Graham had
advised the authorities back in the UK, Mussolini had shown himself
to possess limitless '‘energy’ The Dace's sceptica realism meant that
friendship with his Italy could from now on be based on a rigorous
assessment of gam and loss "® Nor was Graham Mussolini's only foreign
admirer Asearly as November 1922 intelligence had been received in
Rome that a certain 'Hittler', chief of the Bavarian 'Fascists, was
impressed with recent events in Italy and anxious to develop better ties
with the new administration "® Mussolini showed some interest in the
potentially fraternal German movement, but the fiasco of the 'Beer Hall
putsch’ m November 1923 persuaded him for the moment that Hitler
and his associates were 'buffoons' '?° The more typical foreign sympa-
thiser with Mussolini's policies was presently the Spanish general,
Miguel Primo De Rivera who, visiting Rome two months after his
September 1923 pronunciamiento, was much impressed 'Your figure,
he told the Dace, 'is not just an Italian one You are the apostle of the
world campaign against dissolution and anarchy Fascism is a uni-
versal phenomenon that ought to conquer al nations Fascism is a
living gospel ''?* Asslightly double-edged reward, Primo was hailed by
his king, Alfonso XII1, as 'mon petit Mussolini' '%

Such flattery of the Italian leader was dl very well, but foreign
diplomats noticed aso that the ebullience at Corfu, once it subsided,
was not repeated, at least in the short-term Italian foreign policy
possessed some wobbles in the 19205, but did not again seek to
astonish the world Rather, it was the fate of Fascism domestically and
his construction of a regime to govern Italy which had al along been
Mussolini's main priority
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In that regard, the Duce's first preoccupation had been a highly
practical one, a matter which augmented the tendency of a number of
his contemporaries to view him as the new Giolitti."> Mussolini
wanted to organise some eections. After al, he ill was only the
leader of thirty-five Fascist deputies in the Chamber. Now he needed
to solidify a broad support to ensure that he would, for the foreseeable
future, be as politically indispensable as Gialitti had been from 1901 to
1915. Two techniques were employed, one legal, the other more
overtly Fascist and revolutionary. Giacomo Acerbo, the respectable
Fascist from the Abruzzi, acting on an initia plan by his fellow
Southerner Michele Bianchi, had drafted a law which worked its way
with some controversy though the parliament during the summer and
autumn of 1923. It entailed areward in terms of seats to be assigned for
the largest party which won more than 25 per cent of the total suffrage
available and so was directed at the creation of a stable majority in a
multi-party system. The Left in great majority opposed the measure, as
did Farinacci for different motives among the more intransigent
Fascists. But Giolitti, Salandra, Orlando, // Corriere della Sera and, by
implication, the Vatican and the King al endorsed it,"* amid much
complacent conservative rhetoric about unifying the nation and refur-
bishing the authority of the executive. In November the 'Acerbo law'
went through the Senate in a single sitting. In January, with the
approva of King Victor Emmanuel IIl, the parliament was dissolved.
Elections were scheduled for 6 April.

This much was constitutional; but what of the Fascist party and its
activities in the world outside Rome? Socia violence had not ceased.
The killing of the left-Catholic priest Giovanni Minzoni near Ferrara in
August 1923 was only the most notorious of squadrisi deeds. In a
frequent correspondence with Mussolini, Farinacci, who had assumed
the mantle of most Fascist of the Fascists, continued to urge intransi-
gence and to attack the retention of office by any from the old
establishment.'?® The ras of Cremona remained a zealous advocate of
'the methods of intelligent surgery' against those who evinced
lingering doubts about Fascism and its revolutionary victory.'?

Farinacci's level of ideological sophistication was not high. But
Fascism was trying to establish itself intellectually. In June 1923 the
Roman, ex-Nationalist, Giuseppe Bottai (born 1895), under Mussolini's
spel since they had met in 1919 announced with considerable
fanfare the first issue of ajournal to be entitled Critica Fascista and
boasting on its editorial board aroll of honour of Fascists and Fascist
sympathisersincluding Acerbo, Balbo, Bastianini, Bianchi, Corradini,
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Federzoni, Forges Davanzali, Gentile, Giunta, Grandi, E.M. Gray,
Sergio Panunzio, Rocca, Rocco, Cesare Rossi, and Rossoni. A first
editorial explained the need to solidify the 'revolution’ by 'stabilising
certain political and spiritual values. The imprint of Nationalism was
very strong. Indeed Corradini wrote the first article elucidating 'the
historic nature of political doctrines. Forges Davanzali, another
Nationalist who had once been employed to stiffen popular morale
after the Caporetto defeat, went on to argue that Fascism should not be
regarded as being in government, but instead as having become the
government. Having overwhelmed the defeated 'parties, it incarnated
a new generation, and must move forward to build a genuine nation-
state, stiffened by 'dl the best forces in Italian society. Panunzio, a
(Southern) philosopher of syndicalism, added that socialism was now
utterly defeated, but that Fascism was rooted in its own unions, which
ensured that Fascism and the state were becoming identical ."®

Here, then, was a limning of matters that would be discussed both
under the regime and by the post-1945 historiography. In a second
issue of Critica Fascista, Mussolini himself wrote an preface,
expressing his pleasure at the idea of disciplined criticism. 'Professor
Mussolini' once more, he was glad that Fascism could show itself to be
intellectually productive and was delighted when Bottai proclaimed
Fascism 'intellectual above everything else.'”® Fascism, Mussolini
emphasised, must be 'educational’, or it was nothing.® In the
following months, Bottai and others kept up their demands that the
revolution not turn passive. Fascism, Bottai wrote, as 'a revealed reli-
gion has reached a point where it must codify itself and build its
temples.™' In the Grand Council, too, the regime talked about its
‘historic mission' to build a 'new ruling class for the nation' and
praised the fighting spirit still evident in the MV SN, while adding
more cautiously that 'every attempt to separate Mussolini and Fascism
is inane and absurd'.!*?

Bottal did not forget respect, either. Local party bosses erred when
they grew too independent. They must comprehend that their Duce
was 'a man full of power and sweetness, who has not forgotten and
will not forget that to ruleis neither just a matter of convincing people
nor of forcing them but rather an exquisite synthesis of both. ... As
far as we are concerned Fascists have only one way to be genuinely
Mussolinian and that is to live the life of the party intelligently'.
Resisting the siren song of those who were 'discontented, deluded,
incapable and unworthy', Fascists should try automatically to second
the 'struggles and preoccupations of the Chief'."*® In his continuing
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programme and mental attitude, Bottai, something of a perpetual
adolescent, would spend two generations working towards his Duce.
But the question remains. how many other Italians were as ready to
subjugate their souls to Mussolini as was Bottai?

Nor did expressions of loyalty or love sdlve Mussolini's own deep-
ening sense of the hollowness of life. As the eections were being held,
he published in Gerarchla a disquisition on Machiavelli. He had, he
remarked, just re-read the Florentine writer's corpus, athough, he
added modestly, he had not fully plumbed the secondary literature in
Italy and abroad. Machiavelli's thought was, Mussolini announced,
more dive now than ever. His pessimism about human nature was
eternal in its acuity. Individuals smply could not be relied on volun-
tarily to 'obey the law, pay their taxes and serve in war'. No
well-ordered society could want the people to be sovereign.
Machiavelli's cynical acumen exposed the fatuity of the dreams of the
Enlightenment (and of Mussolini's own political philosophy before
1914).'34

If dark thoughts about human nature could not atogether be
dispelled from his mind, for the present matters seemed set fair for the
Duce. Addressing party faithful in January 1924 Mussolini warned
them againgt developing ideas about a leader pushed this way or that
by good or bad counsellors. Rather, in his 'not at all sociable life', he
made his decisions in the solitude of his soul and often late at night.
Each morning five or six men came briefly in to instruct him about the
condition of Italy. He listened to them, but then made up his own
mind.** This gospel about his charismaand his 'savagery' continued to
win converts. All over the country, men from the elite hastened tojoin
the listone (big list), as the government ticket for the elections was
caled. Arnaldo Mussolini passed on the sage and very northern
adviceto his brother that, south of Rome, the listone should cheerfully
accommodate the old €elite, since there 'personalities and not parties
were what counted.**® With the government able to rely on widespread
approval from the 'best people', the electoral campaign proceeded in
relative cam and, all decorum, Mussolini again explicitly instructed
the prefects to suppress violence from whichever part of the political
spectrum it originated.”’

The result was a triumph. The listone had not needed the assistance
of the provisions of the Acerbo law, since the government won more
than half the votes in the North of Italy, 76 per cent in the Centre and
815 per cent in the South where, 18 months earlier, Fascism had
scarcely existed. Never before in Italian national history since 1861
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had there been such a resounding victory. Moreover, in its aftermath,
Mussolini sought to take consensus further, coolly reviving the idea of
an accord with the moderate sociaists. Could reformist leader Filippo
Turati and trade union chief Ludovico D'Aragona, it was asked, be
'‘transformed' into a fully united, national government?*®

Some on the Left remained determined to oppose the Fascist tide.
Among them was Giacomo Matteotti, himself a reformist but a man
especialy hated by the Fascists because of his class and regional back-
ground - his family in Rovigo were prominent in a local bank'** - and
because he had so firmly rejected the patriotic option in the First
World War. Matteotti also had excellent international contacts and, in
April 1924, hetravelled to London and met some L abour leaders. On 30
May, again in Italy, Matteotti spoke up in the Chamber against what he
said had been fraudulent elections, in which the level of cynical
violence might be compared with Mexico, were it not for the fact that
such a statement insulted the Mexicans."* More worryingly, it was
rumoured that Matteotti had collected damning evidence about
Fascist corruption. Vast bribes, it seemed, had been paid by Sinclair
Oil, an American company with flourishing ties to such prominent
bankers as Samuel Guggenheim, JP. Morgan and Andrew Mellon, in
order to secure the right to control petrol distribution in Italy."”” There
were also tales of illicit arms trading. Arnaldo Mussolini was thought
to be implicated in some of the deals,"*? as were others in the Duce's
entourage, including Pinzi, a very wealthy Fascist from the Polesine
and so from Matteotti's immediate world.'* If its violence had not
condemned it, was Fascism about to fall beneath the weight of party
corruption?

It was not. On io June the sensational news spread that Matteotti
had been kidnapped. Armed men had grabbed him while he was
walking near his house by the Tiber, bundling him forcibly into their
car which had then sped off. The leader of the squad involved was
Amerigo Dumini. Born in 189 to emigrants in St. Louis, Missouri,
Dumini had excellent contacts which reached up to the Duce himself.
Matteotti had been taken on ajourney from which he was not destined
to return. No news of the oil or other possible scandals was further to
disturb the press. But Matteotti's abduction threatened to destroy the
edifice which Mussolini had been so adroitly and single-mindedly
constructing since October 1922. Would his coalition survive murder
not just in the provinces, but on the streets of the capital and where
blood seemed to stain the hands of the Prime Minister himself?



Theimposition of
dictatorship, 1924-1925

T the beginning of June 1924, having established himsdf as the

'new man' of post-war politics, Mussolini seemed entrenched in a
certain sort of power. He had enjoyed administering a nation and had
proved lively and adroit in keeping together his codlition of support
and, indeed, in expanding it. He had been careful to ingratiate himself
with the old Liberas, the most significant of whom had joined his
listone in the elections.! He had continued to harness the 'energy’ of
provincial Fascism with skill and ruthlessness, deploring 'useless
violence? but by no means rejecting the intimidation of his surviving
political opponents. 'Order', Fascist order, he was given to
proclaiming, was a fundamental national concern; without it, the lira
might fall®> and the nation be unable to assert its proper place in the
world. Since October 1922 Mussolini had successfully presented
himself both as the Fascist Duce, commander of a crusading militia,
and as a statesman-in-the-making, in Rome set high above petty local
concerns. With his huge electoral victory he had achieved a position
of political strength beyond that imagined by Giolitti or Crispi,
Depretis or Cavour. Here, indeed, was a man who, had he wanted,
could have become a 'parliamentary dictator' with few dangers or
threats lurking in his path. In less than two years, Benito Mussolini
had made himself the Italian politician of whom everyone, both within
his country and without, had heard.

Did he, then, know where he was going? Was he already deter-
mined to be a Fascist dictator? Some analysts say so.* His personality
certainly remained domineering, and his tactical relationship with his
own party was such that either he was acknowledged as its unchal-
lenged leader or the Fascist movement was relegated to the provinces
and he must find another vehicle through which to obtain power.
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Furthermore, he had never hidden his contempt for much parliamen-
tary practice, although the zeal with which he applied himself to
managing an election suggested that he had still not discounted the
Chamber as a seat of authority. Most importantly, Mussolini was
distinguished from his Liberal predecessors in understanding that,
even in relatively backward Italy, a successful politician now required
ameans or arhetoric which could bind a very considerable percentage
of the population to his cause. The depressed democrat, Gaetano
Salvemini, may have declared sadly that only some 100 ooo Italians
really cared about their nation,® and it was true that much of peasant
and female Italy was politicised in the most marginal of senses and
could easily dip back into the patterns of the pre-modern political and
social worlds. But Mussolini had recognised that, after the mobilising
which had gone on during the First World War, al Italians had to be
addressed politically. As never before, they needed to believe that
they belonged to the nation-state. In one way or another, as Prime
Minister or as dictator, Mussolini would want to press forward with
the 'nationalisation of the masses'."

And yet historians need to be careful. Hindsight always smoothes
the confusions and compromises of real life, locating patterns and
inevitabilities where they may not have existed. Whether Mussolini,
as yet, knew that he was travelling to a 'totalitarian' end, as it would
soon come to be called, and that he was destined to impose a secular
religion whose most obvious characteristic would be his own deifica-
tion, may be doubted. The Mussolini who liked to crash through or to
crash seemed balanced by the more machiavellian traditional politi-
cian who was at his happiest negotiating deals with al sides. Not for
nothing was Mussolini, in the aftermath of his electoral victory,
rumoured to be reviving thoughts, expressed three years before in the
pact of pacification and never entirely abandoned,’ that a ‘transforma-
tion' of some socialists into governmental ranks might yet be possible.
In June 1924 Mussolini was still endeavouring to combine the roles of
Prime Minister of a coalition administration and Fascist Duce.

The kidnapping and murder of Matteotti marked a major crisis in
Mussolini's life. Was he responsible for the killing? His Italian biogra-
pher De Felice says no, or at least not directly.” The most recent
historian of the event, Mauro Canali, disagrees, ascribing direct blame
to the Duce.”® In Canali's view a Ceka had been established in July 1923
as a 'secret criminal organisation at Mussolini's command'." Its
creation signalled the commencement of 'totalitarian’ state terrorism,
even if the killing of Matteotti had been arranged to silence him more
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because of the practical matter of the oil scandal than as an attack on
‘Anti-Fascism'.

Canali's detail isimpressive, but perhaps the case against Mussolini
remains 'not-proven’, to utilise that significant Scottish lega term.
There can be little doubt that Mussolini had, on many occasions,
condoned and encouraged violence and murder, and that he hated
Matteotti.*? It is clear, too, that the squad led by Dumini planned their
attack with the foreknowledge of the highest circles of the Fascist
party, and with the direct assistance of such figures as Mannelli, Pinzi,
Cesare Ross and Filippo Filippelli, the editor of // Corriere Italiano and
amajor contact to the financial world for Arnaldo Mussolini.*®* On the
night of 9—10 June Dumini and his associates parked their car, which
had been obtained for them by Filippelli, in the cortile of the Palazzo
Chigi itself, with thejustification that Cavalier Dumini was an assis-
tant of Rossi, engaged on important business in Rome.** Equally, the
legal processes after the event were designed to avoid any thorough
investigation and, though Dumini and other members of the squad did
go to gaol, they scarcely suffered the punishment they deserved.

And yet some questions remain. Both Dumini and his enforcer, the
butcher Albino Volpi, earned themselves ample files in the Duce's
private secretariat. The content is curious. Each, either directly or
through family members or friends, wrote to their dictator with a
combination of pious respect and an open hint of blackmail. Asmara
Norchi Volpi, for example, in May 1929 urged Mussolini's intervention
to grant her husband a licence for a new market stal in Milan both
because of what she described as the parlous economic circumstances
of the Volpi family and because of the 'merit' Albino Volpi had earned
(and would always be ready to earn) in the cause of 'Y our Excellency
and Fascism'.” Five years later, business still being bad for the Volpis,
afriend reminded Mussolini of Volpi's 'faith, courage and devotion to
the Duce', while Volpi himself assured the dictator that he did little
except call down blessings on him, his loved ones and family.*®

Still more striking is the correspondence with Dumini who, by
1939, had managed to extract from the regime subsidieswhich officials
tallied in excess of 2.37 million lire.”” In hisletters to his Duce, Dumini
was much given to asking: 'Can Y our Excellency have forgotten what,
in the years of danger, Amerigo Dumini did for the Idea?*® As he bled
his patron, Dumini frequently philosophised about the Darwinian
world in which fate might happily alow him to 'see the end of our
suffering and the extermination of al those who seek in vain to ruin
me and my whole family', maevolent people who pullulated and
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plotted within the ranks of the party as well as elsewhere.® Dumini, in
other words, viewed himself much more as a client than as a selfless
legionary of the Fascist creed. Thisimpression is confirmed by a letter
written by Dumini's mother to Mussolini complaining that the
confining of her son to Longobuco in Calabria was intolerable since
such a southern paese was 'a place for wild beasts, in regard to the
climate, the isolation, and the food and lodging'.*° The Duminis were
scarcely convinced that every village in the South was an equal part of
the Fascist nation, but they did know that one who assumed the status
of a patron had obligations to his client.

The correspondence with the killers of Matteotti thus offers excel-
lent evidence of the lingering of patron-client relations and a
patron—client mindset even in a boasted totalitarian state. But what
does it demonstrate about Mussolini's guilt for the actual murder? The
messages are mixed. In other regimes, Dumini, Volpi and the rest
surely would not have survived their own importunity. Few thought
blackmailing Hitler or Stalin afruitful idea. Compared with the Night
of the Long Knives in Nazi Germany, let alone the purges in Stalin's
USSR, or the vicious pursuit of republican sympathisers in Franco's
Spain, the killing of Matteotti was messy and amateurish, both in the
event and after. When Matteotti was bundled into the car, a local
portiere noted its number-plate” and it was soon traced. Did the squad
really intend to kill the socialist or was their intention merely to beat
him severely? If murder was the aim, the killers were remarkably
incompetent in disposing of the corpse, which they eventually left by
the road leading from Rome into the Sabine hills. Allegedly they had
simply driven their Lancia around until almost out of petrol and then
scrabbled a shallow grave at the roadside.?? No preparations had been
made to suppress or answer the inevitable hue and cry which devel-
oped over the fate of the disappeared deputy and which continued
unabated until the body was found on 16 August. The panicky deci-
sion on 12 Juneto arrest Dumini, for fear that a chain of responsibility
might lead to Mussolini, was another leap in the dark, certainly
unplanned before the event. Finally, Mussolini himself would go out
of his way to send financial assistance to the widow and children of
Matteotti,”> perhaps proof of guilt, but not an act of that cruelty and
callousness which other dictators later so readily displayed. A dictator
with at least the glimmering of a contrite heart both to his henchmen
and his victims, if that is what Mussolini was, is an unusual figure on
the brutal stage of twentieth-century history.

In any case, in the short term the greatest significance for Mussolini
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of the Matteotti murder lay in his political handling of the event. Here,
after initial hesitations (both Rachele, his wife, and Margherita Sarfatti
did their best to stiffen his morale),** Mussolini rose to the occasion
and, from the edge of disaster, steered a course which led to his re-
affirmation as national leader. Three forces stood in his path, each of
great potential menace. How did the old elites, apparently convinced
in their allegiance to liberal values and the law, cope with a Prime
Minister implicated in murder? How, too, did the more radical opposi-
tion approach the occasion which seemed so promising for their
Anti-Fascism? And what finally was the attitude of the Fascists of the
provinces? Did they not want to use the killing of a socialist to take the
revolution further and faster and now liquidate al their enemies, if
necessary doughing off the Duce in favour of some more drastically
Fascigt ras

The King, the Pope, the Army, business, the dites of Italian political
and civil society, and many a distinguished foreign observer® caused
little difficulty. Their attitude to the crisis was well summed up in an
editorial in the London Times which advised that ‘homicide is more
common ... [in Italy and its political circles] than in most other
civilised states.?® The paper, none the less, did not formally condone
murder and had harsh wordsfor 'villageruffians' and 'hooligansin the
towns who committed crimes on the pretext that they were serving
the Fascist cause. The Times editorials even acknowledged that
Mussolini might have ‘provoked Nemesis himself'.?” However, then
and later, the paper's editor believed in the Prime Minister's ultimate
good faith, backed his victory over 'Bolshevism' and agreed that his
fall was 'too horrible to contemplate’.?

The Vatican's Osservatore Romano was similarly willing to forgive
and forget, preaching in predictable parable: 'Let him who is without
sin cast the first stone'.?® The Monarchy agreed. Victor Emmanuel |Il,
some months earlier, had praised Mussolini's ‘capacity for work and
extraordinary ability at assimilating information’, applauding his
defeat of the 'low game of the parties’.* After the elections, the King's
speech to the Chamber had gone out of its way to salute the triumph
of 'the generation of Victory [in the War] which now controls the
government'.” And throughout the Matteotti crisis, Victor Emmanuel
ressted cals for Mussolini's dismissa on the conveniently constitu-
tional grounds that he was 'blind and deaf until the Prime Minister
log his mgjority in the parliament, while noting in his diary that
Salandra, too, was till a supporter of the Fascist chief.® The Army
leadership, which had gone on didliking the MVSN's ideological
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commitment, its amateurism and its threat to the Army's own
perquisites, took the occasion of the crisis to hand over 100 ooo war
surplus rifles to the party militia, thus confirming its preference for
Mussolini over the alternatives." Some business leaders deplored the
murder, with Gino Olivetti briefly nourishing the heresy that ‘the
black flag may not be better than the red'.>* However, the majority of
Italian industrialists remembered instead their old catch-cry that poli-
tics was a dirty business, taking the self-interested line that now was
the time to concentrate on their profits and leave others to make the
big political choices.” Their decision was sweetened in September
when Mussolini elevated a score of their number to the Senate.’® Even
liberal philosopher-historian Benedetto Croce favoured the 'best
elements of Fascism' and refrained from campaigning against
Mussolini."

To be sure the first news of the murder, and Mussolini's initial
embarrassment and unease in the Chamber on 11 and 13 June - the
Duce talked weakly of ‘devilish' plots against himself® - had worried
quite a few liberals. The stock market briefly shook.”® But, soon after,
the crisis turned from being an issue of the law or of the tolerance of
socia violence to one of a conflict between Fascism and Anti-Fascism.
In that dispute, the elites of old Italy knew where they stood.

It was the democratic and socialist |eft, joined by what remained of
the Popolari, who had made the choice a stark one. On 13 June some
hundred deputies abandoned the parliamentary chamber, branding
the government itself unconstitutional. With that love of classical
parallels they ironically shared with Mussolini, the Anti-Fascists
called themselves the Aventine secession' on the model of what, on
occasion, the plebs had done in republican Rome. While the King,
Army and Pope wavered, the tribunes of the Left had opted for rigour
and decency, but their virtue would not save them from defeat.

Mussolini knew how to outflank them. On 17 June he announced
that the ex-Nationalist Luigi Federzoni was taking over the Ministry
of the Interior, the fount of constitutional discipline in Italy. It was a
brilliant choice™ Federzoni's respectability dissipated whatever
doubts about Fascism and its leader currently afflicted members of the
old elite. Federzoni's deference, demonstrated by the ease with which
the ANI had accepted the merging of their movement with the
National Fascist Party, ensured that he would not himself plot to
thwart the Duce's will.

In any case, the Anti-Fascists on the Aventine were finding that
their gesture of disapproval and dismay was barren. The passage of

199



Mussolini

time worked against them, bringing their numerous divisions to the
surface. By November 1924 communist leader Gramsci had been
driven to the maximalist and despairing conclusion that Fascism and
liberal democracy were 'objectively’ alike. The years of sguadrisi
assault had reduced the working class to 'a disconnected, fragmented,
scattered mass' with no energy or purpose. The PC d'l, he complained,
had no line or method left through which it could control events.*
More moderate socialists were appalled by communist intransigence,
but their urging of unity at all costs fell on deaf ears.”” The democrat
Giovanni Amendola retreated to an intransigence of his own, deciding
that 'we ... the cultivated, middling classes are the last hope of
Italy',”® an attitude ill-calculated to win over those convinced they
served workers or peasants. At // Corriere della Sera, Luigi Albertini
had ended his earlier flirtation with Fascism and tried bravely if belat-
edly to reaffirm libera values, but, though his paper's circulation
increased, its editor, too, proposed no real solution to the politica
crisis® Among the Catholics, Sturzo and De Gasperi wondered
whether the ban on alliance with the socialist left should now be
lifted, but more authoritative Church spokesmen pronounced that the
whole Aventine experiment amounted to a 'grave error'.* During the
dark days of the regime Anti-Fascists might argue that the Aventine
experience had helped to forge their political understanding, but, in
the immediate circumstances of 1924, it was soon evident that they
offered little threat to Mussolini's retention of authority.

More rumbustious were the Fascists. Their typical figure of the
moment was Farinacci. In his paper Cremona nuova he expressed an
adamantineintransigence. Therewould betrouble, he warned as early
as 14 June, if the party in the provinces believed that the leadership
was betraying them.*® Statesmanlike speeches by Mussolini in Rome
were all very well, but Fascism must not resile from ‘the full recogni-
tion of the rights of the victors over the vanquished'.*” Mussolini must
construct a strong state and a Fascist one, and do so without back-
sliding or regret.*®

Mussolini's own tone was more fluctuating, as he sedulously strove
to tell his listeners what they wanted to hear. Once he overcame his
initial confusion, he instructed his prefects to kegp him especialy
informed about Fascist extremism, although he aso organised official
Fascist rallies against the opposition and any revival of 'subversion'.*
As well as continuing to blame dissident Fascists for the murder of
Matteotti and to deny any personal responsibility - the act, he wrote
in // Popolo d'ltalia, was 'barbarous, useless, Anti-Fascist, and, from a
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political viewpoint, anti-Mussolinian’® - the Duce used the appoint-
ment of Federzoni to assure the Chamber of Deputies that he favoured
'legality’ and 'national conciliation’. None the less, he added with a
hint of truculence, he had no intention of 'renouncing those princi-
ples which we have the sacrosanct duty to defend at any cost'.* To the
Grand Council, his message was similar. The Nationalists were now
fully fused with the rest and, after all, 'Fascism' was ‘composed of ex-s
of one kind or another. 'The fascistisation of Italy', he went on, 'must
happen but its pace cannot be forced'.>

As the weeks slipped by and his government survived, Mussolini
augmented his efforts to win over the liberal elite. The new Italy, he
declared, stood for peace at home and abroad, but peace based on
'dignity, pride and a sense of discipline.>® Collaboration between
Fascism and Liberalism was 'possible, desirable, and fertile in its
results’. Fascism had transcended the era of the club and castor oil. It
was even time to be modest. 'If the nation one day tires of me | shall go
without slamming the door and with a tranquil conscience, since so
many big and difficult issues in every field from that of banking to
those of foreign policy have been confronted and resolved/* These
seductive words made it all the more urgent for aman like Farinacci to
understand that his own rhetoric must avoid al 'threats and intimida-
tion'. "You must wave not just an olive branch, but a whole forest of
olive trees, Mussolini admonished."

But a second murder now sent the crisis lurching on to another
track. On 12 September the Fascist deputy and unionist Armando
Casalini was shot down on the streets of Rome. Blood had been, or
seemed to have been, matched with blood. Farinacci responded imme-
diately by declaring that enough was enough, demanding that
Amendola, Albertini, Sturzo and Turati pay the price for any Fascist
sacrifice. Fascists like himself, true Fascists, could no longer tolerate
having their hands bound. Vengeance must be theirs/® 'The land of
Dante and Mazzini must not be consigned to Lenin',>” he urged,
summoning provincial Fascism behind him.

For awhile Mussolini resisted, at least in public, the pressure which
continued to build from a 'second wave' of squadrism. On 4 October
he was careful to state, piously and with an obvious moral for the mili-
tary chiefs, that 'the day in which the Army becomes seditious, that
day the nation runs mortal danger'/® Into the bargain, he now took
the moment to speak ingratiatingly about poets and intellectuals at the
Bocconi university in Milan (and make modest complaint about his
own lack of proper academic opportunity so far)/" He went on official
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pilgrimage to the Touring Club Italiano, patriotic redoubt of the
Milanese bourgeoisie.*® He was all decorum as he mourned the death
of Giacomo Puccini, whose music, he said, had brought the nation
'pure and refulgent glory'.* He spoke, too, in many a small northern
town, never forgetting to praise the locals own virtues.® But still he
did not act. Indeed, on n November he again assured the Chamber
that rassismo was in decline and 'Fascist illegality, too, is not only not
tolerated but is severely punished'. Otherwise, hejoked to the Senate
afew weeks later, to the 'opposition of many colours among the Anti-
Fascists might be added a 'Fascist Aventine'.®®

Action, after all, there was going to be. In December Farinacci was
not alone in his mounting impatience to unleash a Fascist offensive.®*
The legd process for the Matteotti murder had reached De Bono and
Pinzi® and again threatened to inculpate Mussolini himself.®® There
were rumours, too, of open dissidence in the cabinet where De' Stefani
had sought permission to resigh and where a number of ex-liberal and
Nationalist ministers, including even Federzoni, were nervous and
restive.”” Among the Fascists, discontent grew, focusing on the posi-
tion of Federzoni as Minister of the Interior and on what seemed
Mussolini's own endless prevarications. Although Farinacci could still
warn off potential competitors with the advice that 'only one myth'
wastenablein Italy - that of the Duce,™ to hisleader, he urged that the
tocsin be sounded for the offensive.®® The Tuscan radical Fascist
Curzio Suckert, better known under his pen-name as Curzio
Malaparte, was unrepentant in attacking the Duce himself, warning
him that ‘it was not Mussolini who had carried the Fascists to ... the
Prime Ministership, but the Fascists who had carried him to power'.
Now 'Mussolini must bow to the revolutionary will [of the provincial
Fascists] or resign, even if only for a short time, the revolutionary
mandate entrusted to him'.”

The pressure had built to breaking-point. On 30 December 1924
Mussolini instructed the prefects to convey to deputies home for the
Christmas holidays that they must absolutely attend the parliament on
3 January, when the Prime Minister would give a major speech.”* The
Duce tried to evince a public calm - the story was spread that, on 2
January 1925, one visitor had a 9 am meeting with the Duce so that
they could discuss the elegance and meaning of Dante's prose;
Mussolini maintained that he disciplined himself to read a Canto every
morning and it was implied that his current scanning of the Great
National Poet influenced the phrases of the speech to be delivered the
next day.” There was no doubt, however, that, although he remained
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nervous at the possible negative reaction of King, Army and old elites
to a variety of Fascist coup,” he had now been persuaded to step into
the open and resolve the crisis.

When he spoke to the Chamber his phrases were plangent. The
opposition on the Aventine was damned as 'an anti-constitutional
secession, unacceptably revolutionary' in itsintent. Mussolini himself
was a man of 'reasonable intelligence, much courage and an utter
contempt for monetary gain'. If he had wanted to set up a Ceka, he
would have done so in a whole-hearted manner. In any case, whatever
had been planned and plotted in June, now 'l declare, in the presence
of this assembly and that of the whole Italian people, that |, and |
alone, assume the political, moral and historic responsibility for every-
thing that has happened'. 'If the outbreaks of violence have been the
result of a particular historic, political and moral climate, | take the
responsibility, because | created this historical, political and moral
climate with a propaganda campaign which has run from the
Intervento until today." 'When two irreconcilable forces meet', he
proclaimed in peroration, 'the only solution is force.' When he fell
silent, Farinacci, a rival noticed, strode across the chamber ostenta-
tiously to be the first to shake his hand.” On 3 January 1925 the
Matteotti affair had found its resolution and Benito Mussolini had
announced himself as the Fascist dictator of Italy.

To the words were added deeds. On 12 January the King approved a
new cabinet. Gone then or in the next few months were most of the
Liberals; by August Mussolini himself was Prime Minister, Minister
for Foreign Affairs, Minister of War, Minister of the Navy, Minister for
Aviation. Later he would also become Minister of Corporations (1926-
29), Minister of Colonies (1928-29) and Minister of Public Works
(1929), whilein November 1926 he resumed his position as Minister of
the Interior. This dew of offices has a curious side; being a Pooh-Bah
is not the most obvious way to consolidate individual power. Certainly
Hitler, Stalin and Franco never followed Mussolini's course in this
regard. Inevitably, the Under-Secretaries of Mussolini's numerous
portfolios conducted most day to day business. Here Fascists were now
present with Grandi, Under-Secretary at the Foreign Ministry from
May 1925, Balbo, Under-Secretary for Aviation from November 1926,
Teruzzi, Bianchi and Arpinati, all serving turns as Under-Secretary for
the Interior (Bianchi was aso for atime at Public Works), Giunta as
Under-Secretary to the Prime Minister, Botta at Corporations and
Fulvio Suvich, Alessandro Lessona, Dino Alfieri and De Bono, who
had shrugged off the Matteotti affair, acting as Under-Secretaries of
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this ministry or that From July 1925 D€ Stefani was replaced at the
Ministry of Finance by Giuseppe Volpi, the ex-Giohttian, ex-
neutralist, ex-target of the Nationalists, ex-Governor of Tripohtama,
appointed to that last post by Amendola in liberal days but, from
October 1922, willing servant of Fascism With an ideological practi-
cality which would often characterise the dictatorship, Volpi, who had
not taken a Fascist card until July 1923 (but could boast that he served
on the board of forty-six companies already in 1922), had his party
membership back-dated to January 1921' Lessona, later to be
Minister of Colonies, cut his teeth as Mussolini's conduit to the
Albanian politician who, president from January 1925, elevated
himself in 1928 to be King Zog |,”” and, as a reward for his skill in
bribery and diplomacy, similarly acquired a forged party history™

Along with the new appointments to government came changes in
the administration of the Fascist party Since August 1924 the travail
over the Matteotti affair had been reflected in the handing of the party
to an emergency directing committee of fifteen However, on 12
February 1925 Mussolini appointed Farinacci as the sole PNF secre-
tary The party, it had been announced, would be purged of the
corrupt and the lukewarm, the arrivistes and the cynics Its loca
disputes, Mussolini instructed the new secretary, must remain local
and not damage the 'prestige of Fascism and its work of government' "
With this charge to discipline the party, Mussolini had, as it were,
chosen athief to catch athief, elevating a potential opponent, but one
whose venality and other weaknesses actually made him easy to
control, to akey position in hisregime It was atactic Mussolini would
repeat Along with the purge also went an expansion - under
Farinacci, party membership, which had fallen to below 600 ooo in the
second half of 1924 rose to 938 000 in 1926 * The ranks of the PNF
were again opened to those sufficiently clear-eyed to redise the advan-
tage which could spring from their membership, and from being led
by a Duce who intended a lengthy stay in office

Mussolini's relationship with Farinacci is a psychologically inter-
esting one, revealing a great deal about both the Fascist government
and its leader Farinacci was an extremist of a kind, winning approval
from such diverse Fascist revolutionaries as Malaparte and the fanati-
caly Anti-Semitic Prezios and his journal, La Vita Italiana®
Farinacci himself, the ex-raillway worker socialist, flaunted his
populist crudity, never being happier than when berating priestly
piety and deriding any display of manners and decency His course
through Fascism - he remained a leading figure amost to the end -
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made him in time a staunch advocate of the alliance with Nazism and
an out-and-out racist.?? And yet Farinacci better resembled a
Tammany Hall tough than an ideological fanatic.® He was neither a
Himmler nor a Goebbels, despite his prominent role in the Fascist
press and his effrontery in publicly defending Dumini and the killers
of Matteotti.® It is hard to see him as a true believer in anything
except Roberto Farinacci and in the need to remain angry against all
those who blocked his path to wealth and fame.

Mussolini, with whom he exchanged a frequent and often
passionate correspondence, well understood that ultimate ideological
emptiness, especially because, over time, it became so evident that he
shared it. Meanwhile the Duce endured, and even perhaps enjoyed,
Farinacci's regular pin-pricks about this or that gap between Fascist
theory and Fascist practice (and his regular declarations that he was a
Fascist who told the truth), rather as he enjoyed occasional contact
with his similarly down-to-earth wife. Alone among Mussolini's asso-
ciates, Farinacci confessed that he thought of the Duce as a 'brother’
and a ‘'friend".®® Just in case fraternal amity should have its limits,
Mussolini treasured in his privatefilesa piece of evidence which could
rein in Farinacci. The rough and tumble boss of Cremona had plagia-
rised, in the most straightforward fashion, the thesis which earned
him the right to awell-remunerated career as a lawyer,*® amending the
title of another's work and repeating it word for word. The Duce
amplified his version of these texts with a formal note stating that,
legally, Farinacci's deed was punishable with 6 months of gaol, 'being
mandatory in al universities in the kingdom where university exams
are concerned'.?’

The PNF apart, other social forces needed adjusting to the patterns
of open dictatorship. Although the crucial appointment was not made
until May 1925, Mussolini quickly looked to the military, knowing
only too well that, in any society, power potentially grew out of the
barrel of a gun. The Isonzo stalemate and Caporetto defeat had left
major stains on the Army's record. In the dopoguerra experts were
bitterly divided over how the armed forces might be made more
modern and efficient, with radicals pressing for a populist nation
armée (nazione armata), though always remaining a little vague about
the detail. The numerous generals (from 176 in 1914, they numbered
556 in igig)®® were more circumspect about change since, above all,
they were unwilling to accept any whittling down of their own status
and influence. During the Fascist rise to government, the Army debate
focused on questions of pay and conditions for officersas awhole, and
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the lack of resolution on such humdrum matters was symbolised by
the successive appointments of four Ministers of War in the course of
1922.% The Army leadership was, to say the least, highly tolerant of
most Fascist attacks on the ex-'defeatist’ Left in the provinces. The
army paper, L'Esercito italiano, on 31 October 1922 hailed 'our revolu-
tion’, even if it then explained that Fascism had won ‘precisdy
because [thisrevolution] had nothing really new to show to the Italian
people’.®

From 1922 to 1925 Diaz presided over arestructuring of the military
forces, but it was very much a conservative one, al the more because
De' Stefani had severely trimmed the defence budget.” Nevertheless,
money was found to increase officers' and, especiadly, generals' pay;
while from November 1924 the new senior rank of Marshal was estab-
lished (enabling Italians, it was implied, to match the Napoleonic
system in France and so avoid the 'dishonour’ of lessened status at
international meetings).* In 1924 the lax traditionalism of Diaz was
being widely attacked, notably by such rival generals as Antonino Di
Giorgio and Gaetano Giardino. Relations with the MV SN remained
delicate.

Mussolini the dictator cut a tangle of Gordian knots. His choice for
the co-ordinating position as Chief of General Staff was Pietro
Badoglio, who had held the same position under Nitti and Gialitti from
1919 to 1921. One of the great stayers of the regime, Badoglio hung on
to his office until after the disastrous military failure in Greece in the
autumn of 1940. To be ennobled as Duke of Addis Ababa, Badoglio
sprang from a Piedmontese petit bourgeois family, with impeccable
liberal antecedents. His father and grandfather had been mayors of
Piedmontese towns.** Blamed in many quarters for direct responsi-
bility for the Caporetto fiasco,** as well as being highly reluctant to
implement any thorough investigation of the Army's planning, logis-
tics and morale,®® Badoglio was a monarchist who, on the eve of the
March on Rome, had made no secret of his willingness to fire on the
Fascists if called upon to do s0.% None the less he readily accepted the
Fascist government and, perhaps archly, in 1923 chose Cremona nuova
to express his admiration for the 'healthiness' of the effect of the new
regime.”” That did not mean that he had become an advocate of radical
military reform; rather the reverse. The appointment of Badoglio as
Chief of General Staff signalled a quietisi army, whose main preoccu-
pation would be to look after its own (while Badoglio rarely avoided
personal opportunity for venality).%

Lest Badoglio were more ambitious than he seemed, Mussolini
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constrained him by appointing to the new position of Deputy Chief of
General Staff, Francesco Saverio Grazioli, an ostentatiously pro-Fascist
general, but one known to be inconstant and unreliable, and to be
hated by Badoglio. Mussolini's own accession to the Ministry of War
made the theorem perfect. As Giorgio Rochat, Italy's brilliant military
historian, has put it, Mussolini's stratagems had created 'an army with
too many officers, too few soldiers, inadequate material reserves and
an antiquated structure, costly in its management and with excessive
ambitions', while aso, given Fascism's silencing of an 'Anti-Fascist'
press, easily able to avoid criticism." Rochat did not need to add that
this Army would, unless there was complete disaster, be loya to
Mussolini, though remaining in its ultimate disposition more friendly
towards the King and Italy's old institutions than to the Fascist party
and its purported 'revolution’. In 1925, its most significent leaders
thought with considerablejustification that they had adapted the Duce
to their own cause.

The Matteotti murder and its aftermath, and the tumultuous road
which had led both to the acceptance of dictatorship and this rash of
new appointments had, it now became clear, exacted a price from
Mussolini. At 4 am. on the morning of 15 February, only three days
after he had entrusted the PNF to Farinacci, the Duce who, until now,
had seemed so robust, so intrepid, so bold, so unbowed, so jaunty,
the man whose charisma had indeed been constructed on a version of
brutal manliness, was suddenly taken ill. The crisis was severe. In his
flat in the Via Rasella, he vomited blood and his housekeeper
urgently summoned doctors to his bedside.'® They diagnosed an
ulcer, counselled quiet and proposed a change in diet. Mussolini
withdrew from the limelight for a number of weeks and put up with
the rumours zealously collected by the police that he was danger-
ously ill and that Federzoni was talking to Salandra and Giolitti about
a moderate triumvirate which could replace him and simultaneously
beat off the threat of the Fascist trio of Farinacci, De Vecchi and
Giunta'® Even after he recovered Mussolini subsequently ate little
meat and drank sparingly. The school-mate of one of his sons later
remembered the Duce waxing sententious about the curative virtue
of yoghurt for lunch.'®* Admiring visiting journalists, especialy if
they were female, were likely to be regaled with accounts of
Mussolini's preferences in fruit and veg and his noble abstinence
from meat, wine and coffee."® He also took time to send the teenage
Edda a clipping of a newspaper article entitled 'Nicotine makes you
ugly and damages your health'. During the war, he admitted, he had
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smoked 'innumerable cigarettes, but they had worsened his ulcer
and his daily catarrh. "You pay for everything in life', he concluded
with paternal sententiousness. **

In the spring of 1925, the doctors had wondered whether an opera-
tion was needed, but this solution proved unacceptable to Mussolini.
The whole event was hushed up. It islikely that not even Rachele was
kept fully informed about the breakdown in her husband's health.'®
At this stage in their marriage, their contact was infrequent and Edda,
their daughter, would even later allege that her mother for a time
solaced herself with alover from Forli,** a claim which, if true, cannot
have lessened the tension in the Duce's life. Mussolini might admit to
the more perceptive of his interviewers that he was ‘living on his
nerves,'” but his public image could not be infringed by an admission
of weakness on any front. Indeed, Mussolini had just published in
Gerarchla a 'eulogy to his loya followers, in which he ascribed the
victory over the Aventine and the Fascist dissidents to himself; the
obedience of the trenches, he demanded, must be replicated in that
Fascist militia which he, and he aone, commanded.® From 1925
Mussolini the man and 'Mussolini’, the vehicle certainly of charisma
and perhaps of power, the Duce in a newly absolute sense, began to
follow different paths.

It was round about this time that Rachele moved the Mussolini chil-
dren to the Villa Carpena and there her mother Annadied. It had been
adifficult few monthsfor that side of the family, since, during the pre-
vious year, Rachele had lost two sgters. Pina, at 35, was a victim of can-
cer, leaving seven children to mourn her; Giovanna, already a mother
of fourteen, died in childbirth.'® When, on 28 December 1925 Benito
and Rachele werefinally married in a church and had their three chil-
dren baptised (officiating was Arnaldo Mussolini's brother-in-law),
there were political ramifications, as rumours began to circulate of a
compromise deal between Catholic Church and Fascist Italian state. But
another reason for the wedding may have been the new sense of the
fragility of life which the Mussolinis had begun to experience.

To be sure, the extended family had not overlooked the advantages
of being related to Benito Mussolini. They, too, knew something about
patronage and clientship. A characteristic document survives from
1927 in which Arpinati, the Fascist boss of the region, wrote to the
municipal authorities at Predappio with the news that

the Duce is literally besieged with requests for subsidies on the part of
his relatives. The matter is becoming annoying, even indecent. Go back
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to Predappio Do the fullest documentary search m the communal regis
ters and the baptismal files Then distribute the attached sum m as
equal and speedy a way as possible You will find 60 ooo lire in bank-
notes The Duce will be profoundly grateful at the service you will thus
render to him and to the decorum of the Fascist revolution *°

A malicious historian has tabulated 334 relatives who, by 1943, had
extracted government aid from their ties to Mussolini, 105 being from
Rachele's side of the family, 229 from Bemto's™ Such tawdry matters
remained officially secret, although doubtless there were those in the
know, especialy in the Romagna, they believed that such was the way
of the world

At a public level, the Mussolinis were becoming ever more
respectable — the Duce was not above cosy talk about his casa (house)
at Carpena "? Romano Mussolini, with his evocatively imperial first
name (and highly banal later personality), was born in September
1927, Anna Maria m September 1929 (each presumably conceived
during the Christmas break of the year before) Almost alone among
the Fascist leadership,"® the Mussolinis were doing their best for
national demographic growth (and for Catholic propriety) Moreover,
just after the Matteotti crisis began, Edda Mussolini had been moved
from a high school m Milan to Italy's most prestigious academy for
young ladies, the Santissima Annunziata college at Poggio Imperiale
near Florence,"* even there, however, rumours spread that she outdid
in wildness those sprigs of the aristocracy who were her class-mates "
In 1928 she was packed off on a tour to India " Soon she would be
needing a husband (and candidates for her hand would have their
characters, prospects and politics reviewed by the police) At her
father's instruction, all mail to her was opened before delivery "’

Her brothers grew towards their adolescence, on occasion
photographed with their father while they picnicked or played some
family sport Actually, Mussolini remained a distant father, remem-
bered as one who preferred stroking the family cat to cuddling his
own offspring "® As if in reaction, Vittorio and especially Bruno
turned into wordless youths, unlikely to star as leaders of any new
ruling class On the rare occasions on which he did show up at home,
the Duce preferred to eat alone Contemporaries noticed that the
Mussolini family was not given to chat 'Y Perhaps those stomach
pains, which, after 1925, were always likely to recur, reinforced
Mussolini's known dislike of most forms of physical contact >%
Perhaps, too, the suppressed physiological suffering - from 1925 there
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would always be moments when Mussolini pressed hard on his lower
abdomen to relieve a flash of pain** - aong with the psychological
tenseness and probable sense of inadequacy, as well as the boring diet
and the array of tasteless foods which featured in it, ensured that the
Duce, despite al the revolutionary rhetoric, 'in his heart, believed in
nothing'.'® Somewhere beneath the pomp and show a bleakness
lingered and grew.

Mussolini's private life may have been in most ways banal, but,
through these years, the manufacture and reinforcement of his
charisma proceeded apace. Already in 1923 Arpinati had thought it
appropriate to fete a visit to Bologna by obsequiously greeting the
Duce with the resounding triumphal march from Aida.*** Thereafter no
limits could be set to the leader's grandeur. The celebration of Holy
Year (L'Anno Santo) in 1925 brought advice in tourist guides that
Mussolini himself was among the sites to visit."** As one American
journalist remarked: ‘everyone who came to Rome wanted to have an
interview with Mussolini. To see him was as much a part of the long-
planned trip to the Eternal City asit was to vist the ruins or to walk
over the places where the heroes of antiquity had once walked'.'®
Now the dogan, invented by Leo Longanesi, a journalist recom-
mended to the Duce by Arnaldo, that Mussolini ha sempre ragione
(Mussolini is always right), began to be heard.'*® An imaginary
Mussolini began to penetrate people's minds and find a presence even
in their dreams. One Fascist propagandist maintained that villagers
were growing sure that Mussolini, a Santa Claus for dl the year, had,
on one night or other, passed by their home on a solitary excursion by
motor cycle or car.*’ Vigilant, ubiquitous, immanent, this Mussolini
was acquiring the qualities of saint or god.

Nor were the humble public aone in experiencing it. Politicians
grew ever more expert at grovelling. Giuseppe Bottai, in his own
eyes® the most intellectual of the Fascist leadership, again under-
lined his infinite 'faith in your thought and method'. He and his
friends knew they worked 'in Fascism and for Fascism and, above all
for You, whom we acknowledge as the spiritual chief of our genera-
tion'. Bottai then contrasted Mussolini's virtue with the ‘chronic
rebelliousness of less worthy party members like Farinacci.'®
Federzoni was another to register his ‘infinite persona devotion'
when addressing the Duce', his leader must look to his health since ‘it
is not just yours, but al of ours. It belongs to the entire Italian peo-
ple' ™ Even Farinacci agreed that 'more than the rest of us, you have
great duties. Your life does not belong to you, but to the whole
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ltalian people’.”™ The tone of Farinacci's correspondence with
Mussolini none the less was not reliably respectful. When the Duce
reacted angrily to a Farinacci warning against risking his life flying,
Farinacci wrote back sarcadticaly, ‘from now on, I'll change tack and
always tell you to go off and fly, and, why not, urge you to drive
your car at least 150 kms per hour'.'*?

In this construction of a Duce, sport, with its combination of
masculinity and modernity, was an insistent theme (however much, in
practice, many areas in the peninsula were still devoid of the fields,
courts and halls which might be utilised for leisure activities)." Once
sport had seemed 'made in England’, a commentator noticed, but now
the Duce was himself the complete sportsman 'in the idea, in the disci-
pline, in the act'.”™* On a typical day, readers were assured, he would
rise at seven, take a cold bath, scoff a glass of milk and then proceed
to an hour's riding, leaping onto his horse like 'a born cowboy'.™" That
exercise over, he might proceed to fence. He preferred the most manly
and brutal weapon, the sabre, and, with his teeth set in grim determi-
nation, typically fought 'with a style that was totally personal, full of
clever ruses, sudden counter-attacks, blows unexpected to the logic of
his adversary, which the Duce launches like the punishment of God"."®
Similarly he was a devoted swimmer, and had just told an American
journalist that he yearned also to have time to practise football, tennis
and even golf."” No wonder that the first issue in 1928 of the journal
Lo sport fascista saluted the 'Duce, aviator, fencer, rider, first
sportsman of Italy'."®

Along with the indulgence in sport went the photographs. Already
in the 19205 one observer suggested that Mussolini had become the
most photographed man in history.”" Images of him were distributed
to the Italian people through the press, or the postcard. Well before
1922 Italians had grown accustomed to collect likenesses of the innu-
merable saints of the peninsula as mementos of avisit and as an aide to
piety. Now an estimated 30 million pictures of the Duce in up to 2500
different poses began to circulate®’ in what was a curious example of
the sacralisation and commercialisation of political life. In 1926 a 14-
year-old fan, Claretta Petacci, daughter of the Pope's doctor, papered
her room with such images,* impelled by those motives which, some
decades later, persuaded her successors to treasure the pictures of pop
stars or football players. The young Petacci was so stirred by the
photographs on her wall that she wrote personaly to her Duce,
enclosing some stanzas of her adoring poetry.”? That year, too,
reverent readers learned from one priest, who had discovered, before
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the papa hierarchy did, how to mesh Catholicism and Fascism, that
Mussolini was a sort of re-born St Francis of Assisi.**

One notable and humanising feature of Mussolini's image, a matter
to which we are now accustomed but which was new at the time, was
his public or photographed extrusion of bodily liquids. Mussolini
sweated, shook off water after a swim and doffed his shirt when about
to ki (orjoin the harvest) in a way unimaginable for most of his polit-
ical contemporaries. His body left ‘after-images' of itself to console or
arouse the faithful.*** Hitler, Stalin, Lenin, Baldwin, Chamberlain,
Roosevelt, Blum and Franco were not visibly 'men’ in this way. Less
expansive than the Duce they timidly kept their bodies as private
concerns.

Similarly, Mussolini's alleged sexual prowess,'™ however actually
curtailed by his doubtful health, was never denied by the regime but,
rather, waslinked to hisimage and charisma. Here, after al, were more
persona fluids to 'share’ with his public. If the regime's propaganda
was deifying Mussolini and, as the dictatorship wore on, becoming
more insistent that the Duce be ‘granitic'’/*® a 'man aone,**’ necessar-
ily without friends/*® elevated far above ordinary emotions, neverthe-
less, through the omnipresence of his body, a human side kept peeping
out. It was this idiosyncratic mixture of the divine and the profane
which presumably explained a letter sent to Mussolini by a teenage
female admirer. She confided that she had just taken communion for
the first time. As she had done s, she had been filled with the hope
she could 'receive’ both Jesus and Mussolini. 'Both of you will be there
on my tongue, will repose on my breast, will rest on my poor heart.
How good you will be!" Transubstantiation, fellatio and more ordi-
nary loving congress mingled in her mind; here, indeed, was what
would later be called sex appeal. It even extended to the wives of for-
eign politicians. Clementine Churchill, who met the Ducein March 1926,
found him 'quite simple and natural, very dignified ... [with] beauti-
ful golden brown, piercing eyes which you can see but can't look at',
alinall, 'oneof the most wonderful men of our times'. Shewas delighted
to take away a signed photo in memento/* Lady Asquith more briefly
expressed her delight in Mussolini's 'muscles’ and 'extraordinary vital-
ity (quite a change no doubt from her husband). Lady Ivy
Chamberlain, wife and later widow of Sir Austen, was an enduring fan,
delighted, it seemed, to be given her own Fascist party badge to trea-
sure/>? Lady Sybil Graham, the wife of the British ambassador/« was
rumoured to be equally charmed by the Duce. During the next decade,
too, many a dowager warmed to the thought of tea with Mussolini.
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However emphatic, the Duce's charisma was never unchallenged.
Itay, after al, remained a monarchy. Predictably, attempts were made
to sell the image of King Victor Emmanuel 111, even though his short
stature — Margherita Sarfatti maliciously remembered him as an
enthroned king whose feet never reached the ground**>* — parsimony
and homeliness must have made early paladins of the advertising trade
shudder at their task. All the same, some play was made of the 'Fascist
King', notably on the occasion of thejubilee of hisreign in June 1925."
Victor Emmanuel, some propagandists believed, might be 'the best cus-
todian of the national will', the first soldier of Italy’.™ The best known
school manual that appeared during the regime, ex-Nationalist Roberto
Forges Davanzati's // ballila Vittorio, naturally imagined its hero star-
struck by a glimpse of the Duce,”’ but 'Vittorio' shared a name with
the King and did not forget to show him reverence, too."®

When he came to Rome to learn about the great imperial capital,
'Vittorio' had another obligatory respectful visit to make, and that was
to the Vatican. Pope Pius XI remained another competitor in the
charisma stakes.™ The Pope could even be portrayed as a sportivo. His
fans never forgot that his devotion to tramping in the Alps meant that
he could be denominated the Pontefice alpinista (the mountaineer
Pope)."® The durable historical resonance of the papal office, bolstered
by the complex stage furniture of modern Catholicism, was a perma-
nent, if often forgotten or underestimated, part of the history of the
construction of mentalita in Fascist Italy. Propaganda might ensure
that Mussolini was the name on everyone's lips, but the Pope, his
cardinals and bishops, his saints and martyrs, preserved a sacred place
in many Italian hearts. The boast by a Fascist journalist in 1928 that
'the Mussolinian cult is now thoroughly rooted in the Italian popu-
lace"® thus possessed an equivocal side; since the cultic ideal retained
the smack of the Church, its unspoken assumptions did not renounce
religiosity. As one clerical fascist had put it happily: ‘ltalian imperi-
alism is beginning to recognise ... that the only genuinely universal
ideaalivein Romeis Catholicism'.'®

From time to time, there were even hints that lesser Fascists could
become vehicles of charisma. Mussolini was not alone in spawning
gushing biographies, although the appearance of such a work often
foretold trouble for an overambitious ras. Both Giampaoli'® and
Arpinati'®-* ended in gaol not long after their followers had played up
their appeal.

Discussions about the internal discipline of the PNF were not ended
by the speech of 3 January 1925. But, for the moment, Mussolini
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concentrated on the represson of the Anti-Fascists. He may have
formally distanced himself from any recurrence in squadrisi violence,
reacting sharply, for example, when Farinacci openly endorsed the
murder of Matteotti, censoring his phrases and declaring that Fascism
was achieving its victories in spite of the Matteotti affair rather than
because of it.® But this advocacy of legality did nothing to prevent
the brutal and, ultimately fatal, beating of Giovanni Amendolain July
1925, replicating what had been done to the younger 'liberal socialist'
Piero Gobetti in September 1924. Those who could began to flee
abroad as the only way to escape Fascist attacks/®® historian Gaetano
Salvemini for one departing in the summer of 1925.%” Then, and on all
occasions, Mussolini was glad to learn that life was being made diffi-
cult for his opponents.’®® Also in exile were Nitti and Sforza, thusto be
numbered among the few liberals who opted for liberty rather than
the Fascist alternative.

Repression of opponents went hand in hand with the construction
of aFascist state. It was not Mussolini's work alone. Rather a key figure
was the Minister for Justice, Alfredo Rocco, an ex-Nationalist of reac-
tionary cast.'®® On 2 October 1925 the Palazzo Vidoni pact represented
the triumph of his version of socia policy. In its brief clauses, Fascist
unions replaced what was left of their socialist and Catholic rivals and
were recognised as 'the exclusive representatives of the workers by
Confindustna, the Big Business League, which had been established in
1910 and was headed until 1934 by Gino Olivetti, from the great
Piedmontese and Jewish entrepreneurial family. In return, the
'Confederation of Fascist corporations acknowledged the supremacy
on the employer side of Confindustna.™* In practice, it went without
saying, the industrialists retained great freedom of action. Any idea
that a fair and equal system of arbitration was being born was false,
though Mussolini would, before long, take care to distance himsdf to
some degree from Italy's business and banking chiefs.

Another matter for urgent attention was the press. Asearly as 1923
the important daily // Secolo had been won over to the Fascist cause
with the lure of government subvention.!” Now pressure built for
other papers to reflect the unity which Fascism intended to impose.
Mussolini thejournalist was making sure that no one under his gover-
nance could possess the freedom to write phrases which had once
served him so well. When, on 4 November 1925, seventh anniversary
of triumph at Vittorio Veneto, a socialist deputy Tito Zaniboni and a
retired general Luigi Capello were arrested and accused of plotting
Mussolini's assassination (the police had been following their plans

214



The imposition of dictatorship, 1924—1925

from the beginning),' " t